# epiSTEME - 1

# An international conference to review research on Science, TEchnology and Mathematics Education

International Centre, Dona Paula, Goa, India December 13-17, 2004

# Abstracts of Presentations

Organised by:

Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education Tata Institute of Fundamental Research, Mumbai, India

#### Advisory committee

Ronald N. Giere, University of Minnesota, MN, USA Annette Karmiloff-Smith, Institute of Child Health, London, UK Stephen M. Kosslyn, Harvard University, Cambridge, MA, USA Arvind Kumar, Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education (TIFR), Mumbai, India Krishna Kumar, National Council of Educational Research & Training, New Delhi, India N. Mukunda, Indian Institute of Science, Bangalore, India

## Organising committee

Sudhakar C. Agarkar, HBCSE, Mumbai, India
Sugra Chunawala, HBCSE, Mumbai, India
Nagarjuna G., HBCSE, Mumbai, India
D. R. Goel, The Maharaja Sahajirao University of Baroda, Vadodara, India
Bakhtaver Mahajan, HBCSE, Mumbai, India
Chitra Natarajan, HBCSE, Mumbai, India
Hemachandra C. Pradhan, HBCSE, Mumbai, India
Jayashree Ramadas, HBCSE, Mumbai, India (Convener, epiSTEME)
R. D. Shukla, Department of Education in Science and Mathematics, NCERT, New Delhi, India
Parvin Sinclair, Indira Gandhi National Open University, New Delhi, India
K. Subramaniam, HBCSE, Mumbai, India
Mayank N. Vahia, Tata Institute of Fundamental Research, Mumbai, India

# epiSTEME - 1

# An international conference to review research on Science, TEchnology and Mathematics Education

International Centre, Dona Paula, Goa, India December 13-17, 2004

This event is organised by the Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education, a National Centre of the Tata Institute of Fundamental Research, Mumbai, India. It is the first in a proposed series of biennial conferences meant to review research world-wide in science, technology and mathematics education.

## Topic of the conference:

Over the last thirty years, science, technology and mathematics education have emerged as lively new research areas. This research, inspired by issues of learning and teaching, has clear uniting themes in the cognitive, pedagogical, historical, philosophical and socio-cultural aspects of the sciences. The name epiSTEME connotes, at one level, a systematic study of knowledge, while as acronym it suggests a meta-view of science, technology and mathematics education.

# Aim of the conference:

The conference will survey the global progress of research in science, technology and mathematics education by inviting leading scholars in the field to give overviews of notable areas of current work. Paper and poster sessions will complement the reviews and will aim to identify promising directions for future research. In the Indian context this series of conferences will strive to nurture a research community in the country while fostering interaction between academic research, teaching and curriculum development. The conference should strengthen academic linkages among research groups in this field across the world.

#### Themes:

- Trends in Science Education Research
- Trends in Technology Education Research
- Trends in Mathematics Education Research
- Cultural issues in Science, Technology and Mathematics Education
- Gender Issues in Science, Technology and Mathematics Education
- Knowledge Representation
- Language and Cognition
- Assessment and Measurement
- History and Philosophy of Science: Implications for STME

# Contents

# **Review Talks**

1.	Language and Cognition	1
2.	What impact does Philosophy of Science have on Current Science Education Research? · · · <i>Michael R. Matthews</i>	2
3.	Layers in the Fabric of Mind: A Critical Review of Cognitive Ontogeny · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	4
4.	The Challenge of Knowledge Soup · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	7
5.	Trends in Mathematics Education Research: The Example of Algebra Education · · · · <i>Kaye Stacey</i>	8
6.	Trends in Science Education Research	9
7.	Trends in Technology Education Research	10
Tre	nds in Science Education Research	
8.	Student and Teacher Related Variables as Determinants of Secondary School Students' Academic Achievement in Chemistry in Lagos State, Nigeria · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	12
9.	Teachers' and Students' Ideas about Sociology of Science: A Study at the Level of Primary School · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	13
10.	Students' Explanations: A Review of How Students Understand the Theory of Evolution	15
11.	Action-based Science Education for Health and Environment · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	16
12.	Students' Understanding of DNA and DNA Technologies after "Fifty years of DNA Double Helix" · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	19
13.	Professional Development of K-12 Science Teachers: History of Reform and Effects of a Science-Technology-Society (STS) Approach in Bringing About the Reform • • • • • <i>Pradeep M. Dass</i>	21
14.	Health Education in Timor Leste (East Timor): A Case Study	23
15.	Common Knowledge Construction Model for Teaching and Learning Science: Applications in the Indian Context	25
16.	Understanding Science Teaching and Conceptions of the Nature of Science in Pakistan through a Life History Study	27

17.	Trends and Issues of Research on In-Service Needs Assessment of Science Teachers: Global vs the Malaysian Context	29
18.	The Concept of Force    V. G. Jadhao & B. K. Parida	31
19.	Problems and Possibilities of "General Science Education" for College Students · · · · · · Yung Sik Kim	33
20.	Putting Imagery Back into Learning: The Case of Drawings in Human Physiology Sindhu Mathai & Jayashree Ramadas	34
21.	Anchoring Science Education Towards Scientifically Literate Malaysian Society: An Exploration of Children's Affective Psyche	36
22.	Students' Alternative Conceptions in Pressure, Heat and Temperature	38
23.	Science Teaching through Computer Assisted Instruction: Research Findings and Insights	41
24.	Data Evaluation: An Integral Part of Learning Science	43
25.	Teacher as Constructor of Knowledge: An Analysis of Teachers' Contribution to the Hoshangabad Science Teaching Programme	46
26.	Cooperation between Schools and Universities as a Catalyst for the Professional Development of Teachers	48
27.	Involving Scientists in K-12 Science Education: Benefits to Scientists from Participating in Scientist-Teacher Partnerships	50
28.	Focusing Professional Development for Science Teachers on Student Learning · · · · · <i>Luis Tinoca</i>	51
29.	Project Yuva: The Design of a Case-Based Multimedia Environment for Pre-service Teachers · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	52
Tre	nds in Technology Education Research	
30.	The Design and Development of Cognitive Acceleration through Technology Education (CATE): Implications for Teacher Education	55
31.	To Identify and Structure Technology that Has Already Crept into the School Curriculum · · · P.K. Bhattacharyya	57
32.	Placing Technology Education within the Gender Perspective	58
33.	A Study of Laptops in Science Education	60

34.	Design as Drawings: Analyzing Drawings of Middle School Students in Technology Education Tasks	62
	Ritesh Khunyakari, Swati Mehrotra, Sugra Chunawala & Chitra Natarajan	
35.	Visions and Mandates: An Analysis of Three Indian IT Curriculum Guides · · · · · · · · Punyashloke Mishra & Irfan Muzaffar	64
36.	Outreach in Engineering Education: The GK-12 Learning Partnership Program · · · · · Barbara M. Moskal	65
37.	Introducing Design and Technology in School Education: Legitimising Multiple Expressions in Classrooms · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	68
38.	Early Exposure of Pre-College Students to Information Technology	70
39.	Reforming Education: The Pursuit of Learning through Authentic Inquiry in Mathematics, Science and Technology	73
Tre	nds in Mathematics Education Research	
40.	Tamil Mathematical Manuscripts and the Possibility of a Social History of MathematicsEducation in IndiaSenthil Babu	75
41.	'Term' as a Bridge Concept between Algebra and Arithmetic • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	76
42.	Teaching-Research and Design Experiment – Two Methodologies of Integrating Research and Classroom Practice · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	78
43.	Diagrammatic Knowledge in Mathematics in the Information Age	81
44.	Inquiry as a Tool and as a "Way of Being" in Mathematics Teaching Development · · · · Barbara Jaworski	83
45.	Teachers' Implementation of a Curriculum Reform       Implementation         Bodil Kleve	85
46.	Investigating Teachers' Pedagogical Beliefs about Mathematics, Science and Reading Literacy in the PISA Project · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	87
47.	The Teaching of Place Value – Cognitive Considerations	88
48.	A Study on Integration of Teaching Science and Mathematics	90
49.	Students' Use of Language and Symbols to Reason about Expressions	92
50.	Math Wars and the Epistemic Divide in Mathematics	94
51.	Developing Cognitive Flexibility	96

52.	What if Socrates uses Mathlets? · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	97
53.	A View on Active Learning in Mathematics through Historical Context	99
54.	Transparent Objects and Processes in Learning Mathematics	101
Cul	tural Issues in Science, Technology and Mathematics Education	
55.	Cross-Cultural Research in Learning Hurdles in Science and Mathematics	103
56.	For a "Village" Involvement: Social Representations on Pluricultural School Community         Actors	104
57.	Epistemological Stances Towards Knowledge in School Science and the Cultural Context of India	106
58.	Primary Teachers' Views of Science and Culture Nexus	109
59.	Words and Worldviews: Production of Scientific Technical Terms in Tamil as a Cultural Reconfiguration and Domestication of Modern Science	111
Geı	nder Issues in Science, Technology and Mathematics Education	
60.	High Achievement in Mathematics and the Girl Child	114
61.	The Role of Mathematics Education in Women Empowerment	117
62.	Mathematics and Gender in Ugandan Primary School: Influence on Teachers, Parents and Learners	118
63.	Gendered Communication in Technology Tasks: Glimpses of Group Interactions · · · · · · Swati Mehrotra, Ritesh Khunyakari, Chitra Natarajan & Sugra Chunawala	120
64.	Re-Examining Gender Balance Education in Agricultural Science, Technology and Mathematics in Nigeria: An Overview · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	122
Kne	owledge Representation	
65.	Knowledge Organisers of Cell Biology	124
66.	Concept Mapping - A Pedagogical Tool for Grammar Lessons	125
67.	Probing Nature of Links Amongst Physics Concepts	128
68.	Effect of Concept Mapping in Science on Science Achievement, Cognitive Skills and Attitude of Students	130

69.	Learning to Think: Lines of Research in Dianoia Project	132
Lar	nguage and Cognition	
70.	Levels of Inquiry: Role of Language and Assessment · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	134
71.	Culture, Language and Cognition · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	136
Ass	sessment and Measurement	
72.	Challenges in Measurement of Scientific Attitude · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	137
73.	The Effects of Metacognitive Instruction Embedded within Asynchronous Learning Network on Scientific Inquiry Skills	139
74.	An Overview of the Development of Learning Standards for Science and Mathematics Education: KG-8 · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	140
75.	Acquisition of Process Skills by IV Standard Pupils through an Instructional Programme in Environmental Studies	142
Coı	nference Programme	145
Lis	t of Participants	148

# Language and Cognition

## **Probal Dasgupta**

Central University of Hyderabad, Hyderabad, India

This review of the field is guided by a certain reading of the current situation, with which I therefore begin. Cognition by humans always appears in pedagogically cultivated forms. Normal questioning about such cognition thus always frames itself within the terms of some pedagogy. Asking questions about human cognition without reference to pedagogic frames is not an option available to us.

However, philosophers who take the primary responsibility for organizing our understanding of semantics and cognition have often tried to fashion such an option, acting on a logicalist impulse. This impulse seeks disengagement from the concrete sequentiality of pedagogy and its need to provide tentatively viable concepts and generalizations even though these ultimately have to be outgrown. The logicalist approach supposes that any subject, institutionally available as an academic discipline (a set of serious discourses), can be reduced to variously organized arrays of formally simple primes. It supposes also that these primes, through a rigorous axiomatic unpacking of their interrelations, can parsimoniously derive all the complex concepts and propositions that the discipline uses.

Scholars who believe in the usefulness of logicalism's restatement of a discipline's results see the activity of such redescribing as a matter of arranging the results in formal packages whose coherence and consistency represent what the best minds in the discipline can be said to know. The enterprise of formalizing such systems naturally elicits second order projects of metasystem building. The vision of a fully understood language of a unified science that will have brought all disciplines under maximally parsimonious reduction, and of a fully understood scientific language wherein coherence, consistency and economy can be visibly maximized, continues to serve as a telos guiding scientific formalization. In this sense the logicalist programme is alive and well, and is one of the major presences in the study of the language-cognition interface.

Given such a picture of the realities of what there is to know, a psychology that considers problems of learning takes as its point of departure the standard portrayal of the ultimate content of serious adult human cognition, and asks how a child gets there. This relation between a logicalist account of the goal and a psychological account of the path places the burden of pedagogy entirely on the psychology. But such assumptions conceal from the view the important fact that the standard portrayal of the serious adult goal is tacitly framed in a pedagogic conceptualization. It has been necessary, in the remarks above, to refer to academic disciplines, and to the best minds in the field. These are allusions, if not to teaching, at least to watching people learn and evaluating their performances, which belong to the broader pedagogic enterprise.

But there are at least two reasons for not pressing for a simple pedagogic turn in the study of language and cognition. First, domains of language use are organized in one fashion in the world of work, another way in the world of media and public communication, and yet another way in pedagogy proper. These are three distinguishable phenomenal realms. To approach the study of how they co-articulate, we need to first have these distinct takes on cognition, and we have not yet been able to catch them.

The second, related point is that the easy and the difficult in pedagogy fail to match the simple primes and complex assemblies of the formalization in the stories sciences tell about themselves. Therefore we will achieve only limited success if we try to carry over the style of scientific concept packaging into our understanding of how the easy and the difficult play out in pedagogy. Issues of more opaque versus more transparent expositions in public communication present yet another domain into which one cannot usefully export the formalization style if advances in our understanding are the goal.

The differences just pointed out have long been obvious in practice to natural scientists, who tend to respond to this state of affairs by treating both the teaching of science and the technological application of scientific knowledge as atheoretical enterprises not integrable into its rigour. In contrast, science itself appears in their work as a body of bodies of theory. This appearance continues to shape our default conceptions of both language and cognition.

However, current work on the role of language and

translation in the practice and teaching of science (Sarukkai, 2002) speaks to classical work (Vygotsky, 1934/1986) on the way image-based preconcepts must, as the adolescent schoolchild grows into serious knowledge, turn into the abstractions operative in society's adult, industrial economy. Taking these matters on board means supplementing the logical derivation approach with pedagogic build-up perspectives on how various real learners converge on sharable knowledge. The task of such supplementing is cognate to inquiry focused on how a person acquiring language also learns what one might call paracognitive material that does not itself constitute knowledge but categorizes or frames the knowledge that the person acquires (Sperber, 1975). The present survey of where the field stands is built around Sarukkai's demonstration that formal abstract concepts are embedded in multiple semiotic systems and need to be placed in translation mediations that never settle down. On these assumptions, the formalism that officially explicates what scientific language codes are like is relativized to intercodal activities that Sarukkai places in a pedagogic framework. The methods of translation studies enable us to coarticulate our distinguishable questions about simple/ complex, easy/

difficult, transparent/ opaque. Given a translation studies approach, the domains of adult scientific practice, of science pedagogy, and of the media can be kept apart and yet brought into meaningful conceptual connection.

Sarukkai's emphasis on metaphor connects with Sperber's earlier work on the cognitive anthropology of the symbolism circumscribing what humans know, and ultimately with Vygotsky's work on how serious knowledge relates, and relates in the structure of language itself, to the not yet properly understood affective and imaginative coordinates that make human knowledge human.

#### References

Sarukkai, S. (2002) *Translating the world: science and language*. New York: University Press of America.

Sperber, D. (1975) *Rethinking symbolism*. (Tr Alice Morton). Cambridge University Press.

Vygotsky, L. (1934/1986) *Thought and language*. Tr/ ed Alex Kozulin. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.

# What Impact does Philosophy of Science have on Current Science Education Research?

**Michael R. Mathews** 

University of New South Wales, Sydney, Australia

It is important to ascertain the impact of various philosophies of science on science education research. One expects views about the nature and methodology of science to have an impact on the questions and problems to be investigated by science education researchers, on the methodologies employed in research, on recommendations for the 'reform' of science education curriculum and teaching, and on a host of other matters.

However getting a precise picture of the impact of philosophy on science education research is difficult. The amount of research and publications in the field over just the past three decades is enormous. There are at least six major international science education research journals publishing perhaps 300 articles per year, additionally there are numerous national and teacherfocused journals. The Helga Pfundt and Reinders Duit's 4<sup>th</sup> edition of the *Students' Alternative Frameworks and Science Education* bibliography contains 4,000 entries. However a recent book of Peter Fensham *Defining an Identity* (Fensham, 2004) – provides a rich source of material for at least a partial, if depressing, answer to the question.

Peter Fensham, was the foundation professor of science education at Monash University in Australia; he is a prominent figure in international science education, whose work has been the subject of a recent anthology (Cross, 2003). His *Defining an Identity* is based on interviews with 79 leading science educators from 16 countries (48 being from the USA, Canada, Australia and Britain) and their responses to questions about their own major publications and the publications that influenced them. They were asked to respond to two questions:

- Tell me about two of your publications in the field that you regard as significant.
- Tell me about up to three publications by others that have had a major influence on your research work in the field.

In fifteen chapters he then discusses the interviewees' major publications and the publications they nominate as influencing their work.

The interviews do reveal a significant problem with 'The evolution of science education as a field of research': namely researchers in the field are ill-prepared for conducting much of the research. Fensham remarks on many occasions that the pioneer researchers came into the field either from a research position in the sciences or from senior positions in school teaching. For both paths, training in psychology, sociology, history or philosophy was exceptional.

This failure of preparation did not change for second generation or younger researchers. Indeed it has perhaps got worse, as proportionally fewer science education researchers have the experience of scientific research that the founders of the discipline had. The interviews reveal that the overwhelming educational pattern for current researchers is: first an undergraduate science degree, followed by school teaching, then a doctoral degree in science education. As Fensham remarks 'Most researchers in science education have been teachers in schools, usually secondary ones, before their academic appointments' (p.164). Most have no rigorous undergraduate training in psychology, sociology, history or philosophy. At best, as Fensham observes, 'As part of their preparation for the development tasks, these teachers had opportunities to read and reflect on materials for science teaching in schools and education systems that were different from their own limited experience of science teaching' (p.22).

One effect of poor preparation is the extent to which shallow philosophy is so evident in the field. Fensham notes that 'About one fifth of the respondents listed a publication of influence from the history and philosophy of science' (p.56), and he goes on to comment that 'However, only two of these respondents were researchers who began after the 1980s' (p.56). The philosophers of influence among the first generation researchers were James Conant, Joseph Schwab and Thomas Kuhn. Second generation researchers also mention Thomas Kuhn, with one saying 'Thomas Kuhn's *Structure of Scientific Revolutions* is one of the few books I've reread several times ... It was extremely helpful in

my thinking with all sorts of implications for teacher education and everything I did' (p.56).

The second most influential philosopher for Fensham's 'Top 80' researchers is Ernst von Glasersfeld. Fensham states that 'von Glasersfeld's many writings on personal constructivism have had a very widespread influence on researchers in science education .... In their published research he is regularly cited as a general source for constructivist learning'; he is a person who has had a 'most significant influence' on science education research (p.5).

One interviewee, and enthusiast for von Glasersfeld's constructivism, has written that: 'according to radical constructivism, we live forever in our own, self-constructed worlds; the world cannot ever be described apart from our frames of experience. This understanding is consistent with the view that there are as many worlds as there are knowers' (Roth 1995, p.13). He goes on to state that 'Radical constructivism forces us to abandon the traditional distinction between knowledge and beliefs. This distinction only makes sense within an objective-realist view of the world ...' (p.14). And for good measure he adds that: 'Through this research [sociology of science], we have come to realize that scientific rationality and special problem solving skills are parts of a myth' (p.31).

Another indicator of inadequate foundational training is the extent to which the claims of the 'Strong Programme in the Sociology of Scientific Knowledge' (SSK) are uncritically endorsed by interviewees. Fensham reports that: 'One book stood out as an influence about the culture of science and that was Latour and Woolgar's Laboratory Life' (p.58). One interviewee said the book 'legitimised the notion that you could study science from an anthropological perspective' (p.77). Another interviewee has stated that contemporary social studies of science reveal science to be: 'mechanistic, materialist, reductionist, empirical, rational, decontextualized, mathematically idealized, communal, ideological, masculine, elitist, competitive, exploitive, impersonal, and violent' (Aikenhead 1997, p. 220). Clearly a lot hinges on the correctness or otherwise of this analysis. If Aikenhead's picture is a correct account of the scientific enterprise, then teaching science is truly a problematic activity.

This paper uses the evidence in Fensham's book to elaborate the claim that a good many of the research programmes in science education have suffered because researchers are not adequately prepared in the foundation disciplines that underwrite these programmes – specifically learning theory (including cognitive science), philosophy (especially the history and philosophy of science) and history. Fensham acknowledges that researchers are ill-prepared, that they 'borrow' from the foundation disciplines, and that a major problem is that 'Theoretical positions were being presented and used in a form that suited the authors' studies, although this theoretical position had been revised as a result of studies and work these authors had not read or wished to ignore' (p.144). So the work of Kuhn, von Glasersfeld, Latour, Bruner, Lave, Harding, Giroux and others is appropriated but the critiques of their work go unread; it is rare that science education researchers keep up with psychological and philosophical literature. This situation means that the field is susceptible to intellectual and ideological fads that retard the primary business of assisting science teaching and learning, as well as the secondary business of the personal growth of the researchers.

#### References

Peter J Fensham (2004) *Defining an Identity: The evolution of science education as a field of research*. Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Kluwer Academic Publishers

Cross, R.T. Ed. (2003) A Vision for Science Education: Responding to the Work of Peter Fensham, Routledge Falmer, London.

Aikenhead, G.S. (1997) Toward a First Nations crosscultural science and technology curriculum. *Science Education*, 81, 217-238.

# Layers in the Fabric of Mind: A Critical Review of Cognitive Ontogeny

## Nagarjuna G.

Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education, TIFR, Mumbai, India

Cognitive science, particularly in the last three decades, witnessed several creative moments and innovative proposals on several issues related to cognition the nature of mind, naturalized epistemology, cognitive development, biological roots of cognition, and an attempt to understand what is it to be distinctively human, scientific, theoretical, and socio-cultural. Encouraging leads to the underlying biological roots of cognition also came from neuro-physiological investigations as well as theoretical biology. Cognitive architectures based on information processing approaches are gaining strength and becoming popular and getting closer to being accepted as the received view on the subject. This multi-disciplinary discourse, along the way, not only reenacted several traditional philosophical positions, but also exhibited considerable innovation in rephrasing the traditional questions guided by a huge corpus of scientific findings from AI, physiology and pathology, and ingenious experiments on cognitive agents (both non-human and human subjects, including infants in the crib). While taking note of the achievements thus far, I wish to identify some conceptual and foundational problems in the dominant trends of current cognitive science. Given this vast multi-dimensional canvas, a single essay cannot do justice to critically review the area. I will therefore

focus here on what I consider as fundamental issues that must have a bearing on cognitive science and science education as a whole. Approaching these problems as an epistemologist I will focus on the issues closer to naturalized epistemology and architecture of mind than on empirical cognitive psychology.

It is celebration time for rationalists and constructivists. Gone are the days when mentalese was more or less forbidden in academic departments. Cognitive phenomena does not constitute merely the behavioral (stimulus-response) patterns of a 'black-box'. Constitutive reality (both form and substance) of the cognitive agent is today considered highly relevant for the scientific study of mind. There are predominantly two kinds of camps: those who believe that cognitive faculties are completely specified by the innate biological reality (Noam Chomsky, Jerry Fodor), and those who believe that they develop during ontogeny based on incompletely specified 'embryological' reality (Karmiloff-Smith, Susan Carey, Alison Gopnik). While it is possible to identify other positions that are in neither of the camps, a significant point to note is, almost none of the modern views are of the traditional rationalist or empiricist variety. Most of the current pundits reformulate the older questions so as to make them addressable by scientific means: towards a naturalized (more or less genetic) epistemology. According to the current trend, Piaget's theory of across the domain mechanism of cognitive development found no experimental support. Instead they painstakingly studied the developmental patterns that are 'general' enough only within specific domains (Spelke, Mandler, Karmiloff-Smith, Gopnik, Hirschfeld, Gelman). A striking observation made by cognitive developmental psychologists who did ingenious experiments with infants in the crib was that quite a few concepts that were supposed by Piaget as products of a lengthy process of cognitive development were demonstrated to be either more or less innate or develop very soon after the post-natal ontogeny. Chomsky's and Fodor's rationalist philosophy forms a supportive framework of these studies dismissing empiricist, associationist and behaviorist beliefs on one hand and Piaget's (aka Kantian) empty schemas on the other. Most notable among these studies are those that demonstrate and argue that language is instinctive and peculiarly human.

In the last half-a-century, developments in computer science, particularly AI, have contributed several enlightening metaphors to cognitive science without which the discipline remains impoverished. The most significant contribution from AI has been in the area of knowledge representation and memory, drawing mostly from the centuries of deliberations on epistemology and logic. Today these remain the least controversial among the proposals on the architecture of mind based on the information processing approaches. Most notable and highly relevant to the current review are the concepts of modularity and encapsulation, borrowed from object oriented abstractions of procedural and declarative data modeling. Fodor's highly influential architecture of mind proposed that the mind is composed of peripheral (perceptual), domain-specific, dissociable functional sub-systems that are mandatory, swift, and involuntary processing units, wholly determined by evolutionarily selected genetic endowment. However, the high-level central cognitive systems that are involved in belief, creativity, reasoning etc., according to Fodor, are amodular and non-encapsulated. A group of scholars disagree with Fodor and attempt to modularize almost every cognitive faculty of mind making it massively (entirely) modular. In this context I will argue against the notion of informational encapsulation, by proposing that cross-representation of cognitive dimensions, which is impossible with encapsulation, is essential for the formation of concepts of any kind. Mandlers' observations suggest that percepts and concepts should be carefully distinguished. I shall further explain this distinction and the transformation of the former into latter using cross-representations. Further evidence from parallel distributed processing approaches used in simulating the process of concept formation, the traditional arguments of associationism, and the individuation argument, will be used support of this claim. The observations that prompted the hypothesis of informational encapsulation can be explained by invoking *selectively sensitive* sub-systems and/or anatomical constraints.

A leading developmental psychologist Karmiloff-Smith rather convincingly demonstrates that some behavioral (cognitive) modules actually are culminations of developmental process and not entirely innate. A brilliant theory of representational redescription (RR) was proposed by her to explain gradual and recurring reencoding of more or less inaccessible (encapsulated) implicit representations into explicit accessible representations leading to behavioral mastery. While Karmiloff-Smith's observation that modules must be culminations of a developmental process is reasonable, we need to distinguish between the modules that develop during embryogenesis (pre-natal ontogeny: Layer 1) and those that develop after birth (post-natal ontogeny). The former is ontologically and physiologically rooted in *biological* being, while the latter cognitive development is formal (relational), symbolic and epiphenomenal in nature. The post-natal cognitive development, I will argue, should be further differentiated into three layers: perceptual/conceptual (Layer 2), socially mediated folklore (Layer 3), and the counter-intuitive, rule based, explicitly constructed formal knowledge (Layer 4), the last two being peculiarly human. Most Fodorian modules (with the exception of the language module) are actually the result of pre-natal-embryogenesis, and not post-natal cognitive development. Though both pre and post-natal modules are part of the ontogeny of a single cognitive agent, they do not, so to speak, lie on the same path of development. In the case of human beings, the post-natal development is highly complex, making the distance between humans and apes almost unbridgeable. Karmiloff-Smith correctly argues that RR is peculiarly human. However, Fodorian modules and the peculiarly human behavioral 'modules' belong to different layers of ontogeny mediated by another layer of conceptual cognition. I will argue that RR occurs in post-conceptual ontogeny and not during the formation of conceptions. While holding that cognition is entirely biologically rooted, cognitive scientists must realize that biologically enabled 'social-physiology' as against biochemical neuro-physiology are distinguishable layers of ontogeny.

This brings us to the important question of what makes us peculiarly human. There are very few scholars who believe that cognition is only human, but it is often argued that the so called higher modes of cognition such as self-consciousness, theory of mind, fabrication of tools, language, scientific knowledge, etc., must be peculiar and defining characteristics of human nature. Very absorbing discussions of Daniel Dennet's levels of intentionality, Merlin Donald's three stages in the evolution of culture and cognition, and Peter Gardenfors's account of how Homo became Sapiens, provide a fruitful intellectual context to critically review the various proposals on this interesting question. The bundle of peculiarly human characteristics are strongly correlated to the social fabric of human life rather than genetic, neuro-physiological domain. Evidence is gradually accumulating to suggest that the larger size of human brain (encephalization) has mostly to do with the new found socio-cultural context during phylogeny. The fact that the genetic and anatomical differences between apes and humans is so marginal indicates that this problem is unlikely to be answered by gene and braincentric view-points. Socialization and language go hand in hand, for they are not possible without each other. It seems therefore plausible to hypothesize that representational redescription is an essential mechanism in producing *external* memory space helping to enhance much needed memory capacity for storing cultural heritage, and also for detached processing of information: explaining thinking. Taking clues from Karmiloff-Smith and Merlin Donald, I think, it is possible to explain much of the peculiarly human features using this mechanism. Coherent with the above argument favoring a delineation of the biological development from the cognitive development, I shall argue that there are two inter-dependent but superveniently evolving inheritance mechanisms: biological and social. The nature of human beings cannot be understood without delineating the two. We have abundant evidence to support the point that the evolution of culture and higher forms of cognition are correlated.

Many leading cognitive psychologists (e.g., Alison Gopnik) today believe in a strong working hypothesis called: theory-theory. According to this view no knowledge worth the name can be non-theoretical, and the basic mechanism (or methodology) of knowledge formation and evaluation happens by theory change, and this mechanism is universal. By demonstrating that even infants in the crib are little theoreticians, they argue that the mechanism that makes us know the world around is the same as the one that makes science. While agreeing with them that there are general cognitive mechanisms (or methodologies), it is necessary to make certain finer distinctions which weaken the strong form of theory-theory. First of all, we need to make a clear distinction between conceptual and analogical: the former is a result of cross-representation while the latter is a result of 'across'-representation drawing in similarities across domains based mostly on relational knowledge. Further, all theories are not of the same nature, particularly the model driven, counter-intuitive scientific theories. While folklore is also sufficiently theoretical (analogical) and non-inductive, a form of knowledge belonging to another layer of cognitive ontogeny-mostly but not necessarily identical to scientific-can be clearly distinguished: let us call this formal. Formal knowledge is an explicitly constructed form of knowledge in the sense that the rules of construction are overtly specified. This form of possible world construction creates an idealized description of the actual world that describes indirectly (mediated by models) the phenomenal world. Only in this form of construction can we find invariant relativistic descriptions of various flavors of scientific theories. Contrary to the claims of theory-theory proponents, I suggest that transformation from the cognitive layer of folklore to explicitly constructed knowledge cannot happen without formal instruction, necessitating social institutions like schools. This argument, if it is valid, can have profound practical implications in the context of science education. Needless to say, my position goes against the views in philosophy of science that theory-theory finds support in.

The four layers of cognitive ontogeny, that helped us to critically appraise the current popular models of cognition, clearly correspond to developmental *stages*, but are not strictly identical to Piaget's. Firstly, cognitive development is supervenient on the physical development, and not a continuation of the same line of development. Secondly, the layers are distinguished by a bundle of features that go hand in hand and are not strictly age-dependent and may happen in different phases in each domain depending on environmental pressures. Thirdly, the four layers recapitulate phylogeny supporting Piaget's claim of cognitive version of biogenetic principle.

Based on the above critical exposition, a few comments I think are in order on the perspectives and prospects of cognitive science. While arguing against the behaviorist model we tended to be excessively 'inward' looking in our search to describe human nature. If my arguments have any weight, we should be looking mostly at what is publicly accessible to understand what is peculiarly human. This reminds us of one of the most brilliant philosophical arguments in the history of philosophy: Wittgenstein's private language argument, where he argued against the possibility of private representations. Neuro-physiology can inform us of the manner of encoding episodic memory, but possibly none of semantic memory, an essential form of human cognition. It is highly likely that semantic memory is stored exclusively in the externalized public socio-cultural mind-space. Scientific knowledge is necessarily and undoubtedly located in the inter-subjective space. A few of our scientists have 'gut' reactions against science

having a socio-cultural foundation. But, I think, this does not by any means make it less objective, since externalizing by reencoding is the only means of making private subjective knowledge public and potentially objective. By interpreting Wittgenstein's argument as it applies only to semantic memory and not episodic, I suggest a transformation mechanism in terms of representational redescription, which explains one of the mechanisms involved in learning and discovery. A cogent and complete understanding of learning and discovery cannot be accomplished without responding to Wittgenstein's challenge.

# References

Carey, S. and R. Gelman, Eds. (1991) *The Epigenesis of Mind: Essays on Biology and Cognition*. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.

Carey, S. (1985) *Conceptual Change in Childhood*. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.

Carruthers, P., and P. Smith, Eds. (1995) *Theories of Theory of Mind*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Davidson, D. (1980) Mental events. In D. Davidson, *Essays on Actions and Events*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Dennett, D. C. (1987) *The Intentional Stance*. Cambridge, MA: Bradford Books/MIT Press.

Donald, M. (2001) Origins of the Modern Mind: Three

Stages in the Evolution of Culture and Cognition. Harvard University Press.

Gardenfors, P. (2003) *How Homo Became Sapiens?: On the Evolution of Thinking.* Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Fodor, J. A. (1983) *The Modularity of Mind*. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.

Fodor, J.A. (2001) *The Mind Doesn't Work that Way: The Scope and Limits of Computational Psychology.* Bradford books/MIT Press.

Gopnik, A., and A. N. Meltzoff. (1997) *Words, Thoughts and Theories.* Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.

Karmiloff-Smith, A. (1992) Beyond Modularity: A Developmental Perspective on Cognitive Science. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.

Keil, F. C. (1989) *Concepts, Kinds and Cognitive Development*. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.

Piaget, J. (1967) Piaget's theory. In J. Mussen, Ed., *Carmichael's Manual of Child Psychology*, vol. 1. New York: Basic Books.

Pinker, S. (1994) The Language Instinct. London: Lane.

Pinker, S. (1999) *How the Mind Works*. W.W. Norton & Company.

Wittgenstein, L. (1953) *Philosophical Investigations*. English translation by Anscombe, G.E.M. 2002, London: Basil Blackwell.

# The Challenge of Knowledge Soup

## John F. Sowa

Ex-IBM, Croton-on-Hudson, NY, USA

People have a natural desire to organize, classify, label, and define the things, events, and patterns of their daily lives. But their best-laid plans are overwhelmed by the inevitable change, growth, innovation, progress, evolution, diversity, and entropy. When the Académie Française attempted to legislate the vocabulary and definitions of the French language, their efforts were undermined by uncontrollable developments: rapid growth of slang that is never sanctioned by the authorities, and wholesale borrowing of words from English, the world's fastest growing language. In Japan, the pace of innovation and borrowing has been so rapid that the older generation of Japanese can no longer read their daily newspapers. These rapid changes, which create difficulties for people, are far more disruptive for the fragile databases and knowledge bases in computer systems. The term \_knowledge soup\_ better characterizes the fluid, dynamically changing nature of the information that people acquire, reason about, act upon, and communicate. This talk addresses the complexity of the knowledge soup, the problems it poses for intelligent systems, and the methods for managing it. The most important measure for any intelligent system is its flexibility in accommodating and making sense of the knowledge soup.

# Trends in Mathematics Education Research: The Example of Algebra Education

# **Kaye Stacey**

University of Melbourne, Melbourne, Australia

In this lecture, I will survey some recent trends in mathematics education, by examining the evolution of the study of the teaching and learning of algebra. Even though the field of research in mathematics education is small by comparison with the major disciplines in science and the humanities, it is now too large to make strong claims about trends and findings, so a narrowing is essential. Algebra education is a good choice because it has been a particularly active field and I can draw on the outcomes of the recent 12th ICMI study on "The Future of the Teaching and Learning of Algebra" (see Stacey, Chick & Kendal, 2004 and Chick, Stacey, Vincent & Vincent, 2001) where many of the world's leading algebra educators worked together to identify major trends and consider the way forward. More importantly, algebra education is a good choice because many of the major concerns of mathematics education as a whole also impact on algebra education.

I see mathematics education as essentially a practical discipline, where the underlying goal is always to promote better learning of mathematics by students. Of course there are many subtleties of what mathematics should be learned and why, in whose interest is it that students learn, how achievement is measured etc, but the discipline of mathematics education is underpinned by a faith that a good education in mathematics benefits both the individual and society. These benefits include shared values (e.g. empowerment of the individual, the value of logical thought, etc) as well as practical outcomes such as the support of scientific and business endeavours.

Mathematics education is an interesting discipline because it draws on many other fields of study. To answer its central question of "how to teach mathematics better" requires understandings from many other disciplines (e.g. psychology, human development, sociology, mathematics, philosophy and epistemology) and many areas of general education (pedagogy, curriculum studies, policy, etc). All of these are also relevant to algebra education. Mathematics education also draws its research methods from these and other disciplines, and the need to take stock of the plethora of approaches is an ongoing area of concern. The status of the findings in mathematics education is mixed. Some results describe in a very deep way the basic interaction of the human brain and mathematical ideas. These results are likely to be observable in any society and across time. As the oldest human study, stretching back millennia, mathematics retains an identifiable core of fundamental processes by which it is developed. One example particularly relevant to algebra is the way in which many concepts have their roots in actions and processes, which become encapsulated as mathematical objects. We see these changes in students' growing conceptions (e.g. of algebraic functions) and we know that teaching needs to ease such transitions. After three decades of work identifying some of these fundamental processes, algebra education can now go forward on a strong base. At the other extreme, some findings of mathematics education are insightful and important, but are mostly relevant to a particular situation at a particular time. Studies of the impact of the recent changes to the algebra curriculum in some Western countries, where traditional manipulation was suddenly markedly reduced, are like this. Much of the best research has something to say of immediate interest, as well as contributing lasting insights.

Trends in algebra education research, like other areas of mathematics education, are influenced by factors external and internal to the field. A group of external factors have led to the "massification" of secondary school education, whereby it is now the norm in many countries, that most students complete secondary education, and this education includes algebra. Algebra is seen as a "gateway" to higher mathematics, because it provides the language in which generalisations are expressed. Consequently, having students learn algebra is important for the production of "knowledgeworkers" as well as being important for social equity. But algebra is difficult, and instead of being a gateway, it can easily be a wall that blocks students' paths. This leads to a reconsideration of the goals of algebra, to identify what are its essential components and to a search for improved teaching methods. Traditionally, algebra had been mainly seen as symbol manipulation, but most graduates of such curricula have no appreciation of why this knowledge is important. Ongoing reconceptualisation of the core of algebra has, for example, elevated the importance of graphs and functions, at the expense of solving and rearranging expressions. The ability to deal with graphs and a basic concept of function are more likely to be seen as "basic" now than moderately complicated symbolic manipulation. The new technologies have also impinged very strongly on algebra education research. As communication technologies, these impact on all of education (e.g. distance learning, data from the internet, new means of presentation etc). But as information technologies, these impact centrally on the way in which mathematics is done. Mathematics at every level, from the work of the shopkeeper to the mathematician, has always struggled to make calculations easier, and we now have tools that can perform all of the standard routines known by an undergraduate at the press of a button. This provides exciting new opportunities for teaching, especially through the possibilities of teaching with multiple representations of algebraic ideas. It also provides a serious challenge to existing curriculum: what is the role of the machine and what is the role of pencil-and-paper skill? To answer this question, we need to be very clear about goals for algebra education, about what it means to understand and to develop new pedagogies to meet the new situation.

Algebra education research is also impacted by trends that are internal to the educational research community. At a simple level, the growth in international exchange has opened up appreciation of the possibilities for curriculum, teaching and assessment. Algebra education was perceived as something common around the world, but the differences are now known to be large on all dimensions - the degree of formalism, the amount of manipulation, the place of functional thinking, the use of technology, the age of introduction etc. There are many alternative successful approaches.

Important intellectual movements from other disciplines also impact on algebra education. For example, studying the history of mathematical ideas has led to the identification of particular cognitive obstacles for students (e.g. related to the ways in which letters are used), and consequently to teaching approaches that assist students cross the barriers. On a more theoretical level, the role of algebra as "the language of mathematics" has been studied from the point of view of semiotics (the science of symbols) and linguistics (the science of language).

Research into algebra education is a lively field, aiming to engage with social needs and intellectual advances. However, its success should be judged by the extent to which it can promote algebra as a lively, engaging and worthwhile subject for an increasingly large number of students.

# References

Chick, H., Stacey, K., Vincent, J., & Vincent, J. (Eds.) (2001) *The Future of the Teaching and Learning of Algebra*, (Proceedings of the 12th ICMI Study Conference). Melbourne: Department of Science and Mathematics Education, The University of Melbourne

Stacey, K., Chick, H., Kendal, M. (Eds) (2004) *The Future of the Teaching and Learning of Algebra:* The 12th ICMI Study. Kluwer, Dordrecht.

# **Trends in Science Education Research**

# **David Treagust**

Curtin University of Technology, Perth, Australia

This presentation will examine some of the unprecedented developments in science education research in the past three decades (1974-2004).

In the last 30 years, there has been a huge increase in international professional research activities (as is illustrated by this conference), resulting in an increased output of publications in science education research from a wider range of nations (as is illustrated by the number of new journals, especially in the English language), and an increased amount of professional development initiatives (as is illustrated by increasing interactions of professional societies, employers and universities and the growing importance of the roles of science teachers' associations in many countries).

At the classroom level throughout the past 30 years, there has been a constant call for more relevant sci-

ence education (as is illustrated by a growing interest in post-compulsory schooling and how to provide appropriate curricula and assessment in science education) and for greater inclusivity in science education (as is illustrated by the need for science curricula that do not simply reflect social and cultural stereotypes of science).

During this period, there has developed a great diversity of the types of research being conducted in science education. At one end of this spectrum are large-scale assessment programs (as is illustrated by the Trends in Mathematics and Science Studies (TIMSS) and the Program for International Student Assessment (PISA) studies which provide both national data and international comparisons). At the other end of this spectrum are small-scale studies of the work of science teachers in individual classrooms (as is illustrated by action research studies and the detailed documentation of expert practices). To be able to conduct studies of this range, over the past three decades, there has been an increasing acceptance of alternative genres of science education research and an acknowledgment of their own strengths and weaknesses.

This presentation will expand upon the issues described above with examples from different countries. However, from my perspective, despite all the developments in science education curricula, assessment and research, there is still need for a greater understanding of the relationships between policy and practice and a realistic expectation of what science education research can contribute to practice. This certainly should be a major part of the work of science educators in the next three decades.

# **Trends in Technology Education Research**

# Marc J. de Vries

Eindhoven University of Technology, The Netherlands

# The concept of 'Didactics'

In the Routledge International Companion for Education a separate chapter was dedicated to 'didactics'. The author, Gundem, explained that the term 'didactics' in the Anglo-Saxon language countries has a negative connotation, because it indicates rigid prescriptions for teaching. But in other languages, such as French and German it has a much more positive meaning. 'Didactique' or 'Didaktik' stands for the systematic and scientific reflection on teaching practice, leading to knowledge that can be used for teachers to improve teaching and learning. Teachers see 'didactics' as a natural component in their training and try to apply in their work, and the research community has accepted it as a serious research field for many school subjects. In physics education in the Netherlands teachers have often been involved in research projects. Those projects were often a combination of research and development work (in business circles this would be indicated as R&D). So it appears to be possible to give content to such a concept as 'Didaktik', 'didactiek' or 'didactique' or whatever it may be called (from now on the term 'didactics' will be used, but the reader should keep in mind that this is not meant in the Anglo-Saxon mode). The idea of this concept is that 'didactics' provides a scientific basis for teaching. This should be reflected in the research agenda for 'didactics'.

#### The agenda of 'didactics'

The agenda of 'didactics' should reflect the needs of teachers, as researchers should address them. Gundem presented such an agenda. In this paper that agenda has been adapted to become the following:

(1) What are goals and contents for teaching (and why are these to be regarded as such)?

(2) To whom (pupils and students) and by whom (teachers) is this content taught? What are their characteristics (knowledge, experience, attitudes, etc.)?

(3) How can teaching-and-learning situations be reali-sed to pass on the identified content (see 1 below) to the identified target group by the identified people (see 2 below )?

Several authors have stated a desirable research agenda for technology education. Although differently phrased, their ideas do not differ fundamentally. In fact they present a research elaboration of the 'didactics' agenda as has been used in this paper that can be summarised as follows: (1) What and why to teach and learn about technology?

- Who defines goals for technology education and what goals are defined?
- How can technological literacy as a goal for technology education be defined?
- What is the nature and role of knowledge and creativity in technology education?

(2) To whom and by whom to teach and learn about technology?

• Who participates in technology education (e.g. pupils, students, and teachers)?

- What are their preconceptions and concepts of technology?
- What subcultures are there (e.g. genders)?
- (3) How to teach and learn about technology?
- How was technology taught in the past and in what context?
- How do curriculum changes take place?
- How does curriculum integration take place (relate technology to other school subjects and to the outside world)?

This list only partially coincides with the list of important issues for technology education that Wicklein and Hill found among teachers and teacher educators. They mention: funding, academic content, program vitality (position in the school curriculum), leadership, research as a basis for teaching practice, teacher supply, identity of technology education, and integration in the total school curriculum. Of these issues some appear in the research agenda that was based on Lewis and Petrina, but some do not. Evidently there is a difference between what researchers and what teachers see and relevant issues for technology education. Only when researchers and practitioners (teachers) can agree on research topics, a fruitful transfer from research to practice will become feasible. In this paper the research side will be explored: what issues were covered in actual research studies? An analysis will be offered that focuses on the extent to which the agenda of 'didactics' has been addressed in the research practice of the past decade or so. Then we can compare this with the issues that were mentioned as relevant by teachers.

The outcomes show that the field of curriculum goals and content (the 'what and why') is well covered in the research base that we have investigated. Much less attention has been paid to the field of the teachers' and learners' characteristics (the 'by and to whom'). More than expected from the previous analyses by Zuga and Petrina the field of educational practices (the 'how') was addressed in the research base. Many of the topics in each of the fields at first sight seem to be relevant for teachers and relate to the topics that they themselves mentioned in the survey by Wicklein and Hill: academic content, identity of the subject, integration in the school curriculum, and in 2 articles the research as a basis for teaching practice. But in all fields the outcomes are often presented in such a way that teachers are not directly challenged for action. Some of the topics that were mentioned as relevant for educational practice by teachers themselves do not seem to have been addressed at all (funding, program vitality, leadership and teacher supply in the list that Wicklein and Hill found). So the tension between researchers' and teachers' interest that was already expected when we surveyed the 'didactics' research agenda, was confirmed by the analysis.

# Student and Teacher Related Variables as Determinants of Secondary School Students' Academic Achievement in Chemistry in Lagos State, Nigeria

## Francis A. Adesoji

University Of Ibadan, Nigeria

## **Oludipe Oladele**

Lagos State College of Primary Education, Lagos State, Nigeria

## **Objectives of the Study**

The study aimed at constructing and testing a model for providing causal explanations of secondary school achievements in chemistry in terms of student variables – gender, study habit, mathematical ability and teacher variables – gender, age, qualification and year of experience. Based on the objective, the study attempts to provide answers to the following questions:

1. What is the most meaningful causal model for students' achievement in chemistry?

2. What are the directions as well as estimate of the strengths of the causal path (Path coefficients) of the various variables in the model?

3. What are the direct and indirect effects of the independent variables on achievement in chemistry?

4. What are the composite and relative contributions of the seven independent variables  $(X_1 - X_7)$  to the prediction of students' academic achievement  $(X_8)$ ?

# Significance of the Study

The study would throw more light into the causal relationships between the student and teacher related variables under investigation and achievement of students in chemistry. The outcome of the study is therefore expected to assist all stakeholders in the teaching of chemistry particularly at the senior secondary school level, to fashion out appropriate strategies that would enhance the teaching and learning of the subject.

## **Underlying theoretical framework**

The focus of the study is hinged on teacher and student; therefore, theories that have to do with the characteristics of both of them as they affect learning would be applicable. Students are at the center of learning because it is the belief of the authors that teacher cannot control learning, which is the prerogative of the student. He can only control his teaching. This claim supports constructivist's view that learners are actively engaged in making meaning and in the construction of ideas. And this could be said to be affected by variables that have to do with them; these include, gender, study habit and mathematical ability that are considered in the study.

The theories of Piaget, Ausubel, and Gagne would therefore provide theoretical basis for the study.

## **Research design**

An ex - post facto research design was adopted for the study. This was because there was no manipulation of independent variables.

## Procedure

The population for the study was made up of all senior secondary school year two students and their teachers in Epe and Ibeju-Lekki, local government areas of Lagos state. Six and four schools were used in Epe and Ibeju-Lekki local government respectively. A total of two hundred and one students were used in the selected schools. All chemistry teachers in the selected schools took part in the study. The four instruments used for data collection were: (i) Personal Data Questionnaire for Teachers (PDQT) (ii) Study Habit Inventory (SHI) (iii) Mathematical Ability Test (MAT) and (iv) Chemistry Achievement Test (CAT). The administration and collection of all the necessary information were done during the normal class periods. Multiple regression and path analysis were employed to analyze the data.

The hypothesized model was initially designed based on the three factors for generating the causal model according to Blalock (1964) Duncan (1966), Bryant and Doran (1977). These are, temporal order, research findings and theoretical grounds.

# Findings

The results revealed that 7.6% ( $R^2 = 0.076$ ) of the total variation in students' achievement was accounted for by the seven independent variables. Thirteen out of the eighteen paths in the hypothesized model were found to be significant at 0.05 levels. This resulted in trimming and consequently, the production of the parsimonious causal model. It was also detected that the significant paths through which the independent variables caused variation in the dependent variable are four, and they are all direct paths. However, 5.82% of the total effects are found to be direct.

Teacher's age has a significant causal effect on students' achievement in chemistry. The direct effect accounts for 4.40%, which is the highest of the total effect of all the seven independent variables. Teacher qualification has the second most potent causal influence on students' achievement in chemistry. Its direct effect accounted for 4.37% of the total effect whereas its indirect effect accounted for 5.0%. Thus, altogether, teacher qualification accounted for 0.63% of the total effect of the seven independent variables on students' achievement. Teacher experience also has significant causal effect on students' achievement. The direct effect accounted for 3.46% of the total effect of all the variables. Its indirect effect accounted for 0.12% of the total effect. Altogether, teacher experience  $(X_{i})$ accounted for 3.58% of the total effect of the seven independent variables on students' achievement. The variable also significantly affected student study habit.

Teacher gender was found to have direct effect on students' achievement in chemistry. Its direct effect accounted for 0.97% of the total effect of the seven variables whereas its indirect effect accounted for 3.37% of the total effect. Thus, altogether, teacher gender accounted for 2.40% of the total effect of the independent variables.

Furthermore, the study revealed that the student variables- gender ( $X_5$ ), study habit ( $X_6$ ) and mathematical ability ( $X_7$ ) had no direct and indirect effect on academic achievement in chemistry. This is not to say that they did not have effect but their effects are not significant particularly in the presence of the teacher variables. This finding established the importance of teacher in a teaching – learning situation.

#### References

Blalock, H. M.(1964) *Causal Inferences in Non–Experimental Research*. Chapel Hill, University of North Caroline Press.

Bryant, L. T. and Doran, R. L. (1977) A path Analysis in model of Secondary School Physics enrolment. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*. 14(3), 177 – 179.

Duncan, O. D. (1966) Path Analysis: Sociological Examples. *American Journal of Sociology*, 72(1), 1 – 16.

# Teachers and Students' Ideas about Sociology of Science: A Study at the Level of Primary School

# Margarida Afonso

University of Lisbon, Lisbon, Portugal

Scientists do not work isolated in boxes hermetically closed from the external environment, or develop their ideas detached from the scientific community (or even from the non-scientific one) to which they belong. But what is the role of the community, of the society direct or indirectly related to science, in the development of the scientific ideas? How are the scientific ideas influenced by social/political/economical contexts? While the historians and the sociologists of science try to answer these questions the pedagogues wonder about how to explore these aspects in the classroom in order to provide students an enlarged, embraced and closed sight of what the science really is and how is it built and developed. The conceptual framework in which studies about school science ideas are supported – more exactly, the ideas of science, scientist and scientific work developed by students, teachers and school curriculum – are predominantly based on psychological and epistemological principles. So, we attempt to contribute to the decrease of this hiatus by enriching the investigation with theoretical framework from sociology. The study is mainly based upon Bernstein's theory (1999, 2000), that gives the concepts of *classification* and *framing* to the analysis and data interpretation.

This study aimed to recognize and understand the ideas that teachers and students of primary school have about

the different aspects of sociology of science which will allow us, to ponder about *what* and *how* can we explore such aspects in teachers' education and children's learning process in order to promote a deeper and realistic sight of the scientific enterprise.

The pattern we selected to this study was of about twenty teachers of elementary school, with different professional experience and twenty-four students attending the 4<sup>th</sup> grade (seven girls and seventeen boys), aged between nine and ten.

The teachers answered a multiple choice questionnaire with 40 questions. They had to select one option out of four: TD (Totally Disagree), Disagree (Disagree), A (Agree), TA (Totally Agree). The students answered a questionnaire with two parts, one of open questions and the other with 20 questions of multiple choices. The students had to choose one out of three options: D (Disagree), A (Agree), NT (Not know) Afterwards eight students were selected out of twenty-four to answer a semi-structured interview with similar topics. There were four boys and four girls of different social background. Some of them belonged to low social class and others to upper social class. During the interview students were shown several pictures about various scientific activities to which they were stimulated to comment.

The topics of the questionnaires and interviews were similar both to teachers and to students. They were as follows: (a) The influence of social, political and economical contexts in the development of science; (b) The existence of scientific communities and their characteristics; (c) The influence of the social group – social class, race, gender, country of origin... – in the scientists' status and credibility; (d) The existence of consensus and confrontation of beliefs between scientists and scientific communities; (e) Relationship between scientific communities and validation of knowledge.

Regarding the teachers, the results show that in a general way, although they consider that social, cultural, political and economical contexts influence the development of science and that the science is a social and communitarian enterprise, they do not clearly realize the way these communities work, investigate, influence and communicate among themselves. By and large, they also consider that the science is free of prejudice... once they state that there are equal opportunities and success in their career beyond the social group (gender, class, nationality...) of the scientists. The teachers still show confused thoughts about the existence or not of consensus and/or conflicts of beliefs between scientists and scientific communities.

Regarding the pupils, the results suggest perspectives of the scientific enterprise far from the reality. They uphold by and large, that the social, political and economical contexts in which the science is absorbed do not interfere in their course; they also uphold that the scientists'social group does not influence their status and the access to investigation and scientific knowledge. Although the pupils declare that the scientists work mainly in a group and that the organization of group work is vital they show vague and unclear thoughts on the way these groups are organized and work. The pupils also consider that in science there is often a consensus of thoughts between the scientists and the scientific communities what seems to reveal a perspective of "normal science" and not so much of "revolutionary science". The results of the interviews brought awareness of a new fact. Through the interview we realized that boys have a more fanciful idea of science than girls. The boys emphasize the possibility of "great discoveries", "great inventions", "problem solving through science"...; on the other hand, the students of the upper class show closer ideas of what science is than the lower class ones. Students' gender and social class seem to constitute variable mediators of the view of science.

The continuities and discontinuities/cleavages between science ideas presented by teachers need to be pondered once they interfere in the way they develop their teaching and pedagogical practice, how they plan the experimental work and implement the curriculum... in short in the way they help to build students' beliefs.

In conclusion, the study gives suggestions about how the view of "conceived science" can approach to "real science".

**Keywords:** Science curriculum; nature of science; sociology of science; scientific community.

# References

Bernstein, B. (1990) Class, codes and control: Volume IV, The structuring of pedagogic discourse. London: Routledge.

Bernstein, B. (2000) *Pedagogy, symbolic control and identity – Theory, research, critique* (Revised edition). London: Rowman & Littlefield.

# Students' Explanations: A Review of How Students Understand the Theory of Evolution

# Abhijeet Bardapurkar & Nagarjuna G.

Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education, TIFR, Mumbai, India

The abundance of varying life forms, and their abilities to survive in equally varied circumstances, becomes meaningful in the light of the theory of evolution. Naturally then, one of the often-used ways to diagnose students' understanding of the theory of evolution is to elicit and analyse their explanations of relevant phenomena. Around early nineteen eighties, science educationists interested in "children's science called a similar approach as "interview-about-events (e.g. 8)

In the conference that aims to review research in various branches and roots of science education, it would be appropriate to review research on the students' explanations of phenomena in the domain of theory of evolution. The review will be organised around the major principles -variation and natural selection (random or "blind heritable variations, differential reproductive success in specific environments and consequent changes in population structure/speciation etc.) - of the theory of evolution (5); and what the students tell us about their understanding of these principles (1-4, 6, 7, 9-13, 15-19). This review thus intends to put the scientific explanations vis-à-vis students' explanations, and to present our interpretation of students' understanding of the phenomena. The observations are grounded in the current literature but more empirical and theoretical explorations are necessary for a clearer picture.

Students "see the variation as a result of altered environmental condition. Thus, for most of the students, variation does not precede environmental change but follows it. Here, environment or "nature is playing instructive rather than selective role. The cruciality of already-available-variations contributing to the survival in a now-different environment is generally not recognised by the students. In other words, they do not understand that evolution of the species is a "variational evolution (12). Evolution, for them, is a consequence of the intrinsic drive of organisms to survive in the face of challenging environments; it is for them a "developmental or transformational evolution - transformation of un- or less "adapted organisms or "species into the "adapted ones. In a sense then, they perceive the "need to adapt as a cause of evolution; adaptation, for majority of the students, is not the effect of natural selection over many generations. So, for many students, organisms or species-as-a-unit are adapting. Their prescientific explanations do not involve the concept of "changing populations of individuals, each one having "unique constellation of characteristics (many of these common among the conspecific individuals) (14). Students most probably fail to correctly disentangle various levels of biological organisation that vary continuously in the process of evolution: molecular/cellular (the source of variation), organismic (individuals that vary and, if successful, reproduce), populational (can change over many generations due to differential survival), and (rest of the varying) environmental level. Each of these levels has its own dimension of time, ranging from generation time to geological time. It is difficult to understand and appreciate - for students as well as for many of us - that, the evolution is, in Lewontin's words, the conversion of the variation among individuals within an interbreeding group into variation between groups in space and time (12).

#### References

1. Aleixandre, M. P. J. (1996) Darwinian and Lamarckian models used by students and their representation. In K. M. Fisher and M. R. Kibby (eds.) *Knowledge acquisition, organization, and use in biology*. Berlin: Springer.

2. Bishop, B. A. and Anderson C. W. (1990) Student Conceptions of Natural Selection and its Role in Evolution. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching* 27: 415-427.

3. Bizzo, N. M. V. (1994) From Down House Landlord to Brazilian High School Students: What Has Happened to Evolutionary Knowledge on the Way? *Journal of Research in Science Teaching* 31: 537-556.

4. Brumby, M. N. (1984) Misconceptions about the Concept of Natural Selection by Medical Biology Students. *Science Education* 68: 493-503.

5. Darwin, C. (1859/1985) *The Origin of Species by Means of Natural Selection*. London: Penguin Classics.

6. Demastes, S. S. (1996) Patterns of Conceptual Change in Evolution. *Journal of Research in Science* 

#### Trends in Science Education Research

Teaching 33: 407-431.

7. Ferrari, M. and Chi, M. T. H. (1998) The Nature of Naïve Explanations of natural Selection. *International Journal of Science Education* 20: 1231-1256.

8. Gilbert J. K. et. al. (1982) Children's Science and Its Consequences for teaching. *Science Education* 66: 623-633.

9. Jensen, M. S. and Finley, F. N. (1995) Teaching Evolution Using Historical Arguments in a Conceptual Change Strategy. *Science Education* 79: 147-166.

10. Lawson, A. E. and Thompson, L. D. (1988) Formal Reasoning Ability and Misconceptions Concerning Genetics and Natural Selection. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching* 25: 733-746.

11. Lewis, J. and Kattmann, U. (2004) Traits, Genes, and Information: Re-visiting Students' Understanding of Genetics. *International Journal of Science Education* 26: 195-206.

12. Lewontin, R. C. (1984) The structure of evolutionary genetics In E. Sober (ed.) *Conceptual Issues in Evolutionary Biology*. Cambridge MA: Bradford/MIT Press. 13. Mahajan, B. S. (1992) Understanding of Evolution. *Biology Education*, 9: 200-208.

14. Mayr, E. (1988) *Towards a new philosophy of biology*. Cambridge MA: Harvard University Press.

15. Moore, R. et. al. (2002) Undergraduates' Understanding of Evolution: Ascriptions of Agency as a Problem for Student Learning. *Journal of Biological Education* 36: 65-71.

16. Samarapungavan, A. and Wiers, R. W. (1997) Children's Thoughts on the Origin of Species: A Study of Explanatory Coherence. *Cognitive Science* 21:147-177.

17. Settlage, J. Jr. (1994) Conceptions of Natural Selection: A Snapshot of the Sense-Making Process. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching* 31: 449-457.

18. Southerland, S. A. et. al. (2001) Understanding Students' Explanations of Biological Phenomena: Conceptual Frameworks or P-Prims? *Science Education* 85: 328-348.

19. Tamir, P. and Zohar, A. (1991) Anthropomorphism and Teleology in Reasoning about Biological Phenomena. *Science Education* 75: 57-67.

# Action-based Science Education for Health and Environment

# Kulwanti Bellara, Suma Nair & Bakhtaver S. Mahajan

Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education, TIFR, Mumbai, India

India's attempts to industrialise and become a developed country have led to a heavy burden of diseases, both communicable and non-communicable. India loses about 292 million Disability-Adjusted Life Year (DALY) against 201 DALY loss in China. In other words, an average Indian loses 63 Disability-Adjusted Life Days (DALD) per year due to communicable diseases, as against 16, 5, and 4 DALD loss in China, Former Socialist Countries (FSC) and More Developed Countries (MDC), respectively. These communicable diseases are closely linked to our environment.

Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education (HBCSE) has a broad objective of improving science education in the country. The Centre carries out a variety of activities at different levels to achieve its goal of equity and excellence in education. The Health Education Programme of HBCSE (1993-1997) attempted to find out students' understanding about different aspects of health. The results showed that students had 'poor' understanding of genetics, nutrition and social factors, which affect health. Further probing revealed that though students were aware about microorganisms as causative agents of diseases, they were unaware of the different environmental reservoirs and their role in disease-transmission. Considering the heavy disease-burden in India, on one hand, and the fast deteriorating environment, on the other, a more proactive educational approach was recommended to be followed in our school and college curricula.

Health and Environment Action-based Learning (HEAL) is a new educational initiative of HBCSE, with the potential to sensitize large number of students about their immediate environment and its effect on health. HEAL coordinators have put together relevant

theoretical information, experimental protocols and data sheets in a comprehensive Protocol Guide. This Guide enables students to carry out detailed studies, experiments and observations of different environmental parameters (air, water, soil, green-cover and waste) and symptom-based health surveys, yielding provisional diagnosis of environment related health problems

For the execution of HEAL, HBCSE is collorating with the National Service Scheme (NSS) unit of the Mumbai University. A large number of students (~1000) along with their teachers from five colleges of Navi Mumbai are involved in collecting data for various environmental parameters, followed by health surveys. This study will be carried out seasonally (three times in a year, i.e. pre-monsoon, post-monsoon and winter) in different nodes of Navi Mumbai, covering an area of 79.24 sq. kms.

The programme is executed as follows:

HBCSE scientists and other resource persons train NSS teacher co-ordinators.

Trained teachers guide the participating NSS students to carry out the study at their allotted study site.

Students perform experiments, surveys, carry out analysis and prepare a final report of the observed results.

These results are validated by HBCSE scientists and from records supplied by the Navi Mumbai Municipal Corporation.

# HEAL: Pilot Study (December 2003)

HEAL was initiated in 2003 with a pilot study confined to an area of  $\sim 0.18$  sq. kms (Sector 9 of Vashi, Navi Mumbai). *Air quality* was studied at different sites (residential and commercial) using a high volume dust sampler. *Drinking water quality* was analysed chemically and microbiologically (MPN count: Most Probable Number, which is an indication of the presence of coli forms). The *soil* of the study area was also analysed for its physical and chemical properties. *Green cover, solid domestic waste and health studies* were carried out as per the guidelines given in the Protocol Guide.

This study, though limited in nature, showed some interesting results:

High levels of particulate matter {Suspended Particulate Matter, SPM (>10mm) and Respirable Particulate Matter, RSPM (<10mm)} were accompanied by high incidence of the upper respiratory tract problems in the surveyed area.

The green cover in the planned gardens, which were

well maintained, was about 40-58%.

Residents did not segregate domestic solid waste. Illequipped rag pickers carried out the same with expertise and were well aware of the risks involved, including that of AIDS.

Only five medical set-ups out of 16 in the study area were segregating medical waste.

Presence of large number of stray dogs was a strong indicator of non-scientific management of waste in the area.

Malaria is prevalent in the area of Navi Mumbai. The overall observations of the houses and house lane surroundings revealed a clean environment, though mosquito larvae were observed in water containers in about 10% of houses.

# HEAL: Annual Seasonal Study (September 2004)

Equipped with the pilot study experience, a large-scale seasonal study, involving nearly one thousand NSS students, is now underway (2004-2005) in five nodes of Navi Mumbai (Vashi, Turbe, Koparkhairne, Airoli, Nerul). The preliminary results of the first seasonal study largely confirm the trends of the pilot study, especially in the context of high levels of particulates and incidence of upper respiratory tract problems. The green cover greatly varied in different zones, and the open water bodies were largely unpolluted and well maintained.

# **Educational Implications of HEAL**

HEAL has the potential to sensitise a large number of students about the important and complex issues of health and environment. The hope is that the students will reflect and imbibe scientific knowledge about these issues, so essential for our survival.

HEAL emphasizes hands-on experience. Use of different scientific methods, involving experiments, fieldwork, graph making and analysis of their results, exposes students to the intricacies of science.

HEAL takes scientific knowledge to the common people, thus 'bridging the *know-do gap*' — knowledge leading to action/doing.

Students' understanding of different scientific concepts (pH, dilutions, solubility, settling velocities of particulates, microorganisms and their reservoirs, plant diversity, to name only a few) in several disciplines is clarified with their experiences in the field and in the laboratory.

HEAL provides an opportunity to generate time-series data for different environmental parameters and health

#### Trends in Science Education Research

status of people in a study site. This inculcates the culture of data collection and analysis in our young students. Simultaneously, the data could have implications for policy changes.

HEAL is a multi-disciplinary programme. The participating students soon realize the many perspectives/dimensions involved in health and environment.

The study gives a true picture of complexities in the context of both environment and health, as it exists at the ground level. Thus the students are exposed to real life situations where science can be directly applied.

HEAL with its scientific analysis provokes students to think of alternatives/ possible solutions to the present health and environment problems in their respective areas.

HEAL encourages students to adopt sustainable development methods in their homes, localities and colleges. It is hoped that HEAL can help in the efforts to prevent further deterioration of our environment and reduce the related disease-burden.

## References

Botkin, D. and Keller, E. (1995) *Environmental Science: Earth as a living planet.* John Wiley and Sons, Inc.

Clesceri, L. S., Greenberg, A. E. Eaton, A.D. (1998) Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater, American Public Health Association, Washington.

Das Gupta, M., Chen, L. C. and Krishnan, T. N. (1996) *Health Poverty and Development in India*, Oxford University Press, New Delhi.

De, A. K.: *Environmental Chemistry* (1990) Wiley Eastern Ltd.

*Down to Earth: Survival Primer*, Society for Environmental Communication, New Delhi, 2004.

*Environmental Status Report —2002-2003:* Navi Mumbai Municipal Corporation, India.

Kumar, M. S. and Ravindranath, S. *Water Studies: Methods for Monitoring Water Quality* (1998) Centre for Environment Education, Ahmedabad.

Lvovsky, K. *Health and Environment*, Environment Stratergy Paper 1. World Bank 2001.

Mahajan, B. S. (1996), *Microbes and Disease*, Oxford University Press, India.

Mahajan, B. S., Chunawala, S., Deshmukh N. and Shitut, S. (1996) *Health Education Programme: Technical Report No. 27*, Homi Bhabha Centre for science Education, Mumbai. Mahajan, B. S. and Chunawala, S. (1999) Indian Secondary Students' Understanding of Different Aspects of Health. *International Journal of Science Education*, Vol. 21, No. 11, pp.1155-1168.

Mahajan, B. S. and Nair, S., *Protocol Guide* (2004), Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education, Mumbai.

Monitoring Ambient Air Quality for Health Impact Assessment (1999), WHO Regional Publications, European Series, No.85.

Morgan, M.T., et. al. (2003), *Environmental Health*, Wadsworth/ Thomson Learning, USA.

Mukherjee, B. *Environmental Biology* (1997) Tata McGraw-Hill Company Ltd.

Pang, T. (2003), Filling the gap between knowing and doing, *Nature*, Vol. 426, pp. 383.

Ramteke, D. S. and Moghe, C. A., *Manual on Water and Wastewater Analysis* (1988), National Environmental Engineering Research Institute, Nagpur.

*The GLOBE Program-Teacher's Guide* (1997), Available: <u>http//: www.globe.gov</u>

*The World Health Report: Fighting Disease, Fostering Development* (1996), World Health Organisation, Geneva.

*The World Health Report: Life in the 21<sup>st</sup> Century-A Vision for All* (1998). World Health Organisation, Geneva.

# Students' Understanding of DNA and DNA Technologies after "Fifty Years of DNA Double Helix"

Ansuman Chattopadhyay

North Eastern Hill University, Shillong, India

# Bakhtaver S. Mahajan

Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education, TIFR, Mumbai, India

#### Introduction

The 20<sup>th</sup> century saw rapid strides in the science of genetics, especially after the discovery of the structure of DNA molecule, giving rise to new disciplines/areas of work. Besides improving our conceptual understanding of the hereditary molecule and related processes, applications/technologies of genetics are common and manifold today. The year 2003 saw major celebrations on "Fifty years of DNA Double Helix".

Both the academic and industrial world realize the power and importance of genetic technologies. The recombinant DNA technology has introduced new products, like genetically modified organisms (GMOs), to be introduced in agriculture and pharmaceutical industry. Several of these have already reached the Indian markets. The fast development of GMOs, along with the success of animal cloning and data generated by the Human Genome Project have thrown up several ethical, legal and social issues (ELSI) about the widespread use and growth of these technologies. To understand these issues and for informed popular participation in the decision making process for their introduction and use, we need to have a scientific literate population.

With this perspective, a preliminary study was initiated in two cities of the country, in Mumbai and in Shillong, Megalaya. The attempt was to examine students' understanding of the structure of DNA, genes and other related concepts and DNA technologies, including questions about the GMOs, among undergraduate students. So far, to the best of our knowledge, such studies are uncommon in India. An open-ended questionnaire of twenty questions was given to students of biotechnology and microbiology, who are supposed to be well versed in genetics and biotechnology. Analysis of the responses of Mumbai students is given below.

In brief, only about 20-30% students showed scientifically correct understanding about the details of the genetic molecule, or about the structure and function of the gene; their understanding about the many genetic technologies, like cloning and DNA fingerprinting was also poor. Students seemed to be aware about GMOs and their introduction in India, including that of Bt cotton, which often finds wide newspaper coverage. Only 9% of students gave reasons for introduction of GMOs in India.

**Results and Discussion:** The questions covered a wide range of topics in modern genetics, starting from the structure of DNA molecule, the structure and function of genes, to some genetic technologies and ending with the introduction of genetically modified plants/ organisms (GMOs) in India.

The important findings of the study are:

1. A large majority (87%) of students were aware that Watson and Crick had elucidated the structure of the DNA molecule, but only 18% gave the correct year of this discovery. In other words, these students seemed to be unaware of the "Fifty years of the DNA double he-lix".

2. Students had a general idea about the DNA structure, but large numbers did not know the details of the structure (width and length of DNA per turn), number of base pairs per turn, types of bonds involved in the structure and the details of the complementary nature of the molecule.

Structural details of ß DNA	Completely correct response	Incorrect/Partly correct response	Not attempted
No. of strands	84%	6%	10%
Chemical composition	39%	49%	12%
Types of bonds	10%	84%	6%
Specific dimensions	14%	49%	37%
Complementary nature	47%	53%	

3. The questions about gene structure and function revealed that the majority (78%) have a scientifically incorrect understanding of the molecular concept of the gene, though 45% could explain the concept of central dogma in the form of a correct flow chart and

30% stated that genes are involved in protein synthesis.

4. It was also observed that only 35% students could further scientifically elaborate on the concept of gene function when extrapolated to a real life situation. Again, large numbers did mention that the blood disorder was linked to genes, but they could not establish links between the defective gene and the defective protein (in this instance, defective hemoglobin molecule leading to thalassaemia).

5. Regarding other gene functions besides protein synthesis, only 4% students mentioned the role of genes in the synthesis of other RNAs.

Apparently, students seemed to be guided by the contents in biology textbooks, but were unable to extend this information to situations outside the texts. The concept of the gene has kept on changing with advances in genetics. From a Mendelian interpretation of the gene as a "...discrete unit of inheritance", the concept has transformed into its today's molecular interpretation, involving "...the segment of DNA involved in producing a polypeptide chain; it includes regions preceding and following the coding region (leader and trailer) as well as intervening sequence (intron) between individual coding segments (exons)." In addition, the molecular definition of gene could include "...the DNA which is transcribed into rRNA, tRNA and other RNAs, not translated into polypeptides". Students were unable to synthesize these pieces of information about the gene structure into a coherent definition.

6. Overall, the students' understanding about the details of different genetic technologies —cloning, sequencing, fingerprinting — was poor. They seem to be confused between DNA sequencing and DNA fingerprinting. For instance, the basic concept of DNA fingerprinting, the search for differences in polymorphic regions of DNA, was missed out by them. On the other hand, they knew the applications of these technologies.

7. More upsetting, students in large numbers (66%) did not have any idea about the human genome project or its impact on our lives.

8. The last set of questions focused on finding out students' ideas about the introduction of genetically modified organisms (GMOs), including plants, in India. This point is becoming a highly contentious issue in the country involving different stakeholders like regulatory agencies, scientists, farmers, industrialists, consumers and a variety of non-governmental organizations. Often based on misinformation, the issues tend to lose sight of scientific facts and assume highly polemic/ polarized positions. In this context, it was interesting to find out as to how biology students think of GMOs and their introduction in India.

Our results revealed that only 58% students had heard about GMOs and still fewer could give the full form of GMOs. Nine per cent knew the technical details involved in their production and 27% were aware about the introduction of Bt cotton in India, which is the only genetically engineered plant introduced so far in the country.

Students seemed to be enthusiastic about the introduction of GM plants in the country, but they emphasized on strict regulations to be followed before their introduction. Matured arguments were put forth by both the groups of students, those who were in favor or against the introduction of GM plants in India. While some talked about the higher yield or the protection from pests and low use of pesticides with these modified plants, others talked about loss of natural biodiversity and the overall threats to the environment in future.

A few students (9/108) gave accurate details of the regulations which need to be followed before these plants are introduced in the country. They talked about checking the so -called advantages of GM plants in all climatic and soil zones of the country, checking the side effects, if any, of food plants, possible production of toxins and the passage of latter into insects and other components of the environment, etc. This level of so-phisticated thinking was impressive.

Our study, though preliminary in nature, revealed that students' understanding about genetics and related concepts, along with their understanding of the GMOs, needs considerable strengthening.

# Professional Development of K-12 Science Teachers: History of Reform and Effects of a Science-Technology-Society (STS) Approach in Bringing About the Reform

#### **Pradeep Dass**

Appalachian State University, North Carolina, USA

# Professional Development: Need and Role in Science Education Reform

Several recent science education reform efforts around the world (for example, Project 2061, American Association for the Advancement of Science, 1994; Millar & Osborne, 1998) reflect a common concern for providing science education that is relevant to the lives of all students. Achieving such reform is a complicated task that includes providing specific professional development opportunities to teachers. Traditional 'inservice days' as the norm in professional development has been criticized as inadequate and inappropriate in the context of current educational reform efforts, and as being out of step with current research about teacher learning (Darling-Hammond & McLaughlin, 1995). A new perspective on professional development of teachers has become a crucial first step in the reform process. Lieberman (1995, p. 592) notes, "The conventional view of staff development as a transferable package of knowledge to be distributed to teachers in bitesized pieces needs radical rethinking."

Making science relevant to the lives of students requires, among a variety of other factors, a classroom environment in which the students can be actively involved in making meaning of the information within a relevant context. Teachers need to learn to create a suitable instructional environment and employ strategies that encourage active questioning and identification of issues and answers by students. They need to be able to encourage students to challenge the information presented and discuss its personal relevance. Development of these abilities require carefully designed, sustained, long-term professional development opportunities that actively involve teachers in the learning process.

## Professional Development or In-service Education: What's the Difference?

Staff development activities have traditionally been packaged into short-term, discrete, in-service sessions or workshops. Most of these workshops tend to follow a somewhat standardized format-an outside expert (or consultant) 'blows in, blows up, and blows out' while teachers are expected to passively receive whatever was 'blown up' and try to make use of it in their teaching practice. Training-based discrete in-service workshops may be useful for delivering certain types of information such as methods for organizing portfolio assessment of students' work (Little, 1993) or teaching specific skills such as the use of a particular computer software package (Grant, 1997). However, their usefulness as the dominant channel of professional development in diverse contexts has been widely criticized.

The recent criticism of the "training" paradigm and the form of professional development associated with it (Darling-Hammond & McLaughlin, 1995), advances in research on adult learning (Wood & Thompson, 1980) and the change process (Fullan, 1993), and identification of new needs for science education reform have led to new views about professional development and its role in improving education. New guidelines have emerged for the professional development of science teachers in order to facilitate the desired reform. These are best illustrated by the Standards for Professional Development for Teachers of Science, which are guided by a spirit of "change throughout the system" (National Research Council, 1996, p. 72). Accordingly, the standards encompass shift in several areas of emphases in the professional development of science teachers, which reflect the changing conception of the role of professional development in educational reform as well as the role of teachers in the professional development and reform process.

## Moving from In-service Education to Professional Development: An STS Based Approach

School education in the sciences must change to reflect the changing nature of science as well as the changing notions of desirable science education. Two developments-the changing notion of in-service education and the changing notion of the desirable science education-have led to an urgent need for effective professional development programs that address both of these developments. However, one does not find an abundance of such programs with proven track records. Using an STS approach (NSTA, 1990-91, pp.47-48) to both science instruction and professional development of science teachers, the Iowa Chautauqua Program (ICP), developed at the University of Iowa (Iowa City, Iowa, USA) during the early 1980s, emerged as an exemplary model of professional development for K-12 in-service science teachers. It was recognized and validated by the U.S. Department of Education as a model professional development program worthy of dissemination and emulation. Consequently, the ICP model has been emulated in several states in the USA and in several countries worldwide during the last decade (Dass & Yager, 1999). The key elements of the program, which make ICP an exemplary model of professional development reform, include learning experiences based on research compatible ideas actively involving teachers, expectation from teachers to practice what they learn, feedback and follow-up support, and an on-going approach involving collaborative efforts. Central to these key elements is the STS instructional approach-using real-life situations, questions, concerns, and problems as the context and starting points for studying science.

The ICP model is based upon the idea that "in-service education is both a strategy for specific instructional change as well as a strategy for basic organizational change in the way teachers work and learn together" (Blunck, 1993, p. 132). This basis of the ICP model is congruent with the current notion of professional development for continuous enhancement and ongoing learning of teachers. The STS approach is poised to provide real-life relevance to school science education. Thus, an engagement with the STS approach through the ICP model addresses both of the developments mentioned above. Further, ICP model and the STS approach embedded within it have a track record that proves their effectiveness in bringing about the desired reform both in general professional growth of teachers and in specific science instruction in their classes (Blunck & Yager, 1996). The fact that this 'package' (STS and ICP) of professional development model has been emulated successfully in several different settings worldwide attests to its adaptability to local educational realities and priorities. Thus, the STS approach presented through the ICP model of professional development offers undeniable promise of contributing to educational reform much desired around the world during the present century.

# References

American Association for the Advancement of Science. (1994). *Science for all Americans*. New York, NY: Oxford University Press, Inc.

Blunck, S. M. (1993) Evaluating the effectiveness of the Iowa Chautauqua Inservice Program: Changing the

*reculturing practices of teachers*. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, The University of Iowa, Iowa City, Iowa, USA.

Blunck, S. M. & Yager, R. E. (1996) The Iowa Chautauqua Program: A proven in-service model for introducing STS in K-12 classrooms. In R. E. Yager (Ed.) *Science/Technology/Society as reform in science education*, pp. 298-305. Albany, New York: State University of New York Press.

Darling-Hammond, L. & McLaughlin, M. W. (1995) Policies that support professional development in an era of reform. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 76(8), 597-604.

Dass, P. M. & Yager, R. E. (1999) The Iowa Chautauqua Program: Advancing reforms in K-12 Science Education. *Science Education International*, 10(2), 33-38.

Fullan, M. G. (1993) *Change forces: Probing the depths of educational reform*. London, New York: Falmer Press.

Grant, C. M. (1997) Professional development in a technological age: New definitions, old challenges, new resources. Teacher Enhancement Electronic Communications Hall (TEECH). Available at *http://teech.terc.edu*.

Lieberman, A. (1995) Practices that support teacher development: Transforming conceptions of professional learning. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 76(8), 591-596.

Little, J. W. (1993) *Teachers' professional development in a climate of educational reform*. New York, NY: National Center for Restructuring Education, Schools, and Teaching, Teachers College, Columbia University.

Millar, R. & Osborne, J. (1998) *Beyond 2000: Science Education for the future.* London, England: King's College London, School of Education.

National Research Council. (1996) *National science education standards*. Washington, DC: National Academy Press.

National Science Teachers Association (1990-91) The NSTA position statement on science-technology-society (STS). In *NSTA Handbook*, pp. 47-48. Washington, DC: Author.

Wood, F. H. & Thompson, S. R. (1980) Guidelines for better staff development. *Educational Leadership*, *37*(5), 374-378.

# Health Education in Timor Leste (East Timor): A Case Study

#### Jaya Earnest

Curtin University of Technology, Brisbane, Australia

The conclusion of the electoral process in April 2002, paved the way for the declaration of independence on 20 May 2002, making Timor Leste (East Timor) the world's newest democracy. The purpose of this study is to describe and analyse the status of health education in the world's newest democracy. The specific aims of this longitudinal study being carried out over 3 years were: to obtain a broad overview of the current health education curriculum in East Timor, to identify the professional development needs of teachers teaching health education at the primary and lower secondary level and to develop an health education module in Portuguese and Tetum for primary schools to be trialled in two schools in Baucau, East Timor.

The research used an interpretive case study approach in which multiple methods, sensitive to the context, included in-depth and focus group interviews, school visits, accumulation of documentary data and reflective narratives. This paper documents the challenges faced by teachers in the implementation of a relevant health education in a post-conflict transitional society.

## **Background to the Study**

# East Timor: A background to the world's newest nation

The Democratic Republic of Timor Leste (East Timor) is in many regards a 'new' nation. From 1975 until an independence referendum in August, 1999, the nation was 'annexed' by the Republic of Indonesia. It is widely recognised that these decades were marked by violence, human rights abuses and an estimated 200,000 deaths throughout a long-term guerilla resistance (Dunn, 2003; WHO, 2000a). For the more than 450 years prior to Indonesian involvement, Timor Leste (East Timor) was a colony of Portugal (Dunn, 2003).

Immediately following the referendum vote, anti-independence groups led a violent assault on the nation's people and infrastructure, in which many East Timorese were killed, injured and the infrastructure destroyed (Adhikary, 2002). Up to three-quarters of the estimated population of 850,000 was displaced and health facilities were damaged or destroyed (Dunn, 2003; WHO, 2000). In addition, the emigration of core Indonesian health professionals caused the "total collapse" of the health system (WHO, 2000, p.1).

#### Health Indicators in East Timor

Although currently 80% of the population has access to health services of some description (with an average walking time of 70 minutes) (WHO, 2003), there is an acute lack of trained health workers, and doctors. Continuing problems include:

• A strong potential for epidemics of malaria, dengue haemorrhagic fever, Japanese encephalitis, cholera, typhoid, tuberculosis and diarrhea (WHO, 2003).

- Maternal, infant and under-five mortality rates are at unacceptably high levels (WHO, 2003).
- Around half of all women and young children have anaemia and around half of all children under 5 are under-weight (WHO, 2003).
- Water supplies and sanitation reportedly remain very poor, with inadequate or non-existent systems for the formal collection of garbage and hazardous medical waste (Adhikary, 2002).
- 41% of the population lives below the national poverty line of 55 US cents per day (UNDP-HDR, 2002).

# **Theoretical Underpinings**

Focusing Resources on Effective School Health (The FRESH approach)

Good health and nutrition are both essential inputs and important outcomes of basic education. First, children must be healthy and well-nourished in order to fully participate in education and gain its maximum benefits. In addition, a healthy, safe and secure school environment can help protect children from health hazards, abuse and exclusion (WHO, 1996; UNESCO, 2002)

International agencies such as WHO, UNICEF, UNESCO and the World Bank believe that there is a core group of cost effective strategies for making schools healthy for children and so contribute to the development of child-friendly schools. These agencies have launched a new approach to health education called FRESH (Focusing Resources on Effective School Health). Through this approach health policies are adopted and implemented in schools that address the provision of safe water and sanitation, a skills-based health education and school based nutrition and health services

#### Trends in Science Education Research

## (UNESCO, 2002).

#### School Health Education

The arguments for using schools for the dissemination of health education and treatment are logical: there are invariably more schools than clinics in developing countries, and as schools effectively gather children together in one place, they provide an ideal environment for targeted health education. There are numerous reports of the effective use of school-based health programmes to diagnose and/or treat conditions such as malaria and schistosomiasis (Hall, Adjei & Kihamia 1996). Furthermore, children are accustomed to receiving instruction in classroom situations, and they are thus more receptive and responsive to specific health education messages, and more inclined to assimilate the information and relay it to other household members.

#### The Child-to-Child Concept

According to research conducted by Rohde and Sadjimin (1980), information conveyed by school children to other household members is generally perceived to be modern, reliable, and believable. This concept was also effectively used by schools in Uganda (Ministry of Education, Uganda, 1992). Indeed, school health programmes are so efficacious in influencing community perceptions and behaviours that they have been specifically identified by the World Bank (1993) as one of the six most cost effective public health strategies in use.

# **Research plan, Methods and Techniques**

Using Multiple Research Methods

In the context of Timor Leste (East Timor), the study was an enquiry into a complex transitional society. The case study used a multi-method approach using qualitative data with interpretative and critical ethnographic analysis to allow triangulation of methods and cross validation of the data (Denzin & Lincoln, 2000).

#### Sample

Qualitative data was collected from teachers, head teachers, education personnel and lower secondary students from schools in Dili and Baucau. 4 classroom health science lessons with 2 each in primary and secondary schools were observed. Focus group discussions on health issues were conducted with teachers and students. Documents on teaching health issues in schools were obtained from the Ministry of Education.

The first phase of the study, involved in-depth focus group discussions with primary teachers and lower secondary science teachers and secondary school students and addressed health related teaching and learning issues. This phase provided a broad overview of the health education taught in schools.

*In the second phase,* 4 health science lessons in primary and secondary schools were observed using a semistructured class observation schedule, for the purpose of identifying classroom practices and professional development needs in East Timor.

*In the final phase,* teachers were introduced to primary health education modules. Teachers then identified those modules relevant to their context. The modules were then translated into Portuguese and Tetum. A manual was developed based on these modules and is currently being trialled in 2 schools in Baucau, Timor Leste.

# **Discussion and Conclusion**

Like the WHO, 1996 report on improving school health programs, this research also identified the challenges facing a post-conflict transitional society as an acute lack of infrastructure and resources, lack of trained teachers to teach health education, an impoverished population that struggles to survive, a shortage of funds to train teachers and buy resources. But meeting and talking to the teachers and students has given the researcher another lesson in resilience, endurance and hope: that teachers in the transitional nation of Timor Leste want to succeed against all odds.

#### References

Adhikary, S. (2002) *Environmental Health in East Timor. Assignment report: 23 November 2000 – 2 March 2001.* New Delhi: World Health Organization Regional Office of South-East Asia.

Denzin, N. & Lincoln, Y. (2000) Handbook of qualitative research (second ed.) California: Sage Publishers.

Dunn, J. (2003) East Timor: *A Rough Passage to Independence*. New South Wales: Longueville Books.

Hall, A., Adjei, S. & Kihamia, C. (1996) '*School health programmes*', Africa Health, vol. 18, pp. 22-23.

Ministry of Education (1992) *Government White Paper* on Education. Kampala, Uganda.

Rohde, J.E. & Sadjimin, T. 1980), 'Elementary-school pupils as health educators: role of school health programmes in primary health-care', *The Lancet*, vol. 1, pp. 1350-1352.

UNESCO. (2002) *Teaching and Learning for a sustainable future*. A multimedia teacher education programme. [Available online] <u>http://www4.gu.edu.au/</u> <u>ext/unesco/index.htm</u>

UNDP (2002) East Timor Human Development report 2002, The way ahead. The United Nations Develop-

ment Programme in East Timor, Dili, East Timor.

World Bank (1993) World Development Report 1993. Investing in Health, Oxford University Press, New York.

World Health Organization (WHO) (2003) *Democratic Republic of Timor Leste: Country profile for emergencies and disasters*. Geneva: World Health Organization. World Health Organization (WHO) (2000) *East Timor health sector situation report: January – December 2000*. East Timor: World Health Organization.

World Health Organization (WHO) (1996) *Improving* school health programs barriers and strategies. Geneva: World Health Organization.

# Common Knowledge Construction Model for Teaching and Learning Science: Applications in the Indian Context

#### Jazlin Ebenezer

Wayne State University, Detroit, MI, USA

#### Sheela Chacko & Nanibala Immanuel

Spicer Memorial College, Poona, India

## Objectives

Teacher centered pedagogical practices, which focus on acquisition of facts, still dominate the Indian Science classrooms. Transmission of facts result in clutter of 'inert ideas,' which the students are not able to use effectively in familiar contexts and creatively in openended problem - solving situations (Rao, 2003). A teaching model that promotes new directions in science teaching and considers students' personal meaning in lesson sequences is referred to as the *Common* Knowledge Construction Model (CKCM) (Ebenezer & Haggarty, 1999). This teaching model advocates scientific reasoning through conceptual change inquiry using students' multiple meanings of natural and social phenomena. The objective of this poster presentation is to report two aspects of our major, on-going complex study based on the implementation of the CKCM in the Indian context. Correspondingly, we answer two research questions based on the first phase of the model, Exploring and Categorizing students' ideas.

1. What are grade 7 students' conceptions of excretion?

2. What are the classroom teacher's perceptions when the researcher modeled the CKCM in a unit on excretion?

#### Significance of the Study

This study helps teachers to understand how they can

meaningfully connect students' prior ideas to the curriculum. It orients the science teacher of the importance of common knowledge, which can be a base line from which he/she can spiral the scientific ideas of the students to higher level of reasoning. The teacher becomes conscious of how children's ideas develop and conceptual change occurs in the progression of a unit of study.

#### **Underlying Theoretical Framework**

CKCM is a philosophically sound teaching model that is premised on Marton's "relational learning" (Marton, 1981), Bruner's view of language as culture's symbolic system (Bruner, 1986), Vygotsky's zone of proximal development (Vygotsky, 1968, 1978), and Doll's post modern thinking on scientific discourse and curriculum development (Doll, 1993). This model acknowledges that children hold beliefs about the world that they have constructed through personal interaction with natural phenomena and through social interaction with other people (Ebenezer & Haggerty 1999)

#### **Research Design & Procedure**

To answer the first question, we explored 7<sup>th</sup> standard students' ideas of excretion by having them answer the following question in writing using paper and pencil/ pen.

Draw and write how waste products are produced and removed.

## Trends in Science Education Research ·

We collected their "ideas sheets" and categorized their ideas into "phenomenographic categories" following the research tradition of Marton (1981).

To answer the second research question, an interview was conducted with the classroom teacher who observed Sheela Chacko teaching a unit on excretion of animals from the CKCM perspectives.

# Findings

The phenomenographic categories are presented in Table 1.

This study shows that children have prior idea on excretion, which can be used as a basis for developing a sequence of lessons. The researcher, in fact, upon the invitation of the regular 7<sup>th</sup> standard teacher, developed lesson sequences based on the ideas represented in Table 1, and taught the class a unit on the excretion of animals for a period of 2 weeks. Several teachers were curious and observed Sheela's newly developed teaching ideas.

This study has generated students' ideas for curriculum development. The classroom and excerpts from

Students' Conceptions	Students' Expressions	Frequency (n=31)
<b>Digestion of food</b> (n=18) By eating food	"They are produced by when we eat it, is going to be digested so this is the way waste is produced" "We eat our food and it goes to the small intestine and digest and it is produced" "They are produced when the food is digested when we eat the food the food goes to the stomach it is digested and it is pushed out. "	9
Food that is/not digested	"By the food which is not digested"	2
More food than the body requires	"They are produced when we eat more food that is not required for our body the left over food becomes waste"	2
In-take of needed food and excretion of the left over food	"They are produced when we eat food it get s digested and all we need for our energy, like protein calcium etc and the left over is waste"	3
When we eat the food the good products are taken and bad are excreted (1)	"They are produced when we eat the food the good products are taken and bad are excretedfirst we eat the food it goes in the stomach and into the small intestine which takes the good products and the large intestine which take the bad products are excreted."	1
The intake of vitamins	"They are produced after we eat the food the digestion takes place the vitamins will go into the body and then when waste food are left it will be sent out."	1
Kidneys produce waste products	"With the help of our kidneys" "Kidneys help."	4
Digestion of food and urinary ducts	"They are produced because of digestion takes place in our body and produced in urinary ducts"	1
Miscellaneous	<ul> <li>"When we eat food or water the stomach is full and it produce gases and we go toilet"</li> <li>"They are produced by excreting our"</li> <li>"They are produced by bacterial"</li> <li>"By eating, the waste products will come out. by eating they are produced"</li> <li>"They are produced from smallest particle from the body"</li> <li>"It goes in and then it mixes and it is removed."</li> <li>"They are not needed so they are product"</li> <li>"Some harmful effect"</li> <li>"The waste products is done something and excreted"</li> </ul>	9

Table 1. Seventh standard students' conceptions of how waste products are produced

an interview with regular teacher revealed the following insights about the CKCM model: requires much preparation, needs to reduce class load; highly interactive; student understanding is better; the size of class needs to be considerably reduced; learning is fun; and eagerness to learn. Because this is the first time the teacher attempted to implement the CKCM, she was able to see first hand, how it played out in the classroom. Both the researcher and teacher developed understandings of how students generated their own ideas based on the meaningful experiences given in the classroom. This classroom-based research context gave the participants to generate useful knowledge for themselves. And because of this experience they will be able to teach inquiry-based conceptual change models such as the CKCM in school science. Because of the learning experience in this classroom-based experience, the researcher and the teacher will develop the capacity and confidence to implement lesson sequences that aim to explore, assess, develop, and monitor children's ideas of science concepts as well as develop children's knowledge, understandings, and skills in "doing," "writing," and "talking" science, using relevant curricular materials, resources, and technologies.

## References

Bruner J. (1986) *Actual minds, possible worlds*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

Ebenezer, J., & Haggerty, S. (1999) *Becoming a secondary school science teacher*. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.

Marton, F. (1981) *Phenomenography—describing conceptions of the world around us*. Instructional Science, 10, 177-200.

Doll, W. (1993) *A post-modern perspective on curriculum*. New York: Teachers College Press.

Rao, V. K. (2003) *Science Education*. NewDelhi: A P H Publishing Corporation. 4.

Vygotsky, L. (1968, 1978) *Mind in society: The development of higher psychological processes*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

# Understanding Science Teaching and Conceptions of the Nature of Science in Pakistan through a Life History Study

## Nelofer Halai

The Aga Khan University, Karachi, Pakistan.

In this study I have tried to understand and develop a deeper understanding of science teaching in Pakistan. Two main questions guided the inquiry:

1) What is a female science teacher's understanding of teaching science in a school in Pakistan?

2) What aspects of the science teacher's conceptions of the nature of science are explicit in her practice?

I have used a narrative mode of research, using what is called the life history method. Life histories allow and encourage the researcher to adopt a broader understanding of teaching by providing illustration of the relationships between various aspects of teachers' lives and their teaching practice, both inside and beyond the classroom. I chose to work with a female teacher because I myself have been a female teacher of science. My own experience of school and teaching gave the science teacher and me a shared basis for understanding each other. Another reason that I chose to work with a female teacher is that Pakistan is a highly patriarchal society and I was concerned that the power imbalance between the sexes might affect the data generated.

I interviewed Munazza<sup>1</sup> thirteen times and engaged in innumerable conversations with her while observing her teach science in classes seven and eight spread over a time period of 15 months. Munazza is a young science teacher with a BSc degree and eight years experience of teaching. She has had no exposure to teacher education, as teacher training is not deemed essential, especially for teachers in the private sector. She taught in an urban coeducational, afternoon shift school of a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Pseudonyms have been used for the teacher and the school in which she practiced

#### Trends in Science Education Research

large private school system in Karachi. I have named this school the Karachi Model Secondary School (KMSS)<sup>1</sup>. I also observed a few of Munazza's other classes and interviewed a number of science teachers in the school and members of the administrative staff. The purpose was to obtain a complete picture of her teaching practice within the school context.

The importance of this study does not lie in the construction of universal truths about knowledge that science teachers have about teaching. Its significance lies in the deeper understanding of a teacher's practical knowledge of teaching and a more penetrating view of her epistemological understanding of school science. The rich description of her personal life and her classroom teaching, supported by analytic interpretations of her classroom teaching and her conceptions of the nature of science, shows the deep parallels between her personal life and professional life. It also lays bares the complexity of teaching that belies efforts to render it technical and mechanistic by some forms of curriculum reform.

Analysis of data took place at several levels. The first level was the informal analysis and interpretation that took place while interviewing and observing. The second level of analysis was the reading and writing of interview summaries and field notes. This also included sharing the summaries with Munazza. The third level was the beginning of more formal data analysis where I read through the data to select stories for portrayal. The fourth level involved the use of different techniques to analyze data. I used an eclectic mix of techniques to analyze data, drawing on work by Strauss & Corbin (1990) and Lofland & Lofland (1995).

Munazza has a good grounding of science content knowledge and that helps her to devise activities for student learning. However, her repertoire of ways to deal with students and teaching science depends on how she experienced teaching in school and college. Though she wants to and has tried to teach in the way that she was *not* taught but without experience of what that means she remains limited in her efforts. If teachers are to act as pedagogical change-agents, then new ways of thinking about teaching and knowledge have to become a part of their experiences - a part of their lives. This study has made it clear that teachers are much more likely to use methods of teaching or ways of thinking that they were exposed to when in school or college.

Science teaching is a difficult job. Teachers have to do a number of things in class - teach scientific content, develop the skills of science and foster scientific attitudes. As if this was not enough, science teachers also need to pay attention to the messages they convey explicitly or implicitly about the nature of science. Analysis of data showed that Munazza has strongly positivist conceptions about the nature of science. She believes that all scientific propositions are based on data and that observations of reality correspond exactly to an external reality. Her conceptions include the belief that reality is directly accessible through the senses. An apriori theoretical lens is not needed to direct observation and to make sense of data. She also believes that science is value-free, superior and a stable form of knowing. She believes that science is a masculine domain and is a hard subject where women have to work harder to make a place for themselves. These views are conveyed to her through teaching of science in school and college, through her textbooks and even the society at large. An illusion of science knowledge as complete and certain governs her pedagogy in science teaching.

Conclusions of this study emphasize that early experiences influence beliefs and behaviours regarding teaching and learning. Enabling teachers to identify these life experiences provide them with insight into their philosophical position about education, about the nature of science and pedagogical decisions taken in the classroom. Opportunity for teacher educators to engage in this kind of reflection with teachers has some distinct benefits. It has the potential of making explicit the difference between teachers' 'theory-in-use' and 'espoused theory' (Argyris and Schon, 1980). Through this confrontation teachers can become more aware of their theory-in-use and learn to act more effectively in and outside the classroom. My study has shown that teachers will use their personal practical knowledge to make decisions about what and how to teach in the class and that the basis for this kind of knowledge is their life history. This is the only kind of professional development that lasts – to make innovation a part of the life experience and life history of the teacher.

## References

Argyris, C., & Schon, D. A. (1980) *Theory in practice: Increasing professional effectiveness.* San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

Lofland, John and Lyn Lofland. (1995) *Analyzing Social Settings: A Guide to Qualitative Observation and Analysis.* (Third Edition) Belmont, CA: Wadsworth Publishing Company.

Strauss, Anselm and Juliet Corbin. (1990) *Basics of Qualitative Research: Grounded Theory Procedures and Techniques*. Newbury Park: Sage Publications.
# Trends and Issues of Research on In-Service Needs Assessment of Science Teachers: Global Vs the Malaysian Context

Lilia Halim, Kamisah Osman & T. Subahan M. Meerah

Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia, Bangi, Malaysia

#### Introduction

In this ever changing globalized world, the discipline of science (Biology, Physics and Chemistry) is continuously evolving. Similarly, instructional techniques used to teach the knowledge are also developed at the same pace, both as a result of new developments in Information and Communication Technology (ICT) and research in science teaching and learning. Consequently, practicing science teachers need to update their knowledge in both content and pedagogy. It is a well-known phenomenon that, in most countries, teachers of various subject knowledge expertise are often made to teach science subjects that they are not trained for. The need to continuously develop professionally is critical for science teachers. Even though these teachers might have used various kinds of coping strategies and safety net in their teaching, they still need in-service training courses to teach science meaningfully and effectively.

#### **Objectives of the study**

The main objective of the study is to identify the most prevalent needs as perceived by the Malaysian secondary science teachers in keeping abreast with the current demand in science teaching and learning and in meeting the challenges of globalization. More specifically, the objective is to identify the most prevalent needs for in service training as perceived by secondary science teachers in terms of a) science content mastery, b) pedagogical skills, c) knowledge skills in classroom and laboratory management, d) the application and integration of computers in science teaching and e) the usage of English in Mathematics and Science teaching.

This needs assessment study is essential for two purposes. First, in the Malaysian context, the last comprehensive study on the needs of in service training of science teachers was conducted in 1983. Therefore, as mentioned above, there is a need to revisit the needs of secondary Malaysian science teachers. Second, for an effective in-service training program, the program development should be directed towards meeting the stated needs of the teachers' concerns (Amir, 1993). Thus, assessing the learner needs in the planning process is an important step.

# Pertinent literature review of in service needs of science teachers.

The needs assessment defined in this study is specific to science teachers' needs, in that we adopted Moore's (1977:145) definition, which is "... a conscious drive, or desire on the part of the science teacher which is necessary for the improvement of science teaching." For the purpose and context of this needs assessment study, *System Model* put forward by Kaufman (1972), which is widely used by needs assessors, is adopted. The model identifies primary needs, summarizes the nature of primary needs, and prioritizes needs for action planning.

In terms of empirical studies on in-service needs of science teachers, there appears to be a significant difference between the needs of science teachers from developed countries (such as the United States) compared to the needs of those from developing countries such as Malaysia and Jordan. It has been shown that the needs of science teachers from the developed countries (Baird and Rowsey, 1989; Mann 1993; State of Delware; 2002) focused more on the development of students such as 'to motivate students', 'to develop strategies on developing conceptual understanding' and 'to develop strategies to promote analytical thinking and problem-solving skills'. On the other hand, the prominent needs perceived by Malaysian and Jordanian science teachers (Bakar, Rubba, Tomera & Zurub, 1988; Abu Bakar and Tarmizi 1995 and Idris 2001) were focused more on self-improvement such as 'being creative in science instruction' and 'updating knowledge of science innovations in science instruction'.

#### Methodology

The Science Teacher Inventory Needs of Science (STIN-Zurub & Rubba, 1983) instrument was modified and administered to 1650 science secondary teachers. A total of 72 items was constructed to reflect the needs of science teachers in secondary schools in Malaysia. First, existing perceive needs subscale were reviewed followed by a thorough review and analysis of the needs literature. Then a panel of experts in the area of science teaching representing Biology, Chemistry and Physics was asked to edit, combine, suggest and eliminate items

from the initial pool of items. Through factor analysis, 8 factors and were identified. The categories were: 1) Managing and Administering Science Instruction, 2) Diagnosing and Evaluating Learners for Science Instruction, 3) Science Teacher Self Improvement, 4) Subject matter knowledge, 5) Administering laboratory science apparatus, 6) Planning science instruction, 7) The use of ICT in Science Instruction and 8) The Use of English in Science Teaching.

# Findings

Data analysis indicated that the top 10 perceived needs were mainly related to the following three categories 1) The Use of ICT In Science Instruction, 2) Science Teacher Self Improvement and 3) The Use Of English In Teaching Science. The first and third findings are obviously contextual in nature whereby these particular needs arise due to the recent Malaysian government policy on the teaching of Science and Mathematics. The policy requires science and mathematics to be taught in English. 85 per cent of the respondents state the need to increase their proficiency in English. The policy also emphasizes the use of ICT in science teaching. Again, about 95 per cent of the respondents indicated the need to increase their knowledge related to ICT in order to teach science effectively.

It appears that the orientation of the needs was to develop teachers' own competency, both in English and ICT, as a response to the current development. However, such needs could be seen as a conscious drive on the part of the teachers to improve science teaching through improving oneself first. This hypothesis is further supported by another prominent needs indicated by the science teachers, which are related to the need for self-improvement. The needs revolve around concerns such as 'to improve professionalism through inservice courses', 'to gain knowledge on innovative science teaching' and 'to enhance one's thinking skills'. It appears that over the years, Malaysian science teachers needs seem to still focus on the improvement of oneself. Perhaps, the traditional notion of teaching and learning, where teachers are source of knowledge, and are still the main practice in Malaysia, determines the needs of the teachers.

# References

Abu Bakar, K., Tarmizi, R. A. (1995) Teacher preparation concerns: Professional Needs of Malaysian Secondary School Science Teachers, Paper presented at Annual Meeting, Association for the Education of Teachers in Science, California, West Virginia, USA.

Amir Salleh (1993) Inservice training needs assessment for Malaysian secondary school teachers, Unpublished PhD dissertation, University of Michigan. Baird, W. & Rowsey, R. (1989) A survey of secondary science teachers' needs, *School Science and Mathematics*, 89(4):272-284.

Bakar, K., Rubba, P., Tomera, A. & Zurub, A. (1988) Jordanian and Malaysian science teachers' prominent perceived professional needs: A comparison, *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 25(7): 573-587.

Idris, M.D. (2002) A study on the needs of Malaysian primary science teachers, Master Thesis, Faculty of Education, Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia, Malaysia.

Kaufman, R. (1972) *Educational system planning*. Englewood Cliffs: NJ: Educational Technology Publications.

Mann, G. 1993. Rural secondary school science teachers: What they need to be successful.

Moore, K. D. (1977) Development and validation of a science needs-Assessment Profile. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 14(2), 145-149.

State of Delaware High School Science Summary, 2002 http://www.rbs.org/mathsci/states/de/ needs\_assessment/state/high\_science\_summer.html

Zurub, A.R. and Rubba, P.A. (1983) Development and validation of an inventory to assess science teacher needs in developing countries, *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 20(9):867-873.

# The Concept of Force

**V. G. Jadhao** Regional Institute of Education, Bhopal, India

#### B. K. Parida

Regional Institute of Education, Bhubaneswar, India

The concept of Force is the most fundamental yet the most misunderstood concept in physics especially by the students up to higher secondary level. Learning materials in print form, which discuss the formation of these concepts, technically known as cognition or in Piagetian terminology, schemata, are rarely available to a practicing teacher or to learners. Here we present what special and technical meaning the concept of force has in the realm of pre-relativistic classical physics and review the existence of various alternative conceptions of the learners reported in some research studies. In particular we have presented the studies on school and college students spanning from the period 1983 to 1998. From these studies following alternative conceptions are culled out for the purpose of discussion in this presentation.

1. Force is associated with the body till it is in mo tion.

2. When a body is at rest the force acting on it is zero.

3. Force is always in the same direction as the velocity of the body.

4. If the velocity is changing then the force is also changing.

5. Centripetal force and centrifugal force both act on the body moving uniformly in a circle.

6. The action-reaction forces act on the same body.

7. The product of mass and acceleration is a force.

8. Only animate things like people and animals exert forces; passive ones like tables, floors do not exert forces.

9. A force applied by, say a hand, still acts on the object even after the object leaves the hand.

We present Osborne's (1985) thought experiment as a teaching episode to find out alternative conceptions of students at higher secondary level regarding the concept of force. The episode in brief is as follows.:

Consider an elastic ball. If we just drop the ball, it will

go down. On its journey downward if it meets a perfectly elastic horizontal floor, it will return to the same spot from where we dropped it. This process would continue for ever. State the direction of the force acting on the ball when it passes through a midway point B as it travels

- i) upwards
- ii) downwards

This episode is used to create the cognitive conflict in terms of opposite responses regarding the direction of force acting on the ball during its to and fro journey. The students are also asked to justify each of their responses.

This gives a large repertoire of alternative conceptions about force. It is stated that the correct response can be arrived at by two different routes. One shorter and the other longer one. The shorter route asks the student just a simple question what applies the force. Because the earth applies the force so it is always downwards hence the force is always downwards. The longer route is to find the direction of the acceleration or change of momentum. This is also always downwards.

The other alternative conceptions about force are then taken one by one. Possible causes for formation of the alternative conceptions are discussed at length. These are as follows.

a) The familiarity with the use of the term force in our everyday language creates some alternative conceptions. For example we say:

1. Water is coming out of the tap with great force.

2. Force within the earth pulls the stone down.

3. The police forced the door open

4. In spite of applying so much force the lid of the tin is not opening

5. The earth keeps us tied down to itself by gravitational force.

b) The other reason for alternative conceptions about force is the Aristotelian idea about the state of rest

being the preferred state.

c) Lastly it is our faulty way of teaching the concept of force from primary to secondary level, which gives rise to alternative conceptions. The alternative conceptions about force are also related with the alternative concepts about velocity and acceleration.

Some exemplar teaching and testing strategies are also illustrated in this presentation. For example, it is stated that "force" is an abstract concept and that there does not exist a definition of force independent of Newton's laws of motion. In particular the first law gives a criterion to find out whether an unbalanced force acts on the body or not. The second law, while giving us the unit of force also gives the quantitative measure of the unbalanced force. But still they both do not tell us anything about the physical cause of the force. The third law tells us that the force is a result of interaction. All the three laws define the concept of force. Many alternative conceptions particularly about third law of motion widely held by public in general are also commented upon. Identification of correct pair of action reaction forces is also explained carefully. The concept of centrifugal force is explained as pseudo force to make the Newton's laws valid even in non-inertial frame of reference. Any given problem can be analyzed both in an inertial and non-inertial frame. A modified definition of weight is suggested to explain the weight measured in an accelerated frame. Operationally, weight of a body is what the balance measures. It turns out that, weight should be defined as the opposite of the reaction that the floor or support applies on the body. In this connection it is stated that the concept of friction, tension, reaction and pressure are self-adjusting forces.

Sufficient number of problems, simple but illustrating the various aspects of the concept of force are also listed. Concept of force is used as an illustration to train the learners to talk and think aloud about force and other related concepts and events. Detailed mathematical analysis has been deliberately left out which can be easily found in any textbook. The presentation is expected to encourage the learners to think about and sometimes question the way we think and interpret events without being judgmental about ourselves. Lastly the two important aspects of scientific method, the logical thinking and curiosity to experiment are also illustrated taking concept of force as one example.

The teachers as well as self-learners can profitably use this in their attempts to develop correct concept about force.

# References

Cooper, L. N. (1969) An Introduction to the Meaning and Structure of Physics. Harper and Row, New York.

Datta, S. and Prabhakara, S. N. (1994) A Preliminary Survey of Misconceptions of the first Principles of Physics among Advanced Students and Student-teachers. *Physics Education* (India), 11(3), pp. 292-303.

Davies, P. (1995) *Superforce: the Search for a Grand Unified Theory of Nature*. Penguin Books.

Galili, I. and Bar, V. (1992) Motion implies force: where to expect vestiges of the misconceptions? *International Journal of Science Education*, 14, pp. 63-81.

Halliday, D., Resnick, R., and Walker, J. (1994) *Fundamentals of Physics*, 4th edition. Asian books Pvt. Ltd., New Delhi.

Heywood, D. and Parker, J. (2001) Describing the cognitive landscape in learning and teaching about forces. *International Journal of Science Education*, 23(11), pp. 1177.

Kane, P. R. (1998) *An Overview of Techniques for Identifying, Acknowledging and Overcoming Alternate Conceptions in Physics Education.* Joel Klammer Teachers College – Columbia University 1997/98, Klingenstein Project.

Kumar, A. (1997) *Pitfalls in Elementary Physics - 1*. Velocity, Acceleration and Force. Resonance, 2(7), pp. 75-81.

Osborne, R. (1985) Building on children's intuitive ideas. In R. Osborne & P. Freyberg (Eds.). *Learning in Science, The Implications of Children's Science*. Auckland, NZ: Heinemann.

Palmer, D. (2001) Students' alternative conceptions and scientifically acceptable conceptions about gravity. *International Journal of Science Education*, 23(7), pp. 691-706.

Parasnis, A. S. (1998) Motion, Matter, Mass, Laws of Motion, Newton and Einstein. *Physics Education* (India), 15(2), pp. 119-116.

Pearce, H. and Le Roux, Pirre (2000) The Force Concept Inventory: its Meaning for Teaching Physics. AS-PECT and Department of Mechanical Engineering, University of Cape Town. http@eng.uct.ac.za

Popli, R. (2002) *The Enigma of Friction*. IAPT Bulletin, 19(4), pp. 112.

Rankin, W. (2001) *Introducing Newton and Classical Physics*. ICON Books, UK.

Sadanand, N. and Kess, J. (1990) *Concepts in force and motion*. The Physics Teacher, 28, pp. 530-533.

Thijs, G. D. (1992) Evaluation of an introductory course on "force" considering students' preconceptions. *Science Education*, 76, pp. 155-174.

Watts, D. M. and Zylbersztajn, A. (1981) A survey of

some children's ideas about force. *Physics Education*, 16, pp. 360-365.

Watts, D. M. (1983) A study of schoolchildren's alternative frameworks of the concept of force. *European Journal of Science Education*, 5 (2), pp. 217-230. Witelock, D. (1991). Investigating a model of common sense thinking about causes of motion with 7 to16year-old pupils. *International Journal of Science Education*, 13, pp. 321-340.

# Problems and Possibilities of "General Science Education" for College Students

# Yung Sik Kim

Seoul National University, Seoul, Korea

# 1

As modern science was accepted by the universities, the sciences of the universities become gradually specialized. By the late nineteenth century, the basic structure of the university science, composed of the specialized disciplines as we see today, was established. Afterwards, the science in the universities kept increasing the degree of specialization while maintaining the skeleton of the same structure.

Such specialization initially contributed to the growth and development of sciences, and helped to create a social role of science that included the application of science to industry. And this led the universities and society to support science. Yet, while the science in the universities was following this path of ever increasing specialization after the mid-nineteenth century, the way science was practiced, and the place and role of science in society continued to change. There appeared many problems which had not existed a century ago, and the specialized sciences of the universities became less and less capable of dealing with these problems.

To be sure, a great deal of these problems are the problems for the scientists themselves. But the changes mentioned above created problems for the general population also. Even the task of "managing" the big, expensive, industrialized science is not the work of scientists alone. Moreover, everyone living in the modern world has to face those problems that are becoming increasingly more serious for the entire population, which are either created by science or at least related with it. Indeed, science has come to be connected with most problems of modern society.

Meanwhile, the science of the university has become ever more specialized in its content. This has made the university science, which had already been separated from the general public because of the difficulty of its specialized content, even more alienated from them. The specialization has gone too far for the university science to be able to deal properly with the needs and problems of the society; it has even become indifferent to them. This kind of situation can easily lead to an atmosphere of "anti-science"; it even contains a danger of making science a factor of social conflict.

The task of educating the general public properly so that they can live in a society in which the above kind of problems are becoming increasingly more important falls on the education of science as "liberal arts" the "general science education".

#### 2

In most Korean universities the targets of the general science education are the students who do not major in sciences or related areas (hereafter, "non-science students"). A common characteristic of these students is that they are generally ignorant of the sciences, and often have prejudices against them. Yet, when they graduate and enter society, they face, and are forced to deal with, the above kind of problems. The result, then, will be a society in the future, in which these non-science students, ignorant of, and prejudiced against, science, have to play leading roles in the science and technology policy and administration, dealing with numerous science-related problems and making decisions on them.

This is an ominous situation. The need for a proper "general science education" for them, which will provide them with a correct understanding of science, and prepare them to deal with many science-related problems, is obvious. It is important for the future of the

society. Moreover, it should be noted that general science education in the universities will be the last chance for the non-science students to learn about science, and thus, general science education for non-science students can be considered even more important than science education for the students majoring in the sciences.

# 3

It is not possible to teach, in general science education, the technical content of all sciences. On the other hand, however, general science education cannot do away with scientific content entirely. It becomes thus necessary to make selections from various contents of all the sciences. One thing is clear however, that such selections should be made for students, and not for teachers.

What are usually mentioned as goals of science education—1) acquisition of scientific knowledge, and 2) fostering scientific attitude and mentality—cannot be the aims of general science education. These two aims should of course be essential ingredients of general science education. But they are aims that should be pursued in secondary schools, and are neither appropriate nor possible for university-level general science education.

Those non-science students who take general science courses will live in society not as producers of scientific knowledge, but as its consumers, users, and managers. Thus, the problems awaiting them are not what can be solved by specialized scientific knowledge. To deal with them, it is far more necessary to understand the nature of scientific knowledge, the characteristics of scientific activity, and the relation between science and various elements of society, than to learn the detailed contents of sciences. And in the course of dealing with these problems, the general science courses should teach students to see science not just as a finished form of organized systematic knowledge, but also as an important cultural and social phenomenon in modern society. That will be the true goal of the general science education in modern society.

#### 4

It will be necessary for a university to select courses appropriate for the university and its students. It is important, however, to make a broad range of courses available to the students so that they can make a balanced selection from them. A considerable freedom should be given to students to make such selections. Also, the general science courses should be taught by specialists, who possess not only sufficient knowledge of scientific content but understanding of the sciencerelated problems discussed above.

#### 5

General science education should also be provided to the students majoring in sciences. First, they also face and deal with the above-mentioned science-related problems in society in which they live as citizens. Often, they are expected to help the general public to make choices or decisions about these problems. Moreover, many problems these students will face in the future working as scientists are not problems of scientific content. General science education in the universities will provide the students majoring in sciences with understanding that will be helpful for them to deal with these problems.

# Putting Imagery Back into Learning: The Case of Drawings in Human Physiology

# Sindhu Mathai & Jayashree Ramadas

Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education, TIFR, Mumbai, India

Visual imagery is widely recognised as an important mode of cognition. Kosslyn and others (e.g. Kosslyn and Koenig, 1992) have shown a close relationship between visual imagery and visual perception, which leads to our ability to manipulate and interpret mental images in new ways. Working with images is greatly

facilitated by the human ability to draw using an external medium.

Children's drawing has been seen as an indicator of development (e.g. Piaget and Inhelder, 1967). Karmiloff-Smith (1995) in re-looking at cognitive development, argued for system-specific constraints in the notational domain (in which she included both drawing and writing). Drawings have been viewed as a medium for social and cultural transaction (research inspired by Vygotsky: Brooks, 2002), learning and thinking (Arnheim, 1974) and as a tool for problem-solving (Ramadas and Shayer, 1993). The relationship between drawings and visual imagery has however been little explored. In general, research on drawings has focused on early spontaneous productions while that on imagery has dealt with simple, easily coded depictions.

The practice as well as pedagogy of the image-rich field of science depends critically on the use of drawings. Drawings in science are embedded within an elaborate conceptual context. Children's use of drawings in science therefore, must be seen in relation to their visual imagery as well as to their propositional understanding in the content area. Here we employ Paivio's dual-coding hypothesis relating to two separate but highly interconnected components or coding systems of cognition, namely, imaginal and verbal. While the verbal system processes linguistic materials, the non-verbal system (a major aspect of which is visual imagery) is specialised for the processing of non-verbal data (Paivio, 1980).

To understand the role of imagery in drawing, we used the model of van Sommers as modified by Guérin et al. (1999). The model posits two kinds of cognitive pathways in the production of drawings: a visual pathway for the processing of novel and unfamiliar drawings, and a non-visual pathway for the processing of routine, familiar drawings. We submit that the current pedagogy of science bypasses the visual imagery pathway, leading to routine processing of drawing. Some evidence is discussed and remedies suggested.

**Fig. 1** A schematic representation of the model of Guérin et al. (1999)



#### Methodology

Twelve mixed-ability students from classes 6, 7 and 8 of an English medium school in Mumbai, India were asked to respond to four questionnaires pertaining to the structure and functioning of the human body, specifically the systems: digestive, respiratory, circulatory, nervous and excretory. The questions conformed to the content of the textbooks used in their school. Students were provided with outlines of the human body, within which they could draw the systems. The questionnaire required the students to perform three tasks:

• Draw the organs of a particular system of the body using plain lead pencils along with colour pencils or crayons.

• Visualise the process of digestion, respiration, circulation, etc. by forming a visual mental image of it, for example, of eating a favourite food, tracing the path of a drop of blood through the body, tracing the path of a nerve impulse on touching a hot object, etc. They were asked to depict these processes through drawings and words. This question probed their understanding of function and their spontaneous use of drawings.

• Describe the images they visualized when thinking about a given structure or process. Analogy was used as a tool to enable the subjects to generate visual images.

The questionnaire was followed by clinical interviews. The subjects were asked about their preferred mode of communication- either drawings or written expression. They were also asked if drawings could replace written content in textbooks.

# Analysis

The analysis included:

- A classification of the generated visual images.
- A classification of drawings depicting body systems.
- Case studies of a few students to illustrate usage of visual imagery and pictorial notation.

### **Findings and conclusions**

Students' drawings largely conformed to those in their textbooks. Questions about processes however, spontaneously, elicited flow-charts, a list of organs or a list of concepts connected by arrows. We argue that their drawings and descriptions, both written and spoken, suggest the use of a primarily non-visual pathway. Ideally, if the visual imagery pathway could be activated, it would enable drawings to be used as a tool for thought as shown in Fig. 2. **Fig. 2** Role of imagery and drawing in the conceptualisation of any specific content area



Subjects were equally divided in their stated preference for diagrammatic or written expression. However, their written responses indicate that they were more at ease with propositional descriptions and less comfortable with using drawings. Some common alternative conceptions about the working of the human body were also identified

Forming a visual image and manipulating its components enhances learning and problem-solving. In this study, we used analogical thinking as a data gathering tool, but found that it served a pedagogical function also, by facilitating visualisation. We propose that in the case of human physiology, visual imagery is a mediator for drawings to function as a tool for thinking and learning.

#### References

Anderson, R. (1999) Imagery and Spatial Representation. In Bechtel, W. and Graham, G. Eds. *A Companion to Cognitive Science*. Oxford: Blackwell Publishers Ltd.

Arnheim, R. (1974) *Art and Visual Perception: A Psychology of the Creative Eye.* California: University of California Press.

Brooks, M. (2002) *Drawing to Learn*, PhD. Thesis. University of New England, Australia. http://www.une.edu.au/Drawing/main.html

Guérin, F., Ska, B. and Belleville, S. (1999) Cognitive Processing of Drawing Abilities. *Brain and Cognition*, 40, 464-478.

Karmiloff-Smith, A. (1995) *Beyond Modularity: A Developmental Perspective on Cognitive Science*. Massachusetts: Bradford Books, MIT Press.

Kosslyn, S. M. and Koenig, O. (1992) *Wet Mind: The New Cognitive Neuroscience*. New York: The Free Press.

Paivio, A. (1980) Imagery as a Private Audio-Visual Aid. *Instructional Science* 9(4), 295-309.

Piaget, J. and Inhelder, B. (1967) *The Child's Conception of Space*. New York: Norton.

Ramadas, J. and Shayer, M. (1993) Schematic Representation in Optics. In Black, P. J. and Lucas, A. M. Eds. *Children's Informal Ideas in Science*. London: Routledge.

# Anchoring Science Education Towards Scientifically Literate Malaysian Society: An Exploration of Children's Affective Psyche

# Kamisah Osman & Lilia Halim

Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia, Bangi, Selangor, Malaysia

# **Objectives and Significance of Study**

This paper takes as it starting point the document Vision 2020, inspired by the former Prime Minister of Malaysia, and examines the way in which the science curriculum might make a material contribution to the future Malaysian society. In particular, it argues that the science curriculum is in a unique position to take up the challenge of *"establishing a scientific and liter*- ate society, a society that is innovative and forwardlooking, one that is not only a consumer of technology, but also a contributor of the scientific and technological civilization of the future." Such characteristics of Malaysian society must be produced by its education system, particularly science education so that Malaysians are capable of competing in all aspects of human civilization, not only at national level, but also in an international setting. In an effort to establish such scientific and literate society, this paper argues that children's scientific attitudes as well as their attitudes towards science must be nurtured. By possessing positive scientific attitudes and attitudes towards science, it is argued that children will have strong inclination towards science and hence have strong tendency to embark themselves in science related careers.

#### **Underlying Theoretical Framework**

In the field of attitude research, there is a significant debate between two schools of thought regarding the meaning of attitude itself. Attitude, as conceptualised by Krech, Crutchfield and Ballackey (1962) embrace three distinct components: the *affective*, the *behavioural (conative)*, and the *cognitive*. More recently, another school of thought, represented by Fishbein and Ajzen (1975) contend that attitude measurement should be concerned solely with the *affective* domain, and that the *behavioural (conative)* and *cognitive* components should be assessed separately. Nevertheless, as pointed by Koballa (1989), regardless of whether it is the ageold trilogy or monology of attitude one has accepted, what is important is that attitudes are learned either actively or vicariously, and therefore, can be taught.

Essentially, attitudes towards science involve feelings, opinions, beliefs, and appreciation, which individuals have formed as a result of interacting directly or indirectly with the various aspects of the scientific enterprise (Hasan & Bileh, 1975, Munby, 1983). It also covers emotional reactions someone exhibits towards science (Gardner, 1975). The term "scientific attitudes" on the other hand is perceived as desirable attributes of scientists in professional work and could be categorized as interests, adjustments, appreciation as well as values. These attributes include open-mindedness, critical mindedness, suspended judgment, curiosity, intellectual honesty, skepticism, rationality, objectivity, and questioning attitudes (Kozlow and Nay, 1974; Krynoiwsky, 1985). Gauld refers to scientific attitudes as the execution of that particular approach to solving problems, assessing ideas and information and making decisions. Cognizing the wide array of definitions of scientific attitudes, this paper offers a different insight to these definitions of scientific attitudes; viz. it refers to attributes needed in executing higher order thinking, especially solving problems, judging ideas and making decisions. It could therefore be argued that having such attributes could ensure someone not merely being able to interpret the scientific knowledge and method as well as other things concerning their daily lives experiences.

In this paper, the prime aims are twofold: the first segment will focus on the concept of attitude towards science and scientific attitudes. In this section, extensive literature review on those concepts will be conducted, which ultimately bring about authors' unique conceptions of attitude towards science and scientific attitudes. In line with the definition, relationship between scientific attitudes and critical thinking dispositions – dispositions needed to inspire someone to think critically will also be highlighted and discussed. The second segment will present empirical finding about students' attitudes towards science and scientific attitudes. In this final section, discussion will focus on the differentiation in students' attitudes towards science and scientific attitudes with respect to gender, race and educational level.

### **Research Design and Procedures**

The respondents involved in this study survey study comprise 493 Form Two, Four and Matriculation students from several secondary schools. The sampling technique used is stratified sampling (Neuman, 1999). By employing stratified sampling approach, the researcher first divides the population into strata (Form Two, Four and Matriculation). The second step involved is systematically draw sample from each strata. By employing this type of probability sampling, the relative size of each strata can be controlled and monitored by the researcher.

#### The Instruments

The main data-gathering instrument in this study is questionnaire, which includes: i) an adaptation of attitude towards science questionnaire developed by Gogolin and Swartz (1992) and ii) an adaptation of scientific attitude questionnaire developed by Kozlow and Nay (1976). The attitude towards science questionnaire comprises of 48 items and generates six distinct scores rather than a composite attitude towards science scores, viz. perception towards science teacher, anxiety towards science, the importance of science in the society, self-concept in science, enjoyment and motivation in science. The scientific attitude questionnaire comprises of 23 items, which measures students' critical mindedness, suspended judgment, respect for evidence, honesty, objectivity, and willingness to change opinions. The instruments used in this study have been justified in terms of its validity as well as reliability.

#### **Main Findings**

Mainly, it was found that students' attitude towards science is high and there exist significant difference in terms of students' attitude towards science with respect to level of educational experiences. As for the scientific attitude, analysis reveals that overall, Malaysian students possess strong inclination towards respect for evidence and honesty. However, their objectivity and

suspended judgment are very low. Detail analysis reveals that students' cultural background has significant impact in shaping their attitudes towards science as well as scientific attitudes. It is interesting to discuss how their cultural and psychological environment shape and orient their perceptions towards science and hence their scientific attitudes. To conclude, the attitudinal profile provides viable information about the status of science education in Malaysia. This is because, the attitudinal profile generated, tacitly reflects not only the effectiveness of the Malaysian science curriculum in resulting attitudinal changes in the students, but also to science teachers whereby they need to reflect upon their content as well as pedagogical content knowledge so that the end product of children's formal science experience is not only students' acquisition of scientific knowledge (cognitive development) but also changes in terms of students' attitudes (affective psyche) – an aim which is boldly written in the Malaysian science curriculum.

#### References

Fishbein, M & Azjen, I. (1975). *Belief, attitude, intention and behaviour: An introduction to theory and research.* Washington. DC: Reading, Addison and Wesley Pub

Gardner, P.L. (1975). Attitudes to science: A review. *Studies in Science Education, 2*, 1-41.

Gauld, C.F. (1982). The scientific attitude and science education: a critical appraisal. *Science Education*, 66, 109-121.

Gogolin, L & Swartz, F. (1992). A quantitative and qualitative inquiry into the attitudes towards science and non science college students. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 29,487-504.

Hasan, O.E., & Bileh, VY. (1975). Relationship between teacher's change in attitudes towards science and some professional variables. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 12,255 – 261.

Koballa, T.R. (1989). Changing and measuring attitudes in the science classroom, *Research Matters to the Science Teacher*, No 8901. National Association for Research in Science Teaching

Kozlow, M.J. & Nay, M.A. (1974), An approach to measuring scientific attitudes. *Science Education*, *60*, 147–172.

Krech, D., Crutchfield, R.S., & Ballackey. E.L. (1962). *Individual in society*. New York: McGraw Hill.

Krynoiwsky, B.A. (1985). *The development of the attitude toward the subject science scale*, Report No 85:7, Educational Research Institute of British Colombia

Munby, H. (1983). Thirty studies involving the scientific attitude inventory: What confidence can we have in this instrument? *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, *20*, 141-162.

Neuman, W.L. (1999). Social research methods: Quantitative and qualitative research approaches. Boston: Allyn and Bacon

# Students' Alternative Conceptions in Pressure, Heat and Temperature

# Shirish Pathare & H. C. Pradhan

Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education, TIFR, Mumbai, India

### Objective

To study the undergraduate physics students' misconceptions about some selected basic concepts in thermodynamics.

# Significance of the study

At the core of physics education research is the desire to improve instructional strategies for the benefit of student learning. In the physics community, there has been much research undertaken to this end yielding revealing data about what and how students learn. The identification of various misconceptions has led to new ideas for teaching physics both at the secondary and undergraduate levels.

Heat and thermodynamics is a conceptually rich area of undergraduate physics. From the point of view of misconceptions it seems not to have been explored much. Especially in the Indian context so far there has not been much work done in this area. This has prompted us to undertake the present study.

# **Theoretical Framework**

One aspect of misconceptions is that they are part of a student's line of reasoning (Maier, 2004). A misconception is more than having a fact incorrectly memorized. It originates from an inaccurate/inadequate mental structure that underlies one's thinking of a group of related concepts.

Physics is a very conceptual subject. Misconceptions in physics get developed at very basic levels. It is well understood in the physics community that misconceptions must be addressed if they are to be overcome. If not confronted at right time, they keep floating in the students' conceptual framework even to their undergraduate period.

Ironically, at the root of the development of a misconception lies its remedy. In Piaget's model of intelligence, what is required for sound understanding of a concept is accommodation following a state of disequilibrium. If the student experiences are skillfully guided at this stage, the misconceptions which may develop by way of unchecked accommodation may be avoided or disentangled. In other words, according to this model the way to prevent or resolve misconceptions is to have the learner confront the misconceptions directly with an experience that causes disequilibrium followed by sound accommodation (Maier, 2004). It is thus clear that study of misconceptions could be of great help in instruction, particularly in physics instruction.

The present study is on misconceptions that arise in introductory thermodynamics. We have focused our attention on three basic concepts 1) Heat, 2) Temperature and 3) Pressure. A large number of experiences in daily life is related to these concepts and as a result students develop some kind of naive models about these concepts right from their early school days. When such concepts are taught to the students in a way that does not provoke them to confront paradoxes arising from their alternate models conflicting with the 'standard scientific model', they develop misconceptions. The process of development of misconceptions may also be aided by use of words that mean one thing in everyday life and another in a scientific context (e.g. pressure) and by the learner's inability to overcome non-scientific beliefs.

Previous studies have revealed that the terms 'heat', 'temperature' are frequently not differentiated by students (Errickson, 1985). They do not consider surroundings to be important for an object's thermal history (Tiberghien, 1985). The concept of thermal equilibrium is not well understood by them (Strauss and Stavy, 1983) (Arnold, M. Millar R. 1996). Our study confirms these observations. Further we find that students' ideas of pressure are limited to 'force per unit area' and their model of pressure is essentially that of 'weight of a vertical column per unit area of cross section'

Items	Did not Attempt	Correct Response	Incorrect/ Inadequate Response
Heat – Basic Concept	10%	20%	70%
Temperature – Concept	40%	0%	60%
Internal Energy and Total Energy	20%	20%	60%
Thermal Equilibrium – Relation to object material	10%	0%	90%
Thermal Equilibrium – Relation to object size	10%	20%	70%
Latent Heat – Constancy of temperature	0%	60%	40%
Temperature – as an Intensive Variable	30%	40%	30%
Pressure – Basic Concept	50%	10%	40%
Pressure – Variation with direction	10%	50%	40%
Pressure – Variation with location	30%	0%	70%
Pressure at a point inside a container	20%	40%	40%

Table 1

# **Research Design**

We conducted a preliminary study involving discussions with some undergraduate students. This study gave us clues to the kind of difficulties that students have in the topics of our study. On the basis of this study as well as through discussions with some college teachers, we framed a free response test consisting of open ended essay type or short answer questions. This free response test was administered to a sample of 30 undergraduate students in a Mumbai college. The responses to this test were analyzed. In order to probe students' ideas further, interviews were conducted with a few students. This exercise of free response tests and interviews brought out problem areas and helped us identify misconceptions in a broad sense. With this background, we formulated forced option tests to pin down the misconceptions further. The forced option tests are being given to a larger sample of undergraduate students from colleges in Mumbai. For further confirmation/probing detailed interviews will be conducted with a few selected students.

# Findings

Table 1 summarizes how students responded to various items in the free response test. The column 'Items' gives the main concept to be tested through the item. The other columns give the percentage of students who did not attempt the item, whose response was 'correct' and whose response was 'incorrect /inadequate'. The prominent findings are given following the table. We intend to present a detailed analysis in the poster format at the conference.

Many students when asked what heat is, can not go beyond a statement "Heat is a form of energy". Some of them relate it to temperature saying that "Heat increases temperature". Some talk about heat as the energy content of the system. They seem to equate heat with internal energy. Neither any student mentions that heat is a form of energy in transit nor anybody shows awareness that heat may lead to external work.

In case of temperature, some students seem to equate it to its unit "degree centigrade". Some say that it measures the 'heat content' of the body. Some use a kind of 'inverted reasoning' to make statements such as "temperature causes change in heat" or "temperature is the unit which determines particular states of a body".

When asked about internal energy, many students seemed to equate internal energy of a system with the total energy of the system.

Thermal equilibrium is a problem area for the students. They were asked about the temperature attained by a body kept in a hot enclosure for a sufficiently long time. They seemed to say that the temperature attained depends on the material of the body or on its size. The materials stated in the relevant item were copper and wood. Copper being a good conductor of heat, was rated as a candidate for a higher temperature than wood which is a non-conductor. Some of the interesting statements were

"In copper, heat affects inner particles, whereas wood absorbs heat only at the surface".

"Wood will resist the change in temperature".

In case of size dependence some students argued that a larger body will have larger temperature (thinking that larger surface area will absorb more heat and hence lead to a greater temperature) whereas some other students said that a smaller body will have larger temperature (thinking that a given amount of heat will result in greater temperature for a smaller volume. They seem to intuitively think of heat as a liquid and the temperature as level of the liquid.)

The concept of latent heat seemed to have no great problem with students. Most of them answered that the boiling point of water will remain constant even after the gas stove is turned on to a higher flame. But there were some exceptions going for 'increased temperature' argument.

The intensive nature of temperature is not understood by the students. Some of them answered that if a container is portioned in two unequal compartments their temperature will be different.

Most students' ideas of pressure did not go beyond 'force per unit area'. They seemed to have a 'weight of column' model of pressure wherein the pressure changes with the height of the column. While applying the model they do not show any sense of the relative magnitude of the density of air and that of liquid, say water. Due to this 'weight of column' model another misconception that students are led to was that a fluid exerts no pressure on the vertical walls of the container.

# References

Maier, S. (2004) 2004 Oklahoma Higher Education Teaching and Learning Conference, 'Misconception Research and Piagetian Models of Intelligence'.

Arnold, M. and Millar, R. (1996) Exploring the use of analogy in the teaching of heat, temperature and thermal equilibrium. In Welford, G., Osborne, J., Scott, P: *Research in Science Education in Europe*. London: The Falmer Press, 22-35.

Erickson, G. L. (1985) Heat and temperature: Part A. In Driver, R., Guesne, E. and Tiberghien, A. (Eds) *Children's Ideas in Science*, Milton Keynes, Open University Press, pp. 55 – 66.

Tiberghien, A. (1985) 'Heat and temperature: Part B.

In Driver, R., Guesne, E. and Tiberghien, A. (Eds) *Children's Ideas in Science*, Milton Keynes, Open University Press, pp. 67–84.

Strauss, S. and Stavy, R. (1983) Educational-development psychology and curriculum development: The case of heat and temperature. In Helm, H. and Novak J. (Eds.) Proceedings of the International Seminar: *Misconceptions in Science and Mathematics*, Ithaca, NY, Cornell University, pp. 292 – 303.

# Science Teaching through Computer Assisted Instruction: Research Findings and Insights

# Mridula D. Ranade

SNDT Women's University, Pune, India

# Significance of the Study

The day may not be very far off when most Indian classrooms have a computer. Everyday teaching through computers can then become possible. However, educators, administrators, researchers and parents all have doubts about its real learning value. While no one denies the need for making every student computer literate, there are misgivings about the effectiveness of computers for teaching. We would like to see some evidence that computers in classrooms are more than expensive time-wasting toys; that use of computers for teaching enhances learning in demonstrable ways.

In western countries, a great deal of research has been conducted regarding the effects of the use of computers as a teaching tool on student achievement, attitudes, learning rate, retention, etc. (Cotton, 2001). In India, however, not much research or meta-analysis has been conducted in this field. It would indeed be worthwhile to find out if Computer Assisted Instruction (CAI) has the potential to bring about increased achievement in the Indian context, and how it compares to general classroom teaching.

Science is an important subject in the school curriculum that has two major problem areas that cause ineffective learning:

The Limitations of the Teacher: Most Science teachers have in-depth knowledge only in their chosen elective such as Physics, Chemistry or Biology that is required to teach fundamental concepts in the discipline, but they are hampered in teaching other branches which they must teach anyway. Many teachers are not adept at using quick sketches to explain certain content, or in drawing diagrams in Biology. Some do not possess a big enough knowledge-base to link scientific content with day-to-day examples. For effective teaching of Science, teachers need to collect ample background information, for which they may not have the resources, time, or inclination.

Lack of Audio-visual Aids: Teachers often need to carry several charts, equipment, specimens, etc., even for teaching a single topic effectively. However, often these materials are either unavailable or inaccessible; moreover, teachers do not have enough time between classes to procure and test it for its usability. Hence, most Science classes are limited to uninspiring, and sometimes, incomprehensible verbal lectures.

It is believed that computers can not only help overcome these problems, but the vastly greater potential of this technology as an effective teaching aid will cause a quantum leap in the quality of science teaching and learning.

However, in the past, new technology in teaching-learning has not always proved effective. Most science teaching material available for use by teachers was not able to accommodate the individual needs of the teacher. For example, educational films produced abroad did not match the local curriculum and were hard to understand due to different accents.

Today, general-purpose, easy-to-use software such as Microsoft PowerPoint<sup>®</sup> has become available. For the first time, *teachers* can easily modify and even produce their own CAI material based on the needs of their own classes.

We therefore need to study afresh the utility of the current generation of hardware and software in teachinglearning, and conduct research on what techniques are effective.

# **Procedure of the Study**

I have trained several M.Ed. student-teachers to prepare CAI material for teaching of specific units of Science at the secondary level. They studied its efficacy in terms of student achievement, interest, and reactions. We chose Microsoft PowerPoint as the presentation medium for its ready availability, ease of learning, and because many teachers have learnt to use it. Several such presentations were developed, both in English and the regional language, Marathi, and tested in various schools. About a dozen such researches have been conducted since 1999. In this paper, I do a meta-analysis of the findings of these researches.

Over the years, my experience with preparation of presentations as also the observations of students and their reactions to the presentations led to the development of several useful techniques of teaching-learning that enhance the effectiveness of a presentation.

Some of these techniques are

1. Content analysis of previously learnt related content and a short initial quiz to jog students' memory

2. Use of advance organizers to provide students with "mental hooks" to attach new learning to

3. Use of principles derived from the theory of multiple intelligences

4. Use of visuals to complement the words

5. Use of interactivities such as "think-pair-share" exercises

6. Use of rhetorical questions, puzzles, quizzes, etc. to stimulate thinking

7. Use of hyperlinks to provide extra information on the topic, as well as to explain some basic concepts for students in need of extra assistance

8. Use of formative evaluation

9. Step-wise instructions and figures specifically targeted to improve diagram-drawing skills

10. Some of these features will be demonstrated through a PowerPoint Presentation.

# **Research Design**

Single group and control/comparison group pretestposttest designs were used. Efficacy of CAI was compared with regular classroom teaching, studying from the textbook, or from plain text files on the computer. Retention of content over time was also studied.

# **Findings of the Meta-analysis**

• Students were given rating scales or rubrics to rate the usefulness of various features included in the pres-

entation. Most students reacted very positively to these features.

• The response of students to CAI has been overwhelmingly positive.

• It led to greater inter-student interactions.

• 't' tests for comparison of pre and post-test means have revealed that CAI has in every case led to increased achievement.

• Its efficacy has never been found to be less than regular classroom teaching or regulated self-study from textbooks.

In 92% cases, it has proved superior.

• While visually enhanced and non-enhanced presentations were equally effective in bringing about learning, the former led to better long-term retention.

• Differences were observed in the way girls viewed the presentations as compared to boys. Girls were far more systemic, followed a linear mode of viewing, and took much longer to view the presentations.

• Teachers who saw the presentations were keen on using them in their classrooms.

### **Insights Derived from the Meta-analysis**

• Thoughtfully designed CAI is indeed effective in bringing about learning, but when the teacher is really good, a few students prefer traditional face-to-face teaching to CAI.

• The packages when used in the self-learning/grouplearning mode can be a better alternative to bad teaching, but can never replace good teachers. They can only enhance their effectiveness.

• These packages can be best used as visual aids to supplement classroom teaching (shown on a large T.V. or as LCD display.)

### References

Cotton, K. Computer-Assisted Instruction, <u>http://</u><u>www.nwrel.org/scpd/sirs/5/cu10.html</u> (Last Update: 31/8/01).

# Data Evaluation: An Integral Part of Learning Science

Anita Roychoudhury

The Ohio State University, Columbus, USA

# Significance of the study

Inquiry based learning simulates, at least to an extent, the way scientific knowledge develops and at the heart of any inquiry project is evidence-based reasoning. The process of drawing inferences from observation involves sifting through data, formulating evidence, and coordinating theory with evidence; although this process is at the heart of scientific reasoning ability, and have received attention in cognitive science, a detailed examination of its components, as they are adopted by individuals in content-rich and school-based contexts, is rare (Greeno & Goldman, 1998; Koslowski, 1996; Kuhn, 1993, 1999; Kuhn, Garcia-Mila, Zohar, & Anderson, 1995; Kuhn, Schauble, Garcia-Mila, 1992; Siegler, 1996). While there have been some studies done on scientific reasoning, transferring research to classrooms and school contexts has it own challenges (Klahr, Chen, & Toth, 2001; Toth, Klahr, & Chen, 2000; Toth, Suthers, & Lesgold, 2002). Klahr et al. (2001) describe the challenges of implementing research-based strategies in classroom settings and those who are closely connected with classrooms are well aware of these complexities. This implies that there needs to be exploration of student reasoning situated in school contexts. Such experiences are crucial for teachers as well because they need to learn to develop reasoning skills in the context of messy and real data so that they can guide their students through the process effectively.

# **Underlying theoretical framework**

Data science inquiry projects of any kind, be they guided or open-ended, often involve some ambiguity due to imperfections at various levels and as a result its interpretation can be difficult for beginners. Whether the data is "messy" or not its interpretation constitutes an essential aspect of scientific reasoning process. There would be hardly any debate about the claim that as a result of learning science, students should be able to reason and be able to understand the implications of evidence. However, researchers have shown that individuals have difficulty interpreting anomalous data unless they have the metacognitive ability to reflect on their own strategies and theories (Kuhn et al. 1992; Kuhn et al., 1995). While some individuals might be able to develop these reasoning skills on their own as cognitive research has shown, educators can not leave it to

chance and need to make the effort to transport them to instructional contexts to help all students develop strategies for examining data and drawing conclusions.

In this regard another aspect of general instructional environment needs attention; that is, writing reports or expressing the reasoning through writing, since this form of communication plays an important part in a typical school context. Writing reports played an important role in the studies included in this paper. The influence of writing on learning science has been receiving attention from researchers in science education in recent years (Keys, 1999; Keys, Hand, Prain, & Collins, 1999; Hand, Hoehnshell, Prain, 2004). Some of these studies show the importance of writing in helping students learn science but we need details about how students make sense of data, how, when, and why they discount information, what they count as evidence, and other facets of the reasoning processes that are demonstrated in student reports. With this as the basic premise, this study examined the written reports of students at different academic levels, such as middle school and freshman year, in the context of a variety of inquiry projects. The purpose of the study was to gain an understanding of the ways reasoning is used by students in making sense of data during various inquiry projects. The research questions for this study are

Do students draw inferences from data? What kind of justifications do they provide?

### **Research design and procedure**

This is a part of a larger study involving students in middle grades in an urban school and undergraduate students enrolled in a physical science course for preservice teachers. This wide range of participants was based on the dual purpose of providing future teachers with experiences similar to their students and to study teachers' reasoning process as well. In this way, the study could provide two levels of information: one, about students' ways of reasoning; two, how the future teachers handle this kind of science teaching. In this report, the results from a part of the data corpus are presented to provide a sense of the preliminary findings from these projects.

Three tasks – two brief and one long-term project – carried out by the sixth grade students and a two-week long weather project carried out by the preservice teachers constituted the source of data for this study. The sixth graders carried out a pH scales and Acid-base activity; they also planned and carried out an Acid rain project over several weeks.

pH scales: In this activity, students tested various household substances for their pH levels and then classified them as acid, base, or neutral.

Acid-base activity: In this activity, students used universal indicator to examine the neutralization of acid and base.

Acid rain project: For this long-term project, the students worked in groups of three or four and designed an experiment to test the effects of spraying coleus plants with acidic, basic, or neutral water for 3 weeks.

Weather project: In this project, (freshman year) students from a physical science course collected data from weather reports on tv pertaining to a research question of their choice. They were asked to incorporate the variables pressure and temperature in their question; aside from that, they were free to investigate the changes according to their interest. They developed explanations for the patterns of changes they observed in the weather variables, discussed their findings with the instructor, received feedback, and submitted reports on their findings.

*Data Analysis:* The written reports from these projects are analyzed using inferences and the justifications as criteria for coding. These a priori coding criteria are based on the theoretical framework of the study and are guided by the research questions stated earlier in the paper (Miles & Huberman, 1994). Student reports are examined to see if they drew inferences from their observations, if their inferences are correct and supported by appropriate justification or not. The findings are discussed in detail in the following section.

# Findings

The simple experimental tasks carried out by the sixth grade students involved making inferences based on observations. The simplicity of the tasks allowed a clear picture of where students used or ignored evidence in their inferences or justifications. It also provided a scope for guiding them toward further developing their thinking skills. For example, in the pH scales task inferences such as the "acids are sour" did not include the anomalous evidence they had from a soft drink, which tasted sweet. As they learned to examine data, in course of the subsequent tasks, the students illustrated a pattern of moving back and forth between valid and invalid inferences and justifications. This is not surprising given that other researchers (Kuhn, 1999; Siegler, 1996; Kuhn et al. 1995;) have found similar instability in inexperienced learners. Feedback on the ways students used evidence and justified their responses or drew conclusions constituted a major facet of this project. It appears that students – both sixth grade and preservice teachers benefited from this experience as their final reports illustrated improvement in two levels: one, they provided justifications for their inferences which was not usually the case at the beginning; two, they considered anomalous data in the process of making inferences.

The sixth grade students were capable of designing their long-term project on acid rain; working in groups of three or four individuals, they identified the independent and control variables to find the effects of acid rain on coleus plants<sup>1</sup>. In this case, they needed some help in operationalizing the dependent variable, specifically, the plant growth. Analyses of the final reports show that while most students could effectively make simple causal connections between variables from their observations, for some the beliefs and attachment to personal data became a barrier to logical inferences and justifications. The outcome of their experiment was contrary to their expected outcome as well as the composite group data, which indicated that the plants did better with plain water and did not do well when sprayed with acidic water. In their case the plant receiving the acidic spray of water grew well whereas the one receiving plain water died and they concluded that the acidic water was better even though they did not expect it. Nevertheless, these students used their own data to support their conclusion, even in the face of anomaly and in spite of the group data indicating a different trend.

This pattern adds a new dimension to Kuhn's (2001) and Kuhn et al.'s (1995) findings since, according them, individuals tend to have more confidence in their beliefs in the face of anomalous data rather than the data itself. In this case, the group believed in their own data even though it showed a pattern opposite to their own belief and to the larger dataset from the rest of the groups.

The reports written by the preservice teachers focused on more complex inquires as they explored the relationships among pressure, temperature, and humidity (this was the most commonly chosen additional variable) as the local weather changed from day to day. In addition to these variables, some students included some other variables in their studies as well. Nonetheless,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>They had learned to design simple experiments in their science class earlier in the year.

overall, there were similar patterns in the development of the data interpretation skills of these students as well. Initially, the conclusions overlooked certain inconsistencies in the data but in course of time they learned to address anomalies, became more adept in drawing inferences based on data, and providing justifications based on evidence.

It was obvious that some of the essential aspects of reasoning processes were rare even in the freshman students' reports at the beginning. In order to learn to reason from "messy" data, students need to explicitly focus on this and instruction needs to guide them in the process; students need to learn a new array of evaluation skills for making sense of data involving complexity and anomaly. The findings further suggest that such skills need to be taught over an extended period of time but unless attention is paid to this aspect of learning science, students are unlikely to learn to make sense of data.

### References

Greeno, J. G. & Goldman, S. V. (Eds.). (1998) *Thinking practices in mathematics and science learning*. N. J.: Erlbaum.

Hand, B., Hoehnshell, L., Prain, V. (2004) Exploring students' response to conceptual questions when engaged with planned writing experiences: A study with year 10 science students. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 41(2), 186-210.

Keys, C. W. (1999) Language as an indicator of meaning generation: An analysis of middle school students' written discourse about scientific investigations, *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 36(9), 1044-1061.

Keys, C. W., Hand, B., Prain, V., & Collins, S. (1999) Using the science writing heuristic as a tool for learning from laboratory investigations in secondary science. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 36, 1065-1084.

Klahr, D., Chen, Z, & Toth, E.E. (2001) From cognition to instruction to cognition: A case study in elementary school science instruction. In K. Crowley, C.D. Schunn, & T. Okada (Eds.). *Designing for science: Implications from professional, instructional, and everyday science.* Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum.

Koslowski, B. (1996) Theory and evidence. *The development of scientific reasoning*. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.

Kuhn, D., Schauble, L., Garcia-Mila, M. (1992) Crossdomain development of scientific reasoning. *Cognition and Instruction*, 9, 285-327.

Kuhn, D., Garcia-Mila, M., Zohar, A. & Andersen, C.

(1995) *Strategies of knowledge acquisition*. Monographs of the societies for research in child development. serial no 245. vol. 60 (4).

Kuhn, D. (1993) Science as argument: Implications for teaching and learning scientific thinking. *Science Education*, 77, 319-337.

Kuhn, D. (1999) A developmental model of critical thinking. *Educational Researcher*, 28(2), 16-26, 46.

Kuhn, D. (2001) How do people know? Psychological science. 12(1), 1-8.

Miles, M. B., & Huberman, A. M. (1994) Qualitative data analysis: *A source book of new methods* (2<sup>nd</sup> ed.). Newbury Park, CA: Sage Publications.

Siegler, R. S. (1996) *Emerging minds: The process of change in children's thinking*. New York: Oxford University Press.

Toth, E. E., Klahr, D., & Chen, Z. (2000) Bridging research and practice: A cognitively based classroom intervention for teaching experimentation skills to elementary school children. *Cognition and Instruction*, 18, 423-459.

Toth, E. E., Suthers, D. D., & Lesgold, A. M. (2002) "Mapping to know": The effects of representational guidance and reflective assessment on scientific inquiry. *Science Education*, 86(2), 264-285.

# Teacher as Constructor of Knowledge: An Analysis of Teachers' Contribution to the Hoshangabad Science Teaching Programme

#### Sadhna Saxena

Delhi University, Delhi, India

#### **Kamal Mahendroo**

Eklavya, Bhopal, India

Teaching of science has been undergoing some major shifts in perspective and approaches over the last century. Each major shift has in turn reformulated the teacher's role calling upon her to acquire new skills, understanding of the subject matter and a different order of commitment to the emerging perspectives. How to create conditions that help teachers make these transitions has been a major challenge for innovating groups. The practical success of any new innovative approach crucially depends on how the task of teacher reorientation, involvement and motivation is approached.

In this paper we seek to share the framework evolved, the methods adopted and the experiences gained from the macro scale implementation of the Hoshangabad Science Teaching Programme in context of reorienting, reinforcing and motivating the teachers.

While mainstream science education in India continues to be afflicted by its phobia of the knowledge explosion and obsession with the 'empty vessel' vision of the learner, there have been interesting attempts to break away from the mainstream practice. The Hoshangabad Science Teaching Programme(HSTP) group's motivation was to evolve an effective approach to science teaching rooted in the social and economic challenges facing a developing country like India, particularly in its vast rural areas. Influenced by the new ideas and perspectives on Science Education emerging across the world, HSTP has been an attempt to reinterpret them in the Indian context and engage with the mainstream school system to evolve workable models of practice.

The major trends of Science Education that exerted their influence on the thinking and evolution of the HSTP approach have been:

• Bruner - 'The curriculum of a subject should be determined by the most fundamental understanding that can be achieved of the underlying principles that give structure to the subject. (The Process of Education);

• Primacy to the Method of Science leading to the

process-product balance debate;

• Science, Technology and Society linkages and issues emerging from that;

• Learner centred concerns- worldview, knowledge constructs, context and milieu, stages of learning;

• Behaviorism vs. Constructivism debate.

About learning and curriculum HSTP has highlighted

- Aim for developing higher order thinking skills;
- Greater emphasis on the social context of learning;

• Understanding of contextual influences on problem solving;

• Respect for learner's struggle to make sense of scientific phenomena;

• Learning less information in greater depth is preferable to covering a large number of facts and concepts with no understanding (less is more);

• Learning not a passive activity in which teachers disseminate knowledge to students in a one-way monologue using the textbook;

• Learners' construction of knowledge through a complex process of interaction with their own knowledge structures, engagements with materials and experiences, and a dialogue with peers and teacher through which meaning is developed;

• Learning by rote and information recall de-emphasized and seen as opposed to developing conceptual understanding and thinking and practical skills;

• Emphasis on development of learning and articulation skills.

Teachers, resource persons and the curriculum designers had to

• Make the transition from the image of a technical

expert to one of reflective practitioner;

• Prepare to address new views of content knowledge in a coherent and comprehensive manner;

• Evolve constructivist approaches to teaching and learning covering curriculum designing, text-cum work book and other teaching learning materials, experimentation using local materials and situations, class room architecture and interactions, different evaluation methods, etc.

An important implication of all this was for the teachers. An essential paradigm shift was to look upon the Teacher also as a constructor of knowledge, and no more as a mere transmitter of knowledge. This had important implications for the way the teachers were involved in various aspects of the programme and how their reorientation was attempted.

This paper attempts to share and analyse the essential ways in which this was carried out in the HSTP by

• Addressing teachers' existing knowledge and beliefs about teaching, learners, learning and subject matter;

• Providing teachers with sustained opportunities to deepen and expand their knowledge of subject matter;

- Treating teachers as learners in a manner consistent with the programme's vision of how teachers should treat students as learners;
- Grounding teachers' learning and reflection in classroom practice;
- Giving teachers a major role in developing curriculum and teaching-learning materials;
- Setting in place an elaborate system of regular peer and resource group-teacher interactions with organized feedback collection and equal participation;

• Giving teachers' a central role in devising and implementing an evaluation system in consonance with the larger educational goals of the program.

Major areas of teachers' contribution have been in

Concept formulation;

• Concept learning and integration with methodology;

• Innovating with learning materials and experiments;

• Constructing a language of discourse with children;

• Evolving methods of classroom and kit management;

- Developing evaluation methods;
- Curricular choices and balance.

The paper and presentation elaborates all this through examples and concludes that an effective implementation of constructivist approach to teaching of science would crucially depend on enhancing and enriching the role of teachers.

[The first version of this paper was presented at the International Seminar on "Construction of Knowledge" organized by Vidya Bhawan Education Resource Centre, Udaipur, Rajasthan; April 16 - 18, 2004.]

# References

Eklavya (2002) Thirty Years of Hoshangabad Science Teaching Programme (Unpublished Report), Bhopal, Madhya Pradesh.

Fraser, B.B. and K.L. Tobin (eds.) (1998) *International Handbook of Science Education*. Kluwer Academic Publishers.

# **Cooperation between Schools and Universities as a Catalyst** for the Professional Development of Teachers

# **Thomas Stern**

University of Klagenfurt, Vienna, Austria

#### Objectives and significance of the study

The study is part of IMST<sup>2</sup>, a big scale development project involving about a hundred upper secondary schools in Austria in the years 2000-2004. The two goals of IMST<sup>2</sup> are

• to improve the quality and efficacy of mathematics and science teaching by engaging teachers and scientists in a common research cooperation and

• to design the conceptual foundation of a support system for schools.

The starting point of all IMST<sup>2</sup>-initiatives are innovative ways of teaching and learning worked out by teachers and written down in their reports. They work mostly in teams, sometimes combining several subjects (biology, chemistry, mathematics, physics). The teachers choose one of four ways of cooperation with other teachers and with scientists, thereby focussing either on (i) Mathematical and scientific literacy, (ii) School development, (iii) Teaching and learning processes or (iv) Practice-oriented research. In all four priority programmes the teachers formulate the specific goals of their efforts, take part in workshops, discuss about topics of current educational research and share practical knowledge about mathematics and science teaching. The whole project is evaluated as an intervention on three levels: classroom (use of more effective teaching methods, strengthening independent learning), school (teamwork among teachers and progress in school development processes) and the educational system (growing appreciation of mathematics and science in the social environment, professional development of teachers). Two research studies were carried out in order to generate information on how effective a cooperation of schools and university, of teachers and scientists can be for improving the quality of teaching and learning, viz. about (i) changes in attitudes, interests and achievements of students and (ii) changes in didactical approaches and professional practice of teachers

The second study scrutinizes examples of good classroom practice and its repercussions on the professional development of teachers. To this purpose a set of criteria is developed to assess the teachers' progress. This set of criteria is an instrument for further inquiries into educational innovations.

# **Underlying theoretical framework**

Professional development is understood as a continuous extension of competencies through systematic self-study. It is the capacity to learn and draw consequences from experience and thus balance the complementary dimensions of action and reflection as well as autonomy and networking. A main indicator for the success of IMST<sup>2</sup> is that teachers extend their pedagogical-content knowledge as well as their methodological skills in evaluating their teaching, in collaborating with colleagues and in reflecting about educational goals. *The central hypothesis of the study is that the importance of reflection and networking is steadily growing in a professional development process.* 

In order to describe and analyse a complex intervention into the educational system and its effects on students, teachers and the school setting, the following theoretical approaches are used:

*Systems theory* (focus on interrelations between individual growth, team processes and organizational frameworks; on schools as "learning systems")

Action research (teachers as "reflective practitioners"; learning from experience; sharing knowledge; taking responsibility; empowering students)

*Constructivist theories about cognition* (subjective patterns of knowledge and understanding, learning as a social activity).

# **Research design and procedure**

Two case studies are combined with an investigation about teachers' views about professionalism, i.e. about qualifications teachers must have.

The first case study explores and assesses the changes in the classroom routines, teamwork, attitudes and beliefs of a team of mathematics and science teachers who were engaged in a science teaching project about aspects of measurement in mathematics, geography and physics. They collaborated closely with a team of scientists and with each other in their planning and team teaching. In order to describe their professional development in the course of this year, the four dimensions action and reflection, autonomy and networking are subsequently refined into a set of 12 criteria.

As a research method a "triangulation" procedure is used. Three sets of data are collected by interviewing the team of teachers, questioning the students and analysing the field notes of an observer. The results are clustered, categorized and compared. Common features and differences between the three perspectives (e.g. about student interest, participation and understanding) are worked out in order to gain a comprehensive and differentiated view of the process.

A second case study repeats the inquiry with another group of teachers who developed physical and chemical experiments about electricity for their students. They and a sample of their students were interviewed about the sustainable effects of this classroom innovation regarding a deeper understanding of scientific concepts.

The set of criteria for professional development is used to assess the progress of both teams. The results are used (a) as a feedback for the teachers who use them for further planning, (b) to test the validity of the hypothesis about the growing importance of reflection and networking, (c) to draw conclusions for an effective support system for schools.

In an additional inquiry, a group of twenty teachers was interviewed about their views on professionalism. Their statements are categorized and compared with current discussions in educational science publications to test the underlying hypothesis.

### Findings

Professional development of teachers is no longer restricted to their classroom practice. They are increasingly involved in school organization and professional communication. This observation backs the underlying hypothesis about the growing relevance of reflection and networking for the teaching profession.

A set of twelve criteria has been developed and is shown to be adequate for evaluating professional development processes:

ACTION AND AUTONOMY
Innovative teaching and learning methods
Knowledge of current developments in science and science
education
Provision of adequate learning conditions (resources,
atmosphere)
Appreciation of students' perspectives
REFLECTION
Evaluation of the effects of the teacher's actions
Consciousness of increases in competencies
Rethinking of attitudes and beliefs
Critical ideas about math. & scientific literacy
NETWORKING
Teamwork within school
Cooperation with people from other institutions
Organizational development
Public relations

Active participation of teachers in an R&D-project proves to be a powerful stimulus for educational change, if it focuses on independent student learning, and if it is supported by an expert team.

### References

IMST<sup>2</sup>-Homepage: http://imst.uni-klu.ac.at

Krainer, K. (2002) Lernen im Aufbruch: Mathematik und Naturwissenschaften. Pilotprojekt IMST<sup>2</sup>. StudienVerlag: Innsbruck-Wien.

Unterbruner, U. et al, Innovations In Mathematics, Science And Technology

Teaching (IMST<sup>2</sup>). <u>http://changesandchallenges.lld.dk/</u> pdf/Articles/IMST2.pdf

# Involving Scientists in K-12 Science Education: Benefits to Scientists from Participating in Scientist-Teacher Partnerships

# **Kimberly D. Tanner**

San Francisco State University, San Francisco, USA

Over the past decade, collaborations between members of the scientific community and K-12 educators are increasingly seen as a key mechanism of science education reform in the United States. These scientistteacher partnerships can occur in the context of research laboratories, K-12 classrooms, and professional development settings. The potential benefits for the K-12 system are enormous, including scientist role models for students, increased knowledge of scientific concepts and inquiry for teachers, and the integration of scientific inquiry experiences into K-12 science teaching and learning. But what, if anything, do university scientists themselves learn from collaborating with teachers and students?

This study examines the impact of scientist-teacher partnerships on university scientists participating in partnership programs at two universities: 1) the UCSF Science and Health Education Partnership (SEP), a longstanding institutional partnership at the University of California, San Francisco (UCSF), and 2) the GK-12 Partnership Program, a recently founded program at San Francisco State University (SFSU). Both partnership programs engage teachers from the San Francisco Unified School District (SFUSD), a large, urban school district with a strong commitment to improving student achievement. Preliminary interview data collected from 34 scientists guided the further collection of written response data from over 40 additional scientists. This written data set was analyzed to identify common learning outcomes reported by scientists and to determine the prevalence of each outcome among the cohort.

Analysis of data from participating scientists suggests that scientists benefit from their partnership experiences with teachers and students in a variety of ways that have profound effects on them both professionally and personally. The benefits that scientists accrue from partnership fall into three broad categories: 1) benefits as scientific professionals, 2) benefits as future educators, and 3) benefits as individuals. More specifically, scientists report that as a result of their partnership they interact with colleagues in new ways, reflect on their understanding of or renew their enthusiasm for science, and explore new career paths. In addition, participation in partnerships also affects scientists' attitudes toward teaching and education. Through working in partnerships, scientists develop the ability to explain science simply, explore inquiry-based teaching strategies, and reconsider their own teaching philosophy. Finally, partnerships also affect scientists personally; they gain personal satisfaction, establish connections to the community, and in some cases increase their general confidence and self-esteem. Post-hoc quantitation of these sub-categories demonstrated that each scientist benefited in multiple ways and that emerging outcomes were robust across multiple scientists.

While it has been previously suggested that scientists may benefit from partnerships, this is one of the first studies to explore this issue in depth with a large cohort of scientists. These data suggest that scientist involvement in K-12 partnerships has the potential to drive reform of university science teaching, since many scientists who teach in undergraduate and graduate settings and do so with little or no formal pedagogical training, as well as provide a promising approach in promoting coherent articulation of K-18+ science teaching and learning experiences for students. [Funded by the National Science Foundation, NSF# DGE-0136879]

# Focusing Professional Development for Science Teachers on Student Learning

#### Luis Tinoca

University of Texas at Austin, USA

### **Objectives and significance of the study**

This study investigates the effects of professional development for science teachers on student learning. It is usually expected that professional development programs positively impact student learning, however this dimension is not commonly incorporated in the programs evaluation. It is simply assumed that students will be indirectly impacted through their participating teachers in the work with their students. Two main research questions are addressed: 1) Are professional development programs effective in enhancing student learning in science? 2) What are the characteristics of the most and least effective programs?

#### **Underlying theoretical framework**

A theoretical framework for the impact of professional development on student learning has been developed, grounded on Guskey's (1986) model of the teacher change process, and Loucks-Horsley et al. (1998) model for designing professional development programs for teachers of science. This framework centers the whole process of professional development on student learning, and emphasizes the necessity of research evaluating the effectiveness of professional development as a function of its impact on student learning.

An international perspective has been adopted, reviewing literature on professional development for science teachers across the world. As Scott, Stone and Dinham (2001) point out "teachers everywhere enter the profession to serve children" (p.13). What is more, they all struggle to improve their practice and teaching through professional development.

# **Research design and procedure**

To answer the proposed research questions a metaanalysis of 37 professional development programs reporting their impact on student learning was performed. Program characteristics have been defined according to the categories defined by Loucks-Horsley et al (1998), the National Science Education Standards (NRC, 1996), as well as new categories developed by us analyzing other variables such as the length of the program. Moreover, a Fixed Effects Model was used to differentiate between the impacts of the different characteristics of professional development programs for science teachers.

# Findings

A significant impact of professional development for science teachers on student learning has been found in the form of an overall correlation effect size of r = 0.22 (p<0.001). In particular, programs emphasizing work on curriculum development or implementation, scientific inquiry, pedagogical content knowledge, and lasting over 6 month and with a total duration of at least 100 hours have been identified as having a larger impact on student learning.

To enhance the findings vignettes have been developed based on the attained effect sizes describing possible professional development programs. These vignettes are driven by the quantitative results from the meta-analysis. These results are the backbone or framework from which the description usually present in a vignette emerges. Recommendations for present and future professional development programs are made based on what works best in order to maximize their impact on student learning.

#### References

Guskey, T. R. (1986) Staff development and the process of teacher change. *Educational Researcher*, 15(5), 5-12.

Loucks-Horsley, S., Hewson, P., Love, N. and Stiles, K. (1998) *Designing Professional Development for Teachers of Science and Mathematics*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press.

Scott, C., Stone, B. & Dinham, S. (2001) "I love teaching but ..." International Patterns of Teacher Discontent. *Education Policy Analysis Archives*, 9(28), pp. 1-7.

# Project Yuva: The Design of a Case-Based Multimedia Environment for Pre-service Teachers

# Purvi Vora

Columbia University, NY, USA

### Introduction

This paper describes the integration of a case-based digital learning environment (*Project Yuva*) into a teacher education course, and the impact that environment had on preservice teacher thinking around teaching science in urban settings with respect to issues of diversity and social justice.

The three cases in this environment are drawn from extensive data gathered from two urban middle schools in New York City as part of a larger project. The cases, presented in multiple formats (video, text) illuminate the issues central to the teaching and learning of transformative science in urban settings. These issues include: (1) students' funds of knowledge and how funds of knowledge relate to science (Bouillion & Gomez, 2001; N. Gonzalez & Moll, 2002), (2) strategies (teacher and student) for leveraging funds of knowledge in science learning (Swidler, 1986), and how students' funds of knowledge contribute to the composite culture of the classroom (Hogan & Corey, 2001). In this environment we refer to the combination of "students' funds of knowledge and the strategies they employ to activate those funds" as their "science toolkits" (see Swidler, 1986; Seiler, 2001). We also refer to how teachers understand students' funds of knowledge, their own funds of knowledge, and the strategies they use to draw upon them as their "pedagogical toolkits."

*Project Yuva* provides preservice teachers opportunities to: (1) Explore urban students' "science toolkits" from multiple perspectives and (2) Generate a set of defensible claims (and to provide concrete evidence for those claims) about teaching science for diversity and social justice in urban settings. It was created with the belief that the addition of this case based digital learning environment in a teacher education course (on urban science education) would provide teachers with a shared context to explore issues related to teaching science for diversity and social justice, in a safe but challenging environment.

### **Research Questions**

Two research questions frame this study for the purposes of this presentation:

1. How do preservice teacher's ideas about teaching science in high poverty urban schools develop over their participation in *Project Yuva*?

2. How do teachers' understandings of what it means to teach for social justice and diversity develop?

#### **Conceptual Framework:**

Preservice teachers typically see themselves as "committed individuals, having good parents, good values, a good education, and a good sense of what is expected from them as teachers (McIntyre, 1997). In contrast, they see students of color as not having- as somehow deficient" (p. 135). Many teachers hold on to such beliefs even after undergoing educational experiences that specifically focuses on an anti-deficit approach (Williams, Newcombe, Woods, & Buttram, 1994). Goodlad's (1990) study on teacher education in the US showed that many teachers "were less than convinced that all students can learn. They voiced the view that they should be kind and considerate to all, but they accepted as fact the theory that some simply can't learn." Schultz et al. (1996) also found that preservice teachers have stereotypic beliefs about urban children e.g. they believe that urban youth have attitudes that interfere with education.

Over the past decade or so, several educators have revitalized the field of urban science education research with their agenda for social justice and action research (Calabrese Barton, 2002; N. Gonzalez et al., 1993; Hogan & Corey, 2001; Moje, 2001; Moll, Amanti, Neff, & Gonzalez, 1992; Rodriguez, 1998; Swidler, 1986; Varelas, 2002). We believe that these anti-deficit perspectives are an important part of an urban teacher's pedagogical toolkit, and *Project Yuva* presents such perspectives to teachers in a tangible manner through authentic cases from urban classrooms.

*Project Yuva* is grounded in theories of development research (Brown, 1992; Van den Berg & Visscher-Voerman, 2000)and constructivist case-based environments (Jonassen, Peck, & Wilson, 1999). We opted for a constructivist case-based environment because of its advantages in teacher education: learner controlled environments, opportunities to revisit classroom events, multiple perspectives, and procedural support for instructional design and classroom teaching (Horvath & Lehrer, 2000; Koehler & Lehrer, 1998; Lampert & Ball, 1998; Lehrer, Petrosino, & Koehler, 1999; Merseth, 1996; Van den Berg & Visscher-Voerman, 2000). Also, the non-linearity of multimedia learning environments such as those developed by Lampert and Ball (1998) enhances the effective use of cases by allowing the user to revisit various sources of information and to build and store flexible and multiple links among various pieces of information (Putnam & Borko, 2000).

# Methodology

The embedded case study design (Yin, 2003) has been employed in this project, where the course Urban Science Education is the context of the study and 6-8 preservice teachers in the course are the subunits of analysis. Data were collected through participant observations as well as collections of weekly and semester-long assignments, teaching philosophy statements, reflections, and fast-writes. Further, the 6-8 case study participants were interviewed in depth throughout the course of the semester and will be observed and interviewed during their field placements as well.

### Findings

In presenting the stories of two preservice teachers enrolled in the course, two key tensions have been traced through the data:

1. A major methodological tension we anticipated (in the design of Project Yuva) is the tension between making a justifiable case for the claims presented in *Project Yuva* around science learning in high poverty urban schools, and the transferability of those claims to preservice teachers' own classroom experiences (in their student teaching and observation experiences). Using the teachers' own stories, we present in this paper, how our preservice teachers were able to negotiate this particular tension to incorporate the claims into their own pedagogical toolkits.

2. Also of interest is the tension between theory and practice omnipresent in preservice teacher education. A critical finding hidden in the preservice teacher stories is the impact that using a case-based environment has on developing preservice teachers' pedagogical toolkits by offering a more tangible understanding of abstract theoretical concepts in authentic classroom settings. Part of the story we tell in this paper is how those understandings were incorporated into the preservice teachers' pedagogical toolkits and further, how they were then drawn upon in the student teaching experience.

### References

Bouillion, L., & Gomez, L. (2001) Connecting School and Community with Science Learning: Real World Problems and School-Community Partnerships as Contextual Scaffolds. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 38(8), 899-917.

Brown, A. (1992) Design experiments: theoretical and methodological challenges in creating complex interventions in classroom settings. *Journal of the Learning Sciences*, 2, 141-178.

Calabrese Barton, A. (2002) Urban Science Education Studies: A Commitment to Equity, Social Justice and a Sense of Place. *Studies in Science Education*, 38, 1-38.

Gonzalez, N., & Moll, L. (2002) Cruzando el Puente: Building Bridges to Funds of Knowledge. *Educational Policy*, 16(4), 623-641.

Gonzalez, N., Moll, L., Floyd-Tenery, M., Rivera, A., Rendon, P., Gonzales, R., et al. (1993) Teacher research on funds of knowledge: Learning from households. *Educational Practice Report*, 6.

Goodlad, J. (1990) Better Teachers for Our Nation's Schools. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 72(3), 184-195.

Hogan, K., & Corey (2001) Viewing Classrooms as Cultural Contexts for Fostering Scientific Literacy. *Anthropology & Education Quarterly*, 32(2), 214-244.

Horvath, J. K., & Lehrer, R. (2000) The Design of a Case-based hypermedia teaching tool. *International Journal of Computers for Mathematical Learning*, 5, 115–141.

Jonassen, D., Peck, H., & Wilson (1999) *Learning with Technology: A Constructivist Perspective*. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.

Koehler, M. & Lehrer, R. (1998) Designing a hypermedia tool for learning about children's mathematical cognition. *Journal of Educational Computing Research*, 18(2), 123–145.

Lampert, M. & Ball, D. (1998) Teaching, Mathematics and Multimedia: Investigations of Real Practice. New York: Teachers College Press.

Lehrer, R., Petrosino, A. & Koehler, M.(1999) Hypermedia Technologies for Case-based Teacher Education: National Council for Teachers of Mathematics.

Merseth, K. K. (1996) Cases and case methods in teacher education. In Sikula J. (Ed.) *Handbook of Research on Teacher Education* (pp. 722-746). New York: Macmillan.

Moje, E., Collazo, T., Carrillo, R. and Marx, R. (2001) "Maestro, What is Quality?": Language, Literacy, Literacy, and Discourse in Project-Based Science. *Journal* 

of Research in Science Teaching, 38(4), 469-498.

Moll, L., Amanti, C., Neff, D. & Gonzalez, N. (1992) Funds of Knowledge for Teaching: Using a Qualitative Approach to Connect Homes and Classrooms. *Theory into Practice*, XXXI(2), 132-141.

Putnam, R. T., & Borko, H. (2000) What do New Views of Knowledge and Thinking Have to Say about Research on Teacher Learning? *Educational Researcher*, 29(1), 4-15.

Rodriguez, A. J. (1998) Strategies for Counterresistance: Toward a Sociotransformative Constructivism and Learning to Teach science for Diversity and for Understanding. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 35(6), 589-622.

Swidler, A. (1986) Culture in Action: Symbols and Strategies. *American Sociological Review*, 51(2), 273-286.

Van den Berg, E. & Visscher-Voerman, I. (2000) Multimedia cases in elementary science teacher education: Design and development of a prototype. *Education and Information Technologies*, 5, 119-132.

Varelas, M., Becker, J., Luster, B. and Wenzel, S. (2002) When Genres Meet: Inquiry into a Sixth-Grade Urban Science Class. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 39(7), 579-605.

Williams, B., Newcombe, E., Woods, M. & Buttram, J. (1994) Focusing on the Professional Development of Urban Educators: The Dilemma of Opportunities to Change Teachers' Beliefs about Urban Learners. Paper presented at the Annual Meeting of The American Educational Research Association, New Orleans.

Yin, R. (2003) Case Study Research: Design and Methods (3 ed. Vol. 5). California: Sage Publications Ltd.

# The Design and Development of Cognitive Acceleration through Technology Education (CATE): Implications for Teacher Education

#### John L. Backwell

University of London, London, UK

#### A. Hamaker

Independent Education Consultant, London, UK

# Introduction

The Cognitive Acceleration through Technology Education Programme (CATE) has been designed to help 11 to 14 year old students develop their thinking and reasoning skills so that they are in a much stronger position to solve more difficult problems that they may well encounter later in the school curriculum. The activities are purely cognitive in structure (i.e. there are no 'hands on' practical or making activities) and such lessons are integrated into the established schemes of work. The authors worked closely with KS3 Design and Technology teachers in order to determine the subject oriented platform from which the cognitive tasks could be developed. Although these tasks were not designed to teach concepts or skills directly related to design and technology schemes of work, they did align with a range of focus topics in order for students to feel coherence within the delivery framework of the subject however this might be formulated by the individual schools, and in turn, design & technology departments.

The authors believe much of the success achieved in the pilot schools may be attributed to the methodologies adopted by the participating teachers and in turn the nature and quality of the training they have received. Prior to embarking upon 'CATE teaching', a structured and comprehensive in-service training programme is delivered involving all of the design and technology department within a school. In addition some Local Education Authorities in England and Wales have launched aspects of CATE teaching through a centralised training programme and one of the authors has integrated a study of CATE (including training for classroom implementation) into a BA Ed Design and Technology initial teacher training degree. An evaluation of these training strategies will be reported on within this paper and an indication of the further developments of CATE in light of this will be discussed.

In developing this programme, the authors wished to address questions concerning the effects of the intervention on the students' performance, including the following:

• Would cognitive intervention methodology improve the technology capability of the student?

• Would such an intervention programme improve the general information processing capability of the student?

• Would such an intervention programme allow for transfer into other areas of the school curriculum?

These have been reported on at several junctures of the development period. This gave rise to the need to investigate the effects of intervention methodology upon perceptions of teacher professional development.

# **CATE Training Strategies**

*Initial Teacher Training* – the key element within initial teacher training both on undergraduate programmes (3 and 4 year) and postgraduate programmes (1 year and 2 year modular) was awareness raising. This was introduced this year as part of the 'learning and teaching' framework across each programme with the opportunity provided for support for students wishing to trial materials whilst on 'school experience' placements. It is too early to provide 'take up' or evaluative data at this stage. However, initial responses have been very positive.

*In-Service teacher training* – This is phased wherever possible:

Introductory training – primarily for key teaching personnel from schools within local education authority regions and/or of whole departments in schools. Expectations at this level are for participants to gain an understanding of the philosophy and underlying theoretical framework together with an insight into delivery and management considerations.

In-class support – this may include demonstration lessons and certainly includes supporting teacher led de-

#### Trends in Technology Education Research

livery. Discussion is ideally with the whole department encouraging individuals to learn from each others practice. Such support is frequently on-going within the first year of implementation usually ranging from 2 to 5 training 'visits'.

'Revival' training – aimed at schools where major staff changes or departmental reorganisation have taken place since the original CATE implementation. The nature of such training is a negotiated variation on the above.

Joyce & Showers (1980) reported that the most effective teacher professional development activities are those that combine theory, modeling, practice, feedback and coaching for application, particularly peer coaching. This was the line adopted for CATE training, though in practice many schools / education authorities have favoured the 'one hit' introductory training experience to be followed by cascade training inhouse.

# **Research rationale and methodology**

Design and Technology is a relative 'newcomer' with regard to assimilating a cognitive intervention methodology into its learning domain. It is also a subject predisposed to many perceptions from without and within its subject bounds. The authors wish to determine what effect CATE might have upon such perceptions and the subsequent effect this may have upon the professional development of D&T teachers.

A post-training analysis of evaluative data has been collected over the past two years – this has been the first indicator of possible changes in perception of design and technology teaching roles and subsequent practice. A trial in three schools in 2002 included a more extensive analysis based upon open discussion with participants (all three schools) and individual interviews (two of the three schools). The open discussions occurred during in-school departmental meetings at least three months after initial training. Interviews took place eighteen months after training and introduction of the CATE programme in those schools. Further interviews are planned over the next year to provide a more comprehensive view.

# **Initial findings**

The post-training evaluative data raised many issues whilst in the main conveying much positive feedback concerning both content and delivery styles. Although the questionnaires were focussed upon a broad evaluation of the cognitive intervention methodology, response to a number of statements gave insight into revised perceptions of role, sphere of influence and effectiveness. This was further confirmed and elaborated on by the interview data where in addition, interviewees were given the opportunity to be more reflective about their practice and their original expectations. The authors believe this may point toward a new focus for design and technology teacher education and warrants further investigative study.

## References

Adey, P., Shayer, M. & Yates, C (1989) Thinking Science: *The curriculum materials of the CASE project*. London: Macmillan.

Adey, P. & Shayer, M. (1994) Really Raising Standards: *Cognitive intervention and academic achievement*. London: Routledge.

Blagg, N., Ballinger, M. & Gardner, R (1988) Somerset Thinking Skills Course: Handbook. Oxford: Basil Blackwell.

DFES. (2002) Gender differences in Design and Technology. *DFES website*: <u>www.dfes.gov.uk</u>

Fullan, M. G. (1991) *The new meaning of educational change*. New York: Teachers College Press.

Hamaker, A.K., Jordan, P. & Backwell, J. (1998) An evaluation of a two year cognitive intervention programme in technology education for Key Stage 4 students in the UK. *The Journal of Design and Technology Education*. 3,1 p 26-33.

Hamaker, A.K., & Backwell, J. (2002) The design, development and implementation of cognitive acceleration through technology education (CATE). *DATA International Research Conference Journal*. p81 - 90.

Hamaker, A.K. & Backwell, J. (2003) *Cognitive Acceleration through Technology Education: Teacher Guidelines and Pupil Task Pages*. Taunton: Nigel Blagg Associates.

Joyce B. & Showers B. (1980) Improving inservice training: The messages of research. *Educational Leadership*, 37(5), 379-385.

McGuinness, C. (1999) From Thinking Skills to Thinking Classrooms: a review and evaluation of approaches for developing pupils' thinking. *DFEE Research Report* No 115. HMSO.

# To Identify and Structure Technology that Has Already Crept into the School Curriculum

### P. K. Bhattacharyya

National Council of Educational Research and Training, New Delhi, India

The 20<sup>th</sup> Century has seen an extraordinary growth of information base and development in Science and Technology. 80% of the technologies we shall work with by the year 2050 have not been invented yet. As per current rate, knowledge is doubling every three years. The quantum of knowledge today will grow a million times by the time a seven year old of today reaches seventy. In a decade or two scientific and technological skill sets of higher order will be required for any job. So children of today must have scientific and technological literacy if they are to live productive lives and participate effectively in the work place.

The projection of turn-over in IT in 2007 in India is Rs 40 lakh crores; there will be 22 lakh jobs by then. The parallel growths of technological knowledge and IT have left the school curriculum totally stunned – how much more to stuff in the school bag? Perhaps the solution lies in planning a flexible science and technology curriculum which will use IT for teaching and learning at all levels in the school. In this context portions of the National Policy on Education (NPE –1986) of the Govt. of India concerning science and technology, which will be relevant for our discussion, are reproduced here:

As computers have become important and ubiquitous tools, a minimal exposure to computers and a training in their use will form part of professional education. Programmes of computer literacy will be organized on wide scale from the school stage' (NPE - 6.5).

With the recent introduction of computers in the schools, educational computing and the emergence of learning through the understanding of cause-effect relationships and the interplay of variables, the teaching of mathematics will be suitably redesigned to bring it in line with modern technological devices' (NPE - 8.17).

Science education programmes will be designed to enable the learner to acquire problems solving and decision making skills and to discover the relationship of science with health, agriculture, industry and other aspects of daily life. Every effort will be made to extend science education to the vast numbers who have remained outside the bane of formal education' (NPE - 8.19).

'In order to meet the continuing needs of updating curriculum, renewal should systematically phase out obsolescence and introduce new technologies or disciplines' (NPE - 6.11).

Technology Policy was announced by the Govt. of India in 1983. This Policy foresaw "attainment of technological competence and self-reliance" and "consolidation of existing scientific base and selective strengthening of thrust areas". The Science & Technology Policy of Govt.of India- 2003 has elaborated a 16- point strategy and implementation plans, e.g. S&T governance and investment, optimal utilization of existing infrastructure and competence, strengthening of infrastucture in academic institutions, new funding mechanism for basic research, human resource development, etc. These aims demand development of human resources right from the school level.

NPE – 6.11 stressed the need to update curriculum to phase out obsolescence and introduce new technologies which rule our activities today. This prompted researchers to bring out dimensions like frontline curriculum, cutting edge curriculum, flexible curriculum, renewal cycle of curriculum, ways and means to teach science as 'Science and Technology'. Science education was renamed as S&T education by the UNESCO in the eighties. World Council of Association for Technology Education was set up with UNESCO,s initiative in 1993.

In India, school science textbooks of today have in fact enough *technology* content, though unfocussed and unstructured. This has been analysed in this paper, as this exercise will be able to give input to the research for bringing out the next generation of text books on *science and technology*. *Technological* terms numbering nearly 300 in books for classes III to V and nearly 900 in science books for classes 6 to 8 were found. Going by the number of lessons carrying technology in the text books of classes III to V, 59%-68% of lessons in Environmental Studies (social studies), 23%-

32% of lessons in English , 14-21% of lessons in Hindi and 50-69% of lessons in Mathematics carry science and technology terms, topics, names of inventors, etc.

If we seriously want to decide the dose of *technology* for the age group 9-14, we might catch them at this stage for effectively taking part in decision-making process required by any technological community of this century. Terms like satellite communication, mobile phone, internet, microwave oven, fuel cell imply newer technologies reforming older ones like telegraph, telephone, primus stove, lead-acid cell, etc.

For each technological term, establishment of language connection is most important, *Technology* is a typical ally to science. Could the *technological* term be linked with history, geography, mathematics, SUPW/work experience? If, yes, history part of *technology* should go to the history book, mathematics part to the mathematics book, and so on. This will reduce the burden on the teacher and the taught, reduce the weight of the school bag, as well as will contribute to *technological literacy*.

Any curriculum has basically six elements: rationale, objectives, implementation strategies, curricular materials, transaction method, evaluation. It might take a few years to introduce *technology* as a separate subject at the lower and upper primary levels in the school. Just now we should integrate *technology* with science in the S&T text book.

The textbook of S&T must have at least the following sections:

(a) There will be a box giving he list of keywords/

*technology* terms used in the chapter at the very beginning of the chapter

(b) Another box with the title 'hands-on activitity' or 'Quick- Lab' has to be given at a suitable place illustrating how to go about the activity. Such illustration should be 'worth one thousand words'.

(c) A third box will contain *problem solving questions*, which could be *convergent*, *divergent*, *literal*, *interpretive*. Success of introduction of technology will depend on the quality of these problem solving questions.

(d) A fourth box will detail the references to resources, eg. Science museum, planetarium, industry, scientists and technologists, laboratories, lectures, science magazines, etc.

Classroom transactions will have a mandatory component of hands-on activities somewhere in the cycle of *pre- plan, focus, teach, apply, re-teach*.

#### References

Rasinen, A., (2003) An analysis of Technology Education Curriculum of Six Countries, *Journal of Technology Education*.

Davis R. S. et. al., (2002) Elementary School Students' Understandings of Technology Concepts, *Journal of Technology Education*.

Bhattacharyya, P. K., (2003) Technology for All, Science for Some, DREAM 2047, Vigyan Prasar (DST).

Bhattacharyya, P. K., (1991) Science and Technology Education through Exhibitions, NCERT, New Delhi. pp. 270

# Placing Technology Education within the Gender Perspective

# Sugra Chunawala & Chitra Natarajan

Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education, TIFR, Mumbai

#### The issue

Since ancient time men and women have tried to understand their environment and solve problems of daily life using science and technology (S&T). Women have enjoyed symbolic respect and importance in many cultures. The earliest myths and religions have often placed women at the beginning of technologies of agriculture, law, medicine and timekeeping. Many cultures till today retain the image of the "wise woman", the healer, who has access to natural and supernatural knowledge (Stanley, 1995).

Women have contributed in many ways to the technical advancement of humanity. Indeed women as food gatherers are likely to have made the momentous discovery of agriculture that changed the course of human cultural evolution (Ehrenberg, 1989). Yet, women appear to play the role of users and consumers and not that of designers and developers of technology. Excluded from the community of technology practitioners, even women's contribution to technology is *hidden from history*. Their areas of contribution, like child rearing, housekeeping, nutrition and agriculture, are deemed to be either non-technological or low in technology (Wajcman, 2000). Historically, women have had limited access to education and technological practices. There are a variety of complex social and psychological reasons for this situation where only a few women enter the fields of education or work explicitly labelled S&T (Schiebinger, 1989; Zuga, 1999).

# **Alternate positions**

Any technology is the product of society, of social relations, forces and choices shaped by social arrangements. The gendering of society in general and school education in particular has important implications for women's role in knowledge and technology production. In India, like elsewhere, till not too long ago, women were excluded from the formal education system of which the Indian *gurukul* system is an example. Within the institution of education, discrimination and exclusion of women in areas considered S&T may have apparently reduced, but persists in subtle ways.

One way in which this gendering is implemented is through the use of language and stereotyping at all levels from toys, educational software to occupations (Kalia, 1986; Bradshaw et al., 1995). According to Wajcman (2000), S&T are popularly viewed as masculine, with the engineering culture epitomizing this masculinity. The transaction in S&T classrooms reflects these views (Jones, 1989; Sadker et. al., 1989). Handson-experiences in S&T, tool usage or real life experiences which could facilitate learning of S&T, differ among males and females in and out of school (Chunawala and Ladage, 1998; Jones, et. al., 2000; Sjoberg and Imsen, 1988).

The "Pupils Attitudes To Technology" (PATT) studies conducted since early 1980's have highlighted the role of gender in students' perception of technology education in several countries (de Klerk Wolters, 1989). Other literature also suggests that male and female students bring in, hold or leave with different attitudes towards S&T education. (Rosser, 1993) However, there are few studies in the Indian context on students' ideas about technology.

The decrease in women's participation in S&T is sharp in tertiary education (World Education Report, 1995, Parikh and Sukhatme, 2004). There is a need to challenge gendered perceptions and practices of technology in schools so as to overturn traditional ideas about masculine and feminine roles and bring about a richer and more inclusive view of technological activities.

# **Our framework**

India, has recently introduced technology as a part of school science curriculum. Technology in the school curriculum has had a chequered history in India. It has appeared in the guises of vocational education and "Socially Useful and Productive Work" that have been stereotyped on the basis of gender. Technology taught to girls has been limited to food or domestic work, such as, sewing, embroidery, tailoring, cooking and nutrition while boys have been restricted to bookbinding, carpentry, electronics. Overall technology related subjects included in Indian schools have been given a low priority by curriculum framers, who reflect the prevalent perceptions.

At the Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education (HBCSE) a project on Design and Technology education at the middle school level has been undertaken. One of the aspects of the study is to elicit the perceptions and attitudes about technology among middle school students and teachers. This is followed by development of prototype classroom intervention units on technology tasks for school students.

A survey of urban and rural students in and around Mumbai city sought to uncover middle school students' spontaneous ideas about technology. The questionnaire utilized various formats of questions including a pictorial component similar to that developed by Rennie (1995). The analysis of this survey provided interesting insights into students' perceptions of technology and the gender dimension of these perceptions. The paper will present and discuss the implications of the findings relating gender and technology.

A significant component of the study is the focus on *gender sensitive* technology education. Several issues are involved in developing intervention tasks that are inclusive for girls and boys: nature of tasks, the ordering of activities within the tasks, the structure of the groups that collaborate, the process of group formation and the nature of communications and interactions that are facilitated. The paper will explore the development and trials of meaningful technology education tasks in urban and tribal school settings with reference to issues of gender.

#### References

Bradshaw, J., Clegg, S., and Trayhurn, D. (1995) An investigation into gender bias in educational software used in English primary schools [1], *Gender and Education*, Vol. 7, No. 2., pp. 167-174.

Chunawala, S., and Ladage, S. (1998) Students' ideas

Trends in Technology Education Research

*about science and scientists,* Technical Report No. 38, Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education, India.

de Klerk W. F. (1989) A PATT study among 10 to 12 year old students in the Netherlands, *Journal of Technology Education*, Vol. 1, No. 1, Fall.

Ehrenberg, M. (1989) *Women in prehistory*, British Museum Publications, London.

Jones, G. M., (1989) Gender bias in classroom interactions, *Contemporary Education*, Vol. 60 (4), (Summer), pp. 216-222.

Jones, G. M, Brader-Araje, L., Carboni, L.W., Carter, G., Rua, M. J., Banilower, E. and Hatch, H. (2000) Tool time: Gender and students' use of tools, control, and authority, *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, Volume 37, Issue 8, Pages 760 – 783.

Kalia, N. N. (1986) Women and sexism: Language of Indian textbooks, *Economic and Political Weekly*, Vol. XXI, No 18, May 3, pp. 794-797.

Wajcman, J. (2000) *Feminism confronts technology*, Blackwell Publishers Ltd, UK.

Rennie, L. J. (1995) Three approaches to measuring children's perceptions about technology, *International Journal of Science Education*, Vol. 17, No. 6., 755-774.

Rosser, S. V. (1993) Female friendly science: including

women in curricular content and pedagogy in science, *The Journal of General Education*, 42 (3), 191-220.

Sadker, M., Sadker, D., and Donald, M. (1989) Subtle sexism at school, *Contemporary Education*, Vol. 60 (4), (Summer), pp. 204-212.

Scheibinger, L. (1989) *The mind has no sex? Women in the origins of modern science,* Harvard Univ. Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts.

Sjoberg, S. and Imsen, G. (1988) Gender and science education, in Fensham, P. (ed) *Development and dilemmas in science education*, The Falmer Press, London.

Stanley, A. (1995) *Mothers and daughters of invention; Notes for a revised history of technology,* Rutgers Univ. Press, New Brunswick, New Jersey.

World Education Report, (1995) UNESCO Publishing, Oxford.

Parikh, P. P. and Sukhatme, S. P. (2004) Women Engineers in India, *Economic and Political Weekly*, January 10, pp. 193-201.

Zuga, K. (1999) Addressing women's ways of knowing to improve the technology education environment for all students, *Journal of Technology Education*, Vol. 10, No. 2, Spring, pp. 57-71.

# A Study of Laptops in Science Education

#### David Devraj Kumar

Florida Atlantic University, Florida, USA

# **Purpose and Theoretical Framework**

A study of laptop computer use in K-12 science was conducted using the criteria of infotech hierarchy of use (Owen, Calnin, and Lambert, 2002), models of laptop use (Concentrated, Dispersed, Class Set, Desktop, Mixed) (Rockman Et Al, 1997; Belanger, 2000), and grade level (elementary, middle, secondary). (Laptops include Notebook, Powerbook and Pen-point computers.) According to Owen, Calnin, and Lambert (2002) an "infotech curriculum is more than just an alternative to computer education approaches that have been traditionally offered in schools. There is a move away from a situation where the teacher has the major control over the knowledge acquired by students. The infotech curriculum is a quadratic involving teacher, students, content, and notebook [laptop computer] use. In an infotech curriculum, students have individual access to their own notebook computer which is integral to the day-to-day learning activities planned by the teacher...[and] students come to regard the computer almost as an extension of themselves" (p. 137). Advantages include increased opportunity for independent learning, problem-solving skills and research skills. Owen et al. (2002) described the following hierarchy of computer use in an infotech curriculum: Support (e.g., database management, graphic presentation), Link (e.g., email, videoconference), Resource (e.g., researching the Internet), Tutorial (e.g., drill and practice), Curriculum Adjunct (e.g., subject specific data analysis, graphing), Curriculum Alternative (e.g., robotics, mathematica), and Exploration and Control (e.g., simulations). This is a comprehensive hierarchy, and it takes into consideration complex science skills and processes, and provides a systematic way of looking at laptop computer use in science classrooms. See Owen et al. (1997) for a more details on the infotech hierarchy.

#### Procedure

The analysis sample (N = 16) resulted from a systematic search of the ERIC and WilsonSelectPlus databases. The sample represented North America, Asia, Australia and Africa. The sample was analyzed using the infotech hierarchy of use, models of laptop use and grade level use.

### **Findings and Discussion**

Findings indicate the following: Laptop computers are often used in secondary classrooms for preparing and presenting student projects, data management, decision-making, inquiry activities, and problem-based learning, with improvement in student achievement and writing skills. Laptops are also used for outdoor activity-based science instruction. Minority and disadvantaged students tend to benefit from laptop use, and their participation in science learning improves. Students with learning disabilities seem to improve study strategies as they access and manage information with laptops. The kind of input (key board, induction pen) seems to have an effect on problem solving in chemistry. Whether these are novelty effects caused by widespread computing is an important question. Also, whether the laptop by itself, or in conjunction with other multimedia presentation software, impacted the outcomes is uncertain (Siegle and Foster, 2000). About 75% literature sources analyzed are from North America which indicates inequity in laptop use. How to enable developing nations to reap the benefits of ubiquitous technologies is an important question with implications for science education, technology and socio-economic policy. The small sample size in this analysis shows the need for more evaluative information on laptop computer applications in science education.

Ubiquitous technologies such as laptops should not be touted as a panacea for science education reform. "Technology is... neither intrinsically effective nor ineffective in improving education" (Schneiderman, 2004, p. 33). They offer great hope for improving K-12 science teaching and learning, provided more higher level infotech curriculum applications (Curriculum Adjunct, Exploration and Control) are developed and implemented with increased accessibility across socio-cultural barriers.

# References

Belanger, Y. (2000) Laptop computers in K-12 classroom. *ERIC Digest*. Syracuse, NY: ERIC Clearinghouse on Information and Technology.

Owen, J. M., Calnin, G. T. and Lambert, F. C. (2002) Evaluation of information technology. In Altschuld, J. W. and Kumar, D. D. (Eds.), *Evaluation of science and technology education at the dawn of a new millennium*. New York: Kluwer academic/Plenum Publishers.

Rockman, et. al. (1997, June) *Report of a laptop program pilot*. San Francisco, CA: Author.

Schneiderman, M. (2004) A closer look at scientifically based research. What does SBR mean for education technology? *T. H. E. Journal*, *31*(11), 30-34, 36.

Siegle, D. and Foster, T. (2000, April) *Effects of laptop computers with multimedia and presentation software on student achievement*. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the American Educational Research Association, New Orleans, LA.

# Design as Drawings: Analyzing Drawings of Middle School Students in Technology Education Tasks

# Ritesh Khunyakari, Swati Mehrotra, Sugra Chunawala & Chitra Natarajan

Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education, TIFR, Mumbai, India

# Objectives

Technology tasks engage its participants in a variety of activities: investigation, planning, designing, modelling, making, and evaluating. The study reported here is a part of the broader goal to develop design and technology education modules that will engage middle school students in the classroom. The sequence of actions closely resemble technology task model that have been used in UK and Australia (Kimbell 1996).

Design is at the core of technology activities (de Vries, 1997). There have been a number of attempts to arrive at a theoretical framework for design (Houkes et al, 2002), and to articulate its methodology and role in collaborative learning contexts (Pieters, 2004). Drawings have several roles in design besides making it explicit. This article focuses on middle school students' evolving drawings as they engage in design activities within 3 different technology tasks developed by us.

### **Theoretical framework**

Cave paintings, cartographers' representations, designs and sketches of cathedrals and bridges, illustrations capturing the details of animal, plants and insect anatomy, all show that humans have always used drawings to communicate their ideas. These productions also reflect their socio-cultural contexts. Drawing has been a creative engagement central to every facet of visual arts (Callaway and Kear, 2001).

This report draws from discussions of technology task as a vehicle for multiple modes of expression, and the situatedness of such tasks (Natarajan, 2004). Several studies provide insights about the implications of drawings in learning. Drawings are instruments of thought and serve to clarify features of an idea (Albarn and Smith, 1977). Drawings have been used to probe psychological states (Serendip, 2004), to elicit ideas of people, and specifically, of students (Mehrotra, 2003; Natarajan et al, 1996; Chunawala and Ladage, 1998).

Despite the rich potential of drawings for learning, these have been neglected in Indian school curricula: introduced at the primary level, disappearing at the secondary school level, except as mere reproductions of scientific drawings, geometry figures or geography maps. As for design drawings, there is little scope for its practice. Attempts to see craft and art as essential for shaping an individual (Gandhi, 1968) have been all but forgotten.

Drawings manifest ideas and intentions in the design of a product – through "rough" sketches, "technical" drawings and "procedural maps". Though limited by students' skills, drawings give a glimpse of students' ideas that may be otherwise difficult to infer from verbal descriptions or actions. Drawings make ideas explicit for negotiation among designers or between designers, makers and users.

# **Research design**

Three technology intervention tasks were planned: making a bag to carry school books, a windmill model to lift weight, and making puppets and staging a puppet show. The duration for each task varied from 10 to 15 hours. About 20-25 students of classes 6 and 7 (age 11-13 years), from each of 3 schools, participated separately in the three technology tasks. They represented 3 *clusters*: Urban English and Marathi medium clusters, and a cluster from a government run residential Marathi medium school for tribal students. Each *cluster* of students worked in 6 groups: 2 mixed groups (2 boys+2 girls), 2 groups of boys and 2 groups of girls. The tasks evolved as the students adapted to them and collaborated with their peers and the researchers to complete each task (Rogoff, 1998).

Each task involved diverse skills, some familiar school experience (drawing, measurements, etc.), and some new skills. Data collection tools included observers' notes, complemented by researchers' comments, audio and video recordings. Communication of design and oral descriptions were rich sources of data. Each group filed their paper-pencil productions: descriptive writings, poems, evaluation sheets, and all drawings. Thus, the three technology tasks provided opportunities for multiple modes of expression.

#### Some findings

In general, the paper-pencil work of urban Marathi medium groups was neater. They drew tables to represent data and information, and procedural maps, to relate drawings with their descriptions. They showed more confidence than other groups in putting down their thoughts, as seen from the fewer erasures in their work. Most groups made more than one sketch, and some even made models. The tribal groups were less distracted (more focussed on the task) in all their activities. However, they showed diffidence in producing drawings, and had problems in relating drawings and their descriptions.

Though the initial drawings of objects reflect students' imagination, they also indicate that students are unfamiliar with the rules of 3-dimensional (3D) drawings. There were some improvements in depicting 3D ideas in each subsequent task.

After exposure to aspects of technical drawings, students incorporated these immediately in their productions: showing dimensions of objects by suitably positioned lines and arrows, and writing dimensional values and units. They continued to use these techniques in their later technical drawings as well as in procedural maps, and not in free sketches, showing that they had possibly integrated this *language of technology*.

Urban students' sketches indicated the variety of products envisaged by them. Their designs for bags included different structural (material, shapes, sizes) and decorative (laces, pictures, coloured paper) elements. For the windmill blade, they depicted a variety of components in their drawings (spoon, foil, cardboard, etc.). However, no urban group included aspects of durability and rigidity for this task. While urban English medium groups did not draw or write about their assembly, among the urban Marathi medium groups there were sketches of different ways of assembling components. All the tribal groups used uniformly similar designs, including structural shapes and materials for the windmill task. Differences were seen only in the details of dimensions and decorative elements. Notably, they also showed aspects relating to rigidity. The tribal groups used their textbooks as a resource to come up with very detailed and varied drawings for the characters in the puppet task.

The evolution of students' drawings through the three technology tasks indicates that exposure to design activities in the context of different technology tasks helps students understand the different roles of design. The roles may include preliminary ideas about the object to be made, recognising that there are alternatives, the variety of components and skills needed for their own design, and use of design as a plan for making and coordinating each others' work. The extent to which these roles will be understood will depend on the rich experiences students get through a variety of design and technology tasks.

#### References

Albarn, K. and Smith, J. M. (1977) *Diagram: The Instrument of Thought*, Thames and Hudson, Great Britain.

Callaway, G. and Kear, M. (2001) *Teaching Art and Design in the Primary School*, David Fulton Publishers, London.

Chunawala, S. and Ladage, S. (1998) *Students' Ideas About Science and Scientists*, TR No. 38. HBCSE, Mumbai.

De Vries, M. (1997) *Design Methodology in University Science Technology and Society Programs*, IDEAS Newsletter, Epsilon Pi Tau.

Gandhi, M. K. (1968) The Voice of Truth, in *The Selected Works of Gandhi*, Vol. 5, Navajivan Pub., Ahmedabad.

Houkes, W., Vermaas, P. E., Dorst, K. and de Vries, M. J. (2002) Design and use as plans: an action-theoretical account, *Design Studies*, Vol. 23, pp. 303-320.

Kimbell, R., Stables, K. and Green, R. (1996) *Understanding Practice in Design and Technology*, Open Univ. Press, Buckingham.

Mehrotra, S., Khunyakari, R., Chunawala, S. and Natarajan, C. (2003) *Using Posters to Understand Students' Ideas about Science and Technology*, TR No. I (02-03), HBCSE, Mumbai.

Natarajan, C. (2004) Designing and teaching appropriate technological productions with their multi-expressive and multipurpose possibilities, in Dias, P. (ed.) *Multiple Languages, Literacies and Technologies,* Books for Change, New Delhi and Multilingualism Network, Mumbai.

Natarajan, C., Chunawala, S., Apte, S. and Ramadas, J. (1996) *Students' Ideas About Plants*, DLIPS Report – Part 2, TR No. 30, HBCSE, Mumbai.

Pieters, J. (2004) Designing artefacts for inquiry and collaboration when the learner takes the lead, *European Educational Research Journal*, Vol. 3, No. 1, pp. 77-100.

Rogoff, B. (1998) Cognition as a Collaborative Process, in William Damon (ed.), *Handbook of Child Psychology*, Fifth Edition, Vol. 3, NY: John Wiley & Sons, pp 679-744.

Serendip (2004) <u>http://serendip.brynmawr.edu/</u> <u>sci\_cult/mentalhealth/projective.html</u>

# Visions and Mandates: An Analysis of Three Indian IT Curriculum Guides

Punyashloke Mishra & Irfan Muzaffar

Michigan State University, East Lansing, USA

### **Objectives and significance**

In this paper we offer a rhetorical and pragmatic analysis of three official documents pertaining to Information Technology (IT) integration into educational practices in the Indian context. The three documents are (a) the Curriculum Guide and Syllabus for Information Technology in Schools (CGSITS, 2000) developed and published by the National Council for Educational Research and Training (NCERT). (b) Modules of the teacher education educational technology curriculum developed by the Indira Gandhi National Open University (IGNOU); and (c) The syllabus for educational technology master's program students at Shreemati Nathibai Damodar Thackersey (SNDT) Women's University at Mumbai. The NCERT document offers the first national technology curriculum framework for schools (and to a lesser extent school teachers). The IGNOU curriculum is aimed at school teachers while the SNDT course is designed for the next generation of educational technology designers.

The significance of this analysis grows out of three general trends about the direction of the use of IT in education in India. First, despite the arguments about the promises and perils of educational technology, no one can seriously question the growing role of computers and other new information technologies in the lives and learning of teachers and students both in and out of the classrooms. Second, in the case of India, recognition of this role of IT is combined with internationally growing status of India as a computing powerhouse. The push to integrate technology into Indian schools, therefore, is not surprising. This push is manifested through: attempts to develop technology-based curricula for schools; integrating technology into teacher education and professional development; and through educating a breed of educational technology designers. However, given the costs of acquiring, implementing, and maintaining IT, thoughtless investment in educational technology may turn out to be an expensive mistake.

Finally, as the tradition goes, before the imperative to integrate technology in education begins to permeate the schools it is formulated at the highest official levels in our society. The three documents that we have chosen express such formulation in India. Documents such as these, frame the agenda as it were, for schools, teacher education programs and educational technology graduates. Of course this "frame" influences decisions on hardware and software purchases, strategies for teacher professional development, formulation of teaching objectives, as well as the development of learning opportunities for students.

#### **Guiding Assumptions**

Our analysis of these documents is guided by the following assumptions:

1. Curriculum guides often contain important implicit and explicit assumptions about students, teachers, learning and teaching processes and their organization, and the nature and role of IT in learning and teaching the school subjects.

2. In any educational innovation guided by technological innovations that take place outside the formal system of education, it is possible for 'orchids and turnips to exist side by side.' That is old is hybridized with new in myriad different ways, sometimes fruitfully and other times in ways detrimental to the learning.

3. Educational system in the postcolonial societies is still regulated or organized largely by a centrally controlled bureaucratic system. The curriculum frameworks and course guides for teachers assume an added importance in one such system.

Given this, we explore the implicit and explicit assumptions in the above-mentioned documents. We then take a look at how those assumptions are articulated in the proposed competencies, knowledge, and skills for teachers and students. Finally, we offer an analysis of contradictions between the visions offered by these documents in contrast to the manner in which they are turned into mandates.

#### Method of analysis

To perform this analysis, we have resorted to the standard qualitative content analysis (Bogdan & Biklen,
1998). We have developed a set of codes to sort data across and within the documents in accordance with:

- 1. assumptions associated with the nature and scope of IT
- 2. assumptions about learners and teachers, process of teaching and learning
- 3. assumptions about the relationship and role of IT in learning and teaching.
- 4. the competencies desired and required in learners and teachers
- 5. activities suggested to develop the stated compet encies

Based upon the above-mentioned assumptions, our analysis of these documents examines the ways in which the assumptions about content, pedagogy and learning, and technology are permitted to interrelate [or not] in the above-mentioned documents. We consider these aspects as the manner of conceptualization of each of them influences decisions on hardware and software purchases, strategies for teacher professional development, formulation of teaching objectives, as well as development of learning opportunities for students.

# **Results and implications**

Following this approach, we argue that there is a fundamental split between the almost utopian visions offered by IT and the manner in which these visions are to be realized. The formalization of IT curriculum in India, which we examine in this paper, may undermine the dynamic [and integrated] practices that have contributed to the development of Indian IT capital. By characterizing IT integration as acquiring a laundry list of functional skills and knowledge, the curriculum guides ignore situational and contextual realities of using technology for learning. This emphasis is akin to what Lankshear (1997) describes as a form of applied technocratic rationality, a view that technology is self-contained, has an independent integrity, and that to unlock its potential and power requires merely learning certain basic skills.

Finally, we suggest some ways by which to replace the technocratic rationality by an inclusive vision which might help blend technology, content, and pedagogy. We also show how such blending may open up new ways of thinking and new problems to solve on the horizon of thinking about integrating technology in education in India. We also suggest some ways in which alternative curricular visions might help retain, foster, and transfer the dynamism of Indian IT revolution to its classrooms.

# References

Bogdan, R. C. & Biklen, S. K. (1998) *Qualitative Research for Education: An introduction to theory and methods* (3 ed.). Boston, MA: Allyn and Bacon.

Lankshear, C. (1997) *Changing literacies*. Buckingham & Philadelphia: Open University Press.

# Outreach in Engineering Education: The GK-12 Learning Partnership Program

# Barbara M. Moskal

Colorado School of Mines, Golden, Colarado, USA

#### Goals

1. To foster the cooperative efforts of a practicing teacher, university faculty, a graduate student and undergraduate student in the implementation of problem centered, interdisciplinary learning environments that focus on the application of mathematics to earth science and engineering for middle school students;

2. To enrich the teacher preparation experiences of undergraduate and graduate students who are inter-

ested in pursuing pre-college or college education as a potential career;

3. To enrich the content, application and interdisciplinary knowledge of practicing science and mathematics teachers with respect to the application of mathematics to earth science and engineering, and;

4. To enrich the learning experience of middle school students by creating problem centered, interdiscipli-

nary learning environments that focus on the application of mathematics to earth science and engineering.

# Background

Concerns have been raised with respect to the low level of scientific and mathematical literacy in the United States society and schools. These concerns are based on U.S. students' poor performances on standardized tests [1]-[4] and have resulted in a range of reform efforts (e.g., [5]-[9]). Teaching and learning standards have also been developed in science [10]-[12] and mathematics [13]-[18], as a foundation to support reform.

At the very heart of reform lies the belief that student learning occurs through exploration and problem solving [19]. Many [2],[20]-[21] have criticized available curricular materials as failing to provide real world examples that prepare students to move from concrete to abstract reasoning. Evidence suggests that elementary and secondary mathematics and science teachers' content knowledge is often incomplete and/or fragmented [22]-[27]. Adding to this problem is the large number of teachers providing instruction in a field other than the one in which they were certified [28]-[29].

# Design

GK-12 Learning Partnership is a collaborative between the Colorado School of Mines and Adams County District Fifty and is partially funded by the National Science Foundation (NSF, DGE-0231611). This three year project began in August, 2003, with seven graduate students and seven science or mathematics middle school teachers attending an eight day summer workshop. At the end of the workshop, each graduate student was paired with a teacher and these teams worked together throughout the academic year. An undergraduate joined three teams in January, 2004. Graduate and undergraduate participants will be referred to as "fellows" and have been drawn from the following academic departments: Mathematical and Computer Sciences, Engineering, and Geophysics.

# Assessment

Several different formative evaluation techniques were used by the external evaluator: unannounced observations of the summer workshop, comment cards collected from the teachers and fellows during the summer workshop, and focus groups with participating fellows. Summative evaluations were also completed: a pre and post multiple choice content assessment, a range of surveys and questionnaires, and student scores from the Colorado Student Assessment Program (CSAP). This section describes the assessment results by goal for the first year.

# Goal 1

Observations during the summer workshop and comments made by fellows and teachers supported that cooperation between teachers and fellows began almost immediately. During fall focus groups, graduate fellows reported that they were respected members of the teaching team. The bonds between the fellow and the faculty workshop instructors were reinforced throughout the year through on-going fellowship workshops.

# Goal 2

One of the graduate fellows is currently considering teaching at a pre-college level and four are considering teaching at the college level. The undergraduate spent far less time in the classroom and at the end of the spring semester were uncertain as to whether they would pursue teaching as a career.

# Goal 3

On the first and last day of the summer workshop, the teachers took a multiple choice test. From pre to posttest there was a significant increase in the mean scores (p = .004). A disappointing result was that the mean pretest score was eleven and the mean posttest score was fourteen points out of twenty possible points. Although this indicates that the teachers had not yet mastered the material, the reader is reminded that the workshop was only eight days long.

# Goal 4

During fall and spring focus groups, the undergraduate and graduate fellows described a number of activities that were problem centered and interdisciplinary in nature. The participating teachers also expressed that the graduate fellows had a strong impact on their students and that they were successfully implementing problem centered, interdisciplinary learning environments in the classrooms.

CSAP scores in mathematics and science at each participating school were examined for the academic year 2002-2003, immediately prior to the start of this project, and 2003-2004, immediately following the first year of the project. These are displayed in Table 1. There has been very little change in students' overall CSAP performance in mathematics and science at the participating schools. The reader is reminded that the displayed values include entire grade levels within a school and are not restricted to the students whose teachers participated in this project. The investigators are working with the State of Colorado on the possibility of examining CSAP scores of students whose teachers are directly involved in this project. Table 1 : Participating Schools CSAP Scores In Science And Mathematics

	Mathematics						Science	
	6th grade		7th grade		8th grade		8th grade	
	2002- 2003	2003- 2004	2002- 2003	2003- 2004	2002- 2003	2003- 2004	2002- 2003	2003- 2004
School 1, Proficient or Above	28%	25%	32%	21%	13%	24%	20%	28%
School 2, Proficient or Above	26%	25%	15%	18%	25%	20%	30%	30%
School 3, Proficient or Above	31%	46%	29%	26%	31%	28%	27%	40%

# Acknowledgement

The author would like to recognize the Co-Principal investigators, Cathy Skokan, Tina Falconer, Barbara Bath and Joan Gosink, the external evaluator, Judy Duffield, the participating teachers, Louise Belnay, Denver Fox, Trey Griffin, Chriss Kilburn, Erin O'brien, Anna Reishus, and Sara Spreckelmeier, and the participating fellows, Michael Ewing, Matthew Krugman, Leanne Miller, Agata Miodonski, Que Nguyen, Sarah Shearer, Marc Wennogle, and Tina Ziemek.

#### References

1. Mathematics Achievement (1996) Mathematics Achievement in the Middle School Years: IEA's Third International Mathematics and Science Report, Chestnut Hill, MA: TIMSS International Study Center, CSTEEP, Champion Hall 323, Boston College.

2. National Science Board (1999) Preparing our Children: Math and Science Education in the National Interest.

3. Cambell, J. R., Reese, C. M., O'Sullivan, C. & Dossey, J. A., *NAEP 1994 Trends in Academic Progress*. Washigton, DC: National Library of Education, Office of Educational Research and Improvement, US Department of Education, 1994.

4. O'Sullivan, C. Y., Reese, C. M. & Mazzeo, J., *NAEP* 1996 Science Report Card for the Nation and States, National Center for Educational Statistics, 1997.

5. Adelman, N., The National Science Foundation's Statewide Systemic Initiative in Delaware: A case study of Project 21, In A. A. Zucker & P. M. Shields (Eds), *Evaluation of the National Science Foundation's Statewide Systemic Initiatives Program: Second Year Report- Part II: Case studies (Connecticut, Delaware, Montana,* Washington) DC: National Science Foundation/ Directorate for Education and Human Resources, 1995, pp. 47-82.

6. Atkin, J. M., Helms, J. V., Rosiek, G. L. & Siner, S.

A., Building on Strength: Changing Science Teaching in California Public Schools, Washington, DC: National Research Council, 1996.

7. Moskal, B. & Bath, B., A Response to the NCTM Standards: Confidence and Competence Project (C<sup>2</sup>), *Academic Exchange Quarterly* (International), Vol. *5*, No. 4, 2001, pp. 203-211.

8. Silver, E. A., *QUASAR Project Summary*, Pittsburgh, PA: Learning Research and Development Center, University of Pittsburgh, 1993.

9. Zucker, A. A. & Shields, P. M., Evaluation of the National Science Foundation's Statewide Systemic Initiatives Program: Second year report- Second-years case studies: Connecticut, Delaware, Montana. Washington, DC: National Science Foundation, Directorate for Education and Human Resources, 1995.

10. Colorado State Department of Education (1995) *Colorado Model Content Standards: Science.* 

11. National Academy of Sciences (1995) National Science Education Standard: An Overview.

12. National Research Council (1996) *National Science Education Standards*, Washington, DC: National Academy Press.

13. Colorado State Department of Education (1995) Colorado Model Content Standards: Mathematics.

14. National Council of Teachers of Mathematics, Study Shows High-Quality Professional Development Helps Teachers Most, *NCTM News Bulletin*, Vol. 38, No. 7, 2002, p. 7.

15. National Council of Teachers of Mathematics (2000) *Principles and Standards for School Mathematics*, Reston.

16. National Council of Teachers of Mathematics (1995) Assessment Standards for School Mathematics. Reston, Virginia.

17. National Council of Teachers of Mathematics (1991) Professional Standards for Teaching Mathematics. Reston, Virginia.

18. National Council of Teachers of Mathematics, *Curriculum and Evaluation Standards for School Mathematics*. Reston, Virginia: 1989.

19. American Association for the Advancement of Science (1993) *Benchmarks for Science Literacy: Project 2061*. Washington, DC, AAAS.

20. Kirwan, W., Reform and National Standards: Implications for the Undergraduate Education and Professional Development of Science and Mathematics Teachers, *Scientists, Educators, and National Standards: Action at the Local Level, Forum Proceedings of Sigma* 

Trends in Technology Education Research ·

Xi, 1994, pp. 39-50.

21. Wideen, M., Mayer-Smith, J. & Moon, B., A Critical Analysis of the Research on Learning to Teach: Making the Case for an ecological perspective on inquiry, *Review of educational research*, Vol. 68, No. 2, 1998, pp. 130-178.

22. Ball, D., Prospective elementary and secondary teachers' understanding of division, *Journal for Research in Mathematics Education*, Vol. 21, 1990, pp. 132-144.

23. Brown, S. I., Cooney, T. J. & Jones, D., Mathematics teacher education, In W. D. Reeve (ed.), *Handbook of Research on Teacher Education*, New York: MacMillan, 1990, pp. 639-656.

24. Peterson, P. L, Teachers' and Students' Cognitional knowledge for Classroom Teaching and Learning, *Educational Researcher*, Vol. 17, No. 5, 1988, pp. 5-14.

25. Post, T. R., Harel, G., Behr, M. J. & Lesh, Interme-

diate teachers' knowledge of rational number concepts, In E. Fennema, T. P. Carpenter & S. J. Lamon (Eds), *Integrating Research on Teaching and Learning Mathematic,* Albany, NY: SUNY Press, 1991, pp. 177-198.

26. Simon, Prospective Elementary Teachers' Knowledge of Division, *Journal for Research in Mathematics Education*, Vol. 24, No. 3, 1993, pp. 233-254.

27. Moore, P, K-12 Science Education: A Teacher's View. Scientists, Educators, and National Standards: Action at the Local Level, Forum Proceedings of Sigma Xi, 1994, pp. 39-50.

28. Ingersoll, R., Teacher turnover and teacher shortages, *American Educational Research Journal*, Vol. 38, No. 3, 2001, pp. 499–534.

29. Ingersoll, R., The problem of underqualified teachers in American Secondary Schools, *Educational Researcher*, Vol. 28, No. 2, 1999, pp. 26-37.

# Introducing Design and Technology in School Education: Legitimising Multiple Expressions in Classrooms

# Chitra Natarajan & Sugra Chunawala

Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education, TIFR, Mumbai, India

# The issue

Indians are manifestly capable of adaptive use of modern technologies. Yet, India consistently rates low on significant technological innovations (World Science Report, 1998). Among the people concerned about the problem, some lament that school curricula disregard the nation's cultural heritage of technology productions, and others that education fails to empower the country's populace with such productions (Kothari, 2001).

Technological innovations involve multidisciplinary perspectives and multiple skills. Appropriate training beginning at the school level is the key to creating experts and citizens capable of innovations. Indian school education with its narrowly defined curricular subjects includes little problem solving, and aims at mere technological literacy among students. The classroom communication is severely constrained by content and language of the textbooks. This education also alienates a majority of students from their environments, suppresses their natural and culturally rich modes of expression and stifles local technological innovations. Enriching school curricula with explicit opportunities for multiple expression modes valid in a variety of classroom contexts will not only help meet the need for future technology innovators, but could also redefine the role of school education itself, and potentially the cultural identity of the society. This premise drives the programme of design and technology in school education at the Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education on technology education at middle school level.

#### **Alternate positions**

The classroom context is often thought to be a given in any particular educational set-up. Cognitive studies drawing on the work of Vygotsky and Piaget, and evidences from recent anthropological studies indicate that the context of learning, including peers, teacher, classroom, school and the social setting, plays a crucial role in the acquisition of knowledge and competencies (Brown and Duguid, 1993). Important inputs for reshaping the context of learning come from research in situated cognition (Norman, 1993; Clancey, 1995) and situated learning (Wenger, 1993; Rogoff, 1998). These studies present the acquisition of representations of knowledge, procedures and competencies as necessarily determined by the context in which they happen.

Recent studies have unearthed that the social differences that exist among different cultures affect the nature of their cognitive processes (Nisbet et al, 2001). The history of engineering drawings demonstrates that the modelling methods available to designers do directly affect the potential content of their thoughts (Baynes, 1992). Design and technology activities provide the discourse space and cultural environment that support the use and learning of technology-specific language.

The problems of mismatch between culture, human developmental needs and education are exacerbated in the teaching of science and technology through nation-wide uniform curricular frameworks. These curricula neither explicitly connect with local contexts nor value local knowledge and varied ways of expressing (Chunawala et al, 1996; Natarajan et al, 1996).

Design and technology activities not only draw upon the knowledge of key concepts characteristic of technology – concepts traditionally taught within other disciplines like the sciences and the arts – but also need a variety of skills. Besides, the activities integrate aspects of affect (wants, desires and aesthetics) and judgements (making strategic alliances, choosing materials and evaluating products). Thus, technological activities go beyond addressing episteme (knowledge) and techné (skill), and include phronesis (practical wisdom) (Dunne, 1993).

#### **Our framework**

In multi-cultural India, design and technology tasks that evolve within the classrooms, negotiated by students and guided by sensitive teachers, can help connect with the immediate social context, and make use of multiple expressions and appropriate technical tools. The introduction in the classroom of the repertoire of expressions within design and technology (D&T) has the potential to legitimise multiple expressions. D&T curriculum can be inclusive rather than an exclusive endeavour for mixed ability students in different cultural settings, and in diverse multicultural classrooms across the country.

The D&T project discussed here addresses the development, of possible classroom situations that engage students in using knowledge, skills (thinking, manual, procedural, artistic, social, etc.) and values (aesthetic, social). It is envisaged as an action research project having several phases. In the completed first phase, a few design and making tasks have been developed through participation in three school settings. The meaning of the task goal set by researchers and the plans for achieving the goals were negotiated among the students – about 20 per school from Std. VI and VII. The 3 schools were set in different socio-cultural and linguistic environments. Diverse strategies and skills are used by students to complete the tasks. Different modes of expression by students – sketching, drawing, model making, verbal and non-verbal negotiations, oral communication and acting out, and writing in point form, descriptions, and poems – have been integrated in the activities involved in the tasks, and these are observed through a variety of data collections methods.

The second phase will appraise the D&T tasks carried out in terms of their educational goals and content. It will also address the socio-cultural and gender appropriateness, and cognitive suitability. In the third phase, additional and complementary D&T tasks will be developed. In this phase, the modules will be carried out during school hours with the help of teachers. The learning package so developed for students of a specific class would make up a *design and technology education module*. In a longer term, the study is expected to lead to the development of a collection of *D*&*T education modules* for Indian students at the primary and middle school levels.

Contextual answers must be sought for several questions before D&T education can serve its intended purpose. These include level of school education (pre-school to secondary) at which to introduce D&T, the content and pedagogy at each level, and its relation with existing subjects. The potential of appropriately taught D&T to enhance the learning of other subjects, when proven, will serve to support its introduction as a school subject. Considering the large numbers of both students and teachers in the Indian educational system, methods need to be worked out to orient teachers to teach for D&T capability, beyond mere technological literacy. Integrating socio-cultural and equity aspects in D&T practice need to be clearly spelt out and incorporated in the curricula. A few of these issues, especially the diverse modes of expression and socio-cultural differences have been addressed in the first phase of the action-research project. Some of the deeper issues will need continued research in the area.

### References

Baynes, K. (1992) The role of modelling in the Industrial Revolution. In *Modelling: The Language of Designing*. Occasional Paper No.1. Loughborough University of Technology, Loughborough, as quoted in Kimbell, et. al. (1996).

Brown, J. S. and Duguid, P. (1993) Stolen knowledge.

Trends in Technology Education Research

Educational Technology, 10-15.

Chunawala, Sugra and Apte, Swapna and Natarajan, Chitra and Ramadas, Jayashree (1996) *Students' ideas about living and nonliving*, Technical Report No.29, Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education, TIFR, Mumbai.

Clancey, W. J. (1995) Practice cannot be reduced to theory: Knowledge, representations, and change in the workplace. In S. Bagnara, C. Zuccermaglio, & S. Stuckey (Eds.), *Organisational learning and technological change* pp.16-46.

Dunne, Joseph (1993) Back to the Rough Ground: 'Phronesis' and 'Techne' in Modern Philosophy and in Aristotle. South Bend, IN: University of Notre Dame Press.

Kothari, Ashish (2001) *Technofixes with a sugar coating*. The Hindu, Online edition of India's National Newspaper, Thursday, July 26, 2001. Natarajan, Chitra and Chunawala, Sugra and Apte, Swapna and Ramadas, Jayashree (1996) *Students' ideas about plants*, Technical Report No.30, June 1996.

Nisbett, Richard E. and Kaiping Peng and Incheol Choi and Ara Norenzyan (2001) "Culture and Systems of Thought: Holistic Versus Analytic Cognition", Psychological Review, 108 (2), 291-310.

Norman, Donald A.(1991) "Cognitive Artifacts." In J. M. Carroll ed., *Designing Interaction*. Cambridge, MA: Cambridge University Press.

Rogoff, Barbara (1998) Cognition as a Collaborative Process. In William Damon (Ed.), *Handbook of Child Psychology*, Fifth Edition, Vol. 3, NY: John Wiley & Sons. 679-744.

Wenger, Etienne (1998) *Communities of Practice: Learning, Meaning, and Identity*. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.

World Science Report (1998). UNESCO Pub., Paris.

# Early Exposure of Pre-College Students to Information Technology

# Keshav S. Varde

University of Michigan-Dearborn, Dearborn, USA

It is known that information technology plays an important role in employment and productivity of current U.S workers and will do so even at a faster rate in years to come. Yet, the exposure of pre-college students to the technology has been very slow. This is even more evident in some of the major city school systems where inadequate facilities, poor infrastructure and illtrained teachers have contributed to further deterioration of any planned educational activities in this area. This paper highlights a program that was recently instituted by a non-profit organization, in collaboration with local universities and industry partners, to address the problem and expose pre-college students to information technology and related STEM disciplines. The program is based on past research on students' learning through hands-on activities. Preliminary assessment of the program outcomes is presented in the paper.

### **Objectives and Rationale**

There is no doubt that unfamiliarity with information

technology (IT) discipline will limit students' educational opportunities and their future economic status (Gannod, 2003; U.S. National Science Board, 2004). This is nowhere more evident than in the U.S. where current data and future projections show that IT will play a crucial role in increasing the nation's productivity and creating a productive workforce.

It is true that more and more U.S. schools are equipped with computers and associated facilities compared to the scenario that existed in the mid-1990 (National Education Association Homesite, 2004). However, the utilization of computer technology has been limited. A recent study of utilization of computer technology in high schools showed that the primary use has been for word processing and Internet access (Gupta and Houtz, 2000). The study also revealed that students seldom use the technology for learning or developing skills in area of programming, information storage, data manipulation and retrieval, web page development and for communicating through graphics. Graphical communication is a concise language used by scientists, engineers and technically skilled personnel. The lack of properly developed technology education and utilization, combined with a lack of interest on the part of students to pursue science, technology, engineering and mathematics (STEM) based career, has been a national concern in the U.S. for quite sometime. Motivating high school students to pursue technical career has been a challenging task and large metropolitan city schools have not been very successful at the challenge.

Because of this, the Detroit Area Pre-College Engineering Program Inc. (DAPCEP), a non-profit organization. in collaboration with several local universities and corporations, developed a program in IT and related disciplines. The objective of the 4-year, 2-cycle project is to provide hands-on education and skills opportunities to underrepresented minority students in middle and high schools from the Detroit area. It allows the sponsors and university participants to assess if the approach would help to elevate IT skills amongst pre-college students in predominantly minority schools. The major funding for the project is provided by the National Science Foundation (NSF) under the Information Technology Experience for Students and Teachers (ITEST) program. The University of Michigan-Dearborn (UM-D), along with the University of Michigan-Ann Arbor (UM-AA), Michigan Technological University (MTU), University of Detroit-Mercy (UD-M), Lawrence Technological University (LTU) and Ford Motor Company (FMC), are providing the majority of instructional and laboratory activities to student participants.

#### **Project Design and Procedure**

The project was designed to provide educational activities and hands-on laboratory experience over a 2year period to students starting in the 7<sup>th</sup> and 9<sup>th</sup> grades. An extensive process was developed to admit students into the program. The admitted students were required to make a two-year commitment to the program. The major focus of the project is IT; however, other related activities including uses of IT in the sciences, mathematics and related disciplines are included as part of the project. These activities are crucial to a successful career in the IT arena or application of IT in STEM disciplines. The two-year program at each grade level includes six Saturdays of classes in autumn and spring each and a four-week program each summer, for a total of about 150 hours of instruction and activities per year. Research has shown that students' learning is more effective if it is accompanied by hands-on activities. The UM-D project included evaluation of effective modes of learning IT and related skills in a classroom and laboratory environment.

A partial list of topics covered and assessed at UM-D in year No 1 is listed:

• Development of short computer codes with simple algorithms, storage and retrieval of code on a server, use of security to access, modify and restore code or similar information.

• Use of database to store, retrieve and sort information; present information through various graphical modes of communication and presentation data and results through text, oral and graphical communication.

• Use technology to analyze experimental data, present and communicate results through IT, and develop alternate methods of storing and presenting the information.

• Use of Internet and development and use web pages for business and marketing, for storing and retrieving information, and for communication

# **Preliminary Findings**





The project target areas were assessed by an external evaluator to determine improvement in participants' knowledge and comprehension of the topics. This evaluation was done through various approaches, one of them being the pre and post-test performance. Figure 1 shows impact of instructional and hands-on activi-

Task Name (No of Students)	Instruction & Learning	Skills Development	
Storage & retrieval to/from server (60)	Small group Inst/Learning	Small group	
Computer code/program development (30)	Small group and individual	Individual	
Conduct lab exp and collect data (48)	Large or small group	Team	
Data reduction/analysis, store/ret/modify (48)	Team	Team	
Creation of simple web page (30)	Large or small group	Individual	
Use of data base and data manipulation (48)	Large group	Team	
Graphical Communication (48)	Small group	Small group	

Table 1

ties in IT and related areas in three target areas. It shows significant improvement in some areas but not so good in other areas. The performance was averaged for the cohorts in the group. Figure 2 shows relative performance of students in the target areas on a graded level. The assessment in each target area was based on learning outcome defined for the grade level and utilized tests, projects, quizzes and assignments. The approaches used in different components of the project were analyzed to evaluate their impact in improving participants' learning and comprehension of IT and their skills in applying the subject matter. The methods focused on large and small group instruction, hands-on laboratory experimentation in an individual group setting, individual and team work in graphing, graphical communication and report, oral presentation using technology work, and use of packaged software. Table 1 show approaches that worked better in some of the project tasks.

# Acknowledgement

This project was supported by a grant from the National Science Foundation to DAPCEP, Inc, under the ITEST Program (*Award No 0322934*) with UM-D as a subcontractor. The author would like to thank Dr. Julia Clark, Program Manager at NSF and Margaret Tucker, Program Director at DAPCEP, Inc. for the funding. The author acknowledges support provided by Ms McNair in evaluating and assessing some of the outcomes of the UM-D program to-date.

# References

Gannod, B. D. (2003) Technology Education for Kids: Cultivating Technology Professionals of Tomorrow and Today, *Proc. ASEE*, Session 1660.

U.S. National Science Board (2004) Science and Engi-

*neering Indicators 2004*, Chapter1, <u>www.nsf.gov/sbe/</u> <u>srs/seind04/cl/cls7.htm</u>.

National Education Association Homesite (2004) *Technology in Schools*, <u>http://www.nea.org/</u>.

Gupta, U. G. and Houtz, L. E. (2000) High School Students' Perceptions of Information Technology Skills and Careers, *J. Ind. Tech.*, Vol 16, No 4.

# Reforming Education: The Pursuit of Learning through Authentic Inquiry in Mathematics, Science and Technology

James J Watters & Carmel M Diezmann

Queensland University of Technology, Brisbane, Australia

### **Challenge confronting educators**

Across the world, governments are recognising the important role that science, mathematics and technology are playing to achieve healthy, safe and peaceful society. In Australia, the development of scientific, mathematical and technological literacy is a national priority for the education system. A number of major reports have implicated the quality of teaching, the relevance of the curriculum and teacher training as areas of major concern (Breakspere, 2003; Goodrum, Hackling & Rennie, 2001; Glenn, 2000; Miles, 2000; NSB, 1999). In essence, classroom teachers and policy makers are being encouraged to accommodate global perspectives, contemporary issues in the sciences and acknowledge the myriad of social-emotional problems confronting modern youth and provide more meaningful learning contexts.

However, the teaching situation in many classrooms is problematic. Contemporary learning theories acknowledge that learning has to occur in context where students engage actively in negotiating meaning around new experiences. Learning theorists argue that the most important source from which we gain understanding is first-hand experience in a social context. However, traditional schooling is dominated by models of teaching, which assume learning occurs through transmission of information. Students are forced to learn from secondary experience, in which information is selected, modified, packaged and presented to them by "expert" teachers. The adoption of these models are further reinforced by community attitudes that tend to see education in mathematics, science and technology as being training for specialised careers in technical fields, rather than part of the essential general preparation to be an informed citizen in the twenty-first century. Reforming classroom practices to achieve a better balance between first-hand and second-hand experience requires teachers to assume new supportive roles in the classroom and develop the appropriate pedagogical knowledge to support new forms of learning.

# **Examples of inquiry learning**

In this paper we draw upon a number of studies in

which students engage in original inquiry problems. It is argued that students build their understanding and investigative skills through active inquiry, connecting their previous knowledge with new ideas and evidence. We specifically report on examples from the early years of schooling and in middle school.

#### Mathematical investigations

Mathematical investigations have three key implications for teaching. First, they are extended problem explorations, which provide students with opportunities to engage in deep learning through the identification of a problem, collection of data, exploration of multiple strategies, communication of solutions, and reflection on the outcomes of the investigation. Second, due to their open-ended nature, teachers can capitalise on the use of investigations to provide opportunities for students with a range of mathematical abilities and interests. Additionally, teachers need to cater for the diversity of students by creating authentic opportunities for collaborative teamwork because individuals can contribute their specialised knowledge or skills to the task. For example, one student may undertake and record complex calculations within an investigation, whilst another student may complement the symbolic representations of these calculations with text and pictures. Third, investigations provide a context for students to apply their mathematical skills and to learn new skills. Hence teachers can determine whether students not only know how to do a procedure, such as addition, but can apply it. For example, in one investigation students erroneously calculated the number of sweets in a sealed container by adding the height of the container and its mass. Thus the teacher needed to realise that although the students could add, their result was meaningless in this context.

#### Scientific inquiry

Several approaches to inquiry based learning in science can be identified. These include structured, guided and open inquiry. In both structured and guided inquiry the teacher plays a significant role in both identifying and planning the problem. However, open inquiries foster opportunities for students to experience

#### Trends in Technology Education Research ·

uncertainties, ambiguities and the social nature of scientific work and knowledge. Here, the teacher plays a very different role. In this study, the constraints, affordances and concerns that guide the role of the teacher are addressed. The study highlighted the importance of three main issues. First, the formation of a community of learners was developed which facilitated the higher ability children and also contributed to enhanced performances of lower ability children. Second, an open-ended inquiry approach afforded opportunities for high ability children to grapple with more sophisticated ideas and processes. Third, classroom discourse was structured to encourage the development of "scientific talk" for the children.

Through these complex investigations students develop in context a range of key scientific and mathematical processes and skills such as problem finding, problem posing, constructing hypotheses, explaining, justifying, predicting, and representing, together with quantifying, coordinating, and organising data. Students become mathematically literate by generating and interpreting information that is represented in multiple forms such as diagrams, charts, tables, and graphs. They become scientifically literate by engaging in hypothesis testing and evaluation of evidence and they become technologically literate through the use of tools relevant to information or data gathering. These processes and associated understandings are essential for effective participation in a knowledge-based society. They become technologically literate through the use of calculators, the internet, and various word processing, spreadsheeting and presentation technologies.

# Implications

The implications of this research impact directly on attempts to reform the teaching of science, mathematics and technology to acknowledge contemporary learning theory and to accommodate the burgeoning and changing knowledge base necessary for competence in the sciences. However, there are significant challenges. Curriculum innovations have historically failed to influence teaching and learning practices due, in part, to teachers' scarce opportunities to learn new content and improve their practice. Inquiry approaches to learning assume that teachers are well prepared to engage in inquiry themselves a position that is challengeable given the preservice educational courses most have experienced. Teachers on the whole have had limited experiences in scientific research or opportunities to generate knowledge themselves through inquiry.

# References

Breakspere, R. J. (chair) (2003) *The teaching of science and technology in Australian primary schools: A cause for concern.* Canberra: The Australian Academy

of Technological Sciences and Engineering.

Glen, J. (chair) (2000) Before it's too late: A Report to the nation from The National Commission on mathematics and science teaching for the 21st Century. Washington, DC: Dept of Education.

Goodrum, D., Hackling, M. & Rennie, L. (2001) *The status and quality of teaching and learning of science in Australian schools.* Canberra, ACT: DETYA.

Miles, D. (Chair) (2000) *Innovation: Unlocking the future.* Final report of the Innovation Summit Implementation Group. Canberra, Commonwealth of Australia.

NSB, (1999) Preparing our children: Math and science education in the national interest. Washington, DC: Author.

# Tamil Mathematical Manuscripts and the Possibility of a Social History of Mathematics Education in India

# Senthil Babu

French Institute of Pondicherry, Pondicherry, India

# Objectives and significance of the study

In a country like India, where usually history of mathematics has largely been confined to the task of unearthing a 'glorious past', based on a corpus of written sources, highly restricted in terms of circulation, how different could be similar knowledge traditions in regional contexts?

In this paper, I intend to share certain methodological issues, which I encountered in my attempt to write a social history of math education in the Tamil speaking area of south India. As part of this attempt, I encountered a corpus of Tamil manuscripts on mathematics. These manuscripts have not yet drawn the attention of historians of any kind except for a group of Tamil enthusiasts who have published certain editions of these texts, more as a tribute to their language than to subject these texts to a critical enquiry guided by any disciplinary interest. The primary objective of this paper is to reconstruct a history for one such set of manuscripts in Tamil. Encuvati, Ponnilakkam and Nellilakkam are part of the corpus. These manuscripts have explicit pedagogic connotations in their organizational structure. The idea then is to relate these manuscripts to their institutional roles, in what were called the 'Tinnai' schools, the elementary schools of south India in the early modern period.

#### **Research design and procedure**

There are several versions of these manuscripts. Ideally, the foremost job for a historian would be to collate available texts to provide a critical frame for historical analysis. In the absence of such an attempt, for the purposes of this paper, I have chosen a printed edition of Encuvati, Ponnilakkam and Nellilakkam, published by one of the early Tamil publishers in the early part of the nineteenth century, which was in turn stored in the India House Collection. The initial task was to decipher the notational system in order to recognize the logic of organization of the texts. The entire text had to be translated in a form that would be useful both for dissemination as well as to enable a process of recovering the pedagogic context, in which such a text could have been used. It required much effort to look for the use of the numerical practices, as recorded

in these texts, in other forms of past records. Inscriptions and palm leaves were identified that had extensively used the same system of arithmetical practice. The context for the manuscripts emerged gradually. Available information and sources were collected on educational institutions of Tamilakam, the Tamil speaking area of south India. The elementary schools, called the Tinnai schools came closer as the sites of transmission of arithmetic of the kind recorded in the manuscripts.

Three kinds of historical reconstruction were required.

a) History of the nature and extent of the 'Tinnai schools'

b) History of the texts in relation to the curriculum of the Tinnai schools

c) History of arithmetical practices in the non-institutional contexts of a village society

#### Findings

From a narrative that evolved out of such an exercise, I would like to share certain issues that emerged, which I thought are significant for subsequent attempts at a social history of mathematics education, a field still in its infancy in India.

The use of memory, not as a skill but as a distinct modality of learning arithmetic was conceived and practiced as evident in these texts. What could be the relationship between memoria and cognitive transformations involved in a history of arithmetic conceived, say, in terms of the movement from first order to higher order representations? I have contemplated ways to address this issue.

Organization of pedagogic manuals and modalities of learning can be conceived as integral to larger sociohistorical processes. Use of language becomes central to such transmissions. The relationship that Tamil, as a language had with this body of arithmetical knowledge, whose orientation, in turn was thoroughly local socio-economic transactions, has the potential to offer valuable lessons.

Social distribution of competence and characterization

of mathematical abilities are issues that, I think, are crucial in reconstructing a social history of mathematics in a country like India, which has deeply embedded social hierarchies. However, the history of mathematics, has always considered its task to be: identify levels of reflection or abstraction (otherwise characterized as meta-cognitive levels) that allow for further mathematical developments, and then, situate secondary is-

sues related to processes of standardization and institutionalization. The idea of cognitive universality and social competence need to be situated in a historical context, in relation to the Encuvati manuscript corpus.

The problems that I faced in integrating these strategies will constitute the focus for my paper.

# 'Term' as a Bridge Concept between Algebra and Arithmetic

#### Rakhi Banerjee & K. Subramaniam

Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education, TIFR, Mumbai

Algebra has been an area of difficulty for most school students. Herscovics and Linchevski (1994) have pointed to the 'cognitive gap' between arithmetic and algebra. Researchers have attributed students' difficulties in algebra to the lack of understanding of the letter/ variable (Kuchemann, 1981; Booth, 1984; MacGregor and Stacey, 1997) and algebraic expression. Another reason for students' difficulty is that they cannot easily grasp the process-product duality inherent in algebraic expressions, that is, the fact that the expression stands for a number as well as for instructions to perform operations on the number or letter (Sfard, 1991; Tall, 1999). Linchevski and Livneh (1999) have found connections in students' understanding of arithmetic and algebraic expressions as students tend to make the same kind of errors in both places. Various studies by researchers (Kieran, 1989, Chaiklin and Lesgold, 1984) have claimed that most students in the elementary grades are not aware of the underlying structure of arithmetic expressions. They do not understand for example, that 683 – 297 + 235 and 235 + 683 – 297 are equal without calculating.

Research in the area of teaching and learning of algebra has indicated the importance of understanding the structure of arithmetic expressions to make sense of algebraic expressions and their manipulation. However, recently Linchevski and Livneh (1999) have raised doubts about whether structure oriented arithmetic teaching is really appropriate as a preparation for algebra.

A study, being conducted at HBCSE, Mumbai, aims to look at the transition from arithmetic to algebra in beginning algebra students (class VI). The transition takes place in the context of a teaching intervention, focussing on the structure of arithmetic expressions, and thereby exploiting the structure sense in understanding and manipulating algebraic expressions. Three phases of the study have been conducted with students from nearby English and vernacular (Marathi) medium schools. The first phase was exploratory and aimed at developing instructional material. In the second phase, a two-group design was formulated with one group receiving algebra instruction with instruction in arithmetic and the other group receiving algebra instruction without arithmetic. In the third phase of the study, a single group design was used with two groups of students studying in English medium and one group of Marathi medium students. There was no control group with all the groups being subjected to the intervention. Pre and post-tests were given to see the improvement in performance in each of the phases.

During this study, the concept of term has been identified as crucial for understanding the structure of expressions as well as for making the transition to algebra. Term is a number with the + or - sign preceding it, attached to it. For example, the terms in the expression 12 + 4 - 5 are + 12, + 4 and - 5. In the traditional textbooks, terms are introduced in the context of algebra in class VI, and like and unlike terms are subsequently defined, leading to the rules for manipulating and simplifying algebraic expressions. The concept of term is neither connected to any other concept like the concept of equality nor given any meaning like +4 is '4 more' and -5 is '5 less'. The study shows that the idea of term is very powerful. It becomes impoverished by restricting its use to merely introducing rules of syntactic manipulation. In this paper, we discuss contexts where the concept can be of help to students not only in perceiving the structure of arithmetic expressions but also in seeing the parallels between arithmetic and algebraic expressions.

In the instructional sequence used for the teaching study, students first learnt to parse arithmetic expressions correctly using terms. A distinction was made between simple terms like +2 or -3 and complex product terms like  $+3 \times 5$ . In the first phase, the rules of order of operations and the idea of terms were kept distinct, whereas in the later phases they were combined to give a more unifying approach as well as to give meaning to the rules of order of operations. Students are usually taught the convention of order of operations through rules such as 'do multiplication before addition and subtraction'. Now the focus was shifted from this procedural way of looking at an expression to a structural way by emphasizing that in order to evaluate an expression the terms in the expression must be combined (Subramaniam, 2004). Simple terms can be combined easily and a product term and a simple term cannot be combined unless the product term is converted into a simple term. While a pre-post comparison of students' performance indicated that they readily learnt this approach to evaluating expressions, the retention of these concepts over a period of time was low as is seen in their performance in the delayed post-test. It is possible that doing these exercises in the school in the traditional way interferes with the alternative way learnt for a very short period with no further reinforcement.

Students applied the idea of terms to (a) generate arithmetic expressions equal to a given expression (involving both simple and product terms) by rearranging terms and (b) to judge whether two expressions are equal. The former group of tasks were open-ended in the sense of having multiple correct answers. Students performed well in both groups of the tasks and achieved an accuracy of 60% to 70% in judging whether two expressions are equal. After working with arithmetic expressions, students could more easily write equivalent algebraic expressions (involving both product terms and simple terms) by rearranging the terms so that like terms are together, which is the key step for simplification. Effort was made to minimise the occurrence of conjoining in algebraic expressions (writing 2x + 3 = 5x) by reminding them of the rules of order of operations in arithmetic expressions. The students stated these reasons in classroom discussions and would point out the mistake done by their colleagues but this did not always translate to correct performance in the written tests. Still, the students who had undergone such instruction performed better than those who had not, with the frequency of conjoining in the former group being around 15% to 20% and for the later group being around 45%.

The data collected through video recordings, classroom observation, daily practice exercises and tests suggest that clear understanding about terms can enable the students to appreciate the structure of the expressions and also help them to make a transition to algebra from arithmetic.

#### References

Booth, R. (1984) *Algebra: Children's strategies and errors*, UK: NFER-NELSON publishing company.

Chaklin, S. and Lesgold, S. (1984) Pre-algebra students' knowledge of algebraic tasks with arithmetic expressions. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the American Research Association.

Herscovics, N. and Linchevski, L. (1994) A cognitive gap between arithmetic and algebra, *Educational studies in mathematics*, Vol. 27, pp. 59-78.

Kieran, C. (1989) The early learning of algebra: A structural perspective. In S. Wagner and C. Kieran (eds), *Research issues in the learning and teaching of algebra*, Reston: NCTM.

Kuchemann, D. (1981) Algebra. In K. Hart et al. (eds) (1981) *Children's understanding of mathematics:11-16*, UK: John Murray

Linchevski, L. and Livneh, D. (1999) Structure sense: The relationship between algebraic and numerical contexts. *Educational studies in mathematics*, 40, 173-196.

Macgregor, M and Stacey, K. (1997) Students' understanding of algebraic notation: 11-15, *Educational studies in mathematics*, Vol. 33, pp. 1-19.

Sfard, A. (1991) On the dual nature of mathematical conceptions: Reflections on processes and objects as different sides of the same coin. *Educational studies in mathematics*, 22, 1-36.

Subramaniam, K. (2004) Naming practices that support reasoning about and with expressions. Regular lecture presented at ICME-10, Denmark.

Tall, D. et al (1999) What is the object of encapsulation of a process? *Journal of mathematical behavior*, 18(2), 223-241.

# Teaching-Research and Design Experiment – Two Methodologies of Integrating Research and Classroom Practice

Bronislaw Czarnocha & Vrunda Prabhu

City University of New York, New York, USA

# Introduction

The presentation will review the Teaching-Research and the Design Experiment methodologies - two approaches to teaching and research, which, with the progress of reform in mathematics education, have acquired new importance and significance (Lesh, Kelly, 2000). Teaching - Research, the process of developing the craft of teaching through the adoption and assimilation of scientific methodology in classroom work, originates in the principles of Action Research and its developmental history has been documented by several authors (King, Lonnquist, 1992; Noffke, S. (1994)). It is credited with the increase of teachers' classroom awareness, significant increase of work motivation as well as the increase of student achievement and interest in the subject matter. It allows the teacher to view her/his classroom as the scientific laboratory focused on the improvement of the process of learning. Design Experiment methodology in education, on the other hand, has its origins in Vygotskian notion of the Teaching Experiment performed "to study mental changes under the effect of instruction", according to (Menchinskaya, 1967; Hunting, 1983). The "scientific status" of Design Science was delineated by (Simon, 1970), while the Design Experiment as a contemporary tool of educational research was formulated by (Brown, 1992) and (Collins, 1992). Both approaches, Teaching-Research and Design Experiment share important characteristics of contributing to building the bridge between the educational research and teaching practice. The extension of the NRC report, How People Learn: Bridging Research and Practice (1999), notes that the most effective attempts at integrating the theory and practice have taken the form of small groups of teachers engaged either in designing teaching experiments in collaboration with researchers or by individual teachers researching classroom practices on their own in their classrooms.

We examine the common features as well as the most important differences of both methodologies; we propose a new model of teaching-research formulated recently in the community colleges of CUNY in New York City (NYCity model), which integrates their differences (Czarnocha, 2002).

# Two approaches to the integration between teaching practice and research

The document How People Learn (NRC, 1999), asserts that one of the fundamental difficulties in the progress of reform in mathematics and science education is the lack of integration between research and teaching. This shortcoming results not only in a time lag between theory and practice but also reinforces the widespread belief that researchers' endeavors are irrelevant to classroom practices (Brown 1992, Saul 1995). One of the central issues, which motivate the emergence of methodologies that attempt to bridge that gap is the complexity of the classroom learning process. For an educational researcher, according to (Brown, 1992), the prospect of leaving the artificial environment of the psychological laboratory and with the help of the Design Experiment to enter the rich, complex, and constantly changing environment of the classroom is an unusual and exhilarating opportunity to observe and to understand the psychology of pedagogical dynamics directly in vivo. On the other hand, the NCTM-2000 Standards asserts that the teaching of mathematics is a complex practice in that it "must balance purposeful, planned classroom lessons with the ongoing decision-making that inevitably occurs as teacher and students encounter unanticipated discoveries or difficulties that lead them to uncharted territory" (p.18). To navigate this terrain and manage its inherent dilemmas (Lampert 2001), the ideal standpoint is that of a teacher-researcher, a professional who investigates the teaching/learning processes in her/his own classroom and uses this knowledge for furthering instruction and for the navigation in the "uncharted territories.

Consequently, the challenge of integrating the research with practice is being approached along two complementary directions, from teaching to research through the development of the Teaching-Research methodologies and investigations in the classes of individual teachers-researchers, and from research to teaching through the import of the educational laboratory into classrooms of teachers who, in collaboration with researchers, participate in designed experiments.

Both of those promising approaches, however, are besieged by significant methodological challenges, each bringing forth a host of new set of questions to be answered. On the side of the Design Experiment methodology one needs to ask how to design the experimental situation, which at the same time is imbedded in the regular life of the classroom? What research questions can be formulated for such a set up? Who is to perform the teaching experiments? Similarly the Teaching-Research methodological problems: what is the ethics of Teaching-Research? What are the research questions that a teacher can ask? How trustworthy is the research performed in a single classroom? How to increase the validity of classroom results?

### Their similarities and differences

There are two main methodological similarities between the approaches:

• both of them rely on the cyclical nature of classroom research, which allows repeatedly refining the instruction and deepening the theoretical understanding of the issue at hand. Significantly, the researchers generally start their design experiments with the theoretical point of view to be verified or assessed through the classroom teaching experiment (The Design-Based Collective, 2003; Asiala, 1996), while the Teacher-Researcher usually starts with the practice of instruction (Malara, 2002), its observation and redesign followed by the possible formulation of the theory.

• both approaches agree also that the "central goals of designing learning environments and developing theories...of learning are intertwined" (The Design Based Collective, 2003, p.5)

The methodologies differ significantly in the set of priorities through which the central goals are realized. Teaching-Research is primarily concerned with the improvement of instruction in the classroom, and it draws its theoretical hypotheses out of particular instances of that improvement. The Design Experiment emphasizes the creation and development of theories of learning as its primary goal, with the improvement of learning process in a particular classroom seen as the secondary goal (Cobb et al, 2003). Similarly the role of the teacher is significantly different in both methodologies. In Teaching-Research methodology, the teacher is the main investigative agent and he/she organizes the classroom activities to fit them into the established research questions (Jaworski, 1994); in the performance of the Design Experiment the teacher is at most the member of the research team, rarely its central methodological

figure whose craft knowledge serves as the main spring for investigations.

The research questions asked by each approach differ equally significantly. On one hand (Cobb & Steffe, 1983) assert that the investigator's interest in the classroom always lies in "investigating what a child might learn". On the other hand, the interest of a Teacher-Researcher is to formulate ways and means to foster what a child needs to learn in order to reach a particular moment of discovery or to master a particular concept of the curriculum (Czarnocha, 1999). The research question here can be "what representations, and in what order should I use in Calculus so that my students fully understand the coordination between epsilon and N in mastering the definition of the limit of a sequence?". Since that process of understanding is understood by the contemporary theories of learning to take place within the autonomous cognitive structures of the student, the teacher-researcher must investigate the workings of these structures during a particular instructional sequence (Czarnocha, 1999). "Are my students more visual or verbal in terms of their cognitive processing, are they working in the process or object mode of thinking?" - could be the goal of classroom investigations.

#### **Teaching-Research (NYCity model)**

Hence, despite the integration of the educational researcher laboratory with the classroom, there are essential differences between the two methodologies, differences that still hark back to the theory/practice duality. These differences impact the interaction between the two approaches and can significantly lower their effectiveness by not utilizing the maximum of their implicit potential. In order to get the maximal effectiveness from both approaches, full integration of the two methodologies is the immediate task of educators in this domain. A new model of bi-directional Teaching-Research called NYCity model has been formulated recently in community colleges of CUNY (Czarnocha, 2002). The new model proposes an increase of validity and trustworthiness of classroom research through its coordination with modern cognitive and constructivist theories of learning. The process of coordination can proceed along two routes. A teacher-researcher can use a general theory of learning at the very beginning of the teaching-research process in the classroom, organize its practice in accordance with the suggestion of the theory or research and investigate its effectiveness using theory-based criteria (Baker, Czarnocha, 2002), or the teacher researcher can perform a classroom teaching experiment designed on the basis of practical craft knowledge and then seek an appropriate general theory to explicate the empirical results (Czarnocha and Prabhu 2001). This variety of possibilities of teaching-research points out to the inherent subtlety "particularly as it regards the management of the research activities in the classroom, as it requires the teacher's full immersion into the streams of classroom interaction, at first, and secondly his/her abstraction from such a stream in order to observe and control the classroom dynamics that arises" (Malara, Iaderosa, 1998).

In a similar vein, (Czarnocha, 1999), in his report about the discovery technique of teaching in a high school classroom, notes "the necessity to maintain a flexible flow of the course while employing the teaching experiment for the instructional purposes. This necessity is mandated by the dialectical interaction between the two aspects of the instructor's role: that of a teacher and that of a researcher. In order to facilitate the instructor's goal, the discovery of proportions, the researcher had to discover the elements of cognitive knowledge of the students relative to this concept. As these discoveries were often unexpected and contradicted teacher's suppositions, the teacher had to change his pedagogical goals and formulate new activities better adapted to students' cognitive tools. He had to ask new questions, which hopefully, through addressing newly discovered levels of understanding would bring students closer to their moment of discovery".

The presentation will contain excerpts from the interview with a teacher-researcher utilizing the methodology of TR/NYCity model while conducting teaching experiment into student understanding and mastery of the concept of the limit (Czarnocha, Prabhu, 2002). The excerpts will illustrate dynamics of bi-directional teaching-research and its impact upon the learning process.

### References

Baker, W., Czarnocha, B. (2002) Meta-cognition and Procedural Knowledge. ERIC Accession No.ED 472 949

Brown, A. (1992) Design Experiments: Theoretical and Methodological Changes Creating Complex Interventions in Classroom Settings. *The Journal of the Learning Sciences*, 2(2),141-178.

Cobb, P., Confrey, J., DiSessa, A., Lehrer, R; and Schauble, L. (2003) Design Experiments in Educational Research in A.Kelly (ed) Educational Researcher 32.

Cobb, P. & Steffe, L.P. (1983) The Constructivist Researcher as Teacher and Model Builder JRME 14(2) pp 83-94.

Collins, A. (1992) Towards a Design Science in Education in E.Scanclon & T.O'Shea (eds) *New Directions in Educational Technology*, Berlin, Springer-Verlag.

Czarnocha, B. (1999) El Maestro Constructivista como Investigador (The Constructivist Teacher as a Researcher), *Educacion Matematica* 11(2), Mexico. Czarnocha, B., Prabhu, V. (2001) NSF/ROLE Grant # 0126141, The Teaching Experiment Introducing Indivisibles into Calculus Instruction, Project Description

Czarnocha, B. (2002) Teacher Researcher for the 21st Century. Short Oral Report, Proceedings of the 24th Annual Meeting of NA-PME, Athens, Georgia, October 25-28.

Design-Based Research Collective (2003) Design-based research: An Emerging Paradigm for Educational Inquiry. In A.Kelly (guest ed.) *Educational Researcher* 32.

Hunting, R. (1983) Emerging Methodologies for Understanding Internal Processes Governing Children's Mathematical Behavior. *The Australian Journal of Education*, *V27*(1)

Jaworski, B. (1994) *Investigating Mathematics Teaching*, Falmer Press.

King, J. A. Lonnquist, M. P. (1992) A Review of Writing on Action Research (1944-Present) *Eric document* #ED355566

Lampert, M. (2001) *Teaching Problems and the Problems of Teaching* Yale University Press.

Kelly, A. and Lesh, R. (2000) (eds) *Handbook of Research Design in Mathematics and Science Education*, Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Mahway, NJ.

Malara, N. and Zan (2002) The Problematic Relationship Between Theory and Practice 574 in English, D. L (ed) *'International Research in Mathematics Education'*, 2002, LEA

Malara, N. and Iaderosa, R. (1998) Theory and Practice: The case of fruitful relationship for the renewal of the teaching and learning algebra in Proceedings of the CIEAEM 50, Neuchatel-Suisse, 2-7 aout 1998, Relationship between classroom practice and research in mathematics education.

Mienchinskaya, N. A. (1967) Fifty Years of Soviet Instructional Psychology. *Soviet Pedagogy, Oct. 1967, pp 126-142.* 

Noffke, S. (1994) Action Research: Towards the new generation. *Educational Action Research 2(1), 9-21*.

Saul, M. The nourishment is palatable: A teacher's view of Research in Mathematics Education (1995) *Journal of Mathematical Behavior* 14.

Simon, H. (1970) The Science of the Artificial, MIT-Press, Cambridge, MA.

# Diagrammatic Knowledge in Mathematics in the Information Age

#### **Carmel M. Diezmann**

Queensland University of Technology, Brisbane, Australia

Mathematicians have long recognized the value of diagrams as cognitive tools and the use of diagrammatic representation has resulted in major mathematical breakthroughs, such as the Pythagorean discovery of irrational numbers. However, in the Information Age society, all citizens need to be able to create and interpret general purpose diagrams, such as the matrix, network, and hierarchy (Diezmann & English, 2001). Diagrams have three key cognitive advantages. First, diagrams facilitate the conceptualisation of the problem structure, which is a critical step towards a successful solution. Second, diagrams are an inferencemaking knowledge representation system that has the capacity for knowledge generation. Third, diagrams support visual reasoning, which is complementary to, but differs from, linguistic reasoning. However, students of all ages are reluctant to employ diagrams, experience difficulty using diagrams or lack the expertise to use diagrams effectively. Thus, students' use of diagrams can inhibit rather than facilitate their mathematical understanding and performance.

The ability to identify the properties of diagrams is a fundamental issue for diagrammatic research because the selection of an appropriate representation is a critical step in reasoning about information. As students encounter diagrammatic representations from their early primary years, it is essential to understand their knowledge of the properties of diagrams in order to promote mathematical learning and inform teaching practice. While diagrammatic knowledge and use have been studied intermittently over the past three decades, it is only recently that Novick (2001) has developed a cohesive framework of three general purpose diagrams (i.e., matrix, network, hierarchy) (see Figure 1) and their properties (e.g., were global structure, number of sets, item/link constraints, link type, linking relations and transversal).

This paper reports on an "in progress" longitudinal study of primary students' knowledge of the properties of diagrams using Novick's (2001) framework. Students' knowledge was explored through a series of scenariobased tasks that required them to (1) select a diagram that best suited the given problem information and to (2) justify their selection and (3) non-selection of particular diagrams. Scenario-based tasks are more appropriate for measuring knowledge of diagrammatic representation than problem-solving tasks because the former specifically elicit knowledge about representation, whereas the latter also involve reasoning.

The first sentence or two of the scenario tasks set up a cover story. The same broad scenario of "The Amusement Park" was used for all tasks to avoid students selecting their responses on the basis of the cover stories rather than the structural information. The next sentence or two focuses on a particular property of a diagram. The final sentence indicates that someone wants a diagram for a purpose relevant to the cover story. The students' task was to select the appropriate diagram from two labelled diagrams (matrix or network or hierarchy). In one of these diagrams, the property was represented, and in the other diagram the prop-

*Figure 1*. Three general purpose diagrams.





spatially-oriented diagrams were presented for each scenario. Students were asked to justify their selection and also to explain why they did not select the remaining diagram. Examples of the tasks and the types of student responses will be presented on the poster. What was notable in the study was some students' reliance on the pictorial components of the diagram. For example, some students accepted or rejected a diagram on the basis of what could or could not physically fit on the diagram or the shape of spaces within the diagram. Thus, these students considered the diagrams as concrete representations of particular aspects of the story, rather than as abstract representations of the relationships between information.

The development of students' knowledge about diagrams was explored through interviews about their everyday (in school and out-of-school) experiences. The students' responses indicated that, as anticipated, there was limited attention to diagrams at school and no systematic effort to develop knowledge of diagrams. Generally, students' experiences with diagrams were *ad hoc* and one-off. Sometimes there was passing reference to particular diagrams in class or students encountered diagrams on their homework.

Outside school, students encountered diagrams in various forms, such as knockout sporting competitions represented on hierarchies. Some students were able to draw detailed reconstructions of these diagrams and talk about what they meant. Thus, these students had referents to which they could relate similar diagrams. The intent was to document these everyday situations that provide authentic contexts for interpreting diagrams and propose that these be embedded into the curriculum. However, there were also many students who had presumably seen the same information in common everyday situations as the diagram-aware students but had no recollection of these diagrams. This raises the question of what is it that makes something memorable or meaningful for some students but not for others?

In summary, this study contributes to our understanding of the way in which we think by extending knowledge of diagrammatic representation and cognition in mathematics. This has been achieved by investigating which diagrams and which properties are easier or harder for students. Students' explanations of their selections of particular diagrams to represent specific problem information provided insight into what information students perceived was represented on the diagrams and what they thought were the characteristics of diagrams. Knowledge of diagrams was further enhanced by a consideration of students' in-school and out-of-school experiences with diagrams. This exploration revealed that despite the heavy use of diagrams in print and electronic forms many students had scant experience or awareness of these important visual representations. Thus, the results of the study have broad applicability to all disciplines that use diagrams in print or electronic forms. If diagrams are to be used in learning, teaching or assessment, students must be diagram literate.

# References

Diezmann, C. M. & English, L. D. (2001) Promoting the use of diagrams as tools for thinking. In A. A. Cuoco (Ed.), 2001 National Council of Teachers of Mathematics Yearbook: The role of representation in school mathematics (pp.77-89). Reston, VA: National Council of Teachers of Mathematics.

Novick, L. R. (2001) Spatial diagrams: Key instruments in the toolbox for thought. In D. L. Merlin (Ed.), *The psychology of learning and motivation, 40,* 279-325.

# Inquiry as a Tool and as a 'Way of Being' in Mathematics Teaching Development \*

# Barbara Jaworski

Agder University College, Kristiansand, Norway

#### Objectives and significance of the study

Research shows that mathematics teaching in Norway is not achieving the widespread mathematical knowhow that society would like to see. The associated presentation from Bodil Kleve outlines recent such research and discusses teachers' classroom interpretations of the Norwegian mathematics curriculum, to explain the Norwegian position.

It is clear that mathematics teaching development is needed, and that this needs to involve teachers. We are moving away from traditional models of in-service development of teachers to a collaborative model based on "inquiry" as a theoretical perspective. With a substantial grant from the Norwegian Research Council (NFR) didacticians are building communities of inquiry with teachers in three levels:

1. Inquiry as a tool for mathematics learning in classrooms

2. Inquiry as a mode of teaching development

3. Inquiry as the basis of a research process to explore the contribution of inquiry communities to teaching development.

Our project is simultaneously a development and a research project. As didacticians work with teachers to develop inquiry communities we study the processes, practices, issues and outcomes of our activity. As teachers design activity for the classrooms, supported by didacticians, we explore the nature of the design process and its progress related to classroom activity. Our chief objective is to learn more about ways in which inquiry processes can contribute to the learning and teaching of mathematics and their development.

### Underlying theoretical framework

We see inquiry both as a tool to promote learning and as a "way of being" in a learning environment. Collaboration in inquiry communities develops social processes in which questioning and exploration are central to knowing, and in which interactions take place with mutual respect that builds on the distributed knowing within a community (Cole & Engeström, 1993; Wells et al, 2001, Jaworski, 2003). Design of activity based on theoretical perspectives of collaborative inquiry will lead to innovative activity in classrooms which will be a source of reflection and study by teachers in developmental cycles which are the basis of study in the project (Jaworski, in press). We take the position that "Social science research has the potential to illuminate and clarify the practices we are studying as well as the possibility to be *incorporated into the very practices being investigated*." (Chaiklin, 1996, p. 394. Emphasis added.)

#### **Research design and procedure**

In our four year project which began in January 2004, data is collected from interactions between all participants in the project, including didacticians, teachers and students, in workshops at the college, teachers' meetings in school and in classrooms where students learn mathematics. In parallel we are undertaking a longitudinal study of students' mathematical understandings and attitudes and teachers' perspectives on learning and teaching.

A team of about 8 didacticians of mathematics from Agder University College, plus several doctoral students, are working in depth with 7 schools across the full age range, with a minimum of three teachers from each school as full participants in the project. Workshops at the college start the process of community building and developing inquiry as a way of being. Teacher groups in school, supported by didacticians, design innovative activity based on inquiry processes and collaborate on developing inquiry in their classrooms.

We are using quantitative and qualitative methodologies, including surveys, interviews, classroom observation and analysis of discourse. Multimedia methods of observation and analysis will contribute to findings.

The first 6 months of the project has involved recruitment of and early negotiations with schools, planning of workshops at the college, and consideration of our joint activity with teachers in schools. We, didacticians,

<sup>\*</sup> This paper is linked to Bodil Kleve's paper. See p. 85.

#### Trends in Mathematics Education Research

have had to build first our own community. From diverse backgrounds, we worked collaboratively to design a research proposal based on the interests and expertise of all in our group. The proposal was one of seven to be funded in a special research programme of the NFR; however, the allocated funding was substantially less than our budget, so our programme had to be trimmed quite severely. On receiving funding our first step was to recruit doctoral students whose research would be part of the programme. Programme re-negotiation and early work with our doctoral students allowed us to address theoretical perspectives and to develop awareness of issues in putting theory into practice. Collaborative planning for workshops, some involving teachers, has led to addressing questions and dealing further with issues.

# Findings

It is interesting to observe how methodology runs into findings, since our methodology develops along with activity in the project. For example, one of our objectives was that workshops should be a vehicle for building an inquiry community with teachers through which inquiry-based design of classroom activity could take place. It seemed fundamental that we should work together on mathematics in inquiry mode. The nature and style of mathematical tasks became therefore a focus of concern. What kinds of tasks or problems could initiate inquiry thinking and lead to ideas for classroom inquiry?

At the time of writing we have just held our first workshop using such tasks. We will report on outcomes as reflected in our data and analysis. Simultaneously we are analysing data from earlier meetings (audio and video recordings) to gain insights into our own processes (as didacticians and researchers) of community building and associated inquiry. We will report on and from this analysis.

To provide baseline information about students' mathematical competence, we have designed mathematical surveys to assess students in grades 4, 7, 9 and 11. Attitude surveys and interviews are currently being designed to enhance our baseline data. We are dealing currently with issues regarding the philosophical basis of such surveys and its relationships with the inquiry nature of our project.

Dealing with multiple data sources and approaches to data collection and analysis is proving challenging within the project. We will report further on such challenges.

By the time of the conference, we will have data from the early work in schools between teacher teams and supportive didacticians and will have begun analyses. We will report from this work. At that stage we shall not yet have undertaken a study of innovative activity in classrooms as a result of the design process. We must leave that to report at a subsequent meeting.

# References

Chaiklin, S. (1996) Understanding the Social Scientific Practice of Understanding Practice. In Chaiklin, S. & Lave, J. (Eds.) *Understanding Practice: Perspectives on Activity and Context.* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Cole, M. & Engeström, Y. (1993) A cultural-historical approach to distributed cognition. In G. Salomon (Ed.), *Distributed Cognitions: Psychological and educational considerations*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Jaworski, B. (2003b) Research Practice into/influencing Mathematics Teaching and Learning Development: Towards a Theoretical framework based on co-learning partnerships, *Educational Studies in Mathematics*. 54, 2-3, 249-282.

Jaworski, B. (in press) Mathematics Teaching Development through the design and study of classroom activity, Papers of the British Society for Research into Learning Mathematics, *Research in Mathematics Education*. (Vol. 6).

Wells, G. (Ed.), (2001) *Action, Talk and Text: Learning and Teaching Through Inquiry.* NY: Teachers' College Press.

# Teachers' Implementation of a Curriculum Reform \*

#### **Bodil Kleve**

Oslo University College, Norway

# Objectives and significance of the study

Reform 97 (R97) is the educational reform in Norway that took place in 1997. As part of the more wideranging Reform 97, which affected the whole of the compulsory education system, a new curriculum was implemented in August 1997. This curriculum or syllabus for grade 1-10 (age 6 to age 15) is referred to as L97 (Hagness, Veiteberg, Nasjonalt læremiddelsenter, & Kirke- utdannings- og forskningsdepartementet, 1999) from now on.

A research study (Alseth, Brekke, & Breiteig, 2003) suggests that the curriculum is not implemented as intended. Studies comparing pupils' performance on mathematical tasks before and after Reform 97 show that both in grade 7 and in grade 10 pupils perform generally lower in 2001 and 2002 than in 1995 and 1994 respectively (Alseth et al., 2003; Kleve, 2003).

The curriculum describes different working methods in all subjects in general and in mathematics in particular. According to my interpretation of the curriculum, it encourages an investigative approach to teaching. It stresses that the pupils shall be active in the learning process. They shall be experimenting and exploring and through collaboration with each other acquire new knowledge and understanding.

In my research I have worked with 4 mathematics teachers to explore how they are interpreting the curriculum, both in terms of how they are thinking about it and expressing themselves in focus groups and interviews, and also in terms of what they actually do in the classroom. My research questions are:

1. How are teachers in their mathematics teaching practice responding to the L97's recommendations?

2. What kinds of interactions between the teacher and the student are observable in the mathematics class-room?

3. How are teachers' practices in the classroom related to their beliefs about teaching and learning mathematics and to their goals for students in the subject?

#### **Underlying theoretical framework**

The mathematical part of the curriculum, L97, reflects a constructivist view on learning and also a view based on socio-cultural theories. I see several principles which I interpret as reflecting a constructivist view on the teaching and learning of mathematics: pupils shall be encouraged to build up knowledge largely by themselves; they shall be active, enterprising and independent; they shall acquire new knowledge by exploring and experimenting. L97 encourages discussion and reflection, and emphasises how students' misconceptions can be ground for further learning. My interpretation is underpinned by Confrey (Confrey, 1990)who emphasises the fact that pupils themselves are supposed to construct their understanding through a process of reflection, Von Glasersfeld (Glasersfeld, 1985) who explains how teachers should be more interested in children's misconceptions and Noddings et al (Noddings, Davis, & Maher, 1990) who say that learning mathematics requires constructions and that mathematical activity in a mathematical community is a common thread in what a constructivist view implies.

Views based on socio-cultural theories are also reflected in the curriculum (L97, p. 167, 168). Collaboration and adult guidance are indicated. L97 says that pupils have developed mathematical concepts when they start school and the purposes of educational programmes are to develop these concepts. This is in accordance with Vygotsky (Vygotskij & Cole, 1978) who says that ignoring the fact that children's learning begins long before they attend school, is short-sighted. The use of tools is also emphasised in L97. Mediation through tools is essential in Vygotsky's socio-cultural theory. The tools in the Vygotskian mediation process are not limited to concretes. Language is also essential as a mediation tool. Lermann (Lermann, 2000) points to the analogy between physical tools and cultural tools and how they transform us internally.

#### **Research design and procedure**

In my study, I am focusing on teachers' interpretation of the L97 curriculum and on their implementation of

<sup>\*</sup> This paper is linked to Barbara Jaworski's paper. See p. 83.

it. The relation between the two is an essential part of the study.

I am using research methods fitting largely into an ethnographic approach (Bryman, 2001). I have used focus groups interviews to get information about what teachers say about L97 and how they relate their teaching to what is said in the curriculum. I have observed four selected teachers for one lesson a week in 3 months, and have had conversations with them before and/or after the lessons. All of this has been audio taped, and parts of it are fully transcribed, from other parts I have written summaries. I have also information from the teachers obtained through questionnaires and self estimation forms.

# Findings

So far, findings suggest that there are different attitudes to L97, different styles of teaching and thus different responses to L97. Very carefully I will indicate a Directive, a Leading, a Conceptual and an Exploring style of teaching. All four teachers have features of all styles of teaching, but to different degrees. One teacher, David, consciously and confidently carries out direct instruction. He interacts with the mathematics and poses his way of doing it over to the students. According to focus group interview this is what he believes in. Alfred leads his students towards a solution. He is concerned about his students' fragile thoughts and well being. Bent focuses on students' conceptual understanding and wants the students to understand the formulas. However he finds it hard and time consuming to carry out experimental teaching even this is what he says he believes in. Cecilie believes that students learn most by finding things out themselves and she carries out exploring activities and encourages students to find things out themselves.

Even though I experienced exploring activities during my classroom observation and also teachers wish to carry out such activities, I didn't experience that as a general working method. There are common features in all lessons I observed. They follow a traditional pattern; the teacher starts the lessons by explaining new material and/or reviewing the previous lesson, then pupils work on tasks on their own or in pairs while the teacher goes around. Specified skills are often in focus, and the entirety of the subject is rarely presented. However, as indicated and shown above, the nature of teaching from the board (the degree of students' participation) and of interactions between the teacher and the students, differ from classroom to classroom and will be subject to further analysis.

This also indicates that L97 is not implemented as intended and thus a need for further mathematics teaching development in Norway. In her associated presentation, Barbara Jaworski outlines how we now are moving away from traditional models of in-service development of teachers to a collaborative model based on inquiry as a theoretical perspective.

# References

Alseth, B., Brekke, G. & Breiteig, T. (2003) *Endringer* og utvikling ved R97 som bakgrunn for videre planlegging og justering : matematikkfaget som kasus. Notodden: Telemarksforsking.

Bryman, A. (2001) *Social research methods*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Confrey, J. (1990) What Constructivism Implies for Teaching. In N. Noddings, R. B. Davis & C. A. Maher (Eds.), *Journal for research in Mathematics education*, monograph 4. Reston, Va.: National Council of Teachers of Mathematics.

Glasersfeld, E. V. (1985) Constructivism. In T. Husén, & Postlethwaite, T. N (Ed.), *The International encyclopedia of education research and studies*. Oxford: Pergamon.

Hagness, R., Veiteberg, J., Nasjonalt laremiddelsenter, & Kirke- utdannings- og forskningsdepartementet. (1999) *The Curriculum for the 10-year compulsory school in Norway*. [Oslo]: National Centre for Educational Resources.

Kleve, B. (2003) En komparativ studie av elever i 4. og 7. klasse. In Alseth, B., Brekke, G. & Breiteig, T. (Eds.), *Endringer og utvikling ved R97 som bakgrunn for videre planlegging og justering : matematikkfaget som kasus*. Notodden: Telemarksforsking.

Lermann, S. (2000) Some Problems of Socio-Cultural research in mathematics teaching and learning. In Jaworski, B. & Kleve, B. (Eds.), *NOMAD* (Vol. 8).

Noddings, N., Davis, R. B. & Maher, C. A. (1990) *Constructivist views on the teaching and learning of mathematics*. Reston, Va.: National Council of Teachers of Mathematics.

Vygotskij, L. S. & Cole, M. (1978) *Mind in society : the development of higher psychological processes*. Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard University Press.

# Investigating Teachers' Pedagogical Beliefs about Mathematics, Science and Reading Literacy in the PISA Project

Bracha Kramarski

Bar-Ilan University, Israel

#### Nura Resh

Hebrew University of Jerusalem, Israel

The Programme for International Students Assessment (PISA) is based on a dynamic and forward-looking model of *lifelong learning* in which new *knowledge* and *skills* necessary for successful adaptation to a changing world are continuously acquired throughout life. PISA does assess students' knowledge, but it also examines their ability to reflect on the knowledge and experience and to apply that knowledge and experience to real world issues. The term *"literacy"* is used to encapsulate this broader conception of knowledge and skills. PISA covers the domains of reading, mathematical and scientific literacy (OECD, 2003).

The results of PISA show wide differences between countries in the knowledge and skills of 15-year-olds in literacy. Many factors contribute to variation in student performance. One of the important factors is teachers' *pedagogical beliefs* and *practices* about *authentic teaching* that *promote literacy*.

The purpose of the present study is to compare teachers' *pedagogical beliefs vs. PISA's* teaching targets. In particular, to investigate the question: Do mathematics, science and reading teachers differ in their *pedagogical beliefs* about teaching methods, as well as in their *practices* about planning, teaching and evaluating?

#### Method

*Participants:* Participants were 372 teachers from 165 high schools who participated in the PISA Israeli project. In each school three teachers were chosen, one in each of the three tested-subjects: Mathematics, science and reading.

# *Measurements:* A 22-item pretest measured teachers' *pedagogical beliefs* and *practices*.

Teachers' pedagogical beliefs were measured by *con*servative beliefs (such as, advocating frontal method and homogeneous classes), progressive beliefs (such as, the importance of authentic teaching, providing opportunity to students' experience) and *teaching effi*- *cacy* (like, good teaching can overcome students' disadvantage).

Teachers' practices were measured by three components.

a. Considerations in planning: *Child-centered planning* (such as, children's ways of thinking) and *subject-matter-centered planning* (like, learning curricular).

b. Teaching methods: *Frontal teaching* (such as, the degree of using "blackboard teaching" and *New teaching* (like, overhead projector, computers).

Scoring: All the above variables range from 1 - low to 4 - high.

c. Evaluation: Teachers were asked to assign weights to each of the following consideration so that they add up to 100%: Test (students' ability and performance), Effort (student's learning investment), Need (student's need of encouragement in grade assignment).

#### **Findings and Discussion**

In general, as it appears in our findings, the teaching practices of Israeli high school teachers is a far cry from the ideal expected to fulfill the PISA's teaching targets. While the teachers express relatively progressive attitudes, in their practices they tend to stick to the known, more traditional methods in both classroom teaching and students' evaluation. It is hard to tell whether this is a result of entrenched, hard-to-change behavior, or an outcome of systemic pressures - to "cover material" and prepare students for the standardized final tests that limits teachers' ability to experiment and implement alternative teaching practices. While teachers of various subjects do not differ in their declared attitudes, it seems that teaching specialty is a factor in shaping their practices. Mathematical teachers appear as the most conservative among the three specialty groups in both their planning and class practices as well as in their grading practices. However, the science teachers and not the reading group appear as the most non-traditional practicing group. A plausible interpretation of these differences, lie in the contextual conditions that may shape practices of science teaching. Science teaching has gone through considerable transformation in recent decades: Syllabi was renewed to include more "relevant" topics, the "subject" is now being defined as interdisciplinary and taught as such in some schools, and systemic guidelines advocate practices that combine class teaching, laboratory sessions and out of class learning, all of which create an environment for more *"authentic"* teaching. If this interpretation holds, it has important educational and policy implications.

#### Reference

OECD (2003) *Literacy skills for the world of tomorrow*. Further results from PISA 2000, Paris.

# The Teaching of Place Value – Cognitive Considerations

# Usha Menon

National Institute for Science Technology and Development Studies, New Delhi, India

This paper considers the different approaches to the teaching of place value. It is argued that current practices involve a heavy emphasis on place value. Both mainstream and alternative approaches attempt to make children understand the meaning of the notational system for the writing of numbers. In mainstream cases, children are asked to write the numbers in columns marked out as units, tens and hundreds. In the alternative approaches prevalent in India, different concrete materials such as Dienes blocks and matchstick bundles are used to make children understand the *logic* behind the place-value system. In this sense, there is a commonality in both the approaches.

These methodologies assume that the learning of number as such is comparatively straightforward and that the real issue is that of understanding the *conceptual representation* of number or of number as the sum of products of powers of ten.



A different approach developed in the Netherlands delays the teaching of place value and focuses on the development of number sense. The activities chosen, such as counting on the ten-structured bead string (see figure) and the jumps on the empty number line keep the numbers whole without differentiating them on the basis of place value.



This method is strongly rooted in the conception of Freudenthal that there was more than one concept of number, which included counting number, numerosity number and measuring number. He argued very strongly that the numerosity number was 'mathematically insufficient', `mathematically unimportant' and `didactically insufficient' for the teaching of natural numbers (Freudenthal, 1973, pp. 179-194). He argued in favour of focusing on the counting number and the measuring number and specifically for the use of the number line. This advocacy of number line is related to the emphasis Freudenthal put on the constitution of the mental object by children (Freudenthal, 1983 p. x and pp. 28-33).

#### **Theoretical aspects**

I would argue that this RME (Realistic Mathematics Education) approach is significant both in terms of current theoretical advances in cognitive sciences *and* in terms of practical applications. In the framework of cognitive linguistics, mathematical concepts are seen as image schemas and conceptual metaphors. According to Lakoff and Nunez arithmetic is based on the four grounding metaphors of Object Collection, Object Construction, Measuring Stick and Motion Along a Path. (2000, pp. 50- 103) The logic of arithmetic is seen to emerge from the inferential logic of these four source domains by preserving the image-schema structure. The development of the mental object of the number line can be understood as a metaphorical blend in this framework.

In RME, activities with concrete materials are used not to embody the formal algorithmic operations but to facilitate domain-specific level raising. For example, in early arithmetic this involves, going from adding by counting to adding by structuring. The materials used are to be seen, not as devices for cognising the numbers that exist out there, but as functional extensions of the human body that literally lay the basis for new forms of cognitions. This can be understood in terms of Vygotsky's understanding of functional learning systems as mediational devices leading to changes in one's behaviour. Specifically on the question of arithmetic thinking, Vygotsky discussed how counting on the fingers served as a bridge between natural arithmetic (subitizing) and cultural arithmetic. Vygotsky argued, "the quantitative characteristic of any group of objects is perceived initially as one of the qualitative characteristics. ......The matter changes as soon as man, in reacting to the quantitative aspect of any situation, resorts to his fingers as a tool to aid in carrying out the counting operation". (Vygotsky, 1997, p.52). Counting on the structured string and the use of the empty number line can be seen as the creation of new functional learning systems for the child, aiding to create a new mental object of number. This approach is also consistent with the studies on the relationship between procedural and conceptual competencies (Gelman and Meck, 1987).

In the bead string the colour cue functions as a neutral stimulus to organise counting. The colour cue gets recruited to solve the demands of the situation. This later gets internalised to form an understanding of the tenbased structure of the number system. The cognitive processes can be understood in terms of the 'methodology of double stimulation' that Vygotsky put forward (Vygotsky, 1999, p. 59).

The RME approach of mathematisation as a human activity also takes it beyond that of mere embodiment as seen from cognitive semantics. The importance accorded to the goal and affect in the designing of the activities brings it in consonance with the perspective of Activity Theory and the work of Vygotsky.

### **Practical Implications**

The case for postponing the teaching of place value

also comes from evidences that are emerging from countries outside the Netherlands. In a recent study from U.K., Ian Thompson has argued that place value should be seen to comprise of 'quantity value' and 'column value' and that the concept of 'quantity value' develops before that of 'column value' and pointed to the possible negative consequences of the excess emphasis on place value (Thompson, 2002, p. 10).

Analysis of Indian textbooks shows that most of the activities focus on embodying the conceptual representation in concrete materials for teaching of place-value. This emphasis on place-value goes to such an extent that children are taught numbers up to 9 and not up to 10 or up to 99 and not up to 100. The unnaturalness of teaching up to 9 when children are using the ten fingers of their hands to count is obvious.

A counting based, number line using method as in RME would differ very much from the approaches prevalent in India. Yet experience in the last four years shows that teachers very warmly welcome a teaching aid such as the structured bead string/ganitmala. This can be understood in terms of the traditional rote practices in which the emphasis is on the chanting of numbers forward and backward as well as on various forms of skip counting. In the traditional practice any form of visual support is given only up to number ten. The development of number sense in the traditional practices can perhaps be understood in terms of the structuring implicit in the number names. Yet these practices can be considered to have the potential to blend with those for developing number sense using the empty number line as a new functional learning system.

#### References

Freudenthal, H. (1973) *Mathematics as an Educational Task*. Dordrecht : D. Reidel.

Freudenthal, H. (1983) *Didactical Phenomenology of Mathematical Structures*. Dordrecht: D. Reidel.

Gelman, R. and E. Meck (1987) The notion of Principle: The case of Counting. In Hiebert, J. (Ed.). *Conceptual and Procedural Knowledge: The case of Mathematics*. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.

Lakoff G. and R. E. Nunez (2000) Where Mathematics Comes From - How the embodied mind brings mathematics into being. Basic Books: New York.

Thompson I. and R. Bramald (2002) *An analysis of the relationship between young children's understanding of the concept of place value and their competence at mental addition.* Funded by the Nuffield foundation. Depratment of Education, University of New Castle. Available at <u>http://www.atm.org.uk/journals/</u> <u>mathematicsteaching/mt184files/nuffieldreport.pdf</u>. Vygotsky, L. (1997). The History of the Development of Higher Mental Functions. In Rieber, R. W. (Ed.). *The Collected works of L.S. Vygotsky. Volume 4*. New York: Plenum Press.

Vygotsky, L. (1999) Tool and Sign in the Development of the Child. In Rieber, R. W. (Ed.). *The Collected works of L. S. Vygotsky*. Volume 6. New York: Plenum Press. pp 3-68.

# A study on Integration of Teaching Science and Mathematics

## **Chel Madan Mohan**

Sammilani Mahavidyalaya, Kolkata, India

# Introduction

Owing to the phenomenal advancement of knowledge, especially in Science and Technology, the importance of Mathematics is immense today. The application of Science like Information Sciences and Information Technology., Bio-medical Engineering, Biotechnology are some of the leading pursuits in which role of Mathematics is indispensable.

Moreover, contemporary investigations on Science and mathematics education reveal that mathematics lessons are dry and lifeless in most cases because the problems of mathematics, are mostly artificial and complicated and not related to the realistic issues of science and technology. Is it possible to teach them together?

# Objectives and significance of the study

The objectives of the present study are, thus, the following:

1) To mathematisation of technological ideas and heir understanding.

2) To disseminate science and technology education through teaching mathematics and

3) To redesign the curriculum of mathematics to bring it in line with the growth of the subject, growth of science and technology as well as the changing needs of the society.

Teaching science and mathematics separately has become extremely difficult due to enormous proliferation of content matter of each subject. Again separate treatment of teaching and learning inhibits global comprehensions of ideas and concepts of different disciplines. Integrated teaching of science and mathematics is likely to save our time and vigor in learning those subjects.

# Integration of concepts of Mathematics and those of Science and Technology: Theoretical issues

Scientific and technological ideas are best understood when they are presented in mathematical ways. The mathematical form of conversion of matter into energy is the famous equation  $e = mc^2$ . This simple energy equation shows how a tremendous amount of energy is hidden in a small amount of matter. Mathematical forms of science are brief but the information contained in such forms is quite huge and vast.

Again, there is a reversible interrelationship among mathematisation physical reality, scientific theories, social needs and technology. The more we understand these reversibilities clearly, the more we will understand the theories of science and technology. Technology, in fact, is the applications of science related to industry and the needs of people. Science and technology can be expressed in mathematical ways. Mathematics can be utilized as 'the language for science and technology'. In order to understand the application of science related to man in a better way, we are to teach mathematical components of science and technology in classrooms in the periods of teaching science to the learners. In this case mathematical forms are to be explained through physical interpretations. In science books, also, mathematical forms with the variables of science & technology and their with the variables of science and technology and their physical interpretations are given. Sometimes students feel difficulty in understanding such mathematical treatment.

On the other hand in the course of teaching mathematical topics, relevant problems of science and technology can be presented as applications of mathematical concepts. For example, the problems related to alloys, mixture and compounds, preparation of medicines and cosmetics, etc. can be given in the exercises of ratio and proportion taught in mathematics. Relationships among flow of current, electrochemical equivalent weight, time and amount of metal deposited can be explained in teaching 'variation'. Similarly, Linear Function of mathematics can be explained utilizing the Hooke's Law. In the same way irrational function and Trigonometric function can be experimentally verified using a pendulum. Thus, we find that a large number of problems of physics, chemistry, life science, geology, geography, economics can be presented in teaching different concepts of mathematics in different classes.

In fact, problems of science and technology can be classified and can be given in different content areas of Arithmetic, Algebra and Geometry etc. of mathematics. They are placed in the exercises of appropriate contents of mathematics. As for example, the problems of speed, velocity, mass, weight etc. are included in unitary methods while composition of mixture, compounds and chemical formula are taught during the discussion of principles of ratio, proportion and percentages. It is kept in mind that the knowledge of appropriate scientific terms and principles of science is a prerequisite in understanding those problems through mathematics.

Relationship between Mathematical concepts and relevant applications of Science and Technology is depicted in the table below.

# **Research Design and procedure**

In the project, experiments have been conducted to teach the subjects (i.e. mathematics and physical sci-

ence and biology) separately and through integrated approach over the control and experimental groups of learners of class VIII. Three schools (each of rural, urban and semi-urban) are selected for conducting the project.

For teaching through integrated approach, in the curriculum of mathematics, the following application areas are interspersed: Archimedes principles, Newton's Law, principles of lift pump, vacuum pumps, laws relating to pulley, measurement of pollution, sugar or hemoglobin content in blood, composition of soil and bio-fertiliser, etc. The evaluation of two approaches of teaching has been made and statistical analysis showing the efficiency of the integrated method of teaching has been shown and explained.

Dissemination of science and technology ideas through teaching mathematics at class VIII grade is also tested through the use of 'comprehension test' in mathematics. In the 'comprehension Test' the concept of speed, friction, laws relating to pulley, composition of soil are given. After reading the passage twice and thrice, the learners are to answer the mathematical problems given at the end. To answer the problems, the students have to understand the principles of science and mathematics both. The theme of the passage are familiar to them and presented in a story-telling fashion. The passage and the test are designed properly keeping in view the ability levels of learners and their background knowledge about relevant science and technology ideas.

Mathematical concepts/ideas/contents	Relevant application of science and technology			
Arithmetic	Physics			
Mean Batio Proportion Unitary method	Measurement of force, Pressure, velocity, Calorimetry,			
mean, radio rroportion, onitary method	Current registration etc.			
Algebra	Life Sciences			
Formula Surde & Indices Equations	Seed germination, Growth of bacteria, Plant,			
Formula, Surus & mulces, Equations	photosynthesis etc.			
Geometry & Mensuration	Chemistry			
Triangle & quadrilatoral properties areas of square	Relation between p.v.t.d. Electrolysis,			
ate Volumes of solid etc	Radioactivity Chemical & Electrochemical equivalent			
etc. volumes of sond etc.	weight etc.			
Statistical ideas	Geo. Sciences			
Measures of central Tendencies & Variability, correlation etc.	Graphs, Longitude, Latitude, Aeronautical distances, Determination of time in different places			
Modern ideas	Agriculture & fisheries			
Sets, Elementary Calculus, flowcharts, computer	Use of insecticides Fertilizer, Cost benefit, Horticulture &			
language	tree plantation			

#### Findings

It is observed that experimental group has shown better performance. The differences of means of both groups of all the three schools under the project are found to be significant. It is evident from the opinion analysis that the learners will understand the solution of the problems which will help them in understanding the practical problems of industry, Commerce and business such understanding would facilitate them in their professional, vocational and day to day life situations.

The mathematical problems related to science and technology are to be given in abundance in the content of mathematics so that the integrated method of teaching may be more interesting and attractive.

### **Concluding remarks**

In view of the above experiences and illustrations mathematical treatment of technological ideas may be interspersed in mathematical teaching for better comprehension of both mathematics and technology . At first, selection of appropriate problems and their respective placement in mathematical topics are necessary.

Such integrated approach, if judiciously planned and meticulously spelt out may lead to true comprehension and global understanding of both mathematical and scientific principles as well as application of principles, i.e. technological aspect in a global and total way.

# Students' Use of Language and Symbols to Reason about Expressions

# Shweta Naik, Rakhi Banerjee & K. Subramaniam

Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education, TIFR, Mumbai, India

Reasoning and explanation by students has been of interest to most mathematics and science educators and psychologists like Piaget. Reasons are used to justify propositions and involve the use of language and symbols (mathematics or otherwise). Researchers have explored the use of language and symbols (signs and drawings) by students in the process of reasoning (Robotti, 2002; Radford, 2001). Vygotsky has also considered language as a tool for the construction and management of thinking.

Traditional mathematics classrooms, which are mostly teacher directed, emphasize writing clear steps, using correct symbols, syntax, etc., and not thinking about these objects, identifying relationships between these objects and operation signs and giving reasons using language or symbols. A number of studies have pointed out students' inability to deal with symbolic expressions. Students can neither make sense of the structure of the expression nor consistently use rules to manipulate them successfully (Kieran, 1989; Chaiklin and Lesgold, 1984; Linchevski and Livneh, 1999; Liebenberg, Linchevski, Sasman and Olivier, 1999). In a study conducted at the Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education, Mumbai we have tried to capitalize on students' intuitive understanding of mathematical symbols and expressions, where they use their own language as well as symbols to reason about expressions. This work is part of a larger study, which focuses on the transition from arithmetic to algebra (Subramaniam and Banerjee, 2004). It is a teaching intervention study, being conducted on sixth grade students (11 to 12 year olds) in three phases. In the 2<sup>nd</sup> and 3<sup>rd</sup> phase of the study, a batch learning in the local language Marathi was included. One of the goals of this study is to let students focus on the structural aspect of arithmetic expressions and to exploit their structural understanding in the learning of algebra. Through the instructional modules, students learn to see expressions as a number as well as a relation (for e.g., 3 + 2 stands for a number which is 3 more than 2). The structural understanding of the expression emphasises the concept of 'term' as a structural element and the concept of 'equality' as a structural relation between expressions.

In this poster presentation we will discuss students' use of language and symbols as a tool to justify their responses in three kinds of tasks: (a) exercises on comparing expressions without calculation, (b) finding the value of an expression given the value of a related expression and (c) filling in the blank with a term to make two given expressions equal. These tasks were given to students to consolidate the idea of terms and to reinforce correct parsing of expressions. Students had to justify their answers for each of the these questions using language or symbols. Reasoning enabled students to make explicit their thinking about mathematical objects as well as compelled them to look for relationships among these objects. Students, in the beginning, find it easier to verbalise their justification using language. But gradually some students spontaneously start using symbols to explain their argument. Others may start using this strategy taking the cue from their peers or the teacher.

In the tasks on comparing two expressions without calculation there were three subtypes: (i) expressions with one term constant (e.g. 37 + 58, 36 + 58), (ii) expressions involving terms compensating each other completely, making them equal (e.g. 53 + 38, 54 +37) or (iii) expressions with partially compensating terms (e.g. 53 + 38, 55 + 37). Similar subtypes were posed for expressions with negative terms. The performance in all the subtypes of tasks involving only positive terms was high for all groups of students (80% to 90%). For exercises with negative terms, there was a difference in the percentage of correct responses between the groups that had been exposed to integers, albeit in a different context (80% to 90%), and the groups not exposed to integers (60% and 80%). The number of students who justified their answers with reasons is around 50% to 70% depending upon the complexity of the subtype tasks.

In the tasks on finding the value of an expression given the value of a related expression, there were two subtypes. One of the subtypes involved arithmetic expressions (if 326 + 598 = 924, then 324 + 598 = ?) and the other involved algebraic expressions (if y + 35 = 72, then y + 34 = ?). 65 % of the students successfully found the value of the related expression in the subtype involving arithmetic expressions and 56% of the students could justify their answer by giving a reason. In the second subtype, involving algebraic expression, 52% of English medium and 68% of Marathi medium students found the value of the related expression. The percentages of students giving reasons for the second subtype is 26% for English medium and 52% for Marathi medium students.

In the task of filling in the blank by a term to make two expressions equal  $(35 + 29 = 35 + 27 \_)$ , 45% of the English medium students and 77% of the Marathi medium students accomplished the task successfully. Around 20% of the English medium and 5% of the Marathi medium students wrote the sum of the expression at the left side or the right side or sum of all the numbers in the blank (For e.g. 35 + 39 = 35 + 27 + 64). Around 10% of the students wrote <u>-2</u> in the blank, probably using '=' as a sign for association indicating that 27 is 2 less than 29.

In the above three tasks, students gave reasons to justify their answers using language or symbols depending upon the subtype. In the 'compare two expressions without calculation' task, most students used only language while reasoning for the simple tasks where the pair of expressions had one common term. For subtypes involving complete or partial compensation, students often used both language and symbols to justify their answer. Some students compared numbers and some compared terms; some students compared the value of the expressions as a whole. Some students found the difference of the differences between terms in expression-pairs with partially compensating terms and even wrote out their reasons using symbols as in this example: "28(+1) + 32(-2) < 27 + 34". For the question if y + 34 = 72 then y + 34 = ?, one of the responses was, "If you add 35 to y you get 72 therefore if you add 34 to y you will get 71". In the poster presentations, a variety of such responses will be described.

The responses to these tasks show that students have the ability to spontaneously use language to make sense of the expressions and transformations on them. Some of them could also subsequently use symbols to show the transformations on the expressions. Looking at the students' ability to use language and subsequent use of symbols by some students in the process of reasoning, we can hypothesize the transition from intuitive to language-based to symbolic reasoning as a way to make sense of symbolic expressions and syntactic transformations on them.

### References

Chaklin, S. and Lesgold, S. (1984) Pre-algebra students' knowledge of algebraic tasks with arithmetic expressions. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the American Research Association.

Kieran, C. (1989) The early learning of algebra: A structural perspective. In S. Wagner and C. Kieran (eds.) *Research issues in the learning and teaching of algebra*, Reston, VA: NCTM.

Liebenberg, R. E., Linchevski, L., Sasman, M. C. and Olivier, A. (1999) Focusing on the structural aspects of numerical expressions. In J. Kuiper (Ed.), *Proceedings* of the 7<sup>th</sup> annual conference of the South African Association for Research in Mathematics and Science Education, Harare, Zimbabwe

Linchevski, L. and Livneh, D. (1999) Structure sense: The relationship between algebraic and numerical contexts. *Educational studies in mathematics*, 40, 173-196. Trends in Mathematics Education Research

Radford, L. (2000) Signs and meanings in students' emergent algebraic thinking: a semiotic analysis. *Educational studies in mathematics*, 42: 237-268.

Robotti, E. (2002) Functions of natural language in the resolution of a plane geometry problem, Instituto per le Tecnologie Didattiche-CNR of Genova; University of Genova.

Subramaniam, K. and Banerjee, R. (2004) Teaching arithmetic and algebraic expressions. In M. J. Hoines and A. B. Fuglestad (Eds.), *Proceedings of the 28<sup>th</sup> conference of the international group for the psychology of mathematics education*, Bergen, Norway.

# Math Wars and the Epistemic Divide in Mathematics

# C. K. Raju

Centre for Studies in Civilizations, Darshan Bhawan, New Delhi, India MCRP University, Bhopal, India

### 1. Problem

(a) Why do school (K-12) students find mathematics especially difficult?<sup>1</sup> (b) What is a good way to ameliorate these difficulties? (c) Would the new technology of computation *fundamentally* change the *content* of mathematics?

# 2. Earlier attempts

The "new" math curriculum of the 1960's and 1970's sought to align mathematics teaching with the formalist approach to mathematics, finalized in the 1930's. More recently, the reformed constructivist "new new math" curriculum, endorsed by the US Education Department in 1999, but rejected as "fuzzy math" and "no correct-answer math" by its opponents,<sup>2</sup> has sparked off a huge dispute called the "Math War".

### 3. Our analysis

Learning difficulties peculiar to mathematics are the root cause of this dispute, and this paper locates the root cause of these learning difficulties in an *epistemic schism* within mathematics. The quarrel about *what* and *how* mathematics should be taught reflects fundamentally divergent perceptions of what mathematics *is*—and that ought to be decided *not* by mathematical authority, but by recourse to history and philosophy.

# 4. Re-examination of history and philosophy of mathematics.

*Two key principles:* (a) History and philosophy go together: distorted history distorts the philosophy of the subject. (b) The learning process mirrors the historical evolution of a subject, in a "fast-forward" mode: learning difficulties reflect actual historical difficulties.

Detoxifying the current history of mathematics. What is the actual history? When state and church combine, history becomes an instrument of religious politicsas also happened for the last 1700 years. Hence, the "historical" claim: mathematics originated in "Greece" and was further developed mostly in Europe. This racist fantasy (Bernal, 1991) is based on papal fatwas ("Doctrine of Christian Discovery"), and excessively flimsy evidence. (Raju, forthcoming) Current philosophy of mathematics hence defines mathematics as something that imitates the "Greek" method of proof—as subsequently (unwittingly) aligned to the requirements of Christian rational theology by Russell, Hilbert et al. This definition is supported by the claim of universality-which is bogus, since proof varies with logic, which varies with culture (e.g. Buddhist and Jaina logic), and is not empirically certain (Raju, 2001; Raju, 1999). Hence, also, we must accept as legitimate variations in the notion of mathematical proof across cultures, as in the Indian notion of *pramāņa*, which involves the empirical (and irrespective of Western taboos against the empirical in mathematics).

The multicultural origins of mathematics. Actually, Europe inherited not one but *two* streams of mathematics with distinct philosophical orientations: (i) an Egyptian – "Neoplatonic" mathematics that was spiritual, anti-empirical, proof-oriented, and explicitly religious, and (ii) an Indo-Arabic mathematics that was pro-em-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Ignoring possible variations across cultures we will go with the readily available data.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> including Field medallists and Nobel prize winners, *Washington Post*, 18 Nov 1999.

pirical, and calculation-oriented, with practical objectives. Much mathematics taught at the K-12 level is of Indo-Arabic origin: (1) arithmetic, (2) algebra, (3) trigonometry, and (4) calculus. Europeans, however, failed to recognize the distinct epistemic settings of the two streams of mathematics, and sought to assimilate both under one "universal" mathematics. This led to the real math wars.

*First math war: Arithmetic.* The import of the algorismus (elementary arithmetic algorithms), from India to Europe, via Arabs and Florentine merchants, led to the first math war, lasting some 500 years, from Pope Sylvester II (d. 1003 CE) to the 16th c. CE victory of algorismus over abacus. Apart from zero (place value system), zeroing or discarding non-representables ( $s\bar{u}nya$ ) was a key problem.

Second math war: Calculus. Indian methods of proof and rounding led naturally to infinitesimal techniques ca. 1400 CE, when Aryabhata's finite differences were extended to infinite and "Taylor" series expansions for the sine, cosine, and arctangent functions, to calculate precise trigonometric values-imported into Europe by Mercator, Clavius, Stevin, etc. via the missionaries established in Cochin from 1500 CE, and since required for the European navigational problem and the (related) Gregorian calendar reform of 1582 (Raju, 2001). The Indian infinitesimal techniques were again incompatible with European ideas of "universal" mathematics, so that Cavalieri, Fermat, Pascal, Gregory, Newton, and Leibniz etc. in the 17th c. while reproducing exactly the Indian infinite series, tried to "prove" them in the "Euclidean" way-with complete lack of success as is clear from Berkeley's criticism, for example. This second math war over "infinitesimals" lasted some three centuries until Dedekind's semi-formalisation of real numbers in 1872.

*Third math war: Computers.* Like algorismus and calculus, computers have again greatly enhanced the ability to calculate for practical application, but in a way regarded as epistemologically insecure (Raju, 2001). Abacus has now gone to Kindergarten and calculus has descended to K-12: analogously, computer packages, like my CALCODE, can now be used to teach nonlinear ordinary differential equations to K-12 students.

Phylogeny is ontogeny. In a nutshell, European historical difficulties in assimilating mathematics-as-calculation all relate to its perceived epistemological insecurity. This "epistemological clash" arose from an unacceptable theology of mathematics-as-'Greek'-proof. Analogously, the formal justification for K-12 mathematics (via mathematical logic  $\rightarrow$  axiomatic set theory  $\rightarrow$  algebraic structures  $\rightarrow$  number systems  $\rightarrow$  mathematical analysis) is out of the reach of most K-12 students. Hence, on the present paradigm, K-12 students are condemned to learn mathematics in an epistemologically insecure way, reflecting exactly the European history of difficulties with imported mathematics.

*Correction.* The situation can be corrected by changing over to the notion of mathematical proof within which the relevant mathematics originated.

*Prognosis.* Computers will subversively transform mathematics as arithmetic and calculus did earlier. With concern boiling over the issue of calculators vs memorized algorithms, US math warriors have failed to notice that computer arithmetic uses (floating point) numbers that *must* disobey most of the formal mathematical "laws" about numbers, such as the associative law (Raju, 2001). Further, next generation "quantum" computer may negate the very logic naively assumed as "universal" in the present-day (Hilbertian) notion of formal mathematical proof!

# **5.** Conclusions

(0) We need to reject racist history which has fantasized a monocultural origin for mathematics, and has built the philosophy of mathematics around this fantasy.

(a) The present-day learning difficulties of much K-12 mathematics reflect the real historical difficulties that Europe encountered in the last thousand years in forcibly trying to fit practical mathematics-as-calculation, imported from India via Arabs, into the theological paradigm of mathematics-as-proof.

(b) The right way to ameliorate learning difficulties in K-12 mathematics is, hence, to teach practical mathematics-as-calculation, with its non-"Euclidean" epistemology, as fundamentally different from aesthetic/ -theo-logic-al mathematics-as-proof (Raju, 2004). Accepting the empirical in mathematical proof, would help teach K-12 mathematics in an epistemologically secure way.

(c) Computers make manifest the existence of nonrepresentables in any practical mathematical calculation, forcing a shift away from the formal understanding of numbers. Future computer technology may also probably transform the understanding of logic.

### References

Raju, C. K. (2001) Computers, Mathematics Education, and the Alternative Epistemology of the Calculus in the *Yuktibhaasha*, *Philosophy East and West*. 51(3), 325– 62. <u>http://www.IndianCalculus.info/Hawaii.pdf</u>

Raju, C. K. (1999) Mathematics and Culture, reprinted in *Philosophy of Mathematics Education*, 11, at http://www.ex.ac.uk/126PErnest/pome11/art18.htm Raju, C. K. The Infinitesimal Calculus: How and Why it Was Imported into Europe, talk at *East West Transitions*, NIAS, Bangalore, <u>http://www.IndianCalculus.info/Bangalore.pdf</u>

Raju, C. K. (2004) *Cultural Foundations of Mathematics*, PHISPC, Vol. X, Part 4, New Delhi (to appear)

# **Developing Cognitive Flexibility**

## Satyawati Rawool

P. V. D. T. College of Education for Women, Mumbai, India

To represent "content knowledge" in the textbook simple looking, stereotyped, abridged forms are used. These knowledge representations are treated as the "ideal and only correct one" by many teachers and learners. The way teachers learn the mathematics and the way they teach it to pupils lead them to believe that the mathematical knowledge is rigid and rule bound. Consequently for most of the learners, mathematics learning ends in remembering textbook representations. If learners are assisted to make textbook representations meaningful for themselves then mathematics learning may not be drudgery for many of them. It is not possible for any educator to evolve a constructivist-learning environment all of a sudden for helping learners of any level to change their attitude toward mathematics learning. As a teacher one has to make deliberate efforts to create learning experiences that may bring in change in the mathematical activities in the classroom.

Available research findings show that if learners are assisted to represent their thought processes and understanding, using "different contexts", "different media" and "different modes" the learning situation becomes complex and challenges learners to be active. The situations thus evolved forces learners to work in collaboration for making textbook learning meaningful. The learners while revisiting their previous learning are expected to liberate themselves from the way of understanding and create many ways of understanding mathematics. The cognitive flexibility theory is relevant in this respect as it makes specific recommendations about multiple approaches that range from multiple organizational schemes of subject matter for instruction to multiple representations to be organized, taught and procedures and knowledge represented in different ways. One of the available modes for helping learners to act flexibly with respect to mathematical concepts is cognitive apprenticeship. By using this mode it is possible to model the process for learners and coach

them to become expert performers. The critical feature of this mode is that the teacher is not supposed to serve as effective or flawless model (with intention). It is assumed that there is no idealized path for teaching or learning. The learners in this situation are expected to experience authentic way of doing mathematics.

This paper is based on my experiences with student teachers. Our learners are student teachers aspiring to become mathematics educators. They equal 'understanding' with 'remembering procedures for getting correct answers to the exercises that are given in the textbook'. They expect pupils to use the writing procedure that is given or rather dictated to them. Though clear instructions are given in the textbook for learners and teachers that they should try to use all possible methods of getting answers to the exercises, most of them think it as needless work. Efforts are made to help them to get experiences in learning mathematics as well as learning to design constructivist-learning environment. I expected to get answers to the following questions.

How far does a constructivist-learning environment help student teachers to change their views about learning in general and mathematics learning in particular?

Do the cognitively flexible environment and the cognitive apprenticeship approach help them become epistemically motivated with respect to subject knowledge and metacognitive aspects of learning?

Teaching and learning activities evolved were mentally engaging and needed relaxed atmosphere. Many learning cycles with emphasis on cognitive flexibility with respect to different mathematical ideas were needed for making student teachers comfortable with cognitively flexible learning environment. Learners appear comfortable with logical inconsistencies but become uncomfortable with flexible learning activities in the beginning as they feel that these are very complicated. They argue that they are in a position to answer questions related to the logic, as they are graduates but it is not possible with pupils. This opinion is consistent with the opinion of many teacher educators. They forget the fact that learning takes place only when the situation challenges a person. My experience with school children is different. Most of the school children enjoy this type of learning environment. Only few learners worry about important questions. If learner is epistemically motivated then she or he might ask questions related to the knowledge, the way it is represented and its origin. Epistemically motivated learners are 'inquisitive' and 'curious' about every experience they encounter. For example they may be asking questions like how a particular way of representing different mathematical operations has evolved, how much time and effort a particular human culture required to evolve mathematical concepts, are there different number systems with different logic, etc. My efforts as teacher educator did not motivate student teachers to ask these types of questions.

This cognitive apprenticeship did help some student teachers to change their view about learning of mathematics and about mathematics as a subject to some extent. Now they don't restrict their learning and teaching to solving exercises given in the textbook. They are motivated to learn more about subject but they are not yet empowered to question the authority of the textbook knowledge and fail to transfer this learning skill to the learning of other concepts. For example they did not able to apply this learning for studying concept of division or other concepts of this type. Similarly they did not think along these lines with respect to learning geometry. It appears that learners need more time to get attuned with this kind of learning approach. Another aspect was evident through reflective exercises and their narratives about learning experiences. Student teachers did not think that they were learning mathematics and learning about teaching mathematics simultaneously. Their stance was to learn to teach and not learning to learn and teach. Some students mentioned the fact that they don't find any instance to ask epistemological questions. Major hurdle in developing cognitive flexibility is the attitude of teacher educators as well as student teachers. They think that we as teachers of mathematics are there to develop convergent thinking (certainty) and not divergent thinking (uncertainty). Thus getting final correct answer using a particular method or procedure is their sole aim of teaching mathematics.

# What if Socrates uses Mathlets?

# Perihan Sen

Private Oguzkaan Lycee, Istanbul, Turkey

# Özlem Çeziktürk

Bogazici University, Istanbul, Turkey

#### Introduction

Any educational design would be beneficial as long as it could associate the technology and the teaching way of an old man who still guides us in many respects. On the one hand, we have Socrates (469-388 B.C.) the head of critical thought, brainstorming, creativity, in other words dialectic. On the other hand, we have java applets, the so called mathlets, which enable the unseen to be seen. It may seem as a conflict to search for linkages between the teaching method of an ancient philosopher and a new way of technology integration into mathematics education. However, this study aims to use Socratic questioning or in other words, the power of recollection for the students to analyze mathlets with indepth mathematical reasoning.

#### **Theoretical framework**

Socrates brought into attention the term "dialectic", or "question-answer". He referred to this method as the only admissible method of education, which is no matter of mere conjecture. According to Socrates, while all opinions are equally true, one opinion is better than

#### Trends in Mathematics Education Research

the other and wise man is the one who by arguments causes good opinions to take the place of the bad ones, thus reforming the soul of the individual or the laws of a state by a process similar to that of a physician or the farmer.

Socrates believed that human beings had all the answers to all of the questions if only they knew how to ask the right question. In education, we have been using his ideas in so called Socratic Method and teachers were guiding students to find the answers within. Socratic Method has been used two folded both as a seminar to reach many students at once and as a one to one dialectic between teacher and the student.

Recently, mathlets gained importance due to their potential in their capability of giving students a sense of first hand experience of mathematical inquiry. A mathlet is a small scale interactive learning environment which is designed to address key ideas in science and mathematics (Confrey et al, 1998). They are compact, free to use, easy to find, and easy to use since they do not require any programming language knowledge.

Mathlets have the capability of introducing multiple, mostly dynamic representations of the same topic in mathematics. This ensures that students are able to see and observe the effect of different parameter changes and dynamic visualization. Socrates was a man who was surely ahead of his time and if he lived we believe that he would conjecture the possibility of usage of his ideas reflected on the image of the mathlets.

### **Research Design and Procedure**

To begin with, derivative of a given function and tangent line will be taught by the teacher as usual to the third year high school students. A pretest, which is developed by the help of the web site where the java applet is positioned, will be administered (see Fig. 1). This web site includes a set of graphics, which is given in a  $3 \times 3$  grid and each function below is the derivative of the function above. Students are required to identify with each column of the grid either the first and second derivatives of the function, the function whose derivative is the one given below or the integral function of the preceding function. This kind of activity enables students to see even the relationship between integral of a function and the derivative of a function. The graphics from this web page with the same idea of grids will establish the pretest questions.

Furthermore, students will be taken to the computer lab with their mathematics teacher. The first author of this paper is a teacher in a private school for 10 years. The subjects of the study will be drawn out of the original set of students of hers from her school. In the lab section the two applets presented in the appendices of



### Figure 1. Pretest graphics

this paper; The Derivative Plotter and The Definition of the Derivative applets will be used. The teacher is preparing a lesson plan to accommodate these applets. She will use questioning in terms of Socratic dialogue and in the spirit of the Socratic seminars. Socrates believed that a teacher couldn't teach anything new to the students that they didn't know already. Hence, the questioning of the teacher will employ the idea of recollection.

As Richard (1993) mentioned once, the role of the skilled teacher/facilitator is to keep the "inquiry train on track," but, also, to allow the students to "travel to a viable destination" of their own design. This way of thinking clearly could be seen via Socrates himself "I shall only ask him, and not teach him, and he shall share the enquiry with me: and do you watch and see if you find me telling or explaining anything to him, instead of eliciting his opinion." within his conservations with Meno. Meno was a slave to whom Socrates used the first examples of a Socratic dialogue while teaching geometry to him. Our set of questions will be prepared keeping these example questions in view. This way, it is hoped that the students would manipulate java applets (mathlets) in a more enriching and productive manner and they could get the use these mathlets in a much productive way possible.

Finally, a parallel version of the pretest will be given to the students as a posttest. Then the students who will demonstrate unique ways of thinking with applets (those who got higher scores from the posttest and those who were identified as advanced mathematical thinkers by their teacher) will be interviewed to analyze their thinking with applets after the use of Socratic dialogue. In this interview protocol, unstructured interview protocol will be used to see and identify the possible effects of Socratic dialogue on students' thinking with applets. Here, students' self report will be adequate.

### **Findings and Analysis**

It is conjectured that not only will the students take the responsibility for their own understanding but also they

will master how to ask the right questions to get to the thoughtful answers. Their metacognitive abilities could be heightened and they could use this ability while learning other topics in mathematics.

Findings will be analyzed in terms of thinking processes and reasoning skills with both the topic at hand and also with the mathlets mentioned. A triangulation of the data from both quantitative gain scores and from the qualitative interview results will be carried out.

### References

Chong, K., Lin, M. & Chen, S. (1998) Application of the Socratic Dialogue on corrective learning of sub-traction., *Computers and Education*, 31, 1, 98, 55-68.

Koellner- Clark, K., Stallings, L. L. & Hoover, S. A. (2002) Socratic seminars for mathematics. *The Mathematics Teacher*, 95, 9, 682.

Richard, P. (1993) *Critical Thinking: How to Prepare Students for a Rapidly Changing World,* The Foundation For Critical Thinking, Santa Rosa, CA.

Tanner, M. L. & Casados, L. (1998) Promoting and studying discussions in math classes, *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, 41, 5, 342-351.

Appendix 1. Derivative Plotter



http://www.joma.org/images/upload\_library/4/vol4/ kaskosz/derapp.html

Appendix 2: On the definition of the derivative



http://www.univie.ac.at/future.media/moe/galerie/ diff1/diff1.html

# A View on Active Learning in Mathematics through Historical Context

#### **Oleksiy Yevdokimov**

Kharkov State Pedagogical University, Kharkov, Ukraine

In recent times there was a consensus that students should learn through inquiry and through the construction of their own mathematics (Davis, 1991; Harel & Papert, 1990; NCTM, 1989). The same situation remains nowadays. The view of the learner has changed from that of a passive recipient of knowledge to that of an active constructor of knowledge. We take into account that current learning perspectives incorporate three important assumptions (Anthony, 1996): learning is a process of knowledge construction, not of knowledge recording or absorption;

learning is knowledge-dependent; people use current knowledge to construct new knowledge;

the learner is aware of the processes of cognition and can control and regulate them.

From a constructivist perspective it is easier for a student, under appropriate arrangement of teaching, to act as an architect, to reveal the truth and construct new knowledge, than to learn ready-made knowledge without understanding its origin, meaning and interrelations. In other words, "learning is a process of construction in which the students themselves have to be the primary actors" (von Glasersfeld, 1995).

At the same time, using history of mathematics is most naturally integrated in active learning processes. (By learning activities of students we mean their investigational work, problem solving, small group work, collaborative learning and experiential learning.) While solving a certain problem, every student has been proposed to investigate "mathematical situation" of it with his/her own priorities for further inquiry of that problem. Like Brown and Walter (1990), we consider "situation", an issue, which is a localized area of inquiry with features that can be taken as given or challenged and modified, but with its neighbourhood in historical-mathematical sense: when a certain problem was posed for the first time, who was the author, whether that author proved/solved a problem on his/her own, who of other mathematicians was interested in it, for what reasons, how long a problem was an unsolved one, etc (Yevdokimov, 2004).

We would like to consider the possibility of using principles of active learning in teaching mathematics through such historical context. The aim of our research was to show that students can learn effectively through appropriately designed historical environment. It is important to note that we did want neither stimulate students' using ICT support (e.g. dynamic geometry environment) nor restrict them in it. However, our choice was not taken by chance. Focusing students' attention on historical context of mathematical content we would like, on the one hand, to contribute that students' imagination would be absorbed in that time, when certain property was revealed or certain concept was proposed by mathematicians, from Ancient World to nowadays. On the other hand, we would like to develop students' abilities to analyze mathematical content from today's point of view and perceive evolutionary development of mathematical concepts and different properties throughout the centuries.

We proposed a flexible structure of units for active learning geometry supported with materials from the history of mathematics. Every unit consisted of three parts: preliminary, basic and advanced ones. In the preliminary part of every unit tasks were given in the usual form:

# "Prove the following property for mathematical object X".

In the basic part of every unit most of the tasks were given in the inquiry form:

"What are the properties for mathematical object Y"?

And in the advanced part of every unit most of the tasks were given in the generalised inquiry form:

*"Find properties of something"* (without indication of a mathematical object, but concerning given "mathematical situation").

Flexibility of the units was provided with numerous links between tasks and materials of different units and easy transition from one unit to another without strict instruction in learning, i.e. unit-by unit. The main mission for teachers involved in research was their assisting students in discovering any property, which should be done by the students themselves.

The key question of students' inquiry work in all parts of the unit was the following: where, when and for what of mathematical objects a student would apply a certain mathematical property for proving and solving and whether it would be necessary to apply that property generally in that case. This question is connected with an *Active Fund of Knowledge of a Student* (AFKS) in the given area of mathematics. As AFKS we called student's understanding of definitions and properties for some mathematical objects of that domain and skills to use that knowledge (Yevdokimov, 2003).

We would like to emphasize that historical context in active learning of mathematics has invaluable importance. In our opinion, it is really an effective way – to learn and teach new mathematical content through historical context. Moreover, we found out that active learning of a certain area of mathematics through historical context enriches AFKS in the same area of mathematics and contributes to development of creative thinking of students.

### References

Anthony, G. (1996). Active learning in a constructivist framework. *Educational studies in mathematics*, 31, 349-369.

Brown, S. I. and Walter, M. I. (1990). *Problem Posing*. Lawrence Erlbaum: Hillsdale NJ.

Davis, R. (1991). Constructivist views on the teaching and learning of mathematics. *Journal for Research in Mathematics Education*, Monograph 4, National Council of Teachers of Mathematics.

Harel, I. and Papert, S. (1990). Software Design as a Learning Environment. *Interactive Learning Environments*, 1(1), 1-33.

National Council of Teachers of Mathematics. (1989). *Curriculum and Evaluation Standards for School Mathematics*. Reston, VA: NCTM.

von Glasersfeld, E. (1995). Learning Mathematics:
Constructivist and interactionist theories of mathematical development, Review of the book *Learning Mathematics: Constructivist and Interactionist Theories of Mathematical Development*, P. Cobb (Ed.), in *Zentralblatt fur Didaktik der Mathematik*, 4, 120-122.

Yevdokimov, O. (2003). Intuitive proofs as a tool for development of student's creative abilities while solv-

ing and proving, in N.A.Pateman, B.J.Dougherty and J.T.Zilliox (Eds) *Proceedings of the 2003 Joint Meeting of PME and PMENA*, USA, Vol.1, 264.

Yevdokimov, O. (2004). Using materials from the history of mathematics in discovery-based learning, *Proceedings of the History and Pedagogy of Mathematics CME-10 Satellite Meeting*, Sweden, 457-465.

# **Transparent Objects and Processes in Learning Mathematics**

#### **Orit Zaslavsky**

Technion - Israel Institute of Technology, Haifa, Israel

This paper examines the notion of transparency in learning and understanding mathematics. The notion of transparency may be associated with mathematical objects as well as thought processes. It carries two related meanings: Seeing-through and being visible. It has been addressed with respect to learning mathematics in a number of different contexts. In dealing with the roles and nature of mathematical examples, Mason & Pimm (1982) discuss the idea of a generic example, which basically is a specific example that conveys a more general case. That is, a generic example is transparent to a general case. The authors (ibid) suggest that often students fail to see in an example what the teacher had in mind. In particular, a generic example that is meant to demonstrate a general case or principle may be perceived by the students as a specific instance, overlooking its generality. When this is the situation, we consider the example to be non-transparent (or opaque) to the learner. Movshovitz-Hadar's (2002) approach to transparent proofs can be viewed as an extension of this kind of transparency. A transparent proof, according to Movshovitz-Hadar (ibid), is a proof of a particular case that is "small enough to serve as a concrete example, yet large enough to be considered a non-specific representative of the general case. One can see the general proof through it because nothing specific of the case enters the proof".

In the context of generating counter-examples Peled and Zaslavsky (1997) distinguish between counter-examples that only disprove a statement, and those that also reflect an explanatory feature regarding how it was generated and why it, in fact, refutes the statement. The latter can be seen as *transparent counterexamples*. Another aspect of transparency in mathematics education is related to thought processes. More specifically, to the extent to which teachers' authentic mathematical thought processes are made transparent to the learners. Schoenfeld (1983) raises this point in the following excerpt:

"Part of the difficulty in teaching mathematical thinking skills is that we've gotten so good at them (especially when we teach elementary mathematics) that we don't have to think about them; we just do them, automatically. We know the right way to approach most of the problems that will come up in class. But the students don't, and simply showing them the right way doesn't help them avoid all the wrong approaches they might try themselves. For that reason we have to unravel some of our thinking, so that they can follow it." (ibid, p. 8).

In this sense, unraveling one's thinking is actually making it a *transparent process* to the learner.

The above discussion of the notion of transparency focuses on its meaning in terms of seeing-through. We also consider transparent objects and properties in terms of being visible. The proposed presentation will elaborate on the notion of transparency in mathematics education, and adopt it to examine a number of studies in which the extent to which an object or process is transparent plays a role in mathematical understanding.

Among the examples that will be presented are the following:

*Transparent algorithms:* There are several deep mathematical principles that are embedded in the basic arithmetic algorithms. Apprently, the algorithms are not

#### Trends in Mathematics Education Research

equally transparent to each principle. For example, the long division algorithm, is highly transparent to the notion of periodicity, however, it is rather opaque to the place value principle. Empirical data that was collected indicate that these differences may account for some limitations and strengths in understanding this algorithm and carrying it out correctly (Zaslavsky, 2003).

*Transparent definitions:* In a study that aimed at identifying students' and teachers' conceptions of a mathematical definition, Shir and Zaslavsky (2002) found that the participants were reluctant to accept definitions of geometric figures based on their latent parts (e.g., a diagonal of a quadrilateral). This phenomenon is explained by the tendency to consider an element as part of a figure only if it is visible. That is, there is an expectation that the connection between parts of a figure and the figure itself needs to be transparent;

*Transparent features:* In sorting tasks that were given to mathematics teachers as group assignments, it was found that visible features of mathematrical objects were dominant in the sorting criteria, while more deep structured ones that were not transparent, were either not identified or were used at a later stage (Zaslavsky & Leikin, 2004).

Transparent problem solving processes: In an attempt to characterize a special learning environment that evolved within a project, the goal of which was to provide after-school mathematics tutorial sessions by engineers in an informal setting, some distinctive elements that enhanced students learning were identified (Zodik & Zaslavsky, 2004). One of the most salient characteristic that was identified in the engineer's tutoring was the way in which he made his thinking transparent to his students. He unraveled his thought processes by sharing with them each step, including his doubts and barriers in an apprenticeship like manner. He felt comfortable to turn to them for help when he felt stuck. This in return allowed them to become true contributing participants, leading to the emergence of a community engaging in collaborative problem solving activities.

To summarize, the claim that there is a strong connection between the extent to which an object or process are transparent to the learner and the understanding s/he develops, will be supported by findings from a number of studies.

#### References

Mason, J., & Pimm, D. (1984). Generic examples: seeing the general in the Particular. *Educational Studies in Mathematics*, 15, 227-289.

Movshovitz-Hadar, N. (2002): *The "Because for example…" Phenomenon, or Transparent Pseudo-Proofs Revisited.* Paper presentation at the International Congress of Mathematicians, Beijing, China.

Peled, I., & Zaslavsky, O. (1997). Counter-example that (only) prove and Counter-example that (also) explain. *FOCUS on Learning Problems in mathematics, 19*(3), 49 – 61.

Schoenfeld, A. H. (1983). *Problem Solving in the Mathematics Curriculum*. The Mathematical Association of America, Committee on the Undergraduate Program in Mathematics (MAA Notes, No. 1).

Shir, K. & Zaslavsky, O. (2002). Students' Conceptions of an Acceptable Geometric Definition. In A. D. Cockburn & E. Nardi (Eds.), Proceedings of the 26<sup>th</sup> Conference of the International Group for the Psychology of Mathematics Education, v.4, 201-208.

Zaslavsky, O. (2003). On Teaching and Learning Algorithms – the Case of Long Division. "Number Power" – *The (Israeli) Elementary School Mathematics Journal*, No. 6, 38-43, in Hebrew (published by the National Center for Preschool and Elementary Teachers of Mathematics).

Zodik, I. & Zaslavsky, O. (2004). Characteristics of Mathematical Problem Solving Tutoring in an Informal Setting. *Proceedings of the 28th Conference of the International Group for the Psychology of Mathematics Education*.

Zaslavsky, O. & Leikin, R. (2004). Professional Development of Mathematics Teacher-Educators: Growth through Practice. *Journal of Mathematics Teacher Education*, 7(1), 5-32.

# **Cross-cultural Research in Learning Hurdles in Science and Mathematics**

Sudhakar C. Agarkar

Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education, TIFR, Mumbai, India

Science and mathematics are taught as core subjects in school education all over the world. Taking into account recent scientific and technological advancements school curricula prescribed for these subjects have been modified considerably. Systematic efforts are being made in many countries to teach both these disciplines on a compulsory basis to all the students up to school leaving stage. This expectation is not easy to achieve if one wants to ensure that the teaching should go beyond scientific and mathematical literacy. School students face a variety of difficulties in comprehending and applying concepts in science and mathematics. A systematic research study to understand these difficulties and deliberate efforts to design appropriate remedial programme would enable us to teach these subjects effectively.

Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education (HBCSE), a national centre of the Tata Institute of Fundamental Research (TIFR) for science and mathematics education, has been engaged in understanding learning hurdles faced by the first generation learners. Since its inception in 1974 HBCSE has undertaken projects both in urban as well as in rural areas to understand students' learning difficulties. Based on this understanding it has embarked on developing suitable methods/ materials to facilitate learning of science and mathematics. Among others things learning difficulties are found to arise out of socio-cultural deprivation, linguistic underdevelopment and lack of educational opportunities. Negative attitude of students toward these subjects supported by irrelevance of school content to daily lives add to the poor scholastic performance of students. When field-tested the remedial measures designed to overcome these hurdles were found to be quite effective. All the student-batches that underwent remedial instructional programme showed significant improvement in students' performance at the school leaving public examinations.

A programme was undertaken in rural secondary schools of the state of Maharashtra to test the utility of Remedial Instructional Strategy on a large scale. It was found that teacher training supported by follow-up activities and print material can equip the practising teacher to implement this strategy in a typical rural school. It remained to be seen if the strategy developed at HBCSE can be used in different cultural settings. This issue could be settled only if one finds that learning problems faced by the students from different cultures are qualitatively the same. It is with the purpose of understanding universal as well as culture specific problems across-cultural study was undertaken. It aimed at comparing learning difficulties faced by students from two different cultures.

The cross-cultural study was conducted taking samples form the schools in India and United Kingdom. Indian sample was chosen from schools in Mumbai and Vadodara. Both are industrial towns with metropolitan populations. The UK sample was chosen from schools in Milton Keynes, Luton and Bedford. All these towns are located in the central part of England and have multicultural population. In order to collect relevant data questionnaires were designed for students, their teachers and parents. A questionnaire for students sought their opinions about the areas of difficulty they face in studying science and mathematics, their attitudes towards these disciplines, the nature of help they get from their parents, their interests to pursue professions based on these disciplines, etc. A separate questionnaire was prepared for science and for mathematics teachers. These questionnaires attempted to know teachers' opinion regarding the underachievement of their students, nature of difficulties faced by students, their own viewpoints about the importance of these disciplines, plausible ways of improving the situation, etc. Similarly, the questionnaire for the parents sought their opinions about the importance of these disciplines in school education, their viewpoints about the roles these subjects play in the building students' personality, their use in day to day lives of their wards, etc.

The student-questionnaire was administered to students studying in grade 7 of the chosen schools. Their teachers were requested to complete the questionnaire meant for them. The students who took the questionnaire were requested to take parents' questionnaires home and get them filled from them. The analysis of the data reveals that the problem areas lie both in cognitive as well as in affective domains. As seen in the earlier studies of HBCSE the problems in concept formation arise mainly out of cultural deprivation, indifference towards these disciplines and lack of learning prerequisites. Students from different cultures display different beliefs and attitudes. Teachers' from different cultures also have different views on the underperformance of their students. Similarly, there is a significant difference in the ways parents from different cultures look at the scholastic performance of their wards. Nevertheless, there are a few common difficulties faced by students from both the cultures. These difficulties can be called as universal problems. One can thus design common methods and materials to overcome universal problems so that students' scholastic attainment in these disciplines is enhanced. Some hurdles are bound to be culture specific. The remedial instructional strategy has to take into account those differences and provide for suitable inputs to students, teachers and parents.

The cross cultural study discussed in the paper throws light on the universal as well as culture specific learning difficulties faced by the school students in mastering the disciplines of science and mathematics. They could certainly be overcome by modifying teacher-pupil interaction in the classroom. Such a change could be brought about through teacher training programmes. The study provides concrete guidelines for the in-service training of practising teachers. It also suggests inputs to be given to parents to utilise students' spare time fruitfully. The proposed presentation will outline the design of the study, method of data analysis and salient findings of the study along with their global implications. [The author wishes to acknowledge the help received from the colleagues at Centre for Curriculum and Teaching Studies (CATS), Open University, Milton Keynes, UK and Centre for Advanced Study in Education (CASE), University of Baroda, Vadodra, India in the development of the questionnaire, data collection and data analysis of the crosscultural study.]

# For a "Village" Involvement: Social Representations on Pluricultural School Community Actors

#### **Nicole Carignan** University of Quebec at Montreal, Montreal, Canada

# **Roland G. Pourdavood**

Cleveland State University, Ohio, USA

#### Lonnie C. King

University of Port Elizabeth, Port Elizabeth, South Africa

According to a West-African proverb, it takes the involvement of a village to raise a child. The meaning of "village" refers to the necessity of the engagement of all members of the community around the school for the benefit of all children/students. In this paper, we explore what are the social representations of school actors in a R-7 primary school previously demarcated as "Coloured" school. This school is located in an urban area of the province of Eastern Cape in South Africa.

### **Objectives and significance of the Study**

The study aims to identify the social representations about school community actors. For an efficient school we need to develop reciprocal understanding and a better communication among school actors in a perspective of intercultural education (Stonier, 1998; Sleeter & Grant, 1994).

#### **Theoretical Framework**

The notions of parental involvement and of social representations are crucial to this analysis. It seems, based on literature and experiences, that parents from diverse sociocultural and ethnic backgrounds interpret differently what **parental involvement** means. All parents seem to agree that it is their responsibility to provide their children with a supportive environment. However, there is disagreement about what constitutes such an environment and what family and school obligations are. Many parents believe that this unwanted participation can create "interference and disrespect. Some parents believe that teachers and administrators are fully capable of educating their children and that they have the sole responsibility" (Simich-Dudgeon, 1993:192) of doing that. In order to understand what parental involvement means, we suggest to look closer at the notion of **social representations**. According to Martin Sanchez (2000) and Jodelet (1991), representations are transmitted, socially shared and built through experiences, knowledge, and ways of thinking that can be "out there" or learned. Social representations aim to organize practices, actions, and ways of communicating (Rouquette, 1999; Doise, 1990). In summary, a social representation is related to "what" are the most important things (acceptable attitudes, opinions, and behaviours). It is also related to "how" an individual or a group is able to decode, think and comprehend what happens in the daily life in a specific social and cultural context, and "why" actions can be justified.

#### **Research Design and Procedure**

This qualitative approach implies the analysis of explicit and implicit content of multilayers of social representations (Deslauriers, 1991; L...cuyer, 1988). Starting in January 2004, our data collection procedure consisted of two phases. The first phase began mid-January and ended mid-February. The purpose of this phase was to design a research framework, establishing a timeline, sharing our intentions with the school community, selecting participants, and clarifying the role of the research team members. The second phase, which includes questionnaires as well as conducting interviews and mathematics classroom observations, started in mid-February and continued through mid-April. During this phase, the principal, the deputy principal, seven teachers, six students, and four parents were involved. Questionnaires were given first to the principal and/or head of the department for intermediate phase who helped us to contact students, parents and teachers. The selection of our participants is based on their willingness to participate in the research, their capability to articulate their thoughts, and the diversity of their sociocultural background. Though the administrators of the school tried to fulfil our request, we were conscious about the fact that we did not select the student participants directly, which constitutes a limitation.

Even though all the students were instructed in English, we allowed them the choice to express their opinions in the language in which they felt more comfortable. All students chose their home language, except one boy who started in English and after a while asked us to switch to Afrikaans, his home language. Also, a parent switched back and forth during the interview. We were sensitive about the representativity of the participants in terms of gender (as many males as females) as well as in terms of socioeconomic status of the family. In order to preserve anonymity we referred to pseudonyms.

Upon the completion of the questionnaires, our data collection includes 30-60 minute interviews. All interviews were audiotaped, and a professional transcribed and translated from Afrikaans into English when it was necessary. The research team consulted school documents and the field notes that they used during classroom observations. Both data collection and data analysis occurred simultaneously during the course of the study. Constant comparative data analysis was used (Lincoln & Guba, 1994). Emerging categories were developed from participants. These categories describe the social representations on parental involvement.

Our model of explicit and implicit content analysis focuses on multilayers of social representations. It implies the description of characteristics of the participants' social representations about something they believe, imagine is true, and see as evident. Because our methodology is grounded in data collected from questionnaires and interviews, we let themes emerge from the participants' answers and we considered recurrent words that grounded theory studies individuals, groups, cultures, and society from an inside (emic) perspective. characteristics of the participants' social representations that emerged from what they believed, imagined was true, assumed without re-questioning, and saw as evident.

#### Findings

The findings of the study suggest that all parents have something to offer and they can help parents to develop self-esteem and confidence. Although parents from diverse backgrounds interpreted differently what parental involvement meant, all parents agreed that it is their responsibility to provide their children with a supportive environment. It was clear that parents wanted to be involved and educators thought that parent involvement was important. Parents, teachers and administrators of the school community pointed out the necessity of working together in order to afford all children the best education. In this sense, the school that we studied was exemplary. The school administration and staff believed the climate of their school was conducive to learning for children and educating the community.

Social representations on parental involvement may provide a wider and more inclusive definition for knowledge representation. It may include not only priorities of the school, but also priorities of the society where the people live and where the institutions serve them for the benefit of all children/students. This is an ongoing and emerging task that implies "togetherness". Passing from a perspective about family and school involvement to an understanding about this "to-getherness" encourages us to shift towards the idea of a "village" involvement.

#### References

Deslauriers, J. P. (1991) *Recherche qualitative, guide pratique*, McGraw-Hill, Eds., Thema,

Doise, W. (1990) Les reprÈsentations sociales, In *TraitÈ de psychologie cognitive*, 3, Dunod, 111-174.

Jodelet, D. (1991) *Les reprÈsentations sociales*, Presses Universitaires de France: Paris.

L...cuyer, R. (1988) Lanalyse de contenu†: notion et Ètapes, In J. P. Deslauriers, *Les mÈthodes de la recherche qualitative*, (pp. 9-65), PUQ.

Lincoln, Y. S. & Guba, E. G. (1994) Competing Paradigms in Qualitative Research. In N. K. Denzin & Y. S. Lincoln (Eds.). (pp. 105-117). *Handbook of qualitative research*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications. Martin Sanchez, M. -O. (2000) Concept de reprÈsentation sociale. <u>http://www.serpsy.org/forma-tion debat/marieodile\_5.html</u>

Rouquette, M.-L. (2000) ReprÈsentations et pratiques sociales : une analyse thÈorique. In C. Garnier et M.-L. Rouquette (eds.). *ReprÈsentations sociales et Èducation*. (pp. 133-142)

Simich-Dudgeon, C. (1993) Increasing student achievement through teacher knowledge about parent involvement. In Chavkin, N. F. *Families and schools in a pluralistic society*, (pp. 189-203). State University of New York Press, State University Plaza, Albany, N.Y.

Sleeter, C. E. & Grant, C. A. (1994) Making choices for multicultural education: five approaches to race, class, and gender. New York:Macmillan Publishing Company.

Stonier, J. (1998) Breaking Out of a Separatist Paradigm: Intercultural Education in South Africa. In Cushner, K. *International Perspectives on Intercultural Education*, (pp. 210-236). Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Publishers, Mahwah, New Jersey, London.

# Epistemological Stances Towards Knowledge in School Science and the Cultural Context of India

#### **Ravinder Koul**

Pennsylvania State University, Great Valley, USA

# Background

The declining student enrollment in sciences is a matter of serious concern for educators (Osborne, 2003). In attempts to remedy this problem, researchers have investigated and identified a list of factors that can influence positive attitudes towards school science which include religious affiliation, gender, personality, social structure, school, curriculum, teacher, classroom learning environment, etc (Schibeci, 1984; Simpson & Oliver, 1990; Myers & Fouts, 1992; Talton & Simpson, 1987). Studies in USA and Canada, for example, have shown that many students with deeply held religious values and beliefs have negative attitudes towards school science and experience difficulties in learning science or choosing a science career (e.g., Roth and Alexander, 1997; Ebbenshade, 1993). Ebbenshade (1993) found that of 121 high school students enrolled in a summer course on religion and science, 56% of boys and 43% of girls reported that they had "very strongly" or "often" considered a scientific career. Of these students, 28% stated that their religious faith would interfer with that choice.

Researchers have reported attitudinal differences towards science without investigating the underlying habits of mind. For example, does a belief in religious authority predict a propensity to dismiss scientific evidence? Does this belief promote negative attitudes towards school science? Is open-mindedness unique to science? To religion? Is it an aspect of both? Good (2001) argues that open-mindedness, the habit of mind so essential to scientific pursuits, always conflicts with religious faith in the authority of scriptures and religious leaders. Gauld (2003), on the other hand, argues that developing a respect for evidence, empirical or otherwise, is common to both "good" scientific and religious outlook. As yet, no study has examined what students of different orientations and habits of mind report as the social and psychological benefits of religion and school science. Better understanding of scientific and religious habits of mind might help to identify the sources of positive and negative attitudes towards religion and school science.

This study investigated relationship between religious orientation and attitudes towards religion and school science among high school students from a Himalayan region of India. The results of t-tests and multiple regressions reveal that the attitudes of these students were influenced by patterns of outlook common to both religious and scientific habits of mind. Self-fulfilling prophecy, cognitive need for explanation, and belief in authority are the patterns of outlook identified in this study. Each of the three thought patterns effected both positive and negative attitude towards religion and school science.

### Method

#### Data source

Data was collected from eleventh and twelfth grade students (420 males and 614 females) in the predominately Hindu district of Chamba, Himachal Pradesh, India. More than 96% of respondents were from tribal (Gaddis, the nomadic shepherds of Chamba Valley) and non-tribal Hindu populations. Eighty percent of the responses were complete.

#### Survey

Surveys were used with high school students in India. This Likert-Scale survey measured the beliefs or habits of mind about the purpose, benefits, and authority of religion and school science. The survey included Hindi translations of items from Althauser's (1990) "ultimate-instrumental scale". These items measured religious orientation in terms of *ultimate* and *instrumental* reasons for religion. An *ultimate* religious orientation focuses on the truth or content of religious beliefs, experience (reasoning), and revelation. An *instrumental* religious orientation focuses on social and psychological benefits of religion.

The items borrowed from Althauser's scale measured the effect of ultimate and instrumental orientations on the perceived benefits of religion. Other items in the survey were modified from Altemeyer and Hunsberger (1992) to measure "unquestionable faith in a fundamental, basic, and inerrant religion" or religious authoritarianism. The survey also asked if religious practices (introducing scriptures and religious prayer in schools) should be part of school curriculum. The survey measured the affirmation of statements regarding the psychological and social benefits of religion and school science and the perceptions concerning the source of authority in school science.

# Results

In this study, *self-fulfilling prophecy* was one of three thought patterns found common to both scientific and religious outlook. A majority of students affirmed positively the statements about the utilitarian value of the ideas and theories of religion and school science. However, a minority had less positive perceptions of inevitable benefits from both religion and school science.

Authoritarianism was the second thought pattern common to both scientific and religious outlook. Religious authoritarianism is characterized by an emphasis on the acceptance of dogma and rituals with unquestioning faith. Similarly, scientism is characterized by a belief in the unquestionable authority of scientists, science teachers, and science textbooks. Johnston notes that "scientism is a system of belief about the utility of scientific endeavors, a set of practices (the scientific method), prophets of old (the founding fathers of modern science), sacred places (the laboratory, the computer room), supreme loyalty and commitment to its adherents, the missionary zeal with which the proponents try to win others to win their faith in science" (Johnstone, 2004, pg. 13-14). An authoritarian outlook negatively influenced student perceptions of the benefits of religion and school science.

*Cognitive need for explanation* was the third common thought pattern to emerge in this study. This is the need to explain the "what" and "why" of daily experiences. Students, in this study, perceived both science and religion as beneficial in answering the need to explain natural events in the physical environment. Results show a strongly positive association between cognitive need for religious explanation and perceived benefits of school sciences.

It might seem that the strong religious orientations among the majority of students would correlate with positive support for religious practices in schools (teaching scriptures and holding religious prayer in schools). However, statistically there was no significant association in this study between an ultimate religious orientation and student support for religious practices in schools. The religious intent of students was found to be a separate dimension from support for holding prayer or introducing scriptures in schools. There was an association between an instrumental religious orientation and support for religious practices in school, but it was very weak. While the study was not designed to capture conflicts in the religious and scientific outlooks (e.g., between cognitive needs for scientific and religious explanations), an authoritarian habit of mind among some students was found to have a significant

#### Cultural Issues in STME-

effect on their less positive perceptions of *both* religion and school science.

The results from this study indicate that positive and negative attitudes towards science and religion are more likely to be characteristics of general habits of mind, and are not limited to any domain of knowledge. Both scientism ('science as a form of religion') and 'religious authoritarianism' ('religion as a form of science') reflect such common habits of mind. Science educators have a major concern for the development of habits of mind that promote inquiry (e.g., Toulmin, Rieke, & Janik, 1979; Nagel, 1979). Future research could investigate the positive and negative influence of curriculum, teacher and classroom learning environment on specific thought patterns identified in this study.

### References

Aikenhead, G. (2000) *Integrating western and aboriginal science: Toward a bi-cultural pedagogy*. Paper presented at the annual Meeting of American Education Research Association, New Orleans.

Althauser, R. P. (1990) Paradox in popular religion: The limits of instrumental faith. *Social Forces*, *69*(2), 585-602.

Altemeyer, B., & Hunsberger, B. (1992) Authoritarianism, religious undamentalism, quest and prejudice. *The International Journal of the Psychology of Religion*, 2(2), 113-133.

Carey, S., & Smith, C. (1993) On understanding the nature of scientific knowledge. *Educational Psychologist*, *28(3)*, 235-251.

Cobern, W. W. (1996) Worldview theory and conceptual change in science education. *Science Education*, *80*(5), 579-610.

Driver, R., Leach, J., Millar, R., & Scott, P. (1996): *Young people's images of science*\_Buckingham: Open University Press.

Ebbenshade, D. (1993) Student perceptions about science and religion. *The American Biology Teacher*, 55(6), 334-338.

Field, A. (2000) *Discovering statistics using SPSS for windows*. Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications.

Gauld, C. (2003) Habits of mind, scholarship and decision-making in science and religion. Paper presented at the 7<sup>th</sup> International Conference of History, Philosophy and Sociology of Science and Science Teaching, Winnipeg, Canada.

Good, R. (2001) Habits of mind associated with science and religion: Implications for Science Education. Paper presented at the 6<sup>th</sup> International Conference of History, Philosophy and Sociology of Science and Science Teaching, Denver, USA.

Johnstone, R. L. (2004) *Religion in society: A sociology of religion*. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Prentice Hall.

Kemp, A. C. (2000) Scientific literacy for all: Rationales and realities. Paper presented at American Education Research Association, Washington, DC.

Koul, R. (2003) Revivalist thinking and student conceptualizations of science/religion. *Studies in Science Education*, *39*, 103-124.

Lawson, A.E. (2001) Sound and faulty arguments generated by preservice biology teachers when testing hypotheses involving unobservable entities. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, *39*(3), 237-252.

Merton, R. K. (1968) *Sociology and social structure*. New York: Free Press.

Osborne, J. (2003) Attitudes towards science: A review of the literature and its implications. *International Journal of Science Education*, 25(9), 1049-1079.

Roth, W. M., & Alexander, T. (1997) The interaction of students' scientific and religious discourses: Two case studies. *International Journal of Science Education*, *19*(2), 125-146.

Rudolph, J.L., & Stewart J. (1998) Evolution and the nature of science: On the historical discord and its implications for education. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, *35*(10). 1069-1089.

Schibeci, R. A. (1984) Attitudes to science: an update. *Studies in Science Education*, *11*, 26-59.

Simpson, R. D., & Oliver, J. S. (1990) A summary of the major influences on attitude toward and achievement in science among adolescent students. *Science Education*, 74, 1-18.

Myers, R. E. & Fouts, J. T. (1992) A cluster analysis of high school science classroom environments and attitude toward science. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, *29*, 929-937.

Nagel, E. (1979) *The structure of science: Problems in the logic of scientific explanation*. Indianapolis: Hackett.

Talton, E. L., & Simpson, R. D. (1987) Relationship of attitude towards classroom environment with attitudes toward and achievement in science among tenth grade biology students. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching, 24*, 507-525.

Toulmin, S., Rieke, R., & Janik, A. (1979) *An introduction to reasoning*. New York: McMillan Publishing.

# **Primary Teachers' Views of Science and Culture Nexus**

Christiana N. Omoifo

University of Benin, Benin City, Nigeria

A cultural perspective on science education views teaching as cultural transmission (Spindler, 1987; Wolcott, 1991). Science itself is viewed as a subculture of Western or Euro-American culture (Jegede, 1995; Maddock, 1981; Pickering, 1992; Ogawa, 1986; Pomeroy, 1994), and so "Western science" can also be called "subculture of science", because science tends to be a Western cultural icon of prestige, power, and progress. Its subculture permeates the culture of those who engage in it (Baker and Taylor, 1995; Hodson, 1993; Jegede and Okebukola, 1990, 1991; MacIvor, 1995; Ogawa, 1995; Pomeroy, 1994; Swift, 1992). This is known as acculturation and can threaten indigenous cultures, thereby causing Western science to be seen as a hegemonic icon of cultural imperialism (Battiste, 1986; Ermine, 1995; Maddock, 1981; Simonelli, 1994). Closely aligned with Western science is school science, whose main goal has been cultural transmission of both the subculture of science (Cobern, 1991; Layton et al., 1993; Maddock, 1981; Pomeroy, 1994) and the dominant culture of a country (Archibald, 1995; Krugly-Smolska, 1995; Stanley and Brickhouse, 1994). If science teachers are not aware of the cultural aspects of Western science, and are not aware of the differences between science and cultures, then they will not make good culture brokers and the science curriculum will be less accessible to their students. As a result, fewer students will succeed in science. There is the need, therefore, to find out what teachers have already understood about science and culture. This study is aimed to document primary science teachers' current views about culture and Western science, the interaction between culture and Western science and possible influence on participants learning and professional practice.

To carry out this investigation, thirty-four science teachers, registered for the part time teacher education programme, at the University of Benin (2002 contact session) were used. Sixteen (47.06%) of the participants were males while 18 or 52.94% were females. Candidates represented six ethnic groups in the southern part of Nigeria. A majority of the participants had taught for a period ranging from 5 to 20 years. Teachers all teach primary science but were admitted to read integrated science (a core subject at the primary and junior secondary levels of education in Nigeria) and computer science education. Students in addition had taken a one-semester course in integrated curriculum.

The instrument used for data collection was the 'Science and Culture Nexus Survey instrument originally developed by an international team O J. Jegede (Nigeria/Australia), G. Aikenhead (Canada), M. Ogunniyi (Nigeria/South Africa), and W. Cobern (United States). Section A is on bio-data and Section B consisted of five groups of questions: 'About science', 'Science and Culture', 'Science and Everyday Common Knowledge', 'Culture' and 'Teaching and Learning Science'. The items are linked in nature with 5 responses. The instrument was found to have alpha coefficient reliability of 0.64. The questionnaire was administered by this investigator during her normal class period with the students. The student teachers responded to the questionnaire and returned it within an hour. Data collected were analysed using mainly percentages.

#### Results

• Majority of teachers (more than 50%) agreed with the views of science expressed in the instrument except for two items (that technology does not need to have scientific bases and that technology can advance on its own know-how. This result is an indication of the teachers views of the importance of science for technological development of a Nation. However only few (11.8%) agreed that every occurrence in nature has a scientific explanation. This may be an indication of the teachers' strong view of culture.

• On science and culture, majority of the teachers disagreed with the views expressed on the instrument. Only 38.2% agreed that a person can integrate science with spirituality. This may be an indication that teachers view science and culture as separate existence. In addition 52.9% of the teachers agreed that science alienates one from his or her culture and 73.5% that science helps colonization. These are views of hegemonic icon of cultural imperialism (Baptiste, 1986; Ermine, 1995; Maddock, 1994). Interestingly, however, only 23.5% of the teachers were of the view that when students learn science they are likely to lose something valuable of their own culture. From these results, teachers are likely to be cultural brokers.

• On science and everyday common knowledge, majority of teachers disagreed with the views so expressed. For example they disagreed that scientific ideas are compatible with ideas within a community. However, majority agreed that scientific explanations and every-day common knowledge of natural phenomena should always be treated as one, and that it is easy to incorporate science into one's personal views of nature. Again these results may be an indication of the ease with which teachers may be able to help their students to cross borders.

• Majority of the teachers agreed with views expressed about culture. That is to say, culture is the lifestyle of the people and totality of their identity. It is transmited from generation to generation and probably with this result should not be abandoned for western science.

• Majority of teachers disagreed with views expressed on the instrument on teaching and learning science. They disagreed that the science concepts taught in school science have no meaningful use beyond passing examinations.

• Results also showed a significant interaction effect of gender and ethnicity on teachers' perception of science and culture. There was also a significant interaction effect of gender and teaching experience on teachers' perception of teaching and science learning.

These findings have implications for science teacher preparation and consequently for science and technological growth for non-Western countries with multicultural and ethnic backgrounds.

#### Reference

Archibald, J. (1995) "Locally Developed Native Studies Curriculum: An Historical and Philosophical Rationale" In M. Battiste & J. Barman (Eds.), *First Nations education in Canada: The circle unfolds*, 288-312, Vancouver, Canada: University of British Columbia Press.

Baker, D., & Taylor, P.C.S. (1995) "The Effect of Culture on the Learning of Science in Non-western Countries: The Results of an Integrated Research Review" *International Journal of Science Education*, 17, 695-704.

Battiste, M. (1986) "Micmac Literacy and Cognitive Assimilation", In J. Barman, Y. Herbert, & D. McCaskell (Eds.), *Indian education in Canada*, Vol. 1: The legacy 23-44 Vancouver, BC: University of British Columbia Press.

Cobern, W.W. (1991) "World View Theory and Science Education Research", *National Association for Research in Science Teaching Monograph No. 3*, Manhattan, KS:

Ermine, W.J. (1995) "Aboriginal epistemology", In M.

Battiste & J. Barman (Eds.), *First Nations education in Canada: The circle unfolds*, 101-112, Vancouver, Canada: University of British Columbia Press.

Hodson, D. (1993), "In Search of a Rationale for Multicultural Science Education", *Science Education*, 77, 685-711

Jegede, O. (1995), "Collateral Learning and the Ecocultural Paradigm in Science and Mathematics Education in Africa, *Studies in Science Education*, 25, 97-137

Jegede, O.J., & Okebukola, P.A. (1990), "The Relationship between African Traditional Cosmology and Students' Acquisition of a Science Process Skill", *International Journal of Science Education*, 12(1), 37-47

Jegede, O.J., & Okebukola, P.A. (1991), "The Effect of Instruction on Socio-Cultural Beliefs Hindering the Learning of Science *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 28(3), 275-285

Krugly-Smolska, E. (1995) "Cultural Influences in Science Education" *International Journal of Science Education*, 17(1), 45-58

Layton, D., Jenkins, E., Macgill, S., and Davey, A. (1993), *Inarticulate science?* Driffield, East Yorkshire, UK: Studies in Education

MacIvor, M. (1995), Redefining Science Education for Aboriginal Students. In M. Battiste & J. Barman (Eds.), *First Nations education in Canada: The circle unfolds*, Vancouver, Canada: University of British Columbia Press, 73-98.

Maddock, M.N. (1981), "Science Education: An Anthropological Viewpoint", *Studies in Science Education*, 8, 1-26.

Ogawa, M. (1986), "Toward a New Rationale of Science Education in a Non-Western Society", *European Journal of Science Education*, 8, 113-119.

Ogawa, M. (1995), "Science Education in a Multi-Science Perspective, *Science Education*, 79, 583-593.

Pickering, A. (Ed.) (1992), *Science as practice and culture*, Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Pomeroy, D. (1994), "Science Education and Cultural Diversity: Mapping the Field", *Studies in Science Education*, 24, 49-73.

Swift, D. (1992), "Indigenous Knowledge in the Service of Science and Technology in Developing Countries", *Studies in Science Education*, 20, 1-27.

Simonelli, R. (1994), "Sustainable Science: A Look at Science Through Historic Eyes and Through the Eyes of Indigenous Peoples", *Bulletin of Science, Technology* & Society, 14(1), 1-12.

Stanley, W.B., & Brickhouse, N.W. (1994),

"Multiculturalism, Universalism, and Science Education", *Science Education*, 78, 387-398.

Spindler, G. (1987), Education and Cultural Process: Anthropological Approaches (2nd Ed.), Prospect Heights, IL: Waveland Press.

Wolcott, H.F. (1991), "Prospect and the Acquisition of Culture", *Anthropology and Education Quarterly*, 22, 251-273

# Words and Worldviews: Production of Scientific Technical Terms in Tamil as a Cultural Reconfiguration and Domestication of Modern Science.

#### T. V. Venkateswaran

Vigyan Prasar, New Delhi, India

The introduction of Modern Science into India during the middle Nineteenth Century, necessitated revision of the Tamil language so that it could effectively designate new reality domains. The issue of rendering this new knowledge form was not just a matter of mechanical translation from European languages into the 'vernacular', and the issue of rendering "science" in Tamil has be-en identified as a contentious issue. Hitherto studies on coining of technical terms in Tamil during the late colonial period were primarily focused on identifying 'correct' method for rendering Scientific Terms from English into Tamil or have tended to highlight the identity politics of those who favored 'pure' Tamil words and those who accepted Sanskrit words. In contrast, the 'reality domain' that these new words aspire to designate were usually considered non-problematic. As the identity politics surrounding the root words of the new terms being coined was problematized and accentuated, the studies were blind to the cultural politics of the metaphors about the reality ingrained inside these new words. This paper attempts to show, by way of critically narrating a case study, that the coining of the new terms was not just a matter of mechanical translation from English into the vernacular (in this case) Tamil, but 'translation' was a way of reconfiguring and domesticating the new knowledge.

The paper examines the contours of the development of the technical term to denote 'chemistry' in particular 'organic chemistry' in Tamil. While Rev. Fr. Fish Green, an American missionary advocated use of words in vogue amongst Tamil speakers for scientific technical terms, he discards the use of the word '*rasayanam*' arguing that the word comes to designate 'alchemy'; 'astrology' and all such superstitious ideas of the natives. As an alternative he coins a word '*chemistham*' (transliteration of 'chemistry') though many writers, especially native authors, used the word *rasayanam* to designate chemistry.

Rajagopalachari, a political activist and Tamil scholar coins a word 'Yakkai Rasayanam' to denote 'organic chemistry'. The 'Yakkai' has 'pure' Tamil root while Rasayanam is culled from Sanskrit but of common use among Tamil people. While justifying the use of the word 'yakkai' to designate 'organic' it is possible to discern the deistic motive behind Rajagopalachari. Yakkai connotes 'organized' and alludes to 'vitalism' and 'chief organiser', that is God.

The word 'organic' designated various aspects in different historical periods. Its origin is in the word- Organ- a musical instrument. Latter the word organ was used to denote - body parts - such as eyes, hands and so on. From this usage the word 'organisms' was coined to denote things 'living and growing'. It was this sense in which the word 'organic' was dominantly used in the 18th Century. Interestingly Organic and Mechanical were congruent words till about the middle of the 20th century. Through 19th Century to about middle of 20th Century organic meant 'an object having parts which cooperate to produce a single useful result and that the separate parts having little or no value on their own'. Organic also had a connotation of either that 'which is instrumentally planned or that which is naturally evolving'.

Yet, C Rajagopalachari wishes to derive 'organic' of 'organic chemistry' forcefully from 'organized'. Was this the only option available to Rajagopalachari? The word 'organic' was translated into Tamil at different point of time variedly, but it is pertinent to note that never was 'organic' understood to be 'that is organized'; Organic rendered as 'Angkathhirkaduththa [that which belongs to parts], Karuvi pondra [things that posses tools], Urupolla [that which has parts], Indra [Mechanical instrument]. Though the word 'organic' and 'organized' in Tamil had a same root in the past in the contemporary usage they had diverged sense. Organic is not one that is necessarily 'organized' in this sense.

True the study of organic chemistry was embedded in the ideology of 'Natural Theology' in Europe during the 1850s that would have obviously influenced Rajagopalachari. But soon there was a sea change in the understanding of structure of organic chemistry. By 1865 Kekule arrived at the structure of benzene. Development of spatial chemistry during the late 19th Century and early decades of 20th Century, manufacture of synthetic dyes, and emergence of chemical industry in early decades of 20th Century "established organic chemistry on a molecular basis out of vitalism." Clearly by the 1930s organic chemistry was not embedded in 'natural theology' and 'vitalism' was certainly out within the sciences. From the point of view of language, for Rajagopalachari there were many alternative options available to trace an appropriate 'root' word for 'organic' and to coin the word for 'Organic Chemistry' in Tamil. Alternatively he could very well have considered the word 'organic chemistry' as only a pronoun (just a name) and not a description, and coined a term to this branch of Chemistry, say as 'carbon chemistry'. Or he could have treated the word 'organic' as derived from the word 'organs' or 'organisms' [in the context of chemistry] and could have rendered it has 'chemistry of living things'. Or as was the contemporary usage of the term it could have be traced to ' those which are naturally evolving', but clearly Rajagopalachari chooses the interpretation 'that which is instrumentally planned' as the 'correct' meaning of the word 'organic' and alludes to argument of design; by categorizing it as a separate type of matter that possibly have hidden hand of 'creator' behind it.

The current technical term in usage 'Karima Vediyal' (Carbon Chemistry) was suggested by Chennai Magahana Tamil Sangam in 1938 is exorcised of any reference to 'tradition' and as matter of fact is very secular. The term Karima means 'Carbon' and Vediyal means 'Chemistry'. However, the term Vediyal is a modern word coined from a root word 'Vedi' meaning 'transmute'. The verb 'Vethithal' implies transmutation of baser elements in Siddha tradition of 'alchemy'. The word Vedi also came to denote, I am told, 'Drug- esp drug used by Siddha school of medicine, derived not from plant sources but from chemical sources'. How did this secularization of coining of terms come about? Social historians posit that during 1930s there were broadly three well identified strands of ideological 'cultural politics' in Tamil Nadu. One group represented the traditional elite - largely dominated by Brahmins and consisting of elite from upper caste Hindu section were characterized by their sympathy towards 'tradition' - meaning Sanskrit traditions, and in politics advocating 'Pan Indian Nationalism'. Another group was the Tamil Vellala and non-Brahmin upper caste elite, who articulated 'Tamil identity politics' drawing inspiration from the Tamil past. Thirdly, there were the Left/self-respect movements, which not only questioned the 'past' but also 'invalidated' it. As the balance of power of the third group swelled in the public sphere during the 1940s; in the ensuing social upheaval, impact of the self-respect movement's rationalism and the left ideology geared the 'rediscovery programme' in a direction of taking it to secular plane away from the 'past tradition' or 'indigenous religion'. Rationalism was privileged in the re-discovery programme.

Language and the metaphors used in various disciplines of science generate social images, radically recast our perception of reality and suggest a possible relation and analogies. Analysis of metaphor illuminates the nature of changes in the meaning of theoretical terms, terms which are theory laden. Metaphors import social expectations into our representations of nature and by so doing they simultaneously serve to reify (or naturalize) cultural believes and practices. On the simpler and most obvious level, language gives us instruments of perception that conceptually magnify an effect; create- precisely those similarities and differences with which metaphors begin. Analyzing these debates and moves this paper argues that 'translation' was a way of reconfiguring and domesticating the new knowledge and evidently 'cultural lexicon of metaphors and images' of the recipient society are embedded in the technical terms coined.

#### References

Bernal, J. D. (1969) *Science in history*, in four vols., Penguin.

Chattopathyaya, Debiprasad (1977) *What is living and What is dead in Indian Philosophy*? Peoples' Publishing House.

Raina, D. and Habib, I. S. (1996) Bhadralok reflections on Evolution. *Social Studies of Science* 26: 9-42.

Keller, E. F. (1992) The Origin, History and Politics of the subject called 'Gender and Science'; A first person account in Jassonof et al Ed. *Handbook of Sociology of Science*. Sage.

Green, F. (1848) Chemistham (Chemistry). Jaffna

Gangopadhyaya, M. K.(1990) Philosophy in India. Navakarnataka

Nakamura, H. (1992) *A Comparative History of Ideas*. New Delhi: Mothilal Banarasidass.

Kalai Choorkal (Technical terms) in Tamil (1938) Madras Presidency. Thirunelveli: Tamil Sangam.

Kartikesu, S. (1994) 'Tamizh Samugamum Panpatin Mil Kandupitipum' (*Tamil Society and rediscovery of culture*) in Tamil. Madras: New Century Book House.

Martin, E. (1992) The Egg and the Sperm: How science has constructed a romance based on stereotypical Male-Female roles. In Keller & Longino Eds. *Feminism & Science*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Naidu, N. (1900) Krishi Sankira Sankiram.

Pandiyan, M. S. S. (1993) Denationalizing the past; nation in EV Ramasamy's political discourse. *Economic and Political Weekly* Oct 16th 1993, 2284-2286.

Chellapan, R. (1992) Ariviyal Tamil Indraya Nilai (*Status of Scientific Tamil Today*) Madras: International Institute of Tamil Studies.

Chellapan, R. (1985) Kalai Cholakam (coining technical terms) in Tamil. Madras: Naval Art Printers.

Rajagopalachari, C. (1946) Thinnai Rasayanam (Chemistry at our door steps). Madras: Tamil Pannai.

Raymonds, W. (1998) *Keywords- a vocabulary of culture and society*. Fontana Press.

Pumfrey, S. (1991) History of Science and the Renaissance Science of History in Stephen Pumfrey et.al Ed. *Science, culture and popular belief in Renaissance Europe*. Manchester University Press.

Sundaram, R. M. *Kalai Cholaka Varalaru* (History of Coining of Technical Terms) In Tamil Kalai. Vol 1, No 1.

Sundaram, R. M. and Ramanathan, Sa. Ed. (1995) *Ariviyal Tamil (Scientific Tamil)*. Karanthai Tamil Sangam.

Eagleton, T. (1989) *Raymond Williams- Critical perspectives*. Polity Press.

Venkatachalapathy, A. R. *Coining of words: Language politics in Late Colonial Tamil Nadu.* South Asia Bulletin. 120-129.

Vibulanadar (1920) *Vigyana Deepam* (light of science). Sentamil.

Brock, W. H. (1992) *The Fontana History of Chemistry*. Fontana Press.

# High Achievement in Mathematics and the Girl Child

Satyendra N. Giri

All India Science Teachers Association, Kolkatta, India

#### Introduction

Who are better in respect of achievement in mathematics? Boys or girls?

In fact, it has been found from the results of public examinations at the secondary and post secondary stages that the average performances of boys and girls in mathematics are more or less the same in different years. Some investigators, however, have found that boys are superior, while others have seen the superiority of girls. The mean differences between the performances of boys and girls in mathematics have been found, in many cases, not to be significant.

All the answers to the question posed above are of the following types : i) boys are better than girls, ii) girls are better than boys iii) there is no significant difference between the performances of boys and girls. Each of the above conclusions has it's own interpretations.

#### The problem

Let us now concentrate our attention to the performances of high achievers in mathematics. The following observations may be noted : i) In the list of renowned world mathematicians, the number of woman mathematicians is quite less. ii) In mathematics based subjects, (e.g. engineering and technology), the number of girls in less. iii) In the topper lists of H.S. Examination (Science Group), the number of girl children is less in comparison to that of boys. The above observations led to the conclusion that the performances of girls are always less than those of boys at the top level.

#### Objectives

Under the above context, the author intended to investigate the position of girls in respect of high achievement in mathematics. It is also aimed to collect and accumulate the reflections of different kinds of mathematics-people about such achievements of the girl child.

### Experiences from the results of Achievementcum-Diagnostic Test (ADTM)

Achievement-cum-Diagnostic test is organised by Centre for Pedagogical Studies in Mathematics, a reputed organisation, every year to ascertain the potentialities and diagnose the weakness of students ranging from class IV to class XII, since last fifteen years. Every year a large number of students participate in the test. The number of participant students ranges from 35 thousand to 55 thousand every year. About ten to fifteen students of each class (IV to XII), who top the list of students of each class are selected and rewarded. It has been found that about 35% of the participating students are girls. The number boys and girls in the toppers' list in different classes and in different years been found out and given in the Table 1. It may be pointed out that about 30% of the students come from urban area and the rest 70% of students are from semi urban and rural area.

### Analysis

The table of toppers' list clearly shows that these girl children are less in number as compared to the boys. It is true that the total number of girl participants was about 35% to the total number of participating candidates. The proportion of number of boys and that of girls is 2:1 (approx.) but the proportion of the number of more-able boys and more-able girls is 9:1. The candidates of the test are both from rural, urban and semiurban areas in proportion 2:1(approx.). The number of more able boys and girls has been found to be more in urban areas than that of the same in rural areas.

Totally speaking, it appears that, among the highachievers, the number of girl children is less than that of boy children.

The present investigation can not claim that such generalisation is true in all cases. The results, however, indicate that, for some reason or the other, girl-children are not holding top-positions in greater numbers, particularly, in rural and disadvantaged areas.

#### Two case studies

It is necessary to investigate reasons for such low number of girl toppers and ascertain the causes of relatively poor achievement. First of all, it is necessary to know, what the students, teachers and administrators are thinking about this.

		The number of Toppers in different classes from IV - XII																			
Year	Г	V	Ι	1	V	/I	V	II	V	II	Ľ	X	Z	K	Х	I	Х	II	Тс	otal	Grand
	Boys	Girls	Boys	Girls	Boys	Girls	Boys	Girls	Boys	Girls	Boys	Girls	Boys	Girls	Boys	Girls	Boys	Girls	Boys	Girls	Total
1996	13	4	12	0	12	4	12	3	17	0	13	0	12	0	3	0	2	0	96	11	107
1997	19	5	11	1	9	2	8	1	12	0	12	1	8	4	2	0	2	0	83	14	97
1998	14	1	11	3	11	1	7	1	10	0	9	0	9	1	3	0	2	1	76	8	83
1999	12	0	12	1	10	2	11	0	10	1	9	0	9	0	2	0	3	0	78	4	82
2000	10	1	10	2	11	1	11	1	11	3	11	0	5	1	2	0	2	0	75	9	84
2001	7	1	7	1	7	1	6	2	8	0	9	1	7	0	3	0	3	0	57	6	63
2002	12	0	9	3	9	1	8	2	10	2	15	1	9	0	8	0	3	0	83	9	95
2003	9	4	12	0	11	0	10	0	11	2	9	1	12	0	9	0	7	0	90	7	97
Total	96	16	84	11	80	12	73	10	89	8	87	4	71	6	32	0	24	1	63	68	704

Table 1: Number of toppers in Achievement-cum-Diagnostic Test in 1996 – 2003.

The following steps were undertaken.

i) An instant talk competition was arranged by the author, 12 students of class XI, and each one from twelve schools of which six were from Boys' and other six from girls' schools of Kolkata. Each student was asked to talk on the topic, "Why are the girls weak in mathematics?" The boys and girls gave relevant arguments in support of their answers. The responses revealed a lot of ideas in regard to so called weakness of girls in mathematics.

ii) A second step was taken. Twenty experts of whom ten are males and ten are females were selected. The experts were teacher-educators, teachers of mathematics from schools and colleges, and educational administrators. All of them were participants of a seminar on mathematics teaching organised by Centre for Pedagogical Studies in Mathematics. Each of the twenty participants were asked to state reasons on the issue "Why is the number of girls less than that of boys among the high achievers in mathematics?" The group of experts took the issue enthusiastically and gave their opinions and comments regarding such achievement of girls.

# Why is the number less?

The opinions expressed in the talk competition by the students, both boys and the girls were collected. Again the opinions and comments expressed by the experts were also taken into account. Finally a list was prepared, which according to the above respondents were reasons for low achievement of girls. These reasons were many, diverse and varied. It is to be noted that these reasons are not exhaustive. They, however, give a glimpse of what learners as well as experts think about such low achievement of girls.

# Reasons for low achievement of the girl child

An analysis of the opinions of learners of experts revealed the following:

i) Most of the male experts opined that majority of the girl children are 'naturally' weak in mathematics and in mathematical reasoning, while most of the female experts did not agree to such a comment.

ii) The guardians do not usually encourage the study of mathematics for their daughters.

iii) The guardians normally think at the very beginning that the girl children are poor in mathematics.

iv) The girl children have lesser interest, attitude and attention in mathematical thinking.

v) In the matrimonial market the would-be-husbands and their parents prefer that the prospective bride should be conversant in fine arts (dance, music, drawing etc.) and the humanities, rather than in mathematics, science and engineering.

vi) In rural areas, the negligence of the guardians and the society of the girl child in their study of mathematics and science is highly discouraging.

vii) The girls have to do household work in addition to their study.

viii) The girls are prohibited from going outside and discussing the lessons with their boy friends, and male tutors and teachers.

ix) The experts agreed that there are many bright girl children also, who are learning mathematics with joy and enthusiasm in a better way than many of their boy classmates.

x) The expert group also opined that, given proper opportunity and encouragement, the girl child can excel in the same way as the boys.

xi) According to them it is encouraging that the girl children are doing better now as compared to earlier days.

xii) The number of girl students in a particular sample is less and hence the number of high achiever girls is less.

#### Gender Issues in STME

xiii) Boys are more efficient in 'hall manage' than the girls and hence boys get greater score in mathematics than girls.

#### **Observations and their interpretations**

First of all, it is to be admitted that the observation obtained from the results of ADTM for boys and girls are confined only to the population taken in the study. Thus, the observation that the number of girls is less than that of the girls in respect of high achievement in mathematics can not taken as a generalised conclusion. In fact, we often find many bright girl students who are shining in future as eminent mathematicians. But many facts, figures and findings as stated in our paper earlier, show that the number of girl-toppers is less than that of the boy-toppers in regard to achievement in mathematics.

Some opinions for this underachievement of girl child have been given above. It is to be carefully examined to what extent they can be accepted as valid reasons for under achievement of the girl child. It has been seen that 'bright' girl students in mathematics are less in rural areas than in urban areas.

It can thus be said that as socio-cultural conditions improve, the consciousness of gender equality also improves, and as such, the girl child gets greater motivation to do better.

Another significant finding is that such bright girl students are less in upper grades than in lower grades.

At lower secondary stages the boys and girls get, to some extent, equal educational opportunity. But, at upper secondary and higher secondary stages, the attention of guardians are focussed more on boys than girls. Again the parent also takes greater attention to see that their daughters take up humanities subjects rather than science subjects. Thus the issue of such under achievement ultimately reduces to social neglect of the girl child. In fact, in many cases, parents give more attention to boys, because they think that boys will get jobs and will help the family in future, so they select the boy child for study of science and mathematics, and provide maximum possible facilities to them. The whole atmosphere of learning mathematics for the girl child is in most cases not congenial for mathematical study. Again, the would-be-husbands and his family members prefer the bride to be conversant in fine arts, music, dance, cooking, humanities etc. rather than being engaged in the study of mathematics.

Let us consider the simulation in the classroom also in co-education classes, the teacher has in many cases the pre-occupied idea that boys are superior to girls, and so asks more questions to boys and lesser number of questions to the girls. The girls, on the other hand, being naturally shy and timid, do not intend to respond properly. The spontaneous intention of learning is thus thwarted. Being deprived of encouragement from parents, teachers, boy friends, family members and the society, the girl child herself starts thinking that she is inferior to the boy child in the study of higher mathematics.

It must, however be admitted that the above gloomy situation of learning mathematics is not always true. But, in most cases, the under-achievement of the girl child in mathematics, in case of occupying top-positions, is due to the negative attitude of gender-difference to the girl child by the school, family and the society.

# The Role of Mathematics Education in Women Empowerment

#### **Eve Kadyamarunga**

Zimbabwe School Examinations Council, Harare, Zimbabwe

The importance of Mathematics as a tool for science and technology is continually increasing. While science and technology have become so pervasive, mathematics education has continued to dominate the school curriculum and remains a key subject area requirement in higher education and employment sector.

The hue and cry which follow the publication of mathematics results has become an annual ritual. The postmortems about the results eclipses a number of areas where female students have lagged behind. This has also impacted on courses and careers sought by women in the working world. They have attributed their failure to perform to expected standards to lack of sound background knowledge of mathematics. It is this realization that the skills learnt at school have had very little if any, bearing on what society needs in terms of productive citizens that prompted the research to look into problem areas in the teaching and learning of mathematics so as to equip students with the necessary skills needed on the market. In this regard, the gender imbalances in enrolment, achievement at school level, colleges and universities and the employment sector were also issues of concern. Our societies are becoming more and more technological with a mathematical bias, more attention being focused on attainment of mathematical competencies. Since Zimbabwe attained its independence in 1980, most women have taken indigenisation policy and affirmative action policy seriously. This has seen both the formal and informal sectors involved in the running of cooperatives and small business enterprises for which clear understanding and application of mathematical concepts and skills is required. This triggered the need for research into aspects pertaining to the role of mathematics education in assisting career choices undertaken by women. The argument is, to what extent does Mathematics education offer new challenges and opportunities for women advancement?

The 'O' and 'A' Level Mathematics syllabuses essentially spell out the national goal of laying a base for manpower training. That at tertiary level aimed at producing trained and skilled manpower for the country's economic growth were then looked at in light of the relationship between the level of mathematics education acquired and job opportunities through making a comparative study on the number of males and females undertaking mathematics in schools and colleges and in some of the mathematics-related occupations from both the formal and informal sectors.

Empowerment provides opportunities to increase knowledge and vocational skills for survival and also improves accessibility to more enterprising career paths for women.

Imbalances in enrolment, performance, subjects and subsequent employment in jobs that have a mathematical inclination underscored the need for intervention programs to bridge the gap while it revealed the need for a curriculum reform as a mechanism for improving the quality of education. Corresponding changes in assessment procedures are seen fit to accompany these reforms so as to ensure a holistic approach to learning. The research sought to provide a diagnostic tool from which to view other changes that were seen fit in the teaching, learning and assessment of Mathematics in the context of women empowerment.

This research was a descriptive survey whose target population was that of women in employment, undergoing skills-training and those still in high school. The research showed how these women are under-represented in mathematically related studies and careers. A stratified random sampling of high schools, colleges and the formal and informal employment sectors of the economy were used in the selection. Interview schedules and questionnaires were used in the collection of data. Both qualitative and quantitative cross validation exercises were conducted through observation schedules and archival records. It provided a base for further exploration of issues related to the design and delivery of mathematics education.

A trend analysis showing how enrolment and pass rates in mathematics have dwindled from 'O' Level through to mathematics-related occupations was established by way of a three-point moving averages. A correlational analysis of the career opportunities by gender was done starting from subject choices in the schools, tertiary institutions and subsequently in the employment sectors. Even after independence in 1980 when the Government of Zimbabwe embarked on the process of reforming the inherited education system and redressing the disparities and inequalities, there is evidence that there was a significant change. As reflected by the statistics, Zimbabwean women continue to be under-represented in the modern sector, in high-level jobs and in higher education sciences despite improvements due to such legislation as the Equal pay Regulations Act of 1982, the Industrial Conciliation Act and the labor Relations Act of 1984. The analysis showed that overall female representation in the tertiary sector is still very low. Issues such as poor promotion prospects and lack of acknowledgement of women's concerns are quite consistent across colleges and universities.

In view of the above, the research tried to provide an overview of the position of women in tertiary institutions in Zimbabwe and went on to discuss why it is important to improve the present situation in mathematics education as a way of addressing gender inequalities. It also provided a forum for creating a women-friendly environment through systematically documenting and publicizing the areas women find problematic apart from trying to establish ways of implementing a series of equal opportunities and affirmative action activities in the classroom and employment sector. In addition the research was aimed at undertaking sensitization and social mobilization in support of the concerns of women, supporting the development and proper functioning of organizations that support women's concerns. By revealing the existing structural, organizational and institutional practices, the research targeted at how policies pertaining to these could accommodate the needs of women.

# Mathematics and Gender in Ugandan Primary Schools: Influence on Teachers, Parents and Learners

#### James Kakooza

EUPEK Project, Kampala, Uganda

#### **Problem, Objectives and Significance**

In Uganda, gender disaggregated primary school performance data indicates that though mathematics is poorly performed relative to other subjects (Social Studies, English and Integrated Science), there is a significant gap between the performances of girls as compared to that of boys. This gap is not only evident during; teacher made and standardised examinations but also with the classroom participation. Basing on this observation, one would then wonder what the cause of this performance disparity is, since both girls and boys come from similar homes, sit in the same classrooms, are taught by the same teachers and are subjected to the same assessment. This rises an automatic question that of the stakeholders; parents, teachers and pupils, who is responsible for the observed gender disparities. The paper presents results of a study that was conceptualised with the overall aim of finding out the possible causes to the performance disparities among boys and girls in primary schools in Uganda. It was hoped that if careful note of the findings of this research was taken, the study would contribute to the bridging the performance gap between girls and boys in Ugandan primary schools.

#### Context And Underlying Assumptions About Gender And Mathematics In The Classroom

Research over the last two decades has shown that males and females have different classroom experiences because they approach learning differently and because teachers tend to treat them differently. Girls' achievement in mathematic during elementary grades is equal to boys' but decreases in the middle school (Callahan & Clements, 1984; Dossey et al., 1988). An analysis of math achievement of twelfth grade girls in 15 countries revealed that in all but three countries girls were less successful than boys (Hanna, Kundiger, & Larouche, 1990). That gender differences seem not to surface until age ten (Callahan & Clements, 1984; Dossey, Mulis, Lindquist, & Chambers, 1988) suggests that the decline of female achievement is the result of a strong pattern of socialization to mathematics success or failure rather than to gender differences in innate ability. As girls progress through school, they are less likely to continue their math education, either taking more rudimentary courses or dropping the subject altogether (Pallas & Alexander, 1983).

#### Study design and procedures

The study followed a cross-sectional survey design in which primary data was collected from; teachers, pupils, parents and the education policy makers. The respondents were randomly selected from primary schools within Kampala and wakiso districts while secondary data was collected from documents obtained from; schools, ministries of; Education and Sports (MoES) and that of Gender, labour and Social Development (MoGLSD), the Uganda National Examinations Board (UNEB) and the National Curriculum Development Centre (NCDC). To fit the study in within the context of the current debates, online interrogation of both published and unpublished reports was done. Data from both primary and secondary sources was analysed using qualitative and quantitative methods. Content analysis approach was employed for analysing the qualitative data using Nudist (N6) qualitative analysis software, while the quantitative analysis employed descriptive statistics computed using the Statistical Package for Social Scientists (SPSS).

### **Results, discussion and recommendations**

Summary of results from this study indicated that attitudes of; parents, teachers and pupils themselves contribute to the gender perfomance gap between the female and male pupils in primary schools in Uganda. Other problems highlighted by this study are the unbalanced work burden at home, lack of motivation, confidence and the biased learning materials (see below).

## Learners' Attitudes

Although about 100% of the females acknowledge Mathematics as useful, they did not work hard on the subject. Lack of interest, motivation and confidence made them view the subject as hard. Therefore females did not participate in Mathematics Clubs and did not do their Mathematics home works as much as did the males.

80.4% of the male pupils and 63.8% of female pupils believed that Mathematics was a subject for males. 33% of the females did Mathematics only after special encouragement.

### Parents and the housework Burden at home

Many parents 54% of the parents attested that home based problems do interfere with girl's study at home. Problems included noise, household duties, visitors, video, lack of electricity, walking long distances to and from school, and children's failure to comprehend the work on their own. About 68% of the parents indicated that females were busier at home than males. Due to gender stereotyping these duties were normally the responsibilities of the female children. About 75% of the parents preferred male Mathematicians in the family and society.

#### The teachers reveal

#### **Biased Teaching Materials**

Teachers felt that maths textbooks were too difficult to be of much use in private study and that this adversely affect female who did not get as much external help as their counterpart boys. Teachers also reveal that the textbooks had a bias towards males, which could affect the females', drive towards Maths. Teachers thought this could be the reason why females hardly participated in class.

# Females Lacked Confidence and Motivation in Mathematics

Most of the teachers (80%) believed that some pupils especially girls lacked confidence. The teachers estimate that about 75% of pupils most of them females, lacked motivation, consequently many females missed classes. They also believe that other factors include perception of Mathematics as difficult, regarding the subject as a reserve for males, shortage of females Mathematics teachers to act as models for females and hating Mathematics as a result of hatred for one topic.

#### **Conclusions and Recommendations**

In conclusion, pupils, teachers and parents suggested encouragement, explaining the importance of Mathematics, individual attention, regular roll-calls, putting pupils of various abilities to work together in teams, give more time for question, extra lessons and encouraging the pupils to practice problem solving. They also suggested the recruitment of more qualified teachers, on-the-job training of teachers, inspection by qualified senior teachers of Mathematics and the improvement of the teachers' conditions of service among others.

# Gendered Communication in Technology Tasks: Glimpses of Group Interactions

Swati Mehrotra, Ritesh Khunyakari, Chitra Natarajan & Sugra Chunawala

Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education, TIFR, Mumbai, India

# Significance and underlying theoretical framework

Communication, both oral and written is an essential component of the design and technology curriculum for school level being developed at HBCSE. Students record observations, describe investigations and communicate findings through oral presentations and written reports. Hence they need to be able to communicate effectively. Non-verbal communications (like gestures and expressions) are also important, especially for communication of feelings and attitudes.

Studies have shown that in a classroom setting, boys and girls have preferential ways of learning and expressing their knowledge and skills. Dale Spender (1980) highlights the gendering of language and how this has partitioned our world. Robin Lakoff (1973) observes that language use by children changes in different ways for boys and girls. 'Women's speech' which includes a large number of question tags, according to her, is the result of social interactions and reinforcements. The dynamics of group interactions and the social relations among boys and girls tend to be different (Thorne, 1993).

Like language, technology is gendered, and its knowhow, design, fabrication and maintenance tend to be a male preserve (Cockburn and Ormrod, 1993; MacKenzie and Wajcman, 1999). The relative participation of women in technology and engineering courses is skewed; in India, women constitute only 17% of total enrollment in engineering and technology (Manpower Profile of India, 1999). Socio-cultural factors contribute to this situation (Kramarae, 1988). Kim Beat (1991) reports gender differentiated use of construction kits in nursery schools. Even five year old children have been seen to have definite views about what constitutes "men's work" and "women's work". Studies in secondary schools have shown that girls rarely engage in playing with tools and equipment, while boys not only have more experiences, but also a perceived expertise with equipment (Jones et al, 2000).

#### **Objectives of the study**

The Design and Technology project at HBCSE aims at development of gender inclusive technology tasks for

middle school level. Three tasks were designed to engage students in measuring, planning, distributing work, designing, manipulating resources, making, communicating and evaluating.

Each task followed a pattern: students were set a real life problem, such as making a bag to carry their books in. They then explored the context, came up with alternative designs, communicated these and answered queries about the designs. The tasks were geared to develop students' oral and written communication skills through activities that required writing (poems, descriptions), drawing, technical drawings and procedural maps, listing materials and work distributions as well as presenting publicly, descriptions and evaluation of their own product and one made by others.

This paper focuses on qualitatively understanding social dimensions of resource and tool use in the task setting and the communication that occurred between and within group members during the technology trials.

#### **Research design and procedure**

Around 20-25 students from 3 schools participated in the tasks in separate batches. The students studying in class 6 and 7 were from 2 urban schools and a rural school which was a tribal residential school where the medium of instruction was Marathi. In the urban schools there was one Marathi and one English medium school. The 3 tasks were (i) bag making, (ii) making a model of a windmill to lift weights, and (iii) making a puppet and staging a puppet show. Each task was planned for about 15 hours, over a period of 5 days. Students formed groups of 3-4 members each. There were about 6 groups per school for each task; 4 single sex groups (2 boys' groups, 2 girls' groups) and 2 mixed-sex groups. Video and audio data was collected which included conversations and aspects of group dynamics. Each group maintained a file of their writings and drawings for the task. Researchers also kept a daily log of their observations.

## Some findings

Students formed single sex groups spontaneously. They however, did not volunteer to form the mixed sex groups, and at times they had to be forced to be members of a mixed group. Many English and Marathi medium urban students were found to be confident and fluent oral communicators. Rural students took longer to complete written and oral activities, and their oral communication was more often inaudible. They also took time to open up even to the researchers. Special activities were planned with these students before embarking on the tasks to help build a rapport.

There were gender differences in the students' language use, often through explicit comments, such as, *"Yeh ladies lok ka cheez hai*"... ("This is ladies' stuff".) "It's nice that you have *ladki lok* (girls) in your group" (an all-boys group member to another group). Interestingly such statements were made by boys and corresponding references were not made by girls. Non-verbal communication, such as ignoring or refusing to look at / listen to another, also showed gendering. Girls in mixedsex groups often found it difficult to be heard; a boy from the urban Marathi medium continued to ignore a girl from his group, who persistently tried to contribute to a discourse, even calling out to the boy "Aye, aye.....".

Other non-verbal communications were seen in acts of grabbing and trying to gain control over limited resources within a group. Sometimes fights broke out over this issue. Some groups were not willing to share common resources (sand from the garden became a commodity of contention). Sharing has various aspects. In some groups, the members who completed their work helped other members and groups. Communication space too can be shared; some groups gave a role to each member in public speaking, whereas in other groups this space was not shared.

Interactions within mixed-sex groups were often different from those within single sex groups. Work distribution was often clearly gendered. Girls took on, or were allocated by their group, activities of writing and drawing. On the other hand, activities such as, cutting the paper/cloth, hammering rivets, drilling and sometimes even sewing was done by boys. Girls were reluctant to take on the drilling activity even when urged by the researchers. There seemed to be a tacit assumption that the spheres of work of the two sexes are different.

In all the settings, some students were clearly the accepted leaders: the reasons were varied to include superior academic performance, age or physical build. In the urban setting, an academically bright girl was the accepted leader of an all-girls group; others including boys also evinced an interest in being part of her group. In a mixed group (tribal) two boys (big build, older) were the accepted leaders of the class.

The presentation, supplemented by video clippings will provide examples of gendered aspects of interactions and use of language and non-verbal cues while students performed a variety of activities in the three technology education tasks.

#### References

Beat, K. (1991) Design it, Build it, Use it: Girls and Construction Kits. *In science and technology in the early years*, Naima Browne (ed), Open University Press, Buckingham, Philadelphia.

Cockburn, C. and Ormrod, S. (1993) *Gender and Technology in the Making*; Sage publications, London.

Jones, G.M, Brader-Araje, L., Carboni, L.W., Carter, G., Rua, M.J., Banilower, E. and Hatch, H. (2000) *Tool time: Gender and students' use of tools, control, and authority, Journal of Research in Science Teaching,* Volume 37, Issue 8, Pages 760 – 783.

Kramarae, C. (1988) *Technology and women's voices: Keeping in touch*, Routledge & Kegan Paul Books Ltd; 1st edition, New York.

Lakoff, R. (1973) *Language and Woman's Place,* Harper & Row, New York.

MacKenzie D. and Wajcman, J.,(eds.) (1999) *The social shaping of technology*, second edition, Open University Press, Buckingham, Philadelphia.

*Manpower profile of India yearbook* (1999) Institute of Applied Manpower Research, New Delhi.

Spender, D. (1980) *Man made language*, Pandora Press, London.

Thorne, B. (1993) *Gender play: Girls and boys in school*. New Brunswick, NJ: Rutgers University Press.

# Re-examining Gender Balance Education in Agricultural Science, Technology and Mathematics in Nigeria: An Overview

### Stella O. Odebode

University of Ibadan, Ibadan, Nigeria.

### Problem of the study

Despite policy formulation on equal and accessible education to both sexes, wide disparity exists between male and female education in Nigeria. Science education involves giving knowledge of scientific skills by teachers to learners through effective teaching learning process. Women in Nigeria have been found wanting in participating on different areas of science. Gender imbalance in Nigerian schools leads to inability of girls to study scientific and technical subjects thereby limiting the females' educational career and employment choices. This deprives the country at large of human capital that is highly valuable. (Odebode, 2001). This paper also examines how gender imbalance leads to absence of sexuality education, whereby young boys and girls and are not empowered to develop a positive sense of their own sexuality to acquire factual information to cope with life.

#### Objectives and significance of the study

This paper examines how culture inhibits the participation of women in Science, Technology and Mathematics and suggests strategies for women participation in Science. It also prescribes a policy of affirmative action to ensure that gender fairness and balance exist in all our actions.

# Problems of gender-balanced instruction in school

One prominent problem of a gender balanced instruction in Science, Technology and Mathematics (STM) is the issue of sex stereotyping which is reflected in schools in textbooks, and lesson notes. The references involving the males in STM are discouraging.

Culture and education of any country determine the development of such a country and affect women participation in social, physical and psychologically oriented functions.

Culture also impedes gender-balance in schools, depresses the competence of some women when considering the sex-stereotyped roles at home, occupation pattern and the socialization pattern of a community.

In Nigeria, a father prefers to invest on boys' education

than the girls. Girls are not motivated to aspire for Science, Technology and Mathematics-oriented discipline. Girls' education is perceived to lead to moral decadence in the northern part of Nigeria. They are therefore encouraged to marry early thereby preventing the opportunity for education. The birth of a female child is seen as a disappointment. They are second-rated in the Society.

Educated women are not regarded as good wives and they find it difficult to marry at the right time. This causes increase in the poverty and illiteracy levels in some occupations in Nigeria. In some cases, males refuse to marry females who involve themselves in some careers that are culturally termed "masculine." This however depresses the intellectual development, undermines the confidence and dampens the aspirations of the females. All these affect the attitude of the females or the girl child towards Science, Technology and Mathematics.

In some families, boys are counselled to be involved in some professions that will earn them more money and girls are counselled to offer courses that will make them to be good housekeepers. This negative attitude towards gender fairness should be discouraged and proper encouragement of gender balance education should be promoted. Girls should be allowed to be actively involved in the Science, Technology and Mathematics laboratories, workshops, seminars and classes to enhance their performances in schools.

#### The way forward

A major recommendation in this paper, is that Science, Technology and Mathematics education should be promoted in all schools (primary, secondary and tertiary) Agricultural science especially, should be given a high priority among other science subjects. Science Technology and Mathematics education should be accorded proper rights of organization, management and control by the school authority.

Enlightenment campaigns, reverse discriminatory policies, role modeling and activities encouraging girl-child or female participation in STM should be enhanced.

Non-governmental organizations, Ministry of educa-

tion and subject associations should organize programmes on gender fairness issues to promote female participation in Science, Technology and Mathematics education. Women's association of Science, Technology and Mathematics should function actively in meeting its objectives on a very regular basis.

Incentives should be given to females in form of awards, scholarship in school to encourage female participation in Science, Technology and Mathematics education (Nsofor, 2001).

Moreover there must be programmes to popularize Science, Technology and Mathematics among girls from the nursery school level to the tertiary level.

Girls and women should strive to increase their scientific knowledge by reading periodicals, journals and relevant literature. Publishers and curriculum developers should discourage gender-biases in textbooks and curriculum materials.

Research institutions should develop programmes and projects to enhance women advancement and participation in Science, Technology and Mathematics education. Moreover, the men folk should learn to appreciate and respect the dignity and worth of women scientists and by willing to co-operate with, rather than discriminate against them at places of work.

#### Conclusion

This paper has attempted to re-examine gender-imbalance in Science, Technology and Mathematics education in Nigeria and reviewed the rights of women by considering gender balance in Science, Technology and Mathematics education.

Women must therefore be encouraged to respond positively to Science, Technology and Mathematics instructions and select careers in science-related disciplines to check imbalances. A favourable learning environment will be help to eliminate some problems militating against women in engaging in Science, Technology and Mathematics Education.

# References

Adeyegbe, S. O. (2000) Packaging Science, Technology and Mathematics Education to Maximize Standards Progression and Continuity: Challenges of the 21<sup>st</sup> Century, Keynote Address at the 4<sup>th</sup> Annual Conference of STAN (Lagos Branch), held at the University of Lagos, Akoka, Lagos. 19 – 21July.

Akpan, E. J. U (1987) Winning More Students for Science: Factors of Attitude, Sex, Intelligence, Personality and Type of School, Proceedings of 28<sup>th</sup> Annual Conference.

Ajetunmobi, A. W (1996) Life Long Education: Its Implication for Primary School. *Journal of Further Mathematics and Technology Education* (1): 20 – 24

Ivowi, U. M. O (undated) Gender Discrimination in STM Education: Foremost Educational Services, Lagos. pp. 3 – 6.

Nsofor, C. C. (2001) Cultural Impediments on Women in Science, Technology and Mathematics Education. pp 48 – 51.

Odebode, S. O. (2001) Re-examining Problems of Women Agricultural Science, Teachers in Nigeria. A case of Kwara State. In Olanitemi. O B. (ed): 42<sup>nd</sup> Annual Conference Proceedings.

# **Knowledge Organizers of Cell Biology**

Meena Kharatmal & Nagarjuna G.

Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education, TIFR, Mumbai, India

As the scientific pursuit progresses, the number of technical terms in sciences is always on the rise. However, the use of knowledge organizers, more or less, remain constant. Knowledge organizers consist of (1) the types of concepts (Metatypes) used in knowledge (2) types of relations used to relate the concepts (Relation types) and (3) logical connectors and quantifiers used to express the knowledge.

Representing common sense knowledge using these minimal knowledge organizers is highly challenging, and often impossible since generalizations of common knowledge may not always work. However, much of scientific knowledge uses a small subset of our natural language since scientific language is highly conventional and formal. Our attempt is to represent already well organized scientific knowledge using Knowledge Representation (KR) methodology. The problem of representing knowledge of exact sciences like physics and mathematics is seemingly easier than not-so exact sciences like biology. The ontology of biological sciences is not as clear as other branches of science. In this work, we attempt to introduce our methodology for representing the knowledge of biological sciences. This exercise also helps us to explicate the structure of biological knowledge.

How can this methodology help us in science education? In science education, we expect the students to learn the concepts of science. According to a study conducted by us, students come across about 4000 concepts in the domain of biology, (excluding the names of all the species of plants and animals) upto higher secondary level of education (Thulasidas and Nagarjuna, 2001). However, the knowledge organizers required to understand these terms are not only constant but few in number. Our hypothesis is: if during the course of science education students are trained to think and study the world using knowledge organizers, meaningful learning, in contrast to rote learning, as explicated by Ausubel (Ausubel et. al., 1978), takes place. With this understanding when we explored for a set of required knowledge organizers for science (or for the domain of biology) from the literature, we could not obtain any such set readily available. This indicates that there is a need to develop an authentic set of knowledge organizers for use

in science education. Our research objective is to fill this gap.

Representing anatomical details is more or less straightforward, since this knowledge can mostly be represented using *class inclusion, spatial inclusion, partwhole relations* (Winston et. al., 1987). But much of the core biological knowledge is contained in physiology, molecular biology, developmental biology, ecology, etc. Representing this knowledge in KR terms is often challenging. Based on our earlier analysis of biological terms, most significant knowledge of this field is expressed in terms of concepts that describe processes, states, or stages, and cycles. We make an attempt to explicate the general structure of these sciences to arrive at a definite KR for physiology. Since cell biology is a good representative for much of biology, we chose this area.

Many educational researchers have found it useful to adopt a network representation format for explicitly representing knowledge structure. There exists various methods to represent knowledge such as-concept map, knowledge Vee, Concept Circle Diagrams, SemNet, Conceptual Graphs. After analyzing the concept mapping methodology, we identified several problems on the basis of our knowledge organizers. These are discussed in an article, Towards Principled Approach of Concept Mapping (Nagarjuna and Kharatmal, Unpublished Paper). We find the conceptual graphs approach by Sowa (Sowa, 1984) is highly instructive and we plan to make use of this technique for representing scientific knowledge. Based on our understanding, we developed a model of KR and an application that can be used to undertake the task. The software application called GNOWSYS (Gnowledge Networking and Organizing SYStem) (see URL in ref.) is developed which helps to construct the set of organizers of scientific knowledge. An introduction to the Knowledge Organization (KO) model of this application will be discussed. In this work, we shall describe the methodology followed to construct the set of knowledge organizers using GNOWSYS for science education and illustrate the method for the domain of cell biology. We shall indicate how this methodology can be used in understanding the structure of knowledge, measuring cognitive significance of concepts, generality-specificity index of concepts, defining learning paths based on cognitive dependency relations, comparison of novice-expert's cognitive structures, etc.

#### References

http://www.gnowledge.org/Data/ObjectType/ GNOWSYS/

Ausubel, D., Novak, J., and Hanesian, H. (1978). *Cognitive Physchology: A Cognitive View*. Holt, Rinehart and Winston, New York.

Carey, S. (1986). Conceptual change and science education. *American Psychologist*, 41(10): 1123–1130.

Fisher, K. and Kibby, M., eds. (1996). *Knowledge Acquisition, Organization, and Use in Biology*. Springer-Verlag, Germany.

Fisher, K., Wandersee, J., and Moody, D. (2000). *Mapping Biology Knowledge*. Kluwer Academic Publishers, The Netherlands.

Mintzes, J., Wandersee, J., and Novak, J., eds. (1998). *Teaching Science for Understanding — A Human Consctructivist View*. Academic Press, USA.

Mintzes, J., Wandersee, J., and Novak, J., eds. (2000). Assessing Science Understanding – A Human Constructivist View. Academic Press, USA.

Nagarjuna, G. and Kharatmal, M. (Unpublished Paper). *Towards a principled approach of concept mapping*.

Novak, J. and Gowin, D. B. (1984). *Learning How to Learn*. Cambridge University Press, UK.

Sowa, J. (1984). *Conceptual Structures: Information Processing in Mind and Machine*. Addison-Wesley Publishing Company, USA.

Sowa, J. (2003). Knowledge Representation: Logical, Philosophical and Computational Foundations. Brooks/ Cole, USA.

Thulasidas, S. and Nagarjuna, G. (2001). A methodology for the analysis of biological knowledge base. In Agarkar, S. C. and Lale, V. D., eds., *CASTME-UNESCO-HBCSE International Conference on Science, Technology and Mathematics Education for Human Development*, volume 1, pages 149–155. HBCSE, Mumbai, India.

Winston, M., Chaffin, R., and Herrman, D. (1987). A taxonomy of part-whole relations. *Cognitive Science*, 11: 417–444.

# **Concept Mapping – A Pedagogical Tool for Grammar Lessons**

#### **Pranita Gopal**

Army Institute of Education, New Delhi, India

## Introduction

Grammar is the description of the regularities in a language. Knowledge of these regularities provides the learner with the means to generate potentially enormous number of original sentences. Grammar teaching can proceed in two ways: *covert grammar teaching* where the rules are taught to a communicative syllabus and *overt grammar teaching* where the rules of grammar are presented explicitly using the grammar syllabus. Looking at the prescribed textbooks and the teacher handbooks used in Indian schools, one can infer that the pedagogy of English grammar teaching in India, by and large, follows the overt method. The teaching relies heavily on explicitly stating the concept and the rules governing it. The inductive or deductive approach is then used to understand the syntax of the language and solving examples strengthens the rules hence learnt.

Concept Mapping has proven to be an effective pedagogical tool and a metalearning strategy useful for many subjects (Ritche and Volkl, 2000; Gardgill and Jitendra, 1999; Novak, 1990). Based on assimilation theory the concept maps are rooted in the principle that the single most important factor influencing learning is what the learner already knows (Bayram, 1995). Researches have suggested that concept maps can be used to facilitate meaningful learning. (Abram, 2001). The educators can find multitude uses of concept maps in their classrooms. Few studies have been carried out using this tool in teaching grammar (Boyle & Weishaar, 1997; Clements-Davis & Ley, 1991; Dimino et al., 1990).

#### Knowledge Representation-

Grammar is famous for its numerous interlinked concepts. Teaching grammar with its interlinked concepts is a challenge to every language teacher. As a teacher educator, the researcher chose to study the effect of using concept maps in teaching various grammatical concepts to the learners and to see whether learning through concept maps is likely to be more effective as compared to other pedagogical options.

## Objective

To study the effect of the use of concept maps on the teaching and learning of English grammar.

### Hypothesis

The use of concept maps is effective in the teaching and learning of English grammar.

# The Plan of the Study

In view of the objective it was decided to conduct the experiment on class IX students of Army Public School, Delhi Cantt. The 94 students chosen for the study belonged to the two sections of class IX. One section was chosen to be the experimental group while the other the control group. An initial test was planned and administered. This test, based on the class VIII syllabus, aimed to check whether the two groups were comparable.

Keeping in mind the school schedule, it was decided that thirty teaching periods would be utilized per group to deliver the instruction. The topics chosen for the delivery of instruction covered two areas: Grammar and English prose. The prose lessons were selected to study the feasibility of using concept maps in learning the English prose lessons. The classes conducted covered: Parts of Speech, Direct – Indirect, Active Passive Sentences and from their textbooks (*Main Course Book*, published by the NCERT, New Delhi) Amundsen's Journey to the South Pole and Whales.

In sync with the objective, in the experimental group the instruction was to be imparted using concept maps and in the control group using the lecture method. In the experimental group the concept maps on grammar lessons were to be developed in the classroom using the student's pervious knowledge while in the prose lessons, as the prose proceeded.

The classes to be conducted with the experimental group and control group were to use only the prescribed textbooks and the available resources: blackboard and coloured chalks.

It was planned that after thirty lessons another test was conducted on the topics covered in the class. It was also planned the types of questions in the test did not favour any one methodology.

# Delimitation

This being a preliminary study (to be followed up subsequently) a single school was chosen and only selected portions of the prescribed syllabus were covered during the study.

### **Analysis and Interpretation**

Table 1 shows the mean and standard deviation of the two groups on the test conducted on class VIII syllabus.

The means, standard deviation and the spread of scores around the mean shows that two groups were comparable on the test taken before the study began.

Once it was established that two groups were comparable, the delivery of instruction took place in the respective methodology. On covering the decided topics

Groups	Means	SD	Dispersion of Scores (in %)					
			+ σ	_+ 2σ	+ 3σ			
Experimental	22.20	3.48	74.46	95.74	97.88			
Control	19.57	3.62	70.21	95.75	97.87			

Table 2: Means, SDs and Dispersion of Scores on Test 2

Groups	Means	SD	Dispersion of Scores (in %)					
aroups			_ + o	_+ 2σ	$\frac{+}{3\sigma}$			
Experimental	24.22	3.66	63.82	100	100			
Control	20.32	3.45	70.21	97.87	100			

-				0 x
Group (Class)	Test	Mean	SD	t test
Experimental	Pre	22.20	3.48	2.743
9 A	Post	24.22	3.66	Significant at 0.01
Control	Pre	19.57	3.62	1.047
9C	Post	20.32	3.45	Not Significant

Table 3: Means, SD and t values for experimental and control group

another test was conducted on the same groups.

Table 2 shows that the mean score of the experimental group is higher than the control group showing thereby achievement is better.

The t test conducted separately on the experimental and control group scores on Test1 and Test 2, shows that the improvement in achievement in the experimental group is significant at 0.01 level whereas the t test does not show the same for control group.

# Conclusion

Students who are imparted learning experiences through concept map signal a better performance on their understanding of the concepts of English grammar as compared to the ones taught through commonly prevalent options.

# References

Abrams, Robert, Meaningful Learning: A Collaborative Literature Review of Concept Mapping, <u>http://</u> <u>www2.ucsc.edu/mlrg/clr-conceptmapping.html</u>, pg 4.

Bayram, S. (1995) The Effectiveness of Concept and Software Mapping for Representing Student Data and Process Schema in Science. (thesis)

Boyle, J. R., & Weishaar, M. (1997). The effects of expert-generated versus student-generated cognitive organizers on the reading comprehension of students with learning disabilities. *Learning Disabilities Research & Practice*, 12(4), 228-235.

Clements-Davis, G. L., & Ley, T. C. (1991). Thematic preorganizers and the reading comprehension of tenth-grade world literature students. *Reading Research & Instruction*, 31(1), 43-53.

Dimino, J., Gersten, R., Carnine, D., & Blake, G. (1990). Story grammar: An approach for promoting at-risk secondary students' comprehension of literature. *The Elementary School Journal*, 91(1), 19-32.

Gardill, M. C., & Jitendra, A. K. (1999). Advanced story map instruction: Effects on the reading comprehension of students with learning disabilities. *The Journal of* 

# Special Education, 33 (1), 2-17.

Novak, J. (1998). *Learning, Creating, and Using Knowledge*, Erlbaum, Lawrence Associates, Inc.

Novak, J. D. (1990). Concept maps and Vee diagrams: two metacognitive tools to facilitate meaningful learning. *Instructional Science*, 19(1), 29-52.

Novak, J., Gowin B.(1984) *Learning How to Learn,* Cambridge University Press

Ritchie, D., & Volkl, C. (2000). Effectiveness of two generative learning strategies in the science classroom. *School Science and Mathematics*, 100(2), 83-89. Special Education, 33(1), 2-17.

# **Probing Nature of Links Amongst Physics Concepts**

**Madhav R. Rajwade** Sathaye College, Mumbai, India

Sudhir V. Panse University of Mumbai, Mumbai, India

H. C. Pradhan

Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education, TIFR, Mumbai, India

#### Introduction

Novakian (Novak, 1998) concept maps represent meaningful relationships between concepts in the form of propositions. According to the D.P.Asubel's assimilation theory of learning, the cognitive structure of a student is organized hierarchically. Links between concepts are semantic relations. Our focus, in this paper is on classification of links amongst concepts in physics. Researchers have noted that knowledge acquisition is not just an accumulation of concepts but also comprehension of interrelation of these concepts (Mohapatra, 1995).

#### Methodology

We selected a group of 30 students studying physics in the B.Sc.program at the University of Mumbai. They had studied electrostatics during the earlier semester. We selected five core concepts in the area of Electrostatics, namely, Capacitors, Dielectrics, Charge distribution, Electric dipole and Conductors. Each of these concepts was presented to the students as a central concept. The students were asked to list in a given time, concepts related to the central concept.

We then prepared a grand concept map with the five core concepts listed above and 109 concepts generated by students. Their links and cross-links were carefully established. In this case, concepts are nouns or nounphrases, whereas links between them are verbs or prepositions. The grand concept map showed clusters of concepts around nodes. These nodes included the five central concepts. Out of the five nodes 'capacitors' and 'Charge distribution' are prominent. This procedure of establishing links between the concepts is explained below.

Consider two concept labels "Capacitors" and "Direct Current"(dc). We have linked these two concepts by completing the following sentence:

Capacitor **blocks** dc.

In this case the verb '**blocks**' connects the two concepts, *capacitor* and *dc*. The link words are shown in bold type and the concept words are in italics.

Let us consider some more examples.

Capacitor **may have** vacuum **between** (its) plates.

Charges **can be** like charges and unlike charges.

Electric field **has** direction.

Having established the grand concept map with its links, we wished to probe further the nature of the links and to check whether particular types of links are more common in this map. We arrived at the types of possible links after consulting the literature.

#### **Literature Survey**

Nastase and Szpakowicz have given 44 types of semantic relations amongst noun and noun-modifiers (Nastase, 2003). Similarly, Sowa (Sowa, 1984) has listed 37 different types of semantic relations between concepts. Winston et al (Winston, 1987) have given taxonomy of part-whole relations. They have indicated six types of meronymic (part-whole) relations. Veda Storey (Storey, 1993) has identified seven types of semantic relations. One of the types, 'inclusion' consists of three subtypes class, meronymic and spatial. Their meronymic subtypes consists of seven subtypes, one more than those listed by Winston. Researchers (Rosario 2004) have examined the problem of distinguishing among seven relation types that occur between "treatment" and "disease". Rajwade et al (2001) have proposed a mechanism of quantifying the linkage of two concepts through a link number. In another paper the same authors (2003) have used this link number to develop a method for improving subject knowledge of students.

Sr. No	Class of relation	Example
1.	Causality	Thermal energy disaligns electric dipoles.
2.	Rate(Time)	Charge flow per unit time (is) current.
3,	Rate(Space)	Current per unit area (is) current density.
4.	Location	Potential difference across (its) plates.
5.	Arrangement	Components (can be) arranged (in) series.
6.	Source	Charges come from battery.
7.	Agent	Capacitor blocks dc.
8.	Measured by (Instrument)	Potential difference (is) measured by voltmeter.
9.	Measured in(Units)	Potential difference (is) measured in volts.
10.	Inclusion (class)	Positive charges e.g. holes, electrons.
	<b></b>	Plates are conductors.
11.	Inclusion (Member / collection)	Charges make up charge distribution.
12.	Inclusion	Capacitor may have dielectric.
	(Component /Object)	
13.	Characteristics	Like charges exert repulsive forces.
14.	Attribute.	AC has frequency.
15.	Analogy	Electric flux 🔶 Magnetic flux.
16.	Function	Charge density depends (on) charge distribution,
17.	Representation	Electric field (is) represented by Electric field lines.
18.	Name	Charge loss is charge leakage.
19.	Synonym	Insulators 🔶 Non-conducting medium.
20.	Antonym	Conductance 🔶 Resistance.

#### **Discussion of results**

We have used the grand concept map to identify similar relations in physics. We looked at the kind of linking words used in connecting any two concepts in the map. A thorough survey of the map suggested 20 different semantic relations amongst the concepts used. These relations have been listed in the included table

The frequencies of occurrence of these relations in a grand concept map diagram will be given in the paper.

#### **Conclusions and Future work**

The set of relations listed above forms, by and large a subset of the relations found in the literature. It must be noted that many relations quoted in the literature are not found here. Instead, some additional ones have been included to account for the nature of the subject, physics.

For example, "rate" (with respect to time and space both) is a frequently occurring type of relation in physics and is not mentioned explicitly in the literature. Similarly, measurement being a special aspect of physics "measured in (units) "is a relation peculiar to physics. Also, "measured by" has been included separately, though it is a particular case of the relation "agent" found in literature. This is because of the importance of measuring instruments in physics. Also, "arrangement" of components of an object is important in the present context. Also, the idea of "analogy" is often used in physical sciences. Further "Function" and "representation' are two other relations which we believe will be special to physics, mathematics and needs to be included.

The limitation of this study is that it covers only one topic in physics. Further investigation, with different set of central concepts may confirm the above list. Such a study may throw up few additional relations as well. Also, frequency of these relations amongst physics concepts requires more detailed study.

### References

Mohapatra and Parida(1995) The location of alternative conceptions by concept graph technique. *International Journal of Science Education*, Vol. (17) No. 5 pp 663-681.

Nastase and Szpakawicz (2003) *Exploring Noun-Modifier semantic Relations*, University of Ottawa, Canada. Novak (1998) *Learning how to learn* Cambridge University Press.

Rajwade, Pradhan, Panse (2001) Probing Students' Knowledge Organization. Proceedings of CASTME-HBCSE-UNESCO International Conference, Goa-India.

Rajwade, Pradhan, Panse (2003) Improving Students' Conceptual Knowledge—A concept map based method. Proceedings of ICASE-RECSAM World Conference, on Science and Technology Education, Penang-Malaysia. Rosario, Hearst, (2004) Classifying Semantic Relations in Bioscience Texts, SIMS, UC Berkeley.

Sowa (1984) Conceptual Structures: Information processing in Mind and Machine. Addison – Sesley, Reading, MA.

Storey (1993) Understanding Semantic Relationships. *VLDB Journal*, 2, 455-488.

Winston, Chaffin, Hermann (1987) A Taxonomy of Partwhole Relations. *Cognitive Science*, 11, 417-444.

# Effect of Concept-Mapping in Science on Science Achievement, Cognitive Skills and Attitude of Students

#### Manjula P. Rao

Regional Institute of Education, Mysore, India

#### Theoretical framework of the study

In order to improve instructional methods carried out in the classroom and improvement of students' learning, there have always been a search for more potential ways of instruction. One of the strategies that has evolved as a useful tool in leading students towards meaningful learning is 'Concept Map'. Concept mapping is seen as a useful tool for helping students learn about the structure of knowledge and the process of knowledge production or meta-knowledge. In contrast to students who learn by rote, students who employ meaningful learning are expected to retain knowledge over an extensive time span and find new related learning progressively easier.

The use of concept maps as a teaching strategy was first developed by J.D.Novak in the early 1980's, derived from Ausubel's learning theory which places central emphasis on the influence of students' prior knowledge on subsequent meaningful learning. Concepts maps are diagrammatic representations which show meaningful relationships between concepts in the form of propositions which are linked together by words, circles, and cross links. Concepts are arranged hierarchically with the Super ordinate concepts at the top of the map, and subordinate at the bottom which are less inclusive than higher ones. "Cross links" are used to connect different segments of the concepts hierarchy, which indicate syntheses of related concepts, a new interpretation of old ideas, and some degree of creative thinking.

In recent years, along with the various innovative methods ,constructivism in the classrooms as an interpretative process involving individual's constructions of meanings in science is being suggested. New constructions are built through their relations to prior knowledge and it is a pedagogic challenge for teacher to focus on students' learning with understanding. To learn science from a constructivist philosophy implies direct experience with science as a process of knowledge generation in which prior knowledge is elaborated and changed on the basis of fresh meaning negotiated with peers and teacher. Concept mapping stimulates this process by making it explicit.

This research paper is an outcome of an ERIC project, NCERT which aimed at investigating the use of concept mapping as a strategy to enhance meaningful learning and to improve upon the process skills of students in science.

#### **Objectives of the Study**

• To develop and implement concept mapping as a strategy in the selected few units of science for VIII standard students and study its effect on the achievement , concept attainment, and the process skills of students belonging to different intelligence groups.

• To study the attitude of students towards concept mapping in science.

• To study the gender differences in science achieve-

ment, process skills and attitude towards concept mapping.

# Design and Sample of the Study

The study was quasi-experimental in nature wherein non-randomized pre and posttest design was used. The intact classes of eighth standard as a whole were considered as experimental (47) and control group(42) for the study, from two local schools of Mysore city.

# Tools used in the study

Raven Progressive Matrix was used to group the students according to their intelligence. An achievement test based on selected units of the eighth standard syllabus, a process skills test and a concept attainment test were developed to measure the students' achievement, process skills and attainment of concepts in science. An attitude scale was developed to measure students' attitude towards concept mapping.

# **Procedural Details of the Study**

The lessons in the selected units of science were developed based on constructivist model which included i) planning student exploration ii) explanation iii) expansion and iv) evaluation. The tools and the lessons were tried out and Item analysis was carried out in case of achievement and process skills test. The tools were administered to both experimental and control groups as pre-test. The project was implemented to the students of Experimental Group during which they were oriented about the steps involved in concept mapping followed by the implementation of the science lessons. Concept maps were evolved during the process of instruction along with the explanation. Concept maps were developed at the review stage on the blackboard with the help of students. The student constructed maps in groups as well as individually, were made to be presented and discussed. The concept maps were used as assessment tools in all the units.

The data obtained was analysed descriptively and inferentially by calculating percentages, mean, SD and "t" values and ANOVA.

# **Major Findings of the Study**

i) The analysis of data revealed that the experimental group students had performed better when compared to the control group on the achievement test, process skills and concept attainment test on the post test occasion. This was evidenced through the "t" values obtained for achievement test (9.66); process skills (6.34) and the concept attainment test (4.40).

The analysis of students' (experimental) attitude towards concept mapping revealed that almost 90% of them had a very positive attitude. ii) The F values obtained (5.921) showed that there is a difference between and within the different intelligence groups of the experimental group in their postachievement test implying that the concept mapping strategy has had a differential effect on students belonging to different intelligence groups. Similarly, the F value obtained for concept attainment test was found significant implying that there is a difference within and between the students of different intelligence in their concept attainment ability. But there was no difference found either between or within the different grades of students in their performance of process skills.

iii) There was no difference observed between girls and boys in their achievement, process skills, concept attainment and in their attitude towards concept mapping.

Based on the results of this study, it is concluded that there is a need to include concept mapping with the constructivist basis as one of the major approaches to teach science in schools and provide workable strategies to help students "learn how to learn".

# References

Novak, J.D. (1991) Clarify with concept maps : A tool for teachers alike, *The Science Teacher*. 58(7), 45-49.

Novak, J.D. and Bob Gowin (1984) *Learning how to learn*, Cambridge University Press, USA.

# Learning to Think: Lines of Research in Dianoia Project

#### **Maria Odete Valente**

Universidade de Lisboa, Lisbon, Portugal

The Dianoia Project has been developing several lines of educational research pertaining to the area of Teaching and Learning to think since 1986. This contribution seeks to outline the theoretical foundations of these lines of research, describe them briefly, point out some results and products of the project and confront with others in this line, and take stock of some issues raised by the research done.

Within the conceptual framework of theories of intelligence developed in cognitive psychology, the Dianoia Project had as main objective the creation of models of pedagogic intervention in the various curriculum areas, aiming specifically at the improvement of learners' cognitive skills. The research carried out by Dianoia is distinguished both by its options of research and intervention inside the curriculum and by its focus on the use of metacognitive stategies.

The early phase of theoretical and experimental research work began in 1986. In its early stage the project issued a number of publications which were intended to diffuse not only the results obtained so far, but also this specific line of research. The second phase started in 1990 and has developed according to several lines of research, namely assessment of effects in compensatory education, problem solving in physics and mathematics and in pre-service teacher training. The research carried seems to confirm the potentialities of these interventions, while it raises some issues concerning other, non-cognitive, dimensions associated with the development of thinking.

Dianoia has been in essence an intervention project; the research conducted has been founded on a broad conceptualisation of intelligence which is not subsidiary to a single theory, but which rather gathers suggestions from various currents of research, which emphasise the role played of tactics in intelligent behaviour. The project is structured as an intervention directed towards the teaching of thinking; it offers suggestions for strategies and mechanisms that are considered to be able to promote a certain modifiability for the productivity of thinking.

In Dianoia the action research is conducted at the curriculum level. This is in line with the research - both theories and data provided by the latest work in the field - which advocates that learners learn about the use and control of their cognitive processes more effectively if they are taught directly within the various curriculum subject areas.. Besides this option directed to interventions in curriculum subject areas, Dianoia takes into account that thinking skills are acquired through the improvement of metacognition and therefore it has explored the possibility of promoting students' success through the convergence of teaching to think and teaching to think about thinking - metacognition.

The development of metacognition has proved effective in reading comprehension, in knowledge retention and retrieval, and in problem solving. Beyond the acquisitions of skills, the learner learns how to control his learning, becomes better informed, more independent and pursues a goal in his learning and also focuses more on tasks by controlling his attention. Metacognition may thus be regarded as the key ability.

As metacognitive thinking does not develop naturally, instructions have been designed to train metacognitive thinking directly and explicitly.

To make possible the acquisition by learners of a vast range of thinking skills, from the most elementary such as remembering, recognizing, comparing, and inferring, to the most complex such as problem solving, decision making, thinking creatively and critically, it is crucial to train learners in a systematic way how to use and regulate these skills. But it is also crucial to teach them directly and explicitly as well as to instruct learners about the benefits the use and regulation of thinking skills can offer them.

Indeed, learners are not to be expected to develop spontaneously such skills; nor does the study of any given subject necessarily imply that learners are likely to acquire the thinking skills they are badly in need of to evaluate and apply the subject knowledge in situations other than those in which they learn it.

Conceiving any cognitive training presupposes a definition and description as clear as possible of the skills to be trained before setting them as learning objectives and developing instruments for their measurement, by focusing on learners' cognitive and metacognitive behaviours, thus measuring the training efficacy. In short, Projecto Dianoia's general methodology is characterized by being a methodology of intervention which capitalizes on the purposeful, systematic, and direct teaching of thinking strategies permanently reinforced by metacognition. Learners are continuously stimulated to be aware of, and control their own mental processes while they learn curriculum contents.

Such methodology is developed and tailored in different ways to meet the learning situation found and learners' age level. Diversified learning strategies placing more or less emphasis on learners' awareness and control of mental processes are then developed according to the specificity of situations.

Although Projecto Dianoia has developed its action based on the assumption that thinking teaching is more effective when done within the standard curriculum, Dianoia researchers consider it an unresolved issue. Their option can be accounted for by the following reasons:

• the act of thinking relates closely to the specific fields of knowledge, which is not conducive to conceptualize its instruction and learning out of any corps of contents;

• once confronted with unknown situations, the learner always tries to interpret them, and think about them, by using what he/she already knows, which seems to account for the teaching of thinking skills in specific contexts, familiar to the learner;

• studies developed recently in the area of problem solving in specific knowledge domains have shown the existence of strong interactions of knowledge structures and cognitive structures.

# Levels of Inquiry: Role of Language & Assessment

Anjana G. Arora

Northern Kentucky University, Highland Heights, USA

### **Purpose of the Study**

This paper-presentation is based on my observations and analysis of my students and my discourses and inscriptions as I engaged them in the process of learning how to teach science at the elementary grade levels.

## **Introduction & Significance**

Science education reform efforts around the world are focusing on teaching and assessing science learning with emphasis on inquiry where the learners construct their own knowledge (Bruner 1960, Driver 1983, Glasersfeld 1998, Lemke 1990, NCERT, 2000; NRC 1996). This concept of knowledge construction, often called constructivism, has revolutionized teaching and learning of mathematics and science. Glasersfeld (1992) emphasizes that the foundation of any learning process is language and the meaning different people assign to objects, events, and experiences. Mental abstractions of sensory materials construct concepts. Bloom (2001) further explains how this process of inquiry and knowledge construction is language dependent. Discourses that happen in a science classroom are distinctly apart from day-to-day life discourses and may even be categorized as a discourse in a "new" language - the language of science (Lemke, 1990). Language of science is like an "Auntie-Tongue" - the language of the elite (Dasgupta, 1993). These discourses influence the inscriptions (written descriptions) of both the learner (student) and the learned (teacher). Ultimately, these discourses and inscriptions establish the assessment and evaluation practices and their results. By recording and analyzing the above described experiences, we are able to shed more light on the complex process of learning and teaching and hopefully be able to help ourselves and others in becoming better learners and teachers of science.

#### **Research Approach**

*Data Collection:* For the past twenty years I have worked with students from primary to college level at various schools and colleges in India and United States of America. The data that forms the basis of this paper is based on selected samples of these students' work and some of the discourses I have had with these stu-

dents either individually or in a classroom setting. I did not begin this study with any particular purposeful question to investigate. I was simply teaching and attempting to become a better learner and teacher of science and help my students become better learners and teachers of science. In research literature, such studies are categorized as phenomenological studies.

*Philosophical Basis:* Phenomenology does not provide a prescription for conducting research but presents a script after the play is played and the curtains are drawn. This script explains the process that was involved in arriving at the conclusions and the suggested implications. (Berger & Luckmann, 1966; Bogdan & Taylor, 1975; Lincoln & Guba, 1985; Maanen, 1988). I, the researcher, was the key instrument of data collection. Using myself as an instrument enabled me to be responsive, consider the circumstances, adapt techniques to the situation, analyze the data instantly, and clarify and synthesize as the study evolved (Lincoln & Guba, 1985).

Data Analysis: Data analysis was conducted simultaneously with the data collection phase. I highlighted specific aspects of my classroom discourses and asked my students to do the same regarding their inscriptions. This was followed by categorizing the data following open coding, i.e., each phenomenon was given a name and generally the names were "in-vivo", that is, words from the data itself were used to label or code the data (Strauss & Corbin, 1990, p. 69). These codes were synthesized to form "main-codes" followed by further synthesis into "meta-codes". A report was compiled for each of the "meta-codes". Based on this report I was able to arrive at various themes that included the "main" as well as the "open" codes. From time to time, I have shared my analysis with my students for member-check (Lincoln 1985) and they have helped me further evolve and refine these themes.

### Discussion

Based on the data analysis the following themes were obvious:

Science learning and teaching happens at different levels of inquiry depending on who is constructing what knowledge and how it is being constructed. For example, who poses the questions/problems, who is responsible for devising the procedures, who is finding the solutions or who is replicating what is already known (Bonnstetter, 1998).

Language plays a critical role in this process of knowledge construction. For example, often when asked to "explain" (infer) a phenomenon, my students will "describe" the phenomenon and vice-versa. Similarly, "objects float because they are light" is often expressed because that is what is commonly believed and unfortunately written in many textbooks, including the ones my students use.

The native speakers of English have no particular advantage over non-native speakers in the process of learning science using the English language. Even for the native speakers the language of science is a "new" language often perceived as a foreign language and/ or the language of the "elite".

Ultimately, the level of inquiry and language determines the nature of assessment and evaluation practices.

During my presentation, I will show several examples of the raw-data, followed by how the data was analyzed and the reports complied followed by how I arrived at the above conclusions.

## Implications

Constructing scientific knowledge in an inquiry-based instructional setting is absolutely dependent on language skills and processes irrespective of the language of instruction. Even for people who speak just one language and are instructed in that language, the process of inquiry and knowledge construction in science is experienced as a "new" language acquisition. This does not mean that we teach science as a language acquisition process but guide the learner to evolve and explain their ideas and connect those to language and math instruction they are receiving. This demands that the science, math and language curricula be aligned both horizontally and vertically.

To facilitate construction of knowledge the learner has to be provided with the opportunity to construct and communicate that knowledge at different levels of inquiry and this process should make connections between the learners', peers', teachers' and the scientific language.

There is a need for the learned and the learners to comprehend the complexity of the discourse that happens in science classrooms to enable instructive feedback loops. The ultimate aim being the establishment of demanding and yet successful science learning and assessment experiences for ALL learners.

#### Refrences

Berger, P. L., & Luckmann, T. (1966) *The social construction of reality: treatise in sociology of knowledge.* Garden City, NY: Doubleday & Company, Inc.

Bloom, P. (2001) Precis of how children learn the meaning of words. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences 24, 1095-1103*.

Bogdan, R., & Taylor, S. J. (1975) Introduction to qualitative research methods: *A phenomenological approach to social science*. New York: John Wiley & Sons.

Bonnstetter, R. J. (1998) Electronic Journal of Science Education V3 N1 - September 1998 - Bonnstetter Guest Editorial <u>http://unr.edu/homepage/jcannon/ejse/</u> <u>bonnstetter.html</u>

Dasgupta, P. (1993) *The Otherness of English*. New Delhi: Sage Publications.

Driver, R. (1983) *The pupil as scientist?* Philadelphia: Open University Press.

Glasersfeld, E. V. (1998) Cognition, construction of knowledge, and teaching. In M. Mathews (ed.).

Glasesrsfeld, E. V. (1992) Constructivist approach to experiential foundations of mathematical concepts. In S. Hills (Ed.), The proceedings of the second international conference on the history and philosophy of science and science teaching (p. 553-571) Vol. II. Kingston, Ontario: Queens's University.

Lemke, J. (1990) *Talking Science: Language, Learning and Values*. Norwood, NJ: Abex.

Lincoln, Y. S., Guba, E. G. (1985) Naturalistic Inquiry. Beverly Hills: Sage.

Maanen, J. V. (1988) Tales of the field: *On writing ethnography*. Chicago, University of Chicago Press.

National Research Council (NRC). (1996) *The National Science Education Standards*. Washington, D. C.: National Academy Press.

NCERT: National Curriculum Framework for School Education (November 2000). <u>http://www.ncert.nic.in/</u><u>frame.htm</u>

Strauss, A., & Corbin, J. (1990) Basics of qualitative research: *Grounded theory procedures and techniques*. Newbury Park, CA: Sage.

Zachos, P. et. al. (2000) Setting theoretical and empirical foundations for assessing scientific inquiry and discovery in educational programs. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 37(9), 936-962.

# Culture, Language and Cognition

### **Patrick V. Dias**

University of Frankfurt, Frankfurt, Germany

The dominant discourse in natural and social sciences insinuates an understanding of culture/language and cognition as essentialistic, formally invariable, biologically conditioned, universally univocal and linearly scalable entities, and pleads for a single universal language of thought and knowledge, and their expressions (the so-called Western science, mathematics, technology with its inherent ethnocentric, patriarchal and educational canon!).

But in recent years a critical work of deconstruction and decentring originating from different sources has taken place, for the sake of establishing universally accepted epistemological standards in the sociology of scientific knowledge and of acknowledging the contributions of a variety of cultures, groups (women, subalterns) and practices trying to master local indeterminacies.

A standpoint, which is embedded in historical situated consciousness with an international comparative horizon and mindful of our contextual rootedness as being and becoming in a concrete world, will, certainly, approach culture, language and cognition as characterised basically by diversity, without overlooking the phenomenological similarity that underlies them. All three have one thing in common, namely that they are shaped by a pluralism of signs, meanings, expressions, knowledge and order systems within a symbolically constructed community with open or closed boundaries.

This approach takes furthermore into consideration the fact that culture, language and cognition as indicators of belongingness to a social or scientific group, which seeks to realise itself as a collective subject, is traversed (constituted and/or constrained) by unequal relations of power, by divergent world interpretations, by multiple types of expressions and distinguishing modes of conceptualisations, which are ranked in their status according to a scale of superiority or inferiority, dominance and subordination.

This paper will review and present accordingly

• an explanation of culture as a dynamically and non-homogenously constituted configuration of knowledge, beliefs, value and behaviour patterns, which, even though not free from ambiguities and contradictions, are (or can be) bearers of universally valid core messages;

• an interpretation of language not just as spoken and written word but basically as a conceptual metaphor pointing to many other modes of expression of our thoughts, feelings, communication practices, artistic and aesthetic visions, musical emotions, technical and architectural designs;

• and an understanding of cognition as a way of perceiving the reality, of conceptualising the self, the other and the world, of categorizing experience, of dealing mentally with thought and images and of building representational codes, that are characterised by multiperspectivity and contextuality, situated both at the individual as well as social level of analysis.
## **Challenges in Measurement of Scientific Attitude**

### Leena Deshpande

SNDT Women's University, Pune, India

Development of scientific attitude is considered as an important objective of science learning all over the world. Many teaching techniques are evolved and suggested to develop scientific attitude. Some out of them are the outcome of elaborate efforts of researchers. The challenge remains with the measurement of effects of these techniques. In other words it is a challenge of measurement of learning of scientific attitude, which is discussed at length in this write up. During the course of my work in the area of scientific attitude for the last 25 years, I have come across these challenges and tried to face them. This paper is aimed at making teacher educators, teachers, research students and also NGOs in the field aware of these challenges.

Following are some of the major challenges in measurement of scientific attitude

- 1) Conceptualizing
- 2) Domain decision
- 3) Content validity
- 4) Selection of right type of measuring instrument
- 5) Objectivity
- 6) Teachers training

### The challenge of conceptualizing

Scientific attitude comprises of many complex factors. Only some of them are listed below after detailed study of related literature.

- a) Belief on cause and effect relationship.
- b) Suspend the judgment till enough data is gathered.
- c) Emphasis on empirical evidence.
- d) Open mindedness.
- e) Accuracy in thought and action.
- f) Intellectual honesty.
- g) Objectivity.
- h) Criticality.
- i) Unbiased decision making ability.

j) Ability to identify difference between hypothesis and facts.

- k) Habit of reviewing the data.
- l) To keep away oneself from blind beliefs.
- m) Curiosity.
- n) Ability to think logically.
- o) Faith in development.
- p) Faith in problem solving.
- q) Ability to recognize self limitations.
- r) Interest in newness.

Apart from above sub-factors of scientific attitude, scientific temper and scientific outlook are the concepts having a very close relationship with scientific attitude. Under such circumstances, it is mandatory for test constructor –

• To understand and define each factor of the above list by dictionary meaning and also by some examples.

• To identify some similarities and differences in these factors.

To classify them into sub-categories.

• To limit to some of these factors for the purpose of measurement so as to make the measuring instrument usable.

• To make operational definition of scientific attitude.

In the process of limiting to few factors and converting those into operational definitions, the totality of the concept and as a consequence the totality of measuring instrument is likely to be threatened.

Apart from this, the selected factors (which will define scientific attitude) may not be easily convertible in the test items in spite of best efforts of defining them operationally.

### The challenge of domain decision

Psychological variables are generally categorized into three domains. These are cognitive, affective and psychomotor. The domain of the variable which is to be measured needs to be fixed for two reasons.

- a) It helps in deciding right type of measuring instrument.
- b) It also helps in writing appropriate test items.

The test constructor faces the challenge in making this decision as attitude is generally categorized as a factor of the affective domain. But if we look at the factors given above, which comprise scientific attitude, we realize that only one single domain is not sufficient to encompass all the factors. Categorization of each factor under some single domain will also be artificial. Still if tried, factors like objectivity, criticality, unbiased decision making ability, ability to identify difference between hypothesis and facts will have to be categorized under cognitive domain. Where as factors like intellectual honesty, habit of reviewing the data, faith in development, faith in problem solving will occupy space in affective domain. A factor like accuracy in action will go under the psychomotor domain.

### The challenge of content validity

A decision of content validity is the next challenge for the test constructor. The development of scientific attitude starts from learning of science. But later on, it is expected to exhibit its presence in all walks of life. So the content is too vast for the test or it can be said that it will not be limited to the specific content. To select the sample content for construction of scientific attitude test items from general experiences is not an easy task.

Another issue in this is how one can guarantee transfer of scientific attitude from one area to another, i.e. the person having scientific attitude in health related issues may not have it in issues related to religion.

### Challenge of selection of right type of measuring instrument

Witnessing concrete evidence of scientific attitude through objective measuring instrument is extremely difficult. Attitude is defined as a stable predisposition to respond. This stability is understood either

(a) As a consistency across modes of responding to an attitude object.

### Or

(b) As a consistency in individual responses across time.

Such an analysis suggests the inadequacy of the usual procedure of measuring attitude at a single time by attitude scales and calling these responses attitude.

Scientific attitude cannot involve only a measure of final product. The process also becomes important with the use of word scientific, as this word refers to the way attitude is developed. If an attitude scale is constructed and the test item asks to give favorable or unfavorable response to the statements then this response alone may not provide enough information about scientific attitude because the process invloved in reaching to this response cannot be revealed.

The test items for measuring scientific attitude need to measure cognitive, psychomotor and affective aspects. So varied types of test items need to be constructed. A routine type of attitude scale will not serve the purpose. Multiple types of tests and test items need to be thought.

### **Challenge of objectivity**

Whichever is the tool chosen for measurement of scientific attitude, it will carry along with it numerous problems of objective measurement because of the complexity of the phenomenon. It is observed that experts in the field hardly come to a unanimous opinion about scientific attitude as a procedure and also as a product. It affects adversely on inter-examiners' objectivity.

### Challenge of teacher training

Teachers hardly get any training of construction of scientific attitude measurement test at pre-service or inservice training programs. This training is essential as the standardized tools are rarely available and even if they are available they may not serve local purposes. Teachers training institutes need to think in this direction. It is seen that this major objective of science teaching is neglected in evaluation, measurement process and so as a consequence of this it is neglected in teaching too. At S.N.D.T. Women's University, we have done some efforts at pre-service teachers training programs, at M.Ed. and at doctoral research level to orient and to provide some experiences to our students regarding measurement of scientific attitude and have tried to over come some of the above said challenges.

## The Effects of Metacognitive Instruction Embedded within Asynchronous Learning Network on Scientific Inquiry Skills.

Zemira R. Mevarech, Michal Zion & Tova Michalsky

School of Education, Bar Ilan university, Israel.

During the last decade, much research has focused on Asynchronous Learning Network (ALN). Although the technology seems to have the potential to enhance students' achievement, empirical findings have been inconsistent. Whereas a few number of studies reported positive effects of ALN on achievement, others have shown no significant differences between ALN and control groups, and still others indicated that ALN students performed less well compared to their counterparts studying under face-to-face interaction (Michalski, 2003).

Why has ALN only limited effects on students' achievement? At least two factors may explain this phenomenon. First, ALN is only one segment within a learning environment, and therefore ALN in itself is not sufficient to enhance learning. Second, and most important, students (and teachers) lack the skills needed to learn effectively in ALN environments. For example, analyzing students interactions in ALN environment indicates that quite often students do not activate metacognitive skills during their learning, and therefore their discourse through ALN is disoriented, unfocused, and not effective enough for enhancing higher-order cognitive processes. These findings raise the need to provide metacognitive instruction within ALN environment. The purpose of the present study is, therefore, to develop metacognitive instructional method appropriate for ALN, and to examine its effects on scientific inquiry skills as compared to ALN with no metacognitive instruction or to metacognitive instruction implemented within traditional, face-to-face learning environment.

What kind of metacognitive instruction would be appropriate for ALN? To address this question, we reviewed empirical studies that focused on the outcomes of metacognitive instruction. On a different line of research Mevarech and Kramarski (1997) and Kramarski and Mevarech (2003) developed metacognitive instructional method, called IMPROVE that significantly improved students' achievement in mathematics. IMPROVE was designed on the basis of current research in cognitive and metacognitive psychology. IMPROVE students study in small groups, using self-addressed metacognitive questions that guide

their learning. The series of questions include: Comprehension questions (e.g., What is the problem all about?); Connection questions (e.g., How the problem at hand is similar to or different from problems you have solved in the past?); Strategic questions (e.g., What strategies are appropriate for solving the problem and why?); and Reflection questions (e.g., Does the solution make sense? Can you solve the problem differently, how and why?).

In a series of studies, including the above mentioned ones, Mevarech and Kramarski showed the effects of IMPROVE on different kinds of mathematical reasoning, and various components of students' discourse. In these studies, IMPROVE students significantly outperformed students who studied individually. The effects were observed on higher and lower achievers, as well as on different kinds of cognitive levels. Furthermore, the effects were evident immediately after the study, as well as a year later.

Although these studies were implemented in traditional, face-to-face classrooms, we hypothesized that metacognitive instruction embedded within ALN environment would largely improve students' achievement. Furthermore, there is reason to suppose that metacognitive instruction has the potential to enhance not only mathematics achievement, but also science achievement, and in particular scientific inquiry skills that required the activation of metacognitive processes.

Given the above review, we designed an innovative learning environment, called **MINT**, the acronym of the components composed the instructional method: **M**etacognitive guided **I**nquiry within asynchronous Learning **N**etworked **T**echnology. We hypothesized that students' exposed to **MINT** will improve their general and domain-specific scientific abilities.

To address this issue, we investigated the effects of four learning conditions on students' scientific inquiry skills. The four learning conditions are: (a) Metacognitive instruction embedded within ALN, (MINT); (b) ALN with no metacognitive guidance; (c) Metacognitive instruction embedded within face-to-face interaction; and (d) Face-to-face interaction with no metacognitive guidance. In the present study, the scientific inquiry proc-

#### Assessment and Measurement

esses included both general and domain specific inquiry skills in microbiology, and the metacognitive instructional method was adopted from IMPROVE.

Participants were 407 tenth grade students who studied in eight classrooms, two classrooms under each condition. Intact classrooms were randomly assigned into condition. All students, under all conditions, studied the unit Invitation to Inquiry. They all used the same learning materials for the same duration of time. The unit Invitation to Inquiry reflects PISA approach regarding science literacy. Students were administered a battery of pretests and posttests that assessed students' scientific literacy, including general scientific abilities and domain specific knowledge in microbiology.

Results indicated no significant differences between conditions at the beginning of the study, but significant differences between conditions at the end of the study. The differences were observed on both posttest measures: general scientific abilities and domain-specific inquiry skills in microbiology. Further analyses showed that MINT students significantly outperformed all other groups, whereas face-to-face with no metacognitive guidance (condition d) acquired the lowest mean scores; no significant differences were found between the other two groups (conditions b and c). The positive effects of MINT were observed mainly on the following cognitive skills: comprehending scientific problems. planning experiment, identifying main variables, suggesting appropriate analyses, and drawing conclusions on the basis of scientific evident.

The findings indicate that MINT makes significant contributions to students' achievement in science literacy, particularly to designing experiments and drawing conclusions on the basis of scientific evidence. The theoretical and practical implications of the study will be discussed at the conference.

### References

Kramarski, B. & Mevarech, Z.R. (2003) Enhancing mathematical reasoning in the classroom: Effects of cooperative learning and metacognitive training. *American Educational Research Journal*, 40, 281-310.

Mevarech, Z. R. & Kramrski, B. (1997) IMPROVE: A multidimensional method for teaching mathematics in heterogeneous classrooms. *American Educational Research Journal*, 34, 365-395.

Michalski, T. (2003) The effects of ALN and metacognitive instruction on students scientific inquiry skills. Doctoral thesis submitted to Bar-Ilan University, Israel (Hebrew).

## An Overview of the Development of Learning Standards for Science and Mathematics Education: KG – 8

Sridhar Rajagopalan, Vyjayanthi Sankar & Poonam Batta Educational Initiatives Pvt. Ltd., Ahmedabad, India

### Significance and Objectives of Study

Learning Standards are a set of clear statements broken up class and subject-wise specifying the key educational objectives that must be achieved by students at that stage in that subject. They seek to answer *what* must be learnt, sometimes covering a bit of the *why* in the process, but leaving the *how* (and even the details of the *what*) to the school or the teacher.

India does not have a comprehensive Learning Standards document. The NCERT-developed Minimum Levels of Learning (MLL's) are often considered as the graded learning expectations for schools in India. The MLL's are framed in such a manner as to be mechanistic, mentioning highly specific, fragmentary learning objectives in terms of observable behaviour while ignoring the underlying understanding desired (The Great Indian Tradition - Padma M. Sarangapani).

The goal of the current project was to identify, understand and bridge some of these gaps, and to develop Learning Standards (for Science, Mathematics, Social Studies, English and Hindi) that ensures a minimum quality by clearly specifying expectations, while reducing ambiguity and disparities between schools and regions.

#### **Research Design and Procedure**

The project consisted of two exercises – (1) a comparative study of Learning Standards and other curricular documents of various countries and the Indian Boards of Education and (2) framing of Learning Standards.

### 1. Comparative Study

In the process of designing Learning Standards for KG-8, a detailed review of what other countries do in K-8 education with what is being done in India was carried out by analyzing the curricular documents and textbooks available.

List of Countries S Detailed Review	India	
Science	Mathematics	
Canada(Ontario) Singapore United Kingdom USA (NSES & Virginia)	Japan Singapore United Kingdom USA(NCTM & California)	NCERT Framework; MLL; CBSE, ICSE (Anglo– Indian Board),and syllabus documents of various State Boards

The purpose of this exercise was three-fold. (1) to understand what children of other countries learn and are able to do (2) to consider what other countries consider important to teach in schools and (3) to draw upon the base of study done in other countries that can be used in India.

### 2. Framing of Learning Standards

An analysis of available concept-age maps, child development theory, curricular theory, common errors and shortcomings in children's thinking and learning were also considered while developing the Learning Standards. The content, structure, and clarity of the Learning Standards have been validated by subject experts. Feedback was obtained from subject teachers from a cross section of schools in India.

### Findings

Some of the key learnings from the comparative study:

1. Singapore is unique as compared to other countries studied in that the content in science is organized into 5 themes (subject areas) namely Diversity, cycles, systems, Energy and Interactions.

The National Science Education Standards of USA includes Nature of Science elements into the curriculum.

2. Ontario introduces design as an important component in science learning.

3. Singapore and India's Minimum level of Learning introduces science from class 3 while the rest of the countries studied have science from Kindergarten or class 1.

4. Mathematics syllabus of Singapore does not group topics into strands/ areas of study (like Numbers, Measurement, Geometry, Algebra, Statistics, etc) that run through all the grades, instead handles the topics without such grouping.

Different topics in Mathematics are introduced in different classes across the countries (For example, Alberta introduces 'probability' in Class 1, National Council for Teachers of Mathematics – USA introduces from Pre K- 2, England does the topic from class 3-6 while Singapore handles probability only in class 8).

Some of the core recommendations made in the Learning Standards document:

### 1. For Science Education

a) The current focus in the Indian curriculum is on teaching facts, and development of *skills* is not being emphasized. Students need to acquire skills necessary for scientific inquiry and the skills necessary for the workplace.

b) The curriculum should emphasize understanding about the *applications* of science and technology in real life, so that students can relate/apply the knowledge acquired for real life solutions.

c) Emphasis should be on making the students aware about the *nature and history of science* (for example, what is currently believed as truth in science may not have been so in the past or in the future).

d) The curriculum should create awareness in students towards the existence of patterns and *unifying concepts* in science, as this will enable them to look at the big picture.

e) It is recommended that some abstract concepts be introduced later than is being currently done (for example, existence of gases is not to be done before grade 4. Young children think of air as 'emptiness' or 'nothing' and find ideas like 'air is a material substance' / 'air is made of gases' difficult to grasp.<sup>1</sup>).

f) Mental health should be included in Biology from grade 2 onwards (for example, children should understand that talking to someone may help people understand their feelings or problems and what to do about them<sup>2</sup>).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Jayashree Ramadas, Small Science - Class IV, Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education., p.81

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> American Association for Advancement of Science and National Science Teachers Association, Project 2061, Atlas for science literacy, p.93

#### 2. For Mathematics Education

a) The goal of Mathematics teaching is to develop in children *mathematical thinking*, teach them *procedures* and also create a *positive attitude* towards Maths. There is a feeling that the current curriculum focuses mainly on the second of these (i.e. teaching Maths procedures). One way of encouraging Mathematical thinking is to build concepts gradually clearly showing the links and patterns underlying different concepts.

b) Students should be taught the *applications of various concepts* so that they are able to apply them efficiently and effectively in everyday life.

c) Increased emphasis should be laid on '*problem solv-ing*' i.e. the children's ability to tackle problems that are conceptually challenging and which have not experienced before.

d) Fraction operations should be de-emphasized and decimal sense strengthened as that is what is used mostly.

e) Emphasis on *mental maths* (precise calculation mentally) and *estimation* (rough calculation) skills, *visual and spatial skills* (understanding symmetry and shapes) should be increased.

f) The basics of statistics should be introduced early.

## Acquisition of Process Skills by IV Standard Pupils through an Instructional Programme in Environmental Studies

N. Ramkumar & Sudarshan C. Panigrahi

National Institute of Advanced Studies, Bangalore, India

### Introduction

An Environmental study is a human enterprise through which we come to some understanding of the Biological, Social and Physical aspects of the world around. Their understanding involves the development of ideas or concepts, which enable related situations, objects or events to be linked together, so that past experience enables us to make sense of new experiences. The cognitive process of relating to experiences and learning content requires the usage of process skills. Thus process skills consist of following skills (Harlen, 1993), Observing, Question-raising Designing and Making, Predicting, Hypothesizing, Communicating Effectively, Devising and Planning investigations measuring and Calculating Finding patterns and Relationships, Manipulating Materials and Equipment effectively.

The focus of the present study is on acquisition of process skills by IV standard pupils. The acquisition of process skills is realized through pupils' ideas and change in pupils' ideas within the 'context' of scientific investigation created through an instructional programme in environmental studies.

### Significance of this study

The various policy initiatives on Environmental studies place emphasis on 'learners to relate and understand their surrounding environment'. (NCERT, 1981, 2000). The research efforts to translate these policies into practice have resulted in development of Instructional programme for teachers and pupils (Lobo, 1990 and Sharma, 1994). The instructional programme developed to understand the process skills were based on Linear model of process skills, where the process skills were assumed to be arranged in a linear fashion, which develops in isolation, independent of content and context. The idea that once developed, these skills tends to be transferred to other content areas has been criticized by Harlen (1986), Roth and Roychoudhury (1993). In light of the criticism on linear model, an alternative model based on constructivist approaches has been proposed by Harlen (1993). The emergence of this alternative conceptual learning model makes it imperative to refine and question the utility of Instructional Programmes based on linear model of process skills. Therefore, there is a need to develop Instructional programmes based on alternative model of process skill development.

### Process Skill Development – An Instructional Frame Work

When process skill development is viewed from the perspective of conceptual learning model (Harlen, 1993), learning is seen as modification or expansion of pupil's exisiting ideas. These ideas result, when pupils, teachers interact with learning experiences. This learning involves the processes of planning, implementation and evaluation of learning experiences. It is in this context, instruction as a process emerges, since the primary purpose of instruction is to cause learning. Thus instruction is an intentional, interpersonal process (Anderson & Burns, 1989) meant for planning, implementing and evaluating the learning experiences. In other words, instruction is a plan of action, implemented to modify or expand the pupils initial ideas.

The emergence of constructivist approaches provides an instructional framework for process skill development. In this regard the instruction framework for the present study is derived from the constructivist model of curricular development (Driver, 1988). In this model, instruction is seen as a continuous process involving the aspects such as planning, implementation and evaluation. These aspects are interrelated and interact with each other and constitute a 'whole'. Instruction guides the planning, implementation and assessment of learning strategies and materials. In turn planning, implementation and assessment procedures, shape the instruction by facilitating the design of learning strategies and materials.

The process skills were assumed to act as 'whole' and influence the conceptual learning among pupils. This assumption along with the constructivist approaches to learning and researchers' practical knowledge of the school were the basis on which an instructional programme was conceptualized in Environmental studies.

### Objectives

To prepare an Instructional Programme in Environmental Studies for IV Standard pupils.

To implement the prepared instructional programme in environmental studies for IV Standard pupils.

To identify the process skills employed by pupils during the Instructional Programme.

To study the acquisition of process skills employed by the pupils during the Instructional Programme.

### **Instructional Programme**

In the present study the Instructional Programme was meant to provide instructional support to teacher. This instructional programme was prepared with respect to three topics (Soil, Sound and Water evaporation from 4th standard, Environmental Studies text book of Karnataka state Government). The Instructional programme consists of following components: Instructional materials for teachers, Lesson plans, Instructional sheets for pupils, Teaching strategies and Assessment procedure.

#### **Research Design**

The data collection approaches were qualitative and were governed by 'Case Study' Methodology. A rural primary school in Karnataka was purposively chosen as a Case study school. The researcher took the role of a teacher to collect data from IV standard pupils. The data was collected through Participant observation, In-depth interviews and documentary analysis for a period of six months. The data from participant observation, documentary analysis and in depth interviews were used to prepare field notes. The data analysis consists of reading and re-reading the field notes. The emergent patterns were listed in terms of interactions with pupils, teachers, parents and classroom. The patterns were triangulated to construct the meaning on the preparation of Instructional programme.

In order to identify the process skills employed by pupils during the instructional programme, pupils' ideas were grouped according to pupils' activities across three topics. The recurring patterns in pupils' ideas were coded and categorized to construct meaning on a particular activity. The meaning that evolved for particular activity was constructed. This meaning was compared with process skill indicators (Harlen, 1993) to identify process skills employed by pupils for each activity. The process skills employed by the pupils indicated ideas related to process skills. Pupil's ideas were further categorized for each activity to identify the change in pupils' ideas. The change in pupils ideas obtained for each activity was triangulated to construct meaning on the acquisition of process skills through instructional progamme.

### Findings

In the present study the findings of the study have been expressed as four assertions. They are as follows:

Assertion One: Instructional programme in environmental studies facilitated the teacher in evolving teaching strategies for enhancing teacher-pupils interactions during the acquisition of process skills.

Assertion Two: During the context of scientific investigation pupils expressed autonomy in learning through interactions with teachers and with fellow peers.

*Assertion three:* Pupils proposed hypothesis based on certain concepts to explain the occurrence of events during the context of scientific investigation.

*Assertion four:* Pupils showed willingness to change ideas in the light of evidence.

### References

Aggarwal, J.C. (1999) Landmarks in the History of Modern Indian Education. Vikas Publishing House Pvt.

### Assessment and Measurement-

Ltd., New Delhi.

Anderson, L.W. & Burns, R.B. (1989) *Research in Classrooms*. Pergamon press, oxford.

Begur, R. (2001) Development of an In-service Training Programme for Navodaya Vidayala Teachers in Meeting Students Emotional Needs. Unpublished Ph.D. Thesis, CASE, M.S. University of Baroda, Baroda.

Black, P. J & Lucas, A.M. (1993) *Children's Informal Ideas in Science*. Routledge, London.

Carr, M. (1995) The Constructivist Paradigm and Some Implications for Science Content and Pedagogy. In J. Fenshaw.et.al. (Ed.) *The Content of Science, a Constructivist Approach to Teaching and Learning*. The Falwer Press, New York

Denzin, N.K. (1997) Triangulation in Educational Research In. P. Keeves (Ed.) *Educational Research Methodology and Measurement an International Handbook*. Pergamon Press, U.K.

Department of Education, Ministry of Human Resource and Development, *National Policy on Education. Programme of Action, 1992*. Government of India. New Delhi.

Driver, R. (1988) Restructuring the Science Curriculum: Some Implications of Studies on Learning for Curriculum Development. In L. David (Ed.) *Innovation in Science and Technology Education. Vol. II.* UNESCO, Paris.

Finely, N.F. (1983) Science Processes Journal of *Research in Science Teaching*. Vol.20, No.1, pp. 47-54.

Government of Karnataka, (1996) *Parisara Adyana Vignyana Enu, Eke Hege* ? Murane Tharagathi, Directorate of Textbook, Bangalore.

Graue, M. & Walsh, D.J. (1998) *Studying Children in Context: Theories, Methods and Ethics.* Sage Publications, London.

Harlen, W. (1986) Recent Developments in Primary and Lower Secondary School Science. In L. David (Ed.) *Innovation in Science and Technology*, Vol.1. UNESCO, Paris.

Harlen. & Elstgeest, J. (1993) UNESCO Source Book for Science Teaching in the Primary School. NBT, New Delhi.

Kapp.ali, S.V. (1998) Representation of Science: A critique of Science Education. *Perspectives in Education*. Vol.13, No.3, pp. 341-354.

Roth, W. M. & Roychoudhary, A. (1993) The Development of Science Process Skills in Authentic Contexts. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, Vol.30, No 2, pp. 127-152.

Mcnay, M. (1993) Children's Skill in Making Predictions and Their Understanding of What Predicting Means: A Developmental Study. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, Vol. 30, No. 6, pp.561-877.

NCERT. (2001) Environmental Studies, Guidelines and Syllabi for the Primary Stage. I-V. National Council of Educational Research & Training, New Delhi.

	Dec	e 13 Monday				
9.30 to 10.00	Inauguration by Prof. B. V. Sreekantan, former director, TIFR					
10.00 to 11.00	David Treagust	Science Education	Review talk			
11:00 to 11:30	Tea break					
11:30 to 12:30	Probal Dasgupta	Language and Cognition	Review talk			
12:30 to 2:00	Lunch					
	Yung Sik Kim	Science Education	Problems and Possibilities of "General Science Education" for College Students			
2:00 to 3:30	Anita Roychoudhury	Science Education	Data Evaluation: An Integral Part of Learning Science			
	V.G. Jadhao	Science Education	The Concept of Force			
	Mridula Ranade	Science Education	Science Teaching Through Computer Assisted Instruction			
3:30 to 4:00	Tea break					
	Sadhna Saxena	Science Education	Teacher as Constructor of Knowledge: An Analysis of Teachers' Contribution to the HSTP			
	Nelofer Halai	Science Education	Understanding Science Teaching and Conceptions of the Nature of Science in Pakistan			
4:00 to 5:30	Abhijeet Bardapurkar	Science Education	Students' Explanations: A Review of how Students Understand the Theory of Evolution			
	Purvi Vora	Science Education	Project Yuva: The Design of a Case-Based Multimedia Environment for Pre-Service Teachers.			
5.30 to 6.00	Tea break					
6:30 to 8:30	Marc de Vries	s Technology Education Workshop*				
Dec 14 Tuesday						
9:00 to 10:00	G. Nagarjuna	Models of Cognition	Review Talk			
10:00 to 11:00	Kaye Stacey	Maths Education	Review Talk			
11:00 to 11:30	Tea break					
	Barbara Jaworski	Maths Education	Inquiry as a Tool and as a "Way of Being" in Mathematics Teaching Development			
11:30 to 12:30	Bodil Kleve	Maths Education	Teachers' Implementation of a Curriculum Reform			

# epiSTEME-1 Conference Programme

			The Teaching of Place Value -			
	Usna Menon	Maths Education	Cognitive Considerations			
12:30 to 2:00	Lunch					
2:00 to 3:30	Poster session 1					
3:30 to 4:00	Tea break					
	Orit Zaslavsky	Maths Education	Transparent Objects and Processes in Learning Mathematics			
	Rakhi Banerjee	Maths Education	'Term' as a Bridge Concept Between Arithmetic and Algebra			
	C.K. Raju	Maths Education	Math Wars and the Epistemic Divide			
4:00 to 5:30	Senthil Babu	Maths Education	Tamil Mathematical Manuscripts and the Possibility of a Social History of Maths Education			
6:30 to 8:30	Marc de Vries	Technology Educati	on Workshop*			
	Dec 15	, Wednesday				
9:00 to 10:00	Michael Matthews	History – Philosophy of Science	Review Talk			
10:00 to 11:00	Marc de Vries	Technology Education	Review Talk			
11:00 to 11:30	Tea break					
	Punyashloke Mishra	Technology Education	Visions and Mandates: An Analysis of Three Indian IT Curriculum Guides			
	Sugra Chunawala	Technology Education	Placing Technology Education Within the Gender Perspective			
11:30 to 12:30	John Backwell	Technology Education	The Design and Development of Cognitive Acceleration Through Technology Education: Implications for Teacher Education			
12:30 to 2:00	Lunch					
Excursion						
Dec 16, Thursday						
9:00 to 10:00	John Sowa	Knowledge Representation	Review Talk			
	S.C. Agarkar	Cultural issues	Cross-Cultural Research in Learning Hurdles in Science and Mathematics			
10:00 to 11:00	Ravinder Koul	Cultural issues	Epistemological Stances Towards Knowledge in School Science and the Cultural Context of India			

	Thomas Stern	Science Education	Cooperation between Schools and Universities as a Catalyst for the Professional Development of Teachers	
11:00 to 11:30	Tea break		· •	
11:30 to 12:30	Verdiana Masanja	Gender issues	Gender Disparity in Science and Mathematics Education	
	Satyendra Giri	Gender issues	High Achievement in Mathematics and the Girl Child	
	Anjana Arora	Language and Cognition	Levels of Inquiry: Role of Language and Assessment	
12:30 to 2:00	Lunch			
2:00 to 3:30	Poster session 2			
3:30 to 4:00	Tea break			
	Bronislaw Czarnocha	Maths Education	Teaching-Research and the Design Experiment - Two Methodologies of Integrating Research and Classroom Practice	
4:00 to 5:30	Patrick Dias	Language and Cognition	Culture, Language and Cognition	
	T. V. Venkateswaran	Cultural issues	Words and World-Views: Scientific Technical Terms in Tamil	
	Zemira Mevarech	Assessment	The Effects of Meta-Cognitive Instruction Embedded Within Asynchronous Learning Network on Scientific Inquiry Skills	
	De	ec 17, Friday		
9:00 to 10:30	Conference Review and Discussion 1			
10:30 to 11:00	Tea Break			
11:00 to 12:00	Conference Review and Discussion 2			
12:00 to 1:00	Lunch			
*Satellite Works	hop of the conference.	Participation open t	o all registered delegates	

#### Participants from outside India

Francis A. Adesoji University of Ibadan Ibadan, Nigeria francisadesoji@yahoo.com

Margarida Afonso College of Education av Prof. Fazia de vasconceios 6000-266, Portugal margarida.afonso@mail.ese.ipcb.pt

Anjana Ganjoo Arora Northern Kentucky University Nunn Drive, Highland Heights KY 41099, USA aroraa@nku.edu

John Backwell Goldsmiths College University of London London SE14 6NW United Kingdom j.backwell@gold.ac.uk

Nicole Carignan Department of Specialized Education (DEFS) University of Quebec at Montreal and University of Port Elizabeth C.P. 8888, succursale Centre-Ville Montreal (Quebec) Canada H3C 3P8 carignan.nicole@uqam.ca

Ozlem Cezikturk Oguzkaan High School & Bogazici University Turkey ceziktur@boun.edu.tr

Jose Garcia Clavel Facultad de Economia Dpto de Metodos Cuantitativos para la Economia, 30100 Murica, Spain jjgravel@um.es

Bronislaw Czarnocha City University of New York, Hostos CC. NYC, USA broni@mindspring.com

Pradeep M. Dass Appalachian State University Dept. of Biology P.O. Box 32027, Boone NC 28608-2027, USA dasspm@appstate.edu Patrick V. Dias Terracinaweg 20 D- 61352 Bad Homburg mulinsa@vsnl.net

Carmel Diezmann Faculty of Education Queensland University of Technology Victoria Park Road, Kalvin Grove- 4059 Brisbane, Australia c.diezmann@qut.edu.au

Jaya Earnest Centre for International Health Curtin University of Technology GPO Box U1987 Perth, Western Australia- 6845 J.Earnest@curtin.edu.au

Jazlin Ebenezer Wayne State University Detroit, USA aj9570@wayne.edu

Sunita Gandhi Council for Global Education USA sunitag@ims.is

Nelofer Halai The Aga Khan University Institute for Educational Development Karimabad, Karachi Pakistan nelofer.halai@aku.edu

Lilia Halim Faculty of Education National University Malaysia (ukm)- 43600 lilia@pkrisc.cc.ukm.my

Barbara Jaworski Agder University College Faculty of Mathematics and Sciences Servicebox- 4224604 Kristiansand, Norway barbara.jaworski@hia.no

Eve Kadyamarunga Zimbabwe School Examinations Council. P. O. Box CY 1464 Causeway, Harare evekadyam@yahoo.com James Kakooza Enhancement of Universal Primary Education in Kampala (EUPEK) Aga Khan Education Services Uganda P.O BOX 6837, Kampala Uganda jkakooza@akesu.org

Yung Sik Kim Program in History and Philosophy of Science Seoul National University Seoul 151-742, Korea kysik@snu.ac.kr

Bodil Kleve Oslo University College Pilestredet 52, N-0167, Oslo, Norway bodil.kleve@lu.hio.no

Ravinder Koul Penn State University-Great Valley 30 E. Swedesford Road Malvern PA 19355, USA rxk141@psu.edu

Bracha Krmarski Bar-Ilan University, School of Education Ramat-Gan 52900, Israel kramab@mail.biu.ac.il

David Devraj Kumar Florida Atlantic University 2912 College Avenue, Davie Florida 33314, USA david@fau.edu

Verdiana Masanja University of Dar es Salaam Mathematics Department P O Box 35062 Dar es Salaam, Tanzania vmasanja@maths.udsm.ac.tz verdi\_1252@hotmail.com

Michael Matthews School of Education University of New South Wales Sydney- 2052, Australia m.matthews@unsw.edu.au michaelmatt@mail.optusnet.com.au

Zemira R. Mevarech Bar-Ilan University Ramat-Gan 52900, Israel mevarz@mail.biu.ac.il Subahan Mohd Meerah Faculty of Education Universiti Kebangsaan Bangi Selangor, Malaysia- 43600 subhan@pkrisc.cc.ukm.my

Punyashloke Mishra Learning, Technology & Cultural Program Michigan State University East Lansing, MI 48824-1034, USA punya@msu.edu

Barbara Moskal Mathematical and Computer Science Colorado School of Mines, Golden CO 80401, USA bmoskal@mines.edu

Pearla Nesher Haifa University, Mount Carmel Haifa, Israel nesherp@construct.haifa.ac.il

Odebode Stella Olusola University of Ibadan Post Office P O Box 9934, Ibadan, Nigeria mrsdrodebode@yahoo.com

Christiana Nkechi Omoifo University of Benin Ugbowo Campus PMB 1154, Benin City Edo State, Nigeria cnomoifo@yahoo.co.uk/ omoifocn@uniben.edu

Kamisah Osman School of Education Universiti Kebangsaan Bangi Selangor, Malaysia- 43600 misahosman@hotmail.com

Vrunda Prabhu City University of New York W181 and University Avenue Bronx, NY 100453, USA vrunda.prabhu@bcc.cuny.edu

Susan Rodrigues Institute of Science Education, University of Edinburg, The Old College Office Edinburg, Scotland susan.rodrigues@ed.ac.uk Anita Roychoudhury The Ohio State University 333 Arps Hall, 1945 N. High Street Columbus, OH 43210, USA roychoudhury.4@osu.edu

John Sowa 21, Palmer Avenue Croton-on-Hudson NY 10520, USA sowa@bestweb.net

Kaye Stacey The University of Melbourne Department of Science and Mathematics Education Doug McDonell Building Victoria 3010, Australia k.stacey@unimelb.edu.au

Thomas Stern IFF – Faculty for Interdisciplinary Studies University of Klagenfurt Schottenfeldgasse 29/604, A- 1070 Vienna, Austria thomas.stern@uni-klu.ac.at

Kimberly Tanner San Francisco State University 1600 Holloway Avenue, San Francisco CA 94132, USA kdtanner@sfsu.edu

Luis F. Tinoca University of Texas at Austin Center for Science and Mathematics Education 1 University Station D5500 Austin, TX 78703, USA luistinoca@yahoo.com

David Treagust Curtin University of Technology Kent Street, P O Box U1987 Perth WA 6845, Australia D.F.Treagust@curtin.edu.au

Maria Odete Valente School of Science Departamento de education Faculdade de Ciencias Universidade de Lisboa Campo Grande, C6, Piso 11749-016 Lisbon, Portugal movalente@fc.ul.pt Keshav Varde College of Engg. & Computer Science University of Michigan- Dearborn Campus 4901 Evergreen Road, Dearborn MI 48128, USA varde@umich.edu

Geeta K. Verma Georgia State University MSIT Dept., P O Box 3978 Atlanta, GA 30302-3978, USA gverma@gsu.edu

Purvi Vora Teachers College, Columbia University 525 W 120th st, MH 407 NY 10027, USA pv2009@columbia.edu

Marc deVries Eindhoven University of Technology Department of Technology Management P O Box 513, 5600 MB Eindhoven, Building room IPO 2.40 The Netherlands M.J.d.Vries@tm.tue.nl

James J Watters Queensland University of Technology Victoria Park Road, Kelvin Grove Brisbane, Australia j.watters@qut.edu.au

Oleksiy Yevdokimov Department of Mathematics Kharkov State Pedagogical University House 2, Bluchera Street Kharkov 61156, Ukraine yevdokimov@vl.kharkov.ua

Orit Zaslavsky Dept. of Education in Technology and Science Technion- Israel Institute of technology Haifa 32000, Israel orit@tx.technion.ac.il

#### **Participants from India**

Sudhakar C. Agarkar Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education Mumbai- 400 088 sca@hbcse.tifr.res.in

Senthil Babu Dept. of Indology French Institute of Pondicherry 11, St Louis street Pondicherry- 605 001 senjay@eth.net

Atanu Bandopadhyay Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education Mumbai- 400 088 atanu@hbcse.tifr.res.in

Rakhi Banerjee Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education Mumbai- 400 088 rakhib@hbcse.tifr.res.in

Abhijeet Bardapurkar Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education Mumbai- 400 088 abhijeet@hbcse.tifr.res.in

Susmita Basu Individualised Learning and Curriculum Development Department CMS, Lucknow susmita@ims.is

Swati Bedekar SM Graphic Educational Kits E/10 Vrindavan Estate Pashabhai Park Vadodara

Kulwanti Bellara Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education Mumbai- 400 088 kulwanti@hbcse.tifr.res.in

P.K. Bhattacharyya Department of Science & Mathematics NCERT, New Delhi- 110016 jointdirector@hotmail.com

Sheela Chacko Spicer Memorial College Aundh Road, Ganeshkhind P.O. Pune– 411 007 chacko@pn3.vsnl.net.in Ansuman Chattopadhyay Centre for Science Education North Eastern Hill University Bijni Complex, Bhagyakul, Laitmkhrah Shillong- 73 003 ansumanchat@yahoo.com

Beena Choksi Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education Mumbai- 400 088 beenac@hbcse.tifr.res.in

Indira Choudhary TIFR Archives National Centre for Biological Sciences GKVK-UAS, Old Bellary Road Bangalore – 560 065 indira@ncbs.res.in

Sugra Chunawala Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education Mumbai- 400 088 sugrac@hbcse.tifr.res.in

Probal Dasgupta Centre for Applied Linguistics & Translation Studies University of Hyderabad Hyderabad- 500 046 probal53@yahoo.com

Narendra D. Deshmukh Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education Mumbai- 400 088 ndd@hbcse.tifr.res.in

V.G. Gambhir Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education Mumbai- 400 088 vgg@hbcse.tifr.res.in

Anand D. Ghaisas Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education Mumbai- 400 088

Satyendra Giri All India Science Teachers' Association 62E Vivekananda Sarani Kolkata- 700 078 aista\_cpsm@yahoo.co.in

D. R. Goel The Maharaja Sahajirao University of Baroda Vadodara goel\_d\_r34@rediffmail.com Pranita Gopal Army Institute of Education Near R. R Centre, Khandhar Line Delhi Cantonment, Delhi- 110 010 hi\_pranita@yahoo.com

Vijay Gupta Wipro Limited Doddakanelli, Sarjapur Road Bangalore- 560 035 anand.swaminathan@wipro.com

V. G. Jadhao Regional Institute of Education Bhopal- 462 013 vgjad@yahoo.com

Nirupama Jaimini Dept of Education (CIE) University of Delhi 33, Chhatra Marg, Delhi- 110 007 nirupmajaimini@hotmail.com

Santa Ram Joshi Centre for Science Education North Eastern Hill University Bijni Complex, Laitumkhrah Shillong- 793 003 srjoshee1@yahoo.co.in

Vinodini Kalagi Anandniketan School Shankarnagar Off Gangapur Raod Nasik- 422 013 avishkar\_nsk@rediffmail.com

Rajesh Khaparde Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education Mumbai- 400 088 rajesh@hbcse.tifr.res.in

Meena Kharatmal Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education Mumbai- 400 088 meena@hbcse.tifr.res.in

Ritesh Khunyakari Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education Mumbai- 400 088 ritesh@hbcse.tifr.res.in

Sudhir N. Kulkarni Doodhsakhar Mahavidyalaya, Bidri ksudhirn@rediff.com Arvind Kumar Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education Mumbai- 400 088 arvindk@hbcse.tifr.res.in

VD. Lale Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education Mumbai- 400 088 vdl@hbcse.tifr.res.in

P. R. Lalitha Regional Institute of Education (NCERT) Mysore- 570 006 pamidi50@rediffmail.com

B. S. Mahajan Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education Mumbai- 400 088 bsm@hbcse.tifr.res.in

Kamal Mahendroo Eklavya, Bhopal kmahendroo@yahoo.com

Sindhu Mathai Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education Mumbai- 400 088 sindhu@hbcse.tifr.res.in

Arun T. Mavalankar Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education Mumbai- 400 088 arun@hbcse.tifr.res.in

Swati P. Mehrotra Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education Mumbai- 400 088 swatim@hbcse.tifr.res.in

Usha Menon NISTADS K. S. Krishnan Marg, New Delhi- 110 012 ushamenon.nistads.res.in/ menon\_usha@hotmail.com

K.K. Mishra Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education Mumbai- 400 088 kkm@hbcse.tifr.res.in

Chel Madan Mohan Dept. of Mathematics Education Sammilani Mahavidyalaya Kolkata – 700 075 sammilanikolkata@yahoo.co.in Srinivasan Muthusamy GEAR Foundation (Gifted Education And Research) GEAR Road, Doddakannelli Off Sarjapur Road, Bangalore- 560 035 gear@vsnl.com

G. Nagarjuna Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education Mumbai- 400 088 nagarjun@hbcse.tifr.res.in

Shweta Naik Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education Mumbai- 400 088 shweta@hbcse.tifr.res.in

Manoj Nair Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education Mumbai- 400 088 manoj@hbcse.tifr.res.in

M.G. Narsimhan National Institute of Advanced Studies Indian Institute of Science Campus Bangalore- 560 012 psarangapani@hotmail.com

Chitra Natarajan Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education Mumbai- 400 088 chitran@hbcse.tifr.res.in

N. Ramkumar National Institute of Advanced Studies Indian Institute of Science Campus Bangalore- 560 012 ramkumar\_n@indiatimes.com

Shamin Padalkar Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education Mumbai- 400 088 shamin@hbcse.tifr.res.in

Deepak S. Paranjape Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education Mumbai- 400 088 deepak@hbcse.tifr.res.in

Imran K. Pathan Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education Mumbai- 400 088 imran@hbcse.tifr.res.in Shirish R. Pathare Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education Mumbai- 400 088 shirish@hbcse.tifr.res.in

Binay Pattanayak Senior Consultant (Pedagogy) Technical Support Group (DPEP & Sarva Shiksha Abhiyan - MHRD) 10-B. I. P. Estate, New Delhi- 110 002 mailtobinay@rediffmail.com

H.C. Pradhan Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education Mumbai- 400 088 hcp@hbcse.tifr.res.in

C. K. Raju Center of Computer Science/ Center for studies in civilizations MCRP University, 222 M. P. Nagar Zone 1 Bhopal- 462 011 c\_k\_raju@hotmail.com

Madhav Rajwade Sathaye College University of Mumbai, Mumbai madhavr64@hotmail.com

Jayashree Ramadas Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education Mumbai- 400 088 jram@hbcse.tifr.res.in

Mridula D. Ranade Post Grad. Dept of Education SNDT Women's University Karve Road, Pune- 411 038 mridula\_ranade@yahoo.com

Manjula P. Rao Dept. of Education Regional Institute of Education (NCERT), Mysore- 570 006 manju882002@yahoo.com

Satyawati Rawool PV.D.T. College of Education for Women, Mumbai rsatya@mtnl.net.in

Padma M. Sarangapani National Institute of Advanced Studies Indian Institute of Science Campus Bangalore- 560 012 psarangapani@hotmail.com Sadhana Saxena Dept. of Education 33 Chatta Marg, University of Delhi Delhi- 110 007 sadhna\_saxena@vsnl.net

Amit Sheth Vikram A Sarabhai Community Science Centre (Opp. Gujarat University) Navarangpur, Ahemadabad- 380 009 amitmed@satyam.net.in

R. D. Shukla Department of Education in Science and Mathematics NCERT Sri Aurobindo Marg, New Delhi- 110 016 shukla\_rd@yahoo.co.uk

Parvin Sinclair Indira Gandhi National Open University New Delhi- 110 068 parvin\_sinclair@yahoo.com

Sharad Sinha R.B.S.College of Education Haryana ssharad13@rediffmail.com

V.C. Sonawane Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education Mumbai- 400 088 vcs@hbcse.tifr.res.in

Savitri Srinivasan GEAR Foundation (Gifted Education And Research) GEAR Road, Doddakannelli Off Sarjapur Road, Bangalore- 560 035 gear@vsnl.com

K. Subramaniam Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education Mumbai- 400 088 subra@hbcse.tifr.res.in

M. N. Vahia Tata Institute of Fundamental Research Mumbai- 400 005 vahia@hbcse.tifr.res.in

T. V. Venkateswaran Vigyan Prasar, Dept. of S & T C-24, Qutab Institutional Area New Delhi- 110 068 tvv123@rediffmail.com Jyotsna Vijapurkar Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education Mumbai- 400 088 jyotsna@hbcse.tifr.res.in

Indira Vijaysimha National Institute of Advanced Studies, Indian Institute of Science Campus Bangalore- 560 012 indira502@hotmail.com

Sankar Vyjayanthi Educational Initiatives Pvt. Ltd. 613-615 J. B. Towers, Drive-in-road Ahmedabad- 380 054 vs@ei-india.com

Manish Yadav Homi Bhabha Centre for Science Education Mumbai- 400 088 manishyadav@hbcse.tifr.res.in